UNIVERSITÀ CATTOLICA DEL SACRO CUORE

Sede di Piacenza

Ph.D. in Agro-Food System

Cycle XXXVI S.S.D. AGR/16



Exploring Pathogenic Bacteria Dynamics and Antimicrobial Resistance Gene Transfer Across the Food Chain: Significance for Food Safety and Public Health.

Coordinator: Ch.mo Prof. Paolo Ajmone Marsan

Candidate: Giovanni Milani

Matriculation n: 5014538

Academic Year 2022/2023

UNIVERSITÀ CATTOLICA DEL SACRO CUORE

Sede di Piacenza

Ph.D. in Agro-Food System

Cycle XXXVI S.S.D. AGR/16



Exploring Pathogenic Bacteria Dynamics and Antimicrobial Resistance Gene Transfer Across the Food Chain: Significance for Food Safety and Public Health.

Coordinator: Ch.mo Prof. Paolo Ajmone Marsan

Tutor:

Prof. Pier Sandro Cocconcelli

Candidate: Giovanni Milani

Matriculation n: 5014538

Academic Year 2022/2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 - GENERAL INTRODUCTION - ACHIEVING FOOD SAFETY AND QUALITY.

An integrated approach for surveillance, detection and mitigation of pathogenic and antimicrobial resistant bacteria along the food chain.

- 1. The current microbiological safety and quality status of food stuffs
- 2. Application of whole-genome sequencing (WGS) to the risk assessment
- 3. WGS support food safety assessment
 - 3.1. Taxonomic identification of microorganisms
 - 3.2. AMR and mobilome, the case of nosocomial multi-drug resistant pathogen Enterococcus faecium
 - 3.3. Decoding Virulence in Shiga Toxin-Producing Escherichia coli (STEC) through Whole Genome Sequencing
 - 3.4. The role of Quorum Sensing System in Biofilm Formation and Stress response
- 4. *In vivo*, food and environmental models to study HGT (Horizontal Gene Transfer) and VF (virulence factors)
- 5. Mitigation and preservation: LAB as guardians of Food Quality

CHAPTER 2 - GENOMIC INSIGHT OF *ENTEROCOCCUS FAECIUM* UC7251, A MULTI-DRUG RESISTANT STRAIN FROM READY-TO-EAT FOODS, HIGHLIGHTS THE RISK OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE IN THE FOOD CHAIN

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Material and Methods
- 3.1. Bacterial strain, cultivation, and antibiotic susceptibility testing
- 3.2. Heavy metal susceptibility testing
- 3.3. Conjugal Transfer
- 3.4. Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) analysis
- 3.5. Detection of markers relevant for the assessment of safety and antibiotic resistance determinants
- 3.6. Genome sequencing and database submission
- 3.7. Bioinformatic Analyses
- 4. Results and discussion
- 4.1. Isolation and characterization of MDR E. faecium UC7251 from RTE food

- 4.2. Whole Genome Sequence Analyses
- 4.3. Phylogenomics and Population Structure show that foodborne UC7251 is neighboring HA isolates
- 4.4. Conjugation experiments suggest AMR gene transfer by Insertion Sequences
- 4.5. Virulence markers in the UC7251 genome show a collection of colonization facilitators
- 5. Conclusion
- 6. Transparency declaration
- 7. Author Contributions
- 8. References
- 9. Supplementary materials

CHAPTER 3 - WILD BOARS AS AN INDICATOR OF ENVIRONMENTAL SPREAD OF ESBLS-PRODUCING *ESCHERICHIA COLI*.

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and Methods
 - 3.1. Samples collection and isolation of ES_βLs-producing *E. coli* strains
 - 3.2. Antimicrobial susceptibility test
 - 3.3. Molecular investigation of resistance determinants
 - 3.4. Conjugation assay and plasmid typing
 - 3.5. Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE)
 - 3.6. Phylogenetic groups investigation
 - 3.7. WGS and in silico analysis
- 4. Results
 - 4.1. Wild boars are carriers of ESβLs-producing and multi drug resistant (MDR) E. coli
 - 4.2. Plasmid profile and conjugations results
 - 4.3. Molecular typing reveals high heterogeneity among ESβLs-producing E. coli
 - **4.4.** In-depth genomic characterization: typing, virulence, AMR and dissemination potential
 - 4.5. Phylogenetic insight of wild boar ESβLs-producing E. coli and the correlation with ST131 and ST10 ESβLs-producing E. coli isolated from different sources
- 5. Discussion
- 6. Conclusion
- 7. Data Availability Statement
- 8. Author Contribution
- 9. References
- 10. Supplementary materials

CHAPTER 4 - UNRESTRICTED GENE EXCHANGE: TRANSFER OF TN916-MEDIATED TETRACYCLINE RESISTANCE GENE IN FOOD, ANIMALS, AND THE ENVIRONMENT.

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and methods
- 3.1. Bacterial strains and bioinformatic analyses
- 3.2. Filter mating and plate mating
- 3.3. Gene exchange in meat-based and cheese-based food models
- 3.4. In vivo gene exchange in Galleria mellonella larvae
- 3.5. In vivo gene exchange in Mytilus galloprovincialis in aquatic environmental model
- 3.6. Transconjugants confirmation, statistical analysis and safety hazards
- 4. Results
- 4.1. Mobile genetic elements in UC7251 and *Listeria* strains.
- 4.2. Conjugation *in vitro* by filter and plate mating
- 4.3. Conjugation in food models
- 4.4. Conjugation in vivo using Galleria mellonella
- 4.5. Conjugation in aquatic environmental model
- 5. Discussion
- 6. Author contribution
- 7. Funding
- 8. Data availability statement
- 9. References
- 10. Supplementary Materials

CHAPTER 5 - GENOME ENGINEERING OF STX1-AND STX2-CONVERTING BACTERIOPHAGES UNVEILS THE VIRULENCE OF THE DAIRY ISOLATE ESCHERICHIA COLI 0174:H2 STRAIN UC4224

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and Methods
 - 3.1 Bacterial strains, plasmids, and media
 - 3.2 Whole genome sequencing and data submission
 - 3.3 Bioinformatic analyses
 - 3.4 Construction the amplimer with short (50bp) and long (~280bp) homology sequences
 - 3.5 Transformation of *Escherichia coli* STEC UC4224 with plasmids pSIM6 and preparation of electrocompetent cells for recombineering
 - 3.6 Curing of pSIM6 and replacement confirmation
 - 3.7 Pathogenicity assessment in Galleria mellonella
 - 3.8 Cheesemaking model and tolerance to lactic acid

4. Results

- 4.1. Genome sequencing and characterization of UC4224
- 4.2. Phylogenomics and distribution of dairy associated STEC
- 4.3. Stx-converting phages and other prophages
- 4.4. Virulence factors and LAA pathogenicity island
- 4.5. Construction of *stx1* and *stx2* null mutants
- 4.6. Lethality in the *Galleria mellonella* model of UC4224 and its derivative mutants is correlated with carriage of *stx* genes
- 4.7. Survival and growth dynamics of UC4224 and derivate mutants during food processing
- 5. Conclusion
- 6. Data Availability Statement
- 7. Author contributions
- 8. Funding
- 9. References
- 10. Supplementary materials

CHAPTER 6 - TAXONOMICAL IDENTIFICATION AND SAFETY CHARACTERIZATION OF *LACTOBACILLACEAE* FROM MEDITERRANEAN NATURAL FERMENTED SAUSAGES.

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and Methods
- 3.1. Sausage Samples and Lactobacillaceae Isolation
- 3.2. DNA Extraction and REP-PCR Analysis
- 3.3. Genotyping Identification of Isolates
- 3.4. Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
- 3.5. PCR-Based Screening of Resistance Genes
- 3.6. Biogenic Amines (Bas) Production
- 4. Results and Discussion
- 4.1. Strain Genotyping and Identification of Biotypes
- 4.2. Safety Assessment of Isolated Strains
- 4.3. Antibiotic Resistance Assessment
- 4.4. Biogenic Amines (BAs) Production
- 5. Conclusion
- 6. Author Contribution
- 7. References
- 8. Supplementary Materials

CHAPTER 7 - TECHNOLOGICAL TRAITS AND MITIGATION ACTIVITY OF AUTOCHTHONOUS LACTIC ACID BACTERIA FROM MEDITERRANEAN FERMENTED MEAT-PRODUCTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and Methods
- 3.1. Strains and growth conditions
- 3.2. Inhibitory activity against E. coli ATCC25922 and List. innocua UC8409 with agar overlay assay
- 3.3. Inhibitory activity of *Latilactobacillus* against *E. coli* ATCC25922 and *List. innocua* UC8409 in sausage meat models
- 3.4. Gene-specific PCR for the detection of genes coding for bacteriocins
- 3.5. Growth performances in presence of different salt concentrations at different incubation temperatures
- 3.6. Predictive microbiology models
- 3.7. Statistical analysis
- 4. Results and Discussion
- 4.1. Inhibitory activity with Agar Overlay Assay against *E. coli* ATCC 25922 and *List. innocua* UC8409
- 4.2. Inhibition of *E. coli* ATCC 25922 and *List. innocua* UC8409 by LAB strains in fermented sausage model
- 4.3. Presence of bacteriocin genes
- 4.4. Growth and acidification performances of selected LAB strains under different NaCl conditions
- 5. Conclusions
- 6. Acknowledgements
- 7. Author Contributions
- 8. References
- 9. Supplementary Materials

CHAPTER 8 - *COMPANILACTOBACILLUS ALIMENTARIUS*: AN EXTENSIVE CHARACTERIZATION OF STRAINS ISOLATED FROM SPONTANEOUS FERMENTED SAUSAGES

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and Methods
- 3.1. Companilactobacillus alimentarius microbial strains
- 3.2. Antimicrobial activity against food-borne pathogens

- 3.3. Phenotype microarray of *C. alimentarius* strains
- 3.4. Antibiotic-resistance profile
- 3.5. Biogenic amines production
- 3.6. Growth performances in presence of different salt concentrations and at different incubation temperatures
- 3.7. Statistical analysis
- 4. Results and discussion
- 4.1. Antimicrobial activity of the C. alimentarius strains against Salmonella and Listeria
- 4.2. Screening using phenotype microarray
- 4.3. Antibiotic resistance
- 4.4. Biogenic amine production
- 4.5. Growth kinetics in relation to temperature and NaCl concentration
- 5. Conclusions
- 6. References
- 7. Supplementary Materials

CHAPTER 9 - GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

CHAPTER 1

General introduction: Achieving food safety and quality

An integrated approach for surveillance, detection and mitigation of pathogenic and antimicrobial resistant bacteria along the food chain.

1. The current microbiological safety and quality status of foods

Foods typically harbour a diverse array of microbial associations, largely influenced by the microbial load present in the raw materials¹. Throughout the entire food process, from the initial handling to the manufacturing process and the final product, microbial diversity can be shaped and influenced². This depends on several factors, such as the ability of the food to support microbial growth, the interactions between microorganisms, their interaction with the food, and the specific type and conditions of processing and storage environments^{3–5}.

Microbes associated with food can be categorized into two distinct groups based on their positive or negative impact on it⁶. Positive microorganisms are employed in specific production processes for their ability to provide desirable sensory and texture characteristics and extend the shelf life of the final food product. These pro-technological microorganisms are commonly applied in the manufacturing of fermented foods, including dairy products, meat products, alcoholic beverages, and bakery products⁷. Consequently, microorganisms deliberately added as starter cultures drive the fermentation of food, sometimes interacting with the microbiota of raw materials, inducing significant changes in the chemical, physical and microbiological composition of the food⁸. As a consequence, fermented food products acquire a distinct nutritional, sensory and health-promoting profile⁹. In particular, lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are considered to be the main contributors in food fermentation, thus promoting continuous efforts of isolating novel LAB strains with better performance in improving the characteristics and safety of fermented foods¹⁰. Extensive research has been conducted on many LAB strains, not only for their technological role in fermentation but also for their potential use as probiotics. Probiotic strains possess the ability to withstand the challenges of the gastrointestinal environment, adhere to the intestinal mucosa, and exhibit immunomodulatory activity^{11,12}. In the European regulatory framework, novel LAB

species to be used as starters, probiotics in food must go through pre-market safety assessment process by European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). This also applies e.g. to all microbes used in the feed additives in the EU. To assist in the process QPS (Qualified Presumption of Safety) approach has been developed¹³. QPS approach assesses the safety of microbes based on their taxonomic definition, pathogenicity potential (including virulence and antibiotic resistance), human/animal exposure, and expected use. Being able to apply the QPS approach in the safety assessment streamlines the pre-market assessment process considerably. However, certain microbial genera like *Enterococcus*, despite some strains possessing favourable technological and probiotic properties, have not obtained QPS status due to issues related to potential pathogenicity and presence of acquired antimicrobial resistance genes. Any microbial species not mentioned in the QPS list must go through more rigorous safety assessment, described in various EFSA guidances. Since correct taxonomic identification using molecular tools is the basis of the safety assessment development of tools that enable rapid and reliable is necessary¹⁴.

In additions to LABs, yeasts also perform a crucial role in food fermentation, especially in the production of beer, wine and bread. Many yeast strains have been isolated from naturally fermented foods and then studied and used as starters in fermentation processes. In addition to their ability to conduct fermentations, yeasts and moulds are widely used as producers of enzymes, which can be used as food and feed additives¹⁵.

Saccharomyces cerevisiae var. *boulardii*, and certain species belonging to *Debaryomyces, Hanseniaspora, Pichia, Meyerozyma, Torulaspora* are potential probiotics¹⁶. However, some yeast species can negatively affect the quality of foods by spoiling it. Yeast strains deliberately added to food go through a similar safety assessment approach as described above for LAB¹⁴.

Foods provide a suitable substrate for the growth of many harmful microorganisms, including spoilagecausing and some pathogenic microorganisms. Microbial proliferation during food spoilage results in the production of metabolites that affect the nutritional quality, the texture, and sensory properties of the food products. Spoilage is defined by the presence of volatile compounds that result in off-flavours and/or package swelling, along with visual deterioration of the foods^{17,18}. Although processing technologies focused on improving shelf life and preserving food characteristics are constantly evolving, spoilage remains a global problem and the leading cause of food losses¹⁹.

The presence of spoilage microorganisms, such as bacteria, yeasts, and moulds, primarily depends on the specific attributes of the food matrix and the processing environment. Food products characterized by high water content, such as meat and milk-based products, are primarily susceptible to bacterial growth²⁰. In contrast, foods with a low free water content, such as bread, are more prone to yeast and mould contamination and proliferation²¹. The intricate nature of food spoilage and the numerous contributing factors make it a challenging problem to address. Consequently, to minimize the presence of spoilage microbes effectively a thorough analysis of the food matrix is crucial in determining the most appropriate processing technologyto be applied ^{22,23}.

Although microbial spoilage causes product alteration resulting in unsuitability for consumption and food loss. Food legislation only regulates the presence of pathogenic microorganisms in food, which can cause foodborne illnesses in humans. Therefore, food safety focuses on the control and prevention of microbial hazards in food in order to preserve the health of consumers.

Furthermore, the variety of stakeholders involved in the food production and consumption result in an increasingly complex food chain that needs to accommodate different lifestyles and dietary habits. Additionally, globalization of the food systems necessitates integrated collaboration between all steps of the production chain to ensure adequate food quality and safety. Given that pathogen contamination can occur in multiple steps within the food chain, it is essential for each production step to adhere to the hygiene regulations and preventive measures established by the Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP) system, aiming to mitigate the risk to human health²⁴.

The integration and collaboration among the different animal, human and environmental sectors involved in food production, allows the problem of food safety to be addressed using a One Health approach²⁵. Foodborne illnesses, arising from the ingestion or direct contact with contaminated food, are often linked to zoonotic agents, environmental pathogenic microorganisms that can be transmitted between animals and humans. Pathogenic micro-organisms such as *Salmonella enterica, Campylobacter coli/jejuni, Yersinia enterocolitica, Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* are mainly transmitted through food ingestion while, *Brucella* spp., enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC), Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infect humans mainly through direct human to human contact²⁶.

Pathogenic microorganisms in the environment largely originate from animal excretions, making the environment a reservoir and a potential source of pathogens for both domesticated and wild animals. Consequently, particular attention should be given to wildlife, as they can directly enter the food chain or come into contact with livestock, acting as a reservoir for transmitting pathogens to humans²⁷.

Since the 1940s, the use of antibiotics to eliminate pathogenic microorganisms in humans, farm and companion animals and seafood farming has increased dramatically. Although antibiotics have been beneficial to human society in the fight against pathogenic bacteria, saving millions of lives, their use, misuse and abuse has over time resulted in a strong selective pressure in microbial populations, causing the emergence of resistance mechanisms and the spread of antimicrobial-resistant microorganisms (AMR)²⁸. The ongoing research and introduction of next generation antibiotics has amplified the selective pressure already present, leading to the emergence of multi-resistant strains. The ability of these antimicrobial resistances to be transferred to other microorganisms, in the environment, in food and in the human gut is a major concern. Adopting One Health approach is crucial to effectively address and combat this ongoing emergency^{29,30}.

In the current context, the use of advanced technologies is necessary to study microbial heterogeneity along the food chain. In particular, this would allow pathogenic, AMR and spoilage-causing microorganisms to be identified and characterized in a sensitive, precise, rapid and effective manner, helping to prevent the spread of disease and improving food safety and quality. Finally, the possibility to investigate the mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance and their transmission will reduce the burden on the healthcare system and economic losses related to AMR ³¹.

2. Application of whole-genome sequencing (WGS) to the risk assessment

Globalisation is revolutionising the way in which food is produced, transported, stored and consumed. As a consequence, food safety systems are subject to continuous changes in terms of regulatory systems, surveillance, coordination mechanisms and emergency responses. Proper risk assessment, prevention of foodborne outbreaks and anticipation of potential emerging risks require advanced monitoring and surveillance systems. The ability to identify and characterise a microorganism, be it pathogenic, causing spoilage, is crucial to ensuring safety and quality of food from field to fork.

Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) technology has revolutionised this field, allowing the entire DNA sequence of micro-organisms to be analysed and thus providing detailed information on genomic composition, biological processes and relationships between the strains^{32,33}. Recently, EFSA developed the One Health WGS System, based on the interchange of core genome Multi Locus Sequence Typing (cgMLST) profiles and minimal metadata with the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) Molecular Typing system, ^{34,35}.

EFSA is currently using the WGS approach for the risk assessment of microorganisms used as novel starter cultures and microbial feed additives. WGS data is used for taxonomic studies, and to investigate the presence of potential AMR genes or genes related to potential pathogenicity. ³⁶. Earlier traditional molecular techniques, enabling the identification and characterisation of microbial pathogens, were used instead of WGS. These included Pulse-Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE), Multi-Locus Sequence Typing (MLST), and Multi-Locus Variable-Number of Tandem Repeats Analysis (MLVA)³⁷. These techniques have been crucial earlier for studying food-borne disease outbreaks, as well as assessing microbial relatedness. PFGE was chosen by PulseNet, a national laboratory network that connects foodborne, waterborne, and One Health-related illness cases to detect outbreaks, as the primary method for pathogen strain differentiation due to its high discriminative power, reproducibility and epidemiological consistency³⁸. Although these typing techniques have been efficiently used in the studies of food-borne outbreaks for more than 20 years, they are much more laborious and less discrimantive than the WGS approach. The rapid development of NGS and high-throughput sequencing technologies, open sharing of genomic data and open source bioinformatics software tools are leading the way for the use of WGS in food microbiology³³. Furthermore, the implementation of WGS in food microbiology helps to reduce the food safety risks and economic losses related food recalls³⁹. WGS provides not only the ability to reconstruct, but also to detect new food-borne outbreaks rapidly, allowing timely intervention during food epidemics. Besides supporting the risk assessment, WGS has facilitated the taxonomic reorganisation of several bacterial genera and provided a more accurate assessment of genes contributing to virulence and AMR. It has also provided a better understanding of the transmission of virulence and resistance genes throughout the food chain, leading to an improved overall safety assessment of their host strains^{32,40}. Currently WGS is an integral part of EFSA's risk assessment work and improves the response to food emergencies and supports risk management, but, crucially, it also aids in hazard identification and characterisation.

3. WGS supports food safety assessment

3.1. Taxonomic identification of microorganisms

The availability of WGS has revolutionised the taxonomic identification and thus the characterisation of microorganisms in terms of time and accuracy. The conventional polyphasic approach for species identification employed for decades, which encompassed techniques such as 16S rRNA gene Sanger sequencing, DNA-DNA hybridization (DDH), and G+C content determination have now been largely replaced with the WGS approach⁴¹.

Besides typing strains of a specific pathogenic micro-organisms, WGS enables the assessment of taxonomic relationships between different strains, enabling identifying the source of food-borne outbreaks. The evolutionary history of pathogenic strains isolated from infected individuals and their genetic relatedness to other strains of the same species can reveal the source of the food-borne outbreak. It also provides information whether any new pathoghenic strains are circulating in the food chain and/or population ³⁹.

In WGS analysis, the ability to correlate food and patient microbial isolates is achieved through identifying single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and allele-based differences. Few nucleotide differences between isolates from food and human infections implies relatedness between the isolates, thus indicating the food to be the source of infection. Furthermore, the genetic varibility assessment should also take into account the mutation rate, which characterizes different species; therefore, the exact number of SNPs to define different strains should be determined case by case, in a species-based manner. ⁴². Allele-based approaches, such as MLST and MLVA where orthologs are identified using an automated approach against a curated database of possible alleles, are used to confer a sequence type assigned to the isolate that can be used for downstream phylogenetic analyses ⁴³. Currently, Average Nucleotide Identity (ANI), DNA-DNA Digital Hybridization (dDDH) and Pangenome analysis are the methodologies that refine taxonomy, which is necessary to establish a Overall Genome Relatedness Index (OGRI) with accepted similarity values per species⁴⁴.

OGRI defines acceptable threshold values for bacterial species level identification corresponding to similarity values of 96 % for ANI, 70 % for dDDH and 98.65 % for the 16S rRNA gene. For example,

the OGRI approach was used to demonstrate that *Enterococcus faecium* clade B actually belongs to *Enterococcus lactis*⁴⁵. Furthermore, by combining these values with the analysis of homologous genes present in a given dataset (core genome), phylogenetic trees can be delineated based on the nucleotide variations of these genes^{46,47}. Using this approach it has been possible to reclassify and determine new genera and species of the *Lactobacillaceae* family⁴⁸.

3.2. AMR and mobile genetic elements, the case of nosocomial multi-drug resistant pathogen *Enterococcus faecium*

EFSA and the World Health Organisation (WHO) recommend the use of WGS for safety assessment of microbial strains. In One Health approach to integrate human health, animal health and the environment, WGS is an effective tool to assess the presence of antibiotic resistance genes³⁵. The outbreak surveillance system should involve, in addition to taxonomic and epidemiological data, the determination of genomic characteristics such as antimicrobial resistance gene profile and the presence of mobile genetic elements (MGE). Indeed, the advantage of genome analysis is to simultaneously explore the presence of resistance genes and their genomic context, being particularly effective in the study of multidrug resistance (MDR) and point mutations responsible of AMR development.

Several databases such as ResFinder, Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database (CARD), Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST), ABRicate, Search Engine for Antimicrobial Resistance (SEAR), ARG-ANNOT and Antimicrobial Resistance Identification By Assembly (ARIBA) are available for the identification of AMR genes at the Center for Genomic Epidemiology (CGE)^{50–53}. Antibiotic resistance may be either intrinsic or acquired through point mutations and horizontal gene transfer (HGT) from other strains⁵⁴.

Three different mechanisms regulate the HGT of AMR genes between bacteria, transformation (absorption of naked DNA), transduction (transfer via bacteriophages) and conjugation (transfer via plasmids and other MGEs)^{55,56}. It is believed that the main mechanism governing the spread and transmission of antimicrobial resistance is conjugation, which can occur in the environment, food and the gastrointestinal tract of humans and animals⁵⁷. Although the data obtained from WGS are not able to assess the frequency of these transfer events or provide information on the AMR gene expression, but only provide information on the presence and absence of AMR genes, the WGS data is essential for mobilome typing. The mobilome typing, which consists of a set of mobile genetic elements that contribute to the variable part of the bacterial genome, typically involves the detection of insertion sequences (IS), pro-phages, integrative and conjugative elements (ICE) and plasmids. The evolution of the bacterial genome and the ability to adapt to adverse conditions are dependent on these regions, which, due to their intrinsic properties, can be shared by different strains of the species conferring new properties. ⁵⁸. Conjugative and mobilizable plasmids, independent structures from the bacterial

chromosome, can provide insights to recent gene transfer events and transmission pathways⁵⁹. Obtaining complete plasmid sequences is important because it allows to define the genetic context of specific AMR genes, and to establish whether the plasmid carries the molecular machinery for conjugation and thus to predict the mobility of a plasmid⁶⁰. Several studies have investigated, via WGS, the presence of MDR bacterial strains in ready-to-eat foods such as dairy products and fermented meats, providing information on the spread of AMR along the food chain^{61–63}. Of a particular interest has been the isolation of vancomycin-susceptible MDR (VSE-MDR) *E. faecium* strain UC7251 from fermented sausages. Genomic analysis revealed multiple cassettes of antibiotic and heavy metal resistancse on a mobilisable plasmid and a Tn*916* chromosomal transposon in this strain⁶³.

E. faecium, a lactic acid bacterium ubiquitous in nature, is often detected in fermented foods of animal origin, in which it can take part in the natural fermentation processes. *E. faecium* strains can also be used as starter cultures⁶⁴. More recently, *E. faecium* has emerged as a significant nosocomial pathogen with resistance to multiple drugs. It is accountable for hospital-acquired infections including endocarditis, urinary tract infections, and septicemia⁶⁵. Despite being used as a probiotic and in starter cultures, *E. faecium* lacks QPS status due to its pathogenic potential¹⁴. EFSA has developed a safety assessment framework for *E. faecium* strains due to its dual nature. This scheme, which focuses on the absence of genetic markers found in hospital-associated (HA) strains, aims to ensure food safety when *E. faecium* strains are used in foods.

E. faecium population is categorized into three main groups: clade A1, which includes HA strains; clade A2, dominated by animal-associated isolates, and clade B characterized by community-associated (CA) strains lacking HA traits⁶⁶. Recently, Belloso Daza and colleagues proposed reclassification of clade B isolates as *Enterococcus lactis* due to their closer genomic proximity to this new species and lack of HA markers⁴⁵. MLST categorizes *E. faecium* into sequence types (STs) based on the allelic profile of six housekeeping genes. The ancestral HA clade A1 is linked to ST17, forming clonal complex 17 (CC17), with the majority of hospital-related isolates falling within CC17⁶⁷. Strain UC7251 is grouped among clade A2 isolates and belongs to ST673 part of CC117, which does not carry virulence factors typical of HA strains but presents the co-location of several antimicrobial resistance genes with heavy metal resistances on the mobilizable plasmid pUC7251_1 and the conjugative transposon Tn*916*⁶³.

Clade A isolates are commonly resistant to aminoglycosides, ampicillin, and vancomycin and carry different virulence factors and mobile genetic elements that distinguish them from clade B strains⁶⁸. Significant virulence genes in this clade are those encoding surface components crucial for adhesion, biofilm creation, and pili assembly. WGS has enabled the detection of genetic markers contributing to genomic plasticity and additional putative virulence markers (PVM) involved in the colonisation and resistance, especially in HA clade A strains⁶⁹. The emergence of clade A in clinical environments was probably driven by the acquisition of ampicillin resistance due to a mutation in penicillin-binding protein 5 (PBP5)⁷⁰. The evolutionary changes in PBP5 in *E. faecium* closely correspond to the phylogenetic

variation within the species. Clade A isolates with ampicillin resistance possess PBP5-R sequences, while clade B genomes consist of susceptible strains characterized by the PBP5-S profile⁷¹.

The presence of MDR enterococci in the food chain constitutes a significant public health concern, primarily owing to their rapid spread in the environment and between animals and humans. Livestock and agricultural environments represent considerable reservoirs of antibiotic-resistant bacteria due to the extensive prophylactic use of antibiotics, especially in pig meat production⁷². The high number of MDR enterococcal strains isolated from fermented food and their ability to transfer these resistances raise concerns for the safety of products that are not subject to microbial inactivation treatments prior to human consumption ⁷³.

Currently, with the emergence of MDR enterococci and HA isolates, the EFSA safety assessment criteria for *E. faecium* include ampicillin MIC of $\leq 2 \text{ mg/L}$, and the lack of IS*16/esp/hyl* genes associated with plasticity, adhesion and carbohydrate metabolism respectively⁷⁴.

The HGT is a fundamental process in the spread of AMR genes and virulence markers among bacteria, enabling their survival and adjustment in challenging environments. The transfer of AMR genes between *E. faecium* and other bacterial species has primarily been studied in clinical environments; subsequently gene exchange in food matrices has also been verified⁷⁵. Moreover, the transmission of resistance to linezolid⁷⁶, oxazolidinone⁷⁷, aminoglycosides⁷⁸ glycopeptides, erythromycin, and tetracycline⁷⁹ has been confirmed among strains isolated from food.

Today, AMR detection has extended to the retail space, where the spread of antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) are evident in RTE foods like dairy products, salads, seafood, meat products and pork-derived items^{73,80–82}.

Although WGS is a powerful tool to study AMR genes and their spread, it is important to remember that databases are not all-encompassing and cannot identify new AMR genes. It is therefore necessary to also perform phenotypic tests, as phenotypic resistance could indicate the presence of yet unknown AMR genes.

3.3. Decoding Virulence in Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) through Whole Genome Sequencing

In addition to the detection of AMR genes and MGEs, WGS also allows screening of the known virulence related genes, refining hazard identification and the assessment of potential risks. Genomic data allow the detection and evaluation of virulence gene markers coding for toxins, attack factors, adhesion and invasion factors, immune evasion and replication factors. The databases supporting WGS are based on genome-wide association studies (GWAS). These studies correlate the virulence pattern, at genes level, with the ability to cause disease by testing in cell *in vitro* or *in vivo* models^{83,84}. Pathogens

exhibit intra-species variability in theirvirulence genes combinations, and some combinations are considered particularly dangerous for human health⁸⁵. Therefore, not all strains belonging to the same species are able to cause the same diseases, with the same degree of seriousness. It is well known that only a fraction of *Salmonella* strains, as well as *Escherichia coli*, can cause disease in humans^{85,86}. Although the presence of virulence genes does not automatically mean that the strain is pathogenic, access to comprehensive data on the presence of virulence factor genes and genes responsible for persistence/survival in food allows a more targeted and effective risk assessment. The virulence factor (VF) search tools, based on databases with homologous genes or proteins previously identified as pathogenicity factors, include VirulenceFinder⁸⁷, SPIFinder, Virulence Factor Database (VFDB)⁸⁸ and AMRFinderPlus⁸⁹. Furthermore, attention should also be paid to the presence of prophages, temperate phages integrated into the bacterial chromosome, given that they are capable of carrying and transferring genes coding for ARM and toxins⁵⁵. WGS enables the identification and characterisation of phage sequences, making it possible to define the phage type and the potential transmissible genes carried by it⁹⁰. Interesting studies on the distribution of VFs have been done utilising WGS; an example is the surveillance of virulence genes in *E. coli* STEC strains isolated from semi hard raw milk cheese^{91,92}.

E. coli (STEC) infections in Europe have increased in the last years, being the fourth most reported zoonosis, with 4,824 confirmed cases in 28 European countries in 2020 ⁹³. Infections attributed to STEC strains result in outbreaks of severe conditions like hemorrhagic colitis (HC) and hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS), resulting in a significant public health issue⁹⁴.

Currently, serogrouping is one of the criteria used to identify STEC strains with the potential to cause human disease⁹⁵. The "top 5" STEC Serogroups O157, O145, O111, O103, and O26, have been identified as responsible for severe diseases, with O157:H7 recognised as the main cause of severe STEC outbreaks worldwide⁹⁶. The principal virulence factors of STEC are the Shiga toxins (Stx), which contribute to conditions like HC and HUS97. Two variations of Stx, namely Stx1 and Stx2, encompassing subtypes Stx1a, c, d, e and Stx2a-i can be distinguished by nucleotide variations and serological reactivity98. STEC strains producing Stx1a, Stx2a, and/or Stx2d are linked to the most severe cases of HC and HUS 99. Lambdoid phages, wich harbor the stx genes, remain within the host genetic material until an external signal (for example UV radiation or antibiotics) causes the activation of the lytic cycle and the synthesis of phage particles, allowing horizontal transmission of toxin genes. The stx1 and stx2genes, located downstream of antiterminator Q and upstream of the lysis cassette in the late prophage region, are regulated by the late promoter pR'. The interaction of the Q protein with the Q utilization site (qut), situated on the pR' region, facilitates RNA polymerase to overcome the early terminator cassette, initiating the transcription of the toxin gene¹⁰⁰. Thus stx gene production is activated by phage lysis-inducing agents such as mitomycin C, suggesting that the stx gene is transcribed from the PR' of the Stx-encoding phage. Furthermore, present exclusively in stx1-encoding phages, there is a regulation driven by the stx1 promoter (P Stx1). This regulation is represented by the functional operator-binding site (Fur box) for the Fur, a repressor of iron transport systems in *E. coli*. Consequently, at low iron concentrations, transcription of the *stx* gene occurs without inducing phage lysis¹⁰¹.

Although the pathogenicity of STEC strains is directly related to the presence of Shiga toxins, the ability to cause disease is also linked to other factors. The pathogenicity island (PAI) of the Locus of Enterocyte Effacement (LEE) harbours the *eae* gene, coding for the intimin protein, which mediates epithelial cell adhesion and toxin release resulting in loss of intestinal microvilli and severe diarrhea, particularly in association with stx2 gene¹⁰².

Although the most virulent strains are LEE-positive, various non-O157 LEE-negative STEC strains have been identified associated to human disease, indicating their potential to express alternative virulence factors^{103,104}. Indeed, they can produce different virulence factors, involved in other adherence mechanisms encoded by plasmids, non-Stx prophages or different PAIs. Three specific PAIs have been documented as being uniquely found in LEE-negative STEC strains. These include the Locus of Proteolysis Activity (LPA), the Subtilase-Encoding Pathogenicity Island (SE-PAI), and the Locus of Adhesion and Autoaggregation (LAA)^{105,106}. Databases such as IslandViewer 4 and GIHunter predict the presence of PAI¹⁰⁷. Recently the LAA PAI, a 86 kb region divided in four modules containing the *hes* gene coding for haemagglutinin, was detected in the *Escherichia coli* O174:H2 strain UC4224 isolated from dairy. This strain harbors both Stx1- and Stx2-bacteriophages⁹². *E. coli* O174 strains have commonly been identified within the top 10 STEC serotypes present in animals, food, and humans⁹³. Two novel LAAs and one ICE were recently identified in a genome-wide analysis of 367 LEE-negative STEC strains, including serotype O174, isolated from humans, food and animals ¹⁰⁵. Recent studies provide evidence supporting the involvement of LAAs in the intestinal colonisation of a mouse model and STEC, *stx1-2* genes delete, infection in mice and *Galleria mellonella* larvae^{92,105}.

Further efforts are needed to improve our understanding of food-derived STECs, in particular to better elucidate the importance of non-stx non-LEE virulence markers in delineating the pathogenic potential of dairy isolates.

3.4. The role of Quorum Sensing System in Biofilm Formation and Stress response

Quorum sensing (QS) mechanisms control microbial proliferation and bacterial communication, having an important role in biofilm formation, and in the expression of virulence factors and stress adaptation mechanisms. The ongoing advancement of high throughput sequencing technologies and the increase in available genomic data allow for an increasingly detailed study of the dynamics of microbial replication, survival and dissemination in the environment¹⁰⁸. Furthermore, the study and understanding of QS in different bacterial species requires detailed analyses from the information provided by genome sequencing. A recent study, based on WGS, revealed that the QS of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 is regulated either via the normal Rhl system or the transcriptional regulator mexT¹⁰⁹. The same strain of *P. aeruginosa* has been used to assess the ability to attach and create biofilms on different types of microplastics, providing useful information on the role of QS¹¹⁰. The ability to produce Extracellular Polymeric Substance (EPS) facilitates bacterial adhesion and attachment, increasing the ability of biofilms to overcome exogenous stresses. An example are the studies conducted on the ability of *Listeria monocytogenes* to form biofilms, in which genome investigations have identified a close correlation of genetic markers inIA, SSi and ermC, to the source of isolation^{111,112}. Furthermore, WGS revealed that the surface protein esp, involved in biofilm formation and surface adhesion in *E. faecalis* and *E. faecium* is within a PAI. It was also demonstrated that only *E. faecium* isolates from clinical infections contain PAI with esp⁶⁹.

Bacteria are often subject to disadvantageous environmental conditions under which they need to adapt to survive. These adverse conditions, perceived as stress, induce intricate stress response systems especially in pathogenic microorganisms. A study by Liu and colleagues used NGS data to investigate the oxidative stress response of *Salmonella* ser. Enteritidis. Their findings suggest that there is a relation between virulence and oxidative stress. In particular oxidatively stressed *S. Enteritidis* cells simultaneously repressed key motility encoding genes and induced a wide range of adhesin- and salmonellae-essential virulence-encoding genes, that are critical for the biofilm formation and intracellular survival¹¹³. The stress response involves various molecular pathways at the level of transcription, translation and proteins. Understanding the mechanisms of stress response and adaptation to the environment of pathogenic micro-organisms that pose a risk to human health^{114,115}.

Finally, susceptibility to antibiotics has been demonstrated to be reduced by the activation of stress responses, through the stimulation of resistance mechanisms, the promotion of biofilm formation and the induction of mutations leading to resistance. Thus, the activation of bacterial stress responses poses a threat to the efficacy and clinical outcome of antibiotic therapy. However, stress responses in bacteria may also prove to be potential targets for therapeutic alternatives to antibiotics¹¹⁶.

4. *In vivo,* food and environmental models to study HGT (Horizontal Gene Transfer) and VF (virulence factors)

WGS has revolutionized the understanding of AMR in terms of ARG identification and emerging resistance detection, tracking transmission, resistome analysis and epidemiological studies. While WGS has changed the field of AMR research, it also presents challenges related to the inability to obtain a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) or inhibition zone, and it also does not provide direct information on levels of gene transmission in term of conjugation frequency. Similarly, the identification of virulence factors via WGS requires correlation with pathogenicity studies in *in vitro* or *in vivo* models. Consequently, the genotypic approach needs to be complemented by *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies.

Current insights into the dissemination of antibiotic resistance have mainly been obtained from *in vitro* or observational studies. Nevertheless, *in vitro* knowledge on predicting the horizontal transfer of ARG remains limited. Furthermore, *in vitro* models may not accurately replicate the HGT of resistance genes *in vivo*¹¹⁷. Thus, it is imperative to employ models that faithfully replicate natural contexts observed in foods, humans, animals and the environment to complement the present understanding of ARG transfer in bacterial populations.

Food models are essential tools for studying ARG transfer among bacteria in the food chain. These models aim to replicate real-world conditions within the food supply system on a laboratory scale, enabling the investigation of the dissemination dynamics of ARG. For example, some studies have investigated the transfer of ARG modelling the ripening of fermented meat and cheese ^{118–120}. Interestingly, other studies have performed *in situ* conjugation experiments in salmon and fermented chicken sausage, where Tn*916*-carrying *tet*(M) was transferred from *L. salivarius* and *L. monocytogenes* to *E. faecalis* ^{121,122}. Other studies have also explored the capacity of Tn*916*-mediated transfer of *tet*(M) from *L. monocytogenes* to *E. faecalis* ^{in situ} on the surface of cheese, with results comparable to ours ^{123,124}.

Furthermore, the use of food models is essential to evaluate the persistence and replication capacity of pathogenic microorganisms during food processing. For example, using a laboratory-scale model it was possible to demonstrate that the process of making a semi-hard raw milk cheese was not able to prevent the growth of *E. coli* STEC⁹². Similar study confirmed that the production processes of variety of soft and semi-hard raw milk cheeses were not effective in controlling the growth of STEC strains^{125–129}.

Foods are an excellent carrier for the spread of AMR and pathogenic bacteria in the gastrointestinal tract of humans and animals. It is therefore essential to employ *in vivo* models that can closely reproduce the conditions present in human and animal gut. Various animal models, including those for insects, mice and aquatic organisms, are currently used to directly observe the interactions between pathogens and their host organisms, as well as the gene transfer capacity between resident and transient bacteria in the gastrointestinal tract^{130,131}. Insects larvae, such as *Galleria mellonella*, have become the ideal surrogate host organism for gene transfer and virulence studies due to the presence of mammalian-like innate immune system and easiness, rapidness and low costs related tothe use of this insect model, s¹³². For example, Göttig and colleagues investigated the HGT of gene OXA-48 using *G. mellonella*, obtaining more realistic results than those obtained *in vitro*¹³³. Another study demonstrated the capability of S*taphylococcus aureus* to disseminate a gentamicin resistant plasmid in the larvae of the coleoptera *Tenebrio molitor* (mealworm)¹³⁴. Yet another study shows that larvae of *Alphitobius diaperinus* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) support HGT of AMR genes between *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* and that the exchange may occur within their gastrointestinal tract under laboratory conditions¹³⁵.

In addition to being a valuable tool for HGT studies, the insect larvae are a useful model to evaluate the *in vivo* bacterial pathogenicity and to elucidate the individual contributions of various virulence markers. Numerous studies have investigated the pathogenicity of STEC, enteropathogenic (EPEC) and Enteroaggregative (EAEC) *E. coli* using *Galleria* larvae as the host. For example Ikeda and colleagues assessed the virulence of different bovine *E. coli* STEC and EPEC O80:H2 strains and the roles in pathogenicity of pS88 plasmid and Shiga toxin 2d using *Galleria* larvae¹³¹. Another study using *Galleria* larvae investigated ithe virulence of 6 EAEC strains, harboring the transcriptional factor AggR, the aii island encoding a type VI secretion system, the dispersin and the dispersin transporter¹³⁶.

Milani et al. 2023 evaluated the role of shiga toxin stx1a and stx2a in *G. mellonella* infection, creating STEC mutants lacking one or both the toxin encoding genes. They found that virulence was related not only to *stx* genes but to other virulence factors as well⁹². Furthermore, Habets and colleagues assessed the pathogenicity of Stx2d phage transduced from a STEC O80:H2 strain to a non-STEC strains, also in *Galleria* larvae¹³⁷.

Employing larvae as model hosts offers a multifaceted approach to unravel the intricate dynamics of bacterial pathogenicity and transferability of AMR, providing insights into the avenues for developing targeted interventions for combatting both bacterial infections and the spread of AMR in humans and animals.

Currently the poorly controlled use of antimicrobial agents in aquaculture has significantly contributed to the increase of AMR within the marine ecosystem. The spread of AMR in marine ecosystems is now a growing concern due to its potential impact on aquatic life, human health and global ecosystems. Marine environment is considered to be a reservoir for various microorganisms, including bacteria carrying ARGs¹³⁸. Marine animals, including fish, molluscs, and crustaceans, can harbour AMR bacteria due to the exposure to contaminated water and feed, acting as potential carriers of resistant bacteria to humans through seafood consumption¹³⁹. Particularly, mussels are considered a useful bioindicator of water contamination and they are used in monitoring the presence and diffusion of ARGs in marine environments. Due to their filtration behaviour, mussels can accumulate a wide range of microorganisms from the surrounding water, providing a model for assessing HGT. Previous studies support the fact that ARG transfer can occur in the aquatic ecosystem and in marine mussels acting as a reservoir of AMR¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴³.

Adding complexity to the scenario, bacteria frequently create biofilms on various surfaces including microplastics, emerging pollutants in the marine environment. These biofilms serve as reservoirs for ARG, enabling their transmission to other bacteria within the biofilm and upon their release into the water column¹⁴⁴. The role of microplastics as a vehicle for the spread of ARG in aquatic environment has been observed in different studies^{145,146}. Furthermore, additional research provides support for the role of microplastics in facilitating the development of biofilms, thereby substantially enhancing the transfer of ARGs compared to water samples lacking microplastics^{147–149}. Indeed, Arias-Andres and colleagues observed a notably elevated rate of plasmid transfer among microplastics-associated bacteria in comparison to bacteria existing freely or within natural aggregates in aquatic setting^{150,151}.

Food and *in vivo* models offer controlled environments to manipulate various test parameters and test hypotheses related to the transfer of AMR. Moreover, these models offer a powerful tool for assessing the pathogenicity potential and the persistence of pathogenic microorganisms to food processes. However, they also bring challenges, including the complexity of replicating real-world conditions, the need for careful validation, and the potential to oversimplify complex processes. To maximize the relevance of the findings, researchers often combine data from various models and integrate them with real-world surveillance and clinical data. This holistic approach helps us to understand the role of the food supply chain and devise strategies to mitigate its impact on public health.

5. Mitigation and preservation: LAB as guardians of Food Safety and Security.

The primary challenge of the food industry is to ensure food safety. Therefore, efforts to prevent this challenge should be based on the development of risk mitigation strategies to counter the increased spread of AMR, pathogenic and spoilage-causing bacteria during food production, storage, and distribution. The application of Good Agricultural Practices (GAP), Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) and Good Hygienic Practices (GHP) together with the information gathered from surveillance are crucial for effective food safety management¹⁵².

Efficient strategies for preventing the transmission of AMR bacteria in food of animal origin include conservative use of antimicrobials in animal husbandry and implementation of control procedures for all foods during processing ¹⁵³. Guaranteeing the safety of fresh and fermented products is a significant challenge for food industry, as physical processing methods alone are often not sufficient to guarantee the consistent production of safe food¹⁵⁴. In fact, microbial contamination of fresh and processed meat products by various pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms is a major concern. In recent decades, these problems have encouraged researchers to develop new control measures, such as bioprotectors and protective food cultures. Given their generally recognised as safe (GRAS) status the use of LAB as biocontrol agents, in addition to their role as starter cultures, has been proposed as a sustainable alternative to antimicrobials¹⁵⁵.

The primary antimicrobial effect of LAB derives from the decrease of pH in food and the activity of organic acids. Some LAB also produce bacteriocins and bacteriocin-like inhibitory substances (BLISs). Hence, incorporating LAB, with the capacity to produce antimicrobial compounds, in food during the manufacturing process can counteract the growth of pathogenic and spoilage microrganisms. Several species of LAB, including *Latilactobacillus sakei*, *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum*, *Ligilactobacillus animalis* and *Latilactobacillus curvatus*, are used as bioprotective agents in meat products. Their antimicrobial activity, provided by metabolites such as organic acids, diacetyl, acetoin, hydrogen peroxide and bacteriocins, has been extensively studied in food matrices against the growth of pathogenic or spoilage microorganisms ^{156–163}.

Among the metabolites of LAB, bacteriocins such as nisin, enterocin, plantain, pediocin, pentocin, pneumocyclin, curvacin and sakacin, are of particular interest for the dairy and meat industries. These small antimicrobial peptides have been shown to be quite effective against food pathogens such as *E. coli* STEC, *L. monocytogens, Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Salmonella* sp., as well as spoilage microorganisms^{10,163}.. Bacteriocins are generally classified based on their bacterial source (from both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria), molecular size, heat stability, chemical structure, biochemical properties and mode of action¹⁶⁴. Bacteriocins, also called lantibiotics, are thermostable peptides less than 5 kDa in size, synthesized with the amino acids lanthionine and/or methyllanthionine in the ribosome. Lantibiotics are further divided into different subclasses (AI, AII and B), based on their structural and functional differences. The peptides of subclass AI are elongated, positively charged and act by forming pores in the cytoplasmic membranes, while those belonging to subclass B are globular in shape, negatively or neutrally charged and act through cell wall biosynthesis mechanisms¹⁶⁴.

Class II bacteriocins, differently from class I bacteriocins, are hydrophobic peptides that exhibit no posttranslational modification. This class of bacteriocins, which are thermostable and of low molecular weight (<10 kDa), have an amphiphilic helical structure, which depolarises the bacterial membrane, leading to the death of pathogens. These non-lantibiotic bacteriocins are subdivided into subclasses IIa, IIb, IIc or IId based on their N-terminal amino acid sequences. Subclass IIa bacteriocins, such as pediocin PA-1, leucocin A, sakacin A, P, T, Q, X, G and enterocin A, are very specific against Listeria spp. and contain one or two a-helices in the N-terminal peptide chain. Recently, 28 class IIa-like bacteriocins with high specificity against L. monocytogenes called 'pediocin boxes' were identified 165. The bacteriocins of subclass IIb are heterodimeric and therefore require the synergistic action of two peptides to permeabilise the target bacterial membrane and decrease the intracellular ATP concentration. Lactocin 705 produced by L. curvatus CRL705, plantaricin from L. plantarum, enterocin from E. faecalis and lactococcin from L. lactis are part of subclass IIb Subclass IIc bacteriocins, which are characterised by a cyclic structure, include e.g. circolarin A from Clostridium beijerinckii, reutericin 6 from Limosilactobacillus reuteri, enterocin AS-48 from E. faecalis, carnocycline A from Carnobacterium spp. and garvicin ML from Lactococcus garvieae¹⁶⁶. Finally, unmodified, linear bacteriocins and non-pediocins belonging to class IId, which currently includes 31 types mainly produced by LAB, such as lactococcin¹⁶⁷.

The class III category of bacteriocins produced by LAB are thermolabile macromolecules with a particle size greater than 30 kDa. This class includes subclass IIIa or bacterolysin, which includes lysostaphin and enterolysin A that are active on the cell wall, and subclass IIIb, which includes elveticin M that dissipates the membrane potential and reduces the intracellular ATP concentration¹⁶⁸.

Recently the interest in traditional and regional food products has increased. This can pose a challenge for the food industry, which has to meet the market demands for producing diversity of food products^{169,170}. The use of indigenous starter cultures (i.e. cultures originally isolated from naturally

fermented products) can help to produce traditional foods that are not only safe but also of exceptional quality. Moreover, it has been established that indigenous starter cultures often improve the sensory characteristics (taste, texture, colour) of fermented products,¹⁷¹. As a result, the food industry is actively seeking indigenous LAB bacteria possessing both technological and antimicrobial properties to serve as starters and protective cultures in meat products. LAB strains potentially used as starter cultures must be safe, grow at different temperatures and in different salinities and allow for rapid pH decline in the food matrix, as well as produce a satisfactory flavour profile typical for the product^{172,173}.

Several studies have evaluated the contribution of indigenous LAB strains, belonging to the species *L. sakei, L. plantarum* and *L. curvatus,* to the fermentation of meat products resulting in the formation of a characteristic sensory profile of the product^{174–177}. The species *Companilactobacillus alimentarius* is often detected as part of the microbiota of traditional fermented foods, in which it plays crucial functions in the fermentation and maturation processes. They are also recognised as QPS and are part of the inventory of food microbial cultures with demonstration of safety in fermented foodss^{48,176,178}.

The versatility of LAB in improving safety, flavor and shelf life offers a promising future for their use in the meat industry. Since consumer demand for naturally preserved, flavor rich and safe meat products continues to increase, The role of LAB as champions of high quality and traditional foods will grow. Their contribution to the production of safe and high-quality meat products involves continuous search for new species and new indigenous strains to be used as protective or starter cultures.

6. References

- Jarvis, K. G. *et al.* Microbiomes Associated With Foods From Plant and Animal Sources. *Front. Microbiol.* 9, 2540 (2018).
- Cobo-Díaz, J. F. *et al.* Microbial colonization and resistome dynamics in food processing environments of a newly opened pork cutting industry during 1.5 years of activity. *Microbiome* 9, 204 (2021).
- Odeyemi, O. A., Strateva, M., Alegbeleye, O. O. & Stratev, D. Understanding spoilage microbial community and spoilage mechanisms in foods of animal origin. 311–331 (2020) doi:10.1111/1541-4337.12526.
- 4. Cabello-Olmo, M. *et al.* Influence of Storage Temperature and Packaging on Bacteria and Yeast Viability in a Plant-Based Fermented Food. *Foods (Basel, Switzerland)* **9**, (2020).
- 5. Mousavi Khaneghah, A. *et al.* Interactions between probiotics and pathogenic microorganisms in hosts and foods: A review. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* **95**, 205–218 (2020).
- Lorenzo, J. M. *et al.* Main Groups of Microorganisms of Relevance for Food Safety and Stability: General Aspects and Overall Description. *Innovative Technologies for Food Preservation* 53– 107 (2018) doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-811031-7.00003-0.
- 7. Soemarie, Y. B., Milanda, T. & Barliana, M. I. Fermented Foods as Probiotics: A Review. J. Adv. Pharm. Technol. Res. 12, 335–339 (2021).
- 8. García-Díez, J. & Saraiva, C. Use of Starter Cultures in Foods from Animal Origin to Improve Their Safety. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* **18**, (2021).

- 9. Sharma, R., Garg, P., Kumar, P., Bhatia, S. K. & Kulshrestha, S. Microbial Fermentation and Its Role in Quality Improvement of Fermented Foods. *Fermentation* **6**, (2020).
- Fischer, S. W. & Titgemeyer, F. Protective Cultures in Food Products: From Science to Market. Foods (Basel, Switzerland) 12, (2023).
- 11. Wang, Y. *et al.* Metabolism Characteristics of Lactic Acid Bacteria and the Expanding Applications in Food Industry. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* **9**, (2021).
- 12. Marco, M. L. *et al.* Health benefits of fermented foods: microbiota and beyond. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **44**, 94–102 (2017).
- 13. Herman, L. *et al.* The qualified presumption of safety assessment and its role in EFSA risk evaluations: 15 years past. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **366**, (2019).
- Koutsoumanis, K. *et al.* Update of the list of quali fi ed presumption of safety (QPS) recommended microbiological agents intentionally added to food or feed as noti fi ed to EFSA 17 : suitability of taxonomic units noti fi ed to EFSA until September 2022. 21, 1–36 (2023).
- 15. Raveendran, S. *et al.* Applications of Microbial Enzymes in Food Industry. *Food Technol. Biotechnol.* **56**, 16–30 (2018).
- 16. Staniszewski, A. & Kordowska-Wiater, M. Probiotic and Potentially Probiotic Yeasts-Characteristics and Food Application. *Foods (Basel, Switzerland)* **10**, (2021).
- 17. Geronikou, A. *et al.* Occurrence of Yeasts in White-Brined Cheeses: Methodologies for Identification, Spoilage Potential and Good Manufacturing Practices. *Front. Microbiol.* **11**, (2020).
- Sun, X. *et al.* Food spoilage, bioactive food fresh-keeping films and functional edible coatings: Research status, existing problems and development trend. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* **119**, 122–132 (2022).
- 19. Karanth, S., Feng, S., Patra, D. & Pradhan, A. K. Linking microbial contamination to food spoilage and food waste: the role of smart packaging, spoilage risk assessments, and date labeling. *Front. Microbiol.* **14**, (2023).
- 20. Zhu, Y. *et al.* Microbial diversity of meat products under spoilage and its controlling approaches. *Front. Nutr.* **9**, (2022).
- 21. Patil, V. S. & Kukade, P. D. Fungal spoilage of bakery products and its control measures. **6**, 167–181 (2020).
- 22. Poghossian, A., Geissler, H. & Schöning, M. J. Rapid methods and sensors for milk quality monitoring and spoilage detection. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 140, 111272 (2019).
- Ajaykumar, V. J. & Mandal, P. K. Chapter 18 Modern concept and detection of spoilage in meat and meat products. in *Meat Quality Analysis* (eds. Biswas, A. K. & Mandal, P. K.) 335–349 (Academic Press, 2020). doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819233-7.00018-5.
- 24. Nerín, C., Aznar, M. & Carrizo, D. Food contamination during food process. *Trends Food Sci. Technol.* **48**, 63–68 (2016).
- 25. Aggarwal, D. & Ramachandran, A. One Health Approach to Address Zoonotic Diseases. Indian J. community Med. Off. Publ. Indian Assoc. Prev. Soc. Med. 45, S6–S8 (2020).
- 26. Wielinga, P. & Schlundt, J. Food Safety : At the Center of a One Health Approach for Combating Zoonoses Food Safety : At the Center of a One Health Approach for Combating Zoonoses. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 2–17 (2014) doi:10.1007/82.
- 27. González-Barrio, D. Zoonoses and Wildlife: One Health Approach. Animals 12, (2022).
- 28. WHO, Global antimicrobial resistance and use surveillance system (GLASS) report 2022. Geneva. (2022).

- 29. EFSA and ECDC. The European Union One Health 2020 Zoonoses Report. EFSA J. 19, (2021).
- 30. Uddin, T. M. *et al.* Antibiotic resistance in microbes: History, mechanisms, therapeutic strategies and future prospects. *J. Infect. Public Health* **14**, 1750–1766 (2021).
- Rajapaksha, P. & Elbourne, A. A review of methods for the detection of pathogenic microorganisms. 396–411 (2019) doi:10.1039/c8an01488d.
- 32. Jagadeesan, B. *et al.* The use of next generation sequencing for improving food safety: Translation into practice. *Food Microbiol.* **79**, 96–115 (2019).
- Taboada, E. N., Graham, M. R., Carriço, J. A. & Van Domselaar, G. Food Safety in the Age of Next Generation Sequencing, Bioinformatics, and Open Data Access. *Front. Microbiol.* 8, 909 (2017).
- 34. Costa, G. *et al.* Guidelines for reporting Whole Genome Sequencing-based typing data through the EFSA One Health WGS System. (2022) doi:10.2903/sp.efsa.2022.EN-7413.
- Koutsoumanis, K. *et al.* Whole genome sequencing and metagenomics for outbreak investigation, source attribution and risk assessment of food-borne microorganisms. *EFSA J.* 17, (2019).
- 36. EFSA. EFSA statement on the requirements for whole genome sequence analysis of microorganisms intentionally used in the food chain. *EFSA J.* **19**, (2021).
- Wei, X. & Zhao, X. Advances in typing and identification of foodborne pathogens. *Curr. Opin. Food Sci.* 37, 52–57 (2021).
- 38. Nadon, C. *et al.* PulseNet International: Vision for the implementation of whole genome sequencing (WGS) for global food-borne disease surveillance. *Euro Surveill. Bull. Eur. sur les Mal. Transm. = Eur. Commun. Dis. Bull.* **22**, (2017).
- Timme, R. E. *et al.* Phylogenomic Pipeline Validation for Foodborne Pathogen Disease Surveillance. J. Clin. Microbiol. 57, 10.1128/jcm.01816-18 (2019).
- 40. Cobo-d, F. Integration of genomics in surveillance and risk assessment for outbreak investigation. **20**, 1–10 (2022).
- 41. Rosselló-Móra, R. & Amann, R. Past and future species definitions for Bacteria and Archaea. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.* **38**, 209–216 (2015).
- 42. Singh, N. *et al.* Whole-Genome Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) Analysis Applied Directly to Stool for Genotyping Shiga Toxin-Producing Escherichia coli: an Advanced Molecular Detection Method for Foodborne Disease Surveillance and Outbreak Tracking. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **57**, (2019).
- 43. Ronholm, J., Nasheri, N., Petronella, N. & Pagotto, F. Navigating Microbiological Food Safety in the Era of Whole-Genome Sequencing. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **29**, 837–857 (2016).
- 44. Chun, J. *et al.* Proposed minimal standards for the use of genome data for the taxonomy of prokaryotes. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* **68**, 461–466 (2018).
- 45. Belloso Daza, M. V., Cortimiglia, C., Bassi, D. & Cocconcelli, P. S. Genome-based studies indicate that the Enterococcus faecium Clade B strains belong to Enterococcus lactis species and lack of the hospital infection associated markers. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* **71**, (2021).
- 46. Rouli, L., Merhej, V., Fournier, P. & Raoult, D. The bacterial pangenome as a new tool for analysing pathogenic bacteria. *New Microbes New Infect.* **7**, 72–85 (2015).
- 47. Park, S.-C., Lee, K., Kim, Y. O., Won, S. & Chun, J. Large-Scale Genomics Reveals the Genetic Characteristics of Seven Species and Importance of Phylogenetic Distance for Estimating Pan-

Genome Size. Front. Microbiol. 10, 834 (2019).

- 48. Zheng, J. *et al.* A taxonomic note on the genus Lactobacillus: Description of 23 novel genera, emended description of the genus Lactobacillus Beijerinck 1901, and union of Lactobacillaceae and Leuconostocaceae. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* **70**, 2782–2858 (2020).
- 49. Wang, Y. *et al.* Whole-genome analysis of probiotic product isolates reveals the presence of genes related to antimicrobial resistance, virulence factors, and toxic metabolites, posing potential health risks. *BMC Genomics* **22**, 210 (2021).
- 50. Bortolaia, V. *et al.* ResFinder 4.0 for predictions of phenotypes from genotypes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. **75**, 3491–3500 (2020).
- 51. Alcock, B. P. *et al.* CARD 2020: Antibiotic resistome surveillance with the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. *Nucleic Acids* Res. **48**, D517–D525 (2020).
- 52. Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W. & Lipman, D. J. Basic local alignment search tool. J. Mol. Biol. 215, 403–410 (1990).
- 53. Rowe, W. *et al.* Search Engine for Antimicrobial Resistance: A Cloud Compatible Pipeline and Web Interface for Rapidly Detecting Antimicrobial Resistance Genes Directly from Sequence Data. *PLoS One* **10**, 1–12 (2015).
- 54. Munita, J. M. & Arias, C. A. Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 4, (2016).
- 55. Kondo, K., Kawano, M. & Sugai, M. Distribution of Antimicrobial Resistance and Virulence Genes within the Prophage-Associated Regions in Nosocomial Pathogens. *mSphere* **6**, e0045221 (2021).
- 56. Arnold, B. J., Huang, I.-T. & Hanage, W. P. Horizontal gene transfer and adaptive evolution in bacteria. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **20**, 206–218 (2022).
- 57. Cao, H. *et al.* Sharing of Antimicrobial Resistance Genes between Humans and Food Animals. *mSystems* **7**, e00775-22 (2022).
- 58. Ghaly, T. M. & Gillings, M. R. Mobile DNAs as Ecologically and Evolutionarily Independent Units of Life. *Trends Microbiol.* **26**, 904–912 (2018).
- 59. Song, M. J. & Schaack, S. Evolutionary Conflict between Mobile DNA and Host Genomes. *Am. Nat.* **192**, 263–273 (2018).
- 60. Guédon, G., Libante, V., Coluzzi, C., Payot, S. & Leblond-Bourget, N. The Obscure World of Integrative and Mobilizable Elements, Highly Widespread Elements that Pirate Bacterial Conjugative Systems. *Genes (Basel).* **8**, (2017).
- 61. Davies, N., Jørgensen, F., Willis, C., McLauchlin, J. & Chattaway, M. A. Whole genome sequencing reveals antimicrobial resistance determinants (AMR genes) of Salmonella enterica recovered from raw chicken and ready-to-eat leaves imported into England between 2014 and 2019. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* **133**, 2569–2582 (2022).
- 62. Parra-Flores, J. *et al.* Virulence and Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Listeria monocytogenes Strains Isolated From Ready-to-Eat Foods in Chile. *Front. Microbiol.* **12**, (2022).
- 63. Belloso Daza, M. V. *et al.* Genomic insights of Enterococcus faecium UC7251, a multi-drug resistant strain from ready-to-eat foods, highlight the risk of antimicrobial resistance in the food chain. *Front. Microbiol.* (2022).
- 64. Ben Braïek, O. & Smaoui, S. Enterococci: Between Emerging Pathogens and Potential Probiotics. *Biomed Res. Int.* **2019**, 5938210 (2019).
- 65. Gao, W., Howden, B. P. & Stinear, T. P. Evolution of virulence in Enterococcus faecium, a hospital-adapted opportunistic pathogen. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* **41**, 76–82 (2018).

- 66. Lebreton, F. *et al.* Emergence of epidemic multidrug-resistant Enterococcus faecium from animal and commensal strains. *MBio* **4**, (2013).
- 67. Lee, T., Pang, S., Abraham, S. & Coombs, G. W. Antimicrobial-resistant CC17 Enterococcus faecium: The past, the present and the future. *J. Glob. Antimicrob. Resist.* **16**, 36–47 (2019).
- 68. Gorrie, C., Higgs, C., Carter, G., Stinear, T. P. & Howden, B. Genomics of vancomycinresistant Enterococcus faecium. *Microb. genomics* **5**, (2019).
- 69. Freitas, A. R., Tedim, A. P., Novais, C., Coque, T. M. & Peixe, L. Distribution of putative virulence markers in Enterococcus faecium: towards a safety profile review. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* **73**, 306–319 (2017).
- Pietta, E., Montealegre, M. C., Roh, J. H., Cocconcelli, P. S. & Murray, B. E. Enterococcus faecium PBP5-S/R, the missing link between PBP5-S and PBP5-R. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 58, 6978–6981 (2014).
- 71. Freitas, A. R., Pereira, A. P., Novais, C. & Peixe, L. Multidrug-resistant high-risk Enterococcus faecium clones: can we really define them? *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents* **57**, 106227 (2021).
- 72. Bolton, D. *et al.* Role played by the environment in the emergence and spread of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) through the food chain. **19**, (2021).
- 73. Chajęcka-Wierzchowska, W., Zadernowska, A. & García-Solache, M. Ready-to-eat dairy products as a source of multidrug-resistant Enterococcus strains: Phenotypic and genotypic characteristics. *J. Dairy Sci.* **103**, 4068–4077 (2020).
- 74. Rychen, G. *et al.* Guidance on the characterisation of microorganisms used as feed additives or as production organisms. **16**, 1–24 (2018).
- Zadernowska, A., Zarzecka, U. & Chaj, W. Enterococci from ready-to-eat food horizontal gene transfer of antibiotic resistance genes and genotypic characterization by PCR melting profile. (2018) doi:10.1002/jsfa.9285.
- 76. Tyson, G. H. *et al.* Novel linezolid resistance plasmids in Enterococcus from food animals in the USA. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* **73**, 3254–3258 (2018).
- 77. Kang, Z.-Z. *et al.* Detection of transferable oxazolidinone resistance determinants in Enterococcus faecalis and Enterococcus faecium of swine origin in Sichuan Province, China. *J. Glob. Antimicrob.* Resist. **19**, 333–337 (2019).
- Kim, Y. Bin, Seo, K. W., Son, S. H., Noh, E. B. & Lee, Y. J. Genetic characterization of highlevel aminoglycoside-resistant Enterococcus faecalis and Enterococcus faecium isolated from retail chicken meat. *Poult. Sci.* 98, 5981–5988 (2019).
- 79. Conwell, M., Daniels, V., Naughton, P. J. & Dooley, J. S. G. Interspecies transfer of vancomycin, erythromycin and tetracycline resistance among Enterococcus species recovered from agrarian sources. *BMC Microbiol.* **17**, 19 (2017).
- 80. Zhou, S.-Y.-D. *et al.* Prevalence of Antibiotic Resistome in Ready-to-Eat Salad. *Front. Public Heal.* **8**, (2020).
- Igbinosa, E. O. & Beshiru, A. Antimicrobial Resistance, Virulence Determinants, and Biofilm Formation of Enterococcus Species From Ready-to-Eat Seafood. *Front. Microbiol.* 10, 728 (2019).
- Kim, H. J. & Koo, M. Occurrence, Antimicrobial Resistance and Molecular Diversity of Enterococcus faecium in Processed Pork Meat Products in Korea. *Foods (Basel, Switzerland)* 9, (2020).
- 83. Shakouka, M. A. *et al.* Genome-Wide Association Mapping of Virulence Genes in Wheat Karnal Bunt Fungus Tilletia indica Using Double Digest Restriction-Site Associated DNA-

Genotyping by Sequencing Approach. Front. Microbiol. 13, (2022).

- Allen, J. P., Snitkin, E., Pincus, N. B. & Hauser, A. R. Forest and Trees: Exploring Bacterial Virulence with Genome-wide Association Studies and Machine Learning. *Trends Microbiol.* 29, 621–633 (2021).
- 85. Stromberg, Z. R. *et al.* Pathogenic and non-pathogenic Escherichia coli colonization and host inflammatory response in a defined microbiota mouse model. *Dis. Model. Mech.* **11**, (2018).
- 86. Allard, M. W. *et al.* Genomics of foodborne pathogens for microbial food safety. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **49**, 224–229 (2018).
- 87. Joensen, K. G. *et al.* Real-time whole-genome sequencing for routine typing, surveillance, and outbreak detection of verotoxigenic Escherichia coli. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **52**, 1501–1510 (2014).
- 88. Liu, B., Zheng, D., Zhou, S., Chen, L. & Yang, J. VFDB 2022: a general classification scheme for bacterial virulence factors. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **50**, D912–D917 (2022).
- 89. Feldgarden, M. *et al.* AMRFinderPlus and the Reference Gene Catalog facilitate examination of the genomic links among antimicrobial resistance, stress response, and virulence. *Sci. Rep.* **11**, 12728 (2021).
- 90. Uelze, L. *et al.* Typing methods based on whole genome sequencing data. *One Heal. Outlook* **2**, 1–19 (2020).
- Cortimiglia, C., Borney, M. F., Bassi, D. & Cocconcelli, P. S. Genomic Investigation of Virulence Potential in Shiga Toxin Escherichia coli (STEC) Strains From a Semi-Hard Raw Milk Cheese. *Front. Microbiol.* 11, 629189 (2020).
- 92. Milani, G., Belloso Daza, M. V., Cortimiglia, C., Bassi, D. & Cocconcelli, P. S. Genome engineering of Stx1-and Stx2-converting bacteriophages unveils the virulence of the dairy isolate Escherichia coli O174:H2 strain UC4224. *Front. Microbiol.* **14**, 1156375 (2023).
- 93. EFSA and ECDC. The European Union One Health 2021 Zoonoses Report. EFSA Journal vol. 19 (2022).
- Pedersen, R. M. *et al.* Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli: incidence and clinical features in a setting with complete screening of patients with suspected infective diarrhoea. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 24, 635–639 (2018).
- Preußel, K., Höhle, M., Stark, K. & Werber, D. Shiga Toxin-Producing Escherichia coli O157 Is More Likely to Lead to Hospitalization and Death than Non-O157 Serogroups – Except O104. *PLoS One* 8, 1–7 (2013).
- 96. Koutsoumanis, K. *et al.* Pathogenicity assessment of Shiga toxinproducing Escherichia coli (STEC) and the public health risk posed by contamination of food with STEC. EFSA J 18: e05967. (2020).
- 97. Betzen, C. *et al.* Shiga toxin 2a-induced endothelial injury in hemolytic uremic syndrome: A metabolomic analysis. *J. Infect. Dis.* **213**, 1031–1040 (2016).
- 98. Panel, E. B. *et al.* Pathogenicity assessment of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC) and the public health risk posed by contamination of food with STEC. *Efsa J.* **18**, e05967 (2020).
- 99. Organization, W. H. Shiga Toxin-producing Escherichia Coli (STEC) and Food: Attribution, Characterization and Monitoring. vol. 19 (World Health Organization, 2019).
- Zhang, L. X., Simpson, D. J., McMullen, L. M. & Gänzle, M. G. Comparative Genomics and Characterization of the Late Promoter pR' from Shiga Toxin Prophages in Escherichia coli. *Viruses* 10, (2018).

- 101. Ichimura, K. *et al.* Nitric oxide- enhanced Shiga toxin production was regulated by Fur and RecA in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157. 1–17 (2017) doi:10.1002/mbo3.461.
- 102. Franzin, F. M. & Sircili, M. P. Locus of enterocyte effacement: A pathogenicity island involved in the virulence of enteropathogenic and enterohemorragic escherichia coli subjected to a complex network of gene regulation. *Biomed Res. Int.* **2015**, (2015).
- Schmidt, H. *et al.* Identification and characterization of a novel genomic island integrated at selC in locus of enterocyte effacement-negative, Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 6863–6873 (2001).
- Colello, R. *et al.* Identification and detection of iha subtypes in LEE-negative Shiga toxinproducing Escherichia coli (STEC) strains isolated from humans, cattle and food. *Heliyon* 5, 1–6 (2019).
- 105. Montero, D. A. *et al.* Cumulative acquisition of pathogenicity islands has shaped virulence potential and contributed to the emergence of LEE-negative Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli strains. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* **8**, 486–502 (2019).
- 106. Montero, D. A. *et al.* Locus of adhesion and autoaggregation (LAA), a pathogenicity island present in emerging Shiga toxin–producing Escherichia coli strains Scie. Rep 7 (1): 7011. (2017).
- 107. Bertelli, C., Tilley, K. E. & Brinkman, F. S. L. Microbial genomic island discovery, visualization and analysis. *Brief. Bioinform.* **20**, 1685–1698 (2019).
- 108. Banerji, R., Karkee, A., Kanojiya, P., Patil, A. & Saroj, S. D. Bacterial communication in the regulation of stress response in Listeria monocytogenes. *LWT* **154**, 112703 (2022).
- 109. Cheng, X. et al. Spontaneous quorum-sensing hierarchy reprogramming in Pseudomonas aeruginosa laboratory strain PAO1. AMB Express 12, 6 (2022).
- 110. Ayush, P. T., Ko, J.-H. & Oh, H.-S. Characteristics of Initial Attachment and Biofilm Formation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa on Microplastic Surfaces. *Appl. Sci.* **12**, (2022).
- 111. Di Ciccio, P. *et al.* Biofilm formation and genomic features of Listeria monocytogenes strains isolated from meat and dairy industries located in Piedmont (Italy). *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **378**, 109784 (2022).
- 112. Maggio, F. *et al.* Genetic relationships and biofilm formation of Listeria monocytogenes isolated from the smoked salmon industry. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **356**, 109353 (2021).
- 113. Liu, X., Omar, M., Abrahante, J. E., Nagaraja, K. V & Vidovic, S. Insights into the Oxidative Stress Response of Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis Revealed by the Next Generation Sequencing Approach. *Antioxidants* **9**, (2020).
- 114. Sibanda, T. & Buys, E. M. Listeria monocytogenes Pathogenesis: The Role of Stress Adaptation. *Microorganisms* **10**, (2022).
- 115. Wiktorczyk-Kapischke, N. *et al.* Adaptive Response of Listeria monocytogenes to the Stress Factors in the Food Processing Environment. *Front. Microbiol.* **12**, (2021).
- 116. Dawan, J. & Ahn, J. Bacterial Stress Responses as Potential Targets in Overcoming Antibiotic Resistance. *Microorganisms* **10**, (2022).
- 117. Tao, S., Chen, H., Li, N., Wang, T. & Liang, W. The Spread of Antibiotic Resistance Genes In Vivo Model. *Can. J. Infect. Dis. Med. Microbiol.* = J. *Can. des Mal. Infect. la Microbiol. medicale* 2022, 3348695 (2022).
- Cocconcelli, P. S., Cattivelli, D. & Gazzola, S. Gene transfer of vancomycin and tetracycline resistances among Enterococcus faecalis during cheese and sausage fermentations. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 88, 315–323 (2003).

- 119. Leroy, S., Christieans, S. & Talon, R. Tetracycline gene transfer in staphylococcus xylosus in situ during sausage fermentation. *Front. Microbiol.* **10**, 1–9 (2019).
- 120. Bonham, K. S., Wolfe, B. E. & Dutton, R. J. Extensive horizontal gene transfer in cheeseassociated bacteria. *Elife* 6, (2017).
- Bertsch, D. *et al.* Tn6198, a novel transposon containing the trimethoprim resistance gene dfrG embedded into a Tn916 element in Listeria monocytogenes. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 68, 986–991 (2013).
- 122. Thumu, S. C. R. & Halami, P. M. Conjugal transfer of erm(B) and multiple tet genes from Lactobacillus spp. to bacterial pathogens in animal gut, in vitro and during food fermentation. *Food Res. Int.* **116**, 1066–1075 (2019).
- 123. Haubert, L., Eduardo, C., Völz, G. & Padilha, W. Food isolate Listeria monocytogenes harboring tetM gene plasmid-mediated exchangeable to Enterococcus faecalis on the surface of processed cheese. *Food Res. Int.* **107**, 503–508 (2018).
- 124. Bertsch, D., Anderegg, J., Lacroix, C., Perreten, V. & Meile, L. Tn 6198, a novel transposon containing the trimethoprim resistance gene dfrG embedded into a Tn 916 element in Listeria monocytogenes. 986–991 (2013) doi:10.1093/jac/dks531.
- 125. Schlesser, J. E. *et al.* Survival of a five-strain cocktail of Escherichia coli O157: H7 during the 60-day aging period of cheddar cheese made from unpasteurized milk. *J. Food Prot.* **69**, 990–998 (2006).
- 126. Caro, I. & García-Armesto, M. R. Occurrence of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli in a Spanish raw ewe's milk cheese. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **116**, 410–413 (2007).
- Miszczycha, S. D. *et al.* Behavior of different Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli serotypes in various experimentally contaminated raw-milk cheeses. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 150–158 (2013).
- 128. Miszczycha, S. D. *et al.* Short communication: Behavior of different Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli serotypes (O26:H11, O103:H2, O145:H28, O157:H7) during the manufacture, ripening, and storage of a white mold cheese. *J. Dairy Sci.* **99**, 5224–5229 (2016).
- 129. Peng, S. *et al.* Fate of Shiga toxin-producing and generic Escherichia coli during production and ripening of semihard raw milk cheese. *J. Dairy Sci.* **96**, 815–823 (2013).
- 130. Ott, L. C. & Mellata, M. Models for Gut-Mediated Horizontal Gene Transfer by Bacterial Plasmid Conjugation. *Front. Microbiol.* **13**, (2022).
- Ikeda, R. *et al.* Virulence of Shigatoxigenic and Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli O80:H2 in Galleria mellonella Larvae: Comparison of the Roles of the pS88 Plasmids and STX2d Phage. *Vet. Sci.* 10, (2023).
- 132. Tao, Y., Duma, L. & Rossez, Y. Galleria mellonella as a Good Model to Study Acinetobacter baumannii Pathogenesis. *Pathog. (Basel, Switzerland)* **10**, (2021).
- 133. Göttig, S., Gruber, T. M., Stecher, B., Wichelhaus, T. A. & Kempf, V. A. J. In vivo horizontal gene transfer of the carbapenemase OXA-48 during a nosocomial outbreak. *Clin. Infect. Dis. an Off. Publ. Infect. Dis. Soc. Am.* **60**, 1808–1815 (2015).
- 134. Andrade-Oliveira, A. L. *et al.* Tenebrio molitor as a model system to study Staphylococcus spp virulence and horizontal gene transfer. *Microb. Pathog.* **183**, 106304 (2023).
- 135. Crippen, T. L. & Poole, T. L. Conjugative transfer of plasmid-located antibiotic resistance genes within the gastrointestinal tract of lesser mealworm larvae, Alphitobius diaperinus (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* **6**, 907–915 (2009).
- 136. Jønsson, R., Struve, C., Jenssen, H. & Krogfelt, K. A. The wax moth Galleria mellonella as a

novel model system to study Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli pathogenesis. *Virulence* **8**, 1894–1899 (2017).

- 137. Habets, A. *et al.* Impact of Shiga-toxin encoding gene transduction from O80:H2 Shiga toxigenic Escherichia coli (STEC) on non-STEC strains. *Sci. Rep.* **12**, 21587 (2022).
- 138. S. R., K. S. & G., S. T. Antimicrobial Resistance in Marine Ecosystem: An Emerging Threat for Public Health BT - Handbook on Antimicrobial Resistance: Current Status, Trends in Detection and Mitigation Measures. in (eds. Mothadaka, M. P. et al.) 1–28 (Springer Nature Singapore, 2023). doi:10.1007/978-981-16-9723-4_6-1.
- 139. Tate, H. *et al.* Prevalence of Antimicrobial Resistance in Select Bacteria From Retail Seafood-United States, 2019. *Front. Microbiol.* **13**, 928509 (2022).
- Serra-Compte, A. *et al.* Exposure to a Subinhibitory Sulfonamide Concentration Promotes the Spread of Antibiotic Resistance in Marine Blue Mussels (Mytilus edulis). *Environ. Sci.* \& *Technol. Lett.* 6, 211–215 (2019).
- Hossain, S. & Heo, G.-J. Detection of Antimicrobial and Heavy-Metal Resistance Genes in Aeromonas spp. Isolated from Hard-Shelled Mussel (Mytilus Coruscus). *Microb. Drug Resist.* 28, 127–135 (2022).
- 142. Grevskott, D. H., Salvà-Serra, F., Moore, E. R. B. & Marathe, N. P. Nanopore sequencing reveals genomic map of CTX-M-type extended-spectrum β-lactamases carried by Escherichia coli strains isolated from blue mussels (Mytilus edulis) in Norway. *BMC Microbiol.* 20, 134 (2020).
- 143. Strachan, B. Bivalve populations infreshwater environments: viability, invasion, peristance and a potential role in the spread of antimicrobial resistance. (2019).
- 144. Nguyen, H. T., Lee, Y. K., Kwon, J.-H. & Hur, J. Microplastic biofilms in water treatment systems: Fate and risks of pathogenic bacteria, antibiotic-resistant bacteria, and antibiotic resistance genes. *Sci. Total Environ.* **892**, 164523 (2023).
- 145. Lu, J., Zhang, Y., Wu, J. & Luo, Y. Effects of microplastics on distribution of antibiotic resistance genes in recirculating aquaculture system. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **184**, 109631 (2019).
- 146. Wang, Z. *et al.* Plastisphere enrich antibiotic resistance genes and potential pathogenic bacteria in sewage with pharmaceuticals. *Sci. Total Environ.* **768**, 144663 (2021).
- 147. Wang, J. *et al.* Evidence of selective enrichment of bacterial assemblages and antibiotic resistant genes by microplastics in urban rivers. *Water Res.* **183**, 116113 (2020).
- 148. Wu, X. *et al.* Selective enrichment of bacterial pathogens by microplastic biofilm. *Water Res.* **165**, 114979 (2019).
- 149. Abe, K., Nomura, N. & Suzuki, S. Biofilms: Hot spots of horizontal gene transfer (HGT) in aquatic environments, with a focus on a new HGT mechanism. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* **96**, 1–12 (2021).
- 150. Arias-Andres, M., Klümper, U., Rojas-Jimenez, K. & Grossart, H.-P. Microplastic pollution increases gene exchange in aquatic ecosystems. *Environ. Pollut.* **237**, 253–261 (2018).
- Arias-Andres, M., Rojas-Jimenez, K. & Grossart, H. P. Collateral effects of microplastic pollution on aquatic microorganisms: An ecological perspective. *TrAC - Trends Anal. Chem.* 112, 234–240 (2019).
- 152. George, A. Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) in the Food Chain: Trade, One Health and Codex. *Trop. Med. Infect. Dis.* **4**, (2019).
- 153. Bennani, H. *et al.* Overview of Evidence of Antimicrobial Use and Antimicrobial Resistance in the Food Chain. *Antibiot. (Basel, Switzerland)* **9**, (2020).

- 154. Lahiri, D. *et al.* Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB): Autochthonous and Probiotic Microbes for Meat Preservation and Fortification. *Foods* **11**, (2022).
- 155. Raman, J. et al. Application of Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB) in Sustainable Agriculture: Advantages and Limitations. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 23, (2022).
- 156. Castellano, P., Ibarreche, M. P., Massani, M. B., Fontana, C. & Vignolo, G. M. Strategies for pathogen biocontrol using lactic acid bacteria and their metabolites: A focus on meat ecosystems and industrial environments. *Microorganisms* **5**, (2017).
- 157. Chen, O. *et al.* Screening lactic acid bacteria from pickle and cured meat as biocontrol agents of Penicillium digitatum on citrus fruit. *Biol. Control* **158**, 104606 (2021).
- 158. da Costa, R. J., Voloski, F. L. S., Mondadori, R. G., Duval, E. H. & Fiorentini, A. M. Preservation of Meat Products with Bacteriocins Produced by Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Meat. J. Food Qual. 2019, 4726510 (2019).
- 159. Baillo, A. A., Cisneros, L., Villena, J., Vignolo, G. & Fadda, S. Bioprotective Lactic Acid Bacteria and Lactic Acid as a Sustainable Strategy to Combat Escherichia coli O157:H7 in Meat. *Foods* **12**, (2023).
- Ben Said, L., Gaudreau, H., Dallaire, L., Tessier, M. & Fliss, I. Bioprotective Culture: A New Generation of Food Additives for the Preservation of Food Quality and Safety. *Ind. Biotechnol.* 15, 138–147 (2019).
- 161. Danielski, G. M., Evangelista, A. G., Luciano, F. B. & de Macedo, R. E. F. Non-conventional cultures and metabolism-derived compounds for bioprotection of meat and meat products: a review. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* **62**, 1105–1118 (2022).
- 162. Segli, F., Melian, C., Muñoz, V., Vignolo, G. & Castellano, P. Bioprotective extracts from Lactobacillus acidophilus CRL641 and Latilactobacillus curvatus CRL705 inhibit a spoilage exopolysaccharide producer in a refrigerated meat system. *Food Microbiol.* **97**, 103739 (2021).
- 163. Xu, M. M., Kaur, M., Pillidge, C. J. & Torley, P. J. Evaluation of the potential of protective cultures to extend the microbial shelf-life of chilled lamb meat. *Meat Sci.* **181**, 108613 (2021).
- 164. Zimina, M. et al. Overview of Global Trends in Classification, Methods of Preparation and Application of Bacteriocins. *Antibiot. (Basel, Switzerland)* 9, (2020).
- 165. Bhattacharya, D. *et al.* Lactic Acid Bacteria and Bacteriocins: Novel Biotechnological Approach for Biopreservation of Meat and Meat Products. *Microorganisms* **10**, (2022).
- 166. Smaoui, S., Echegaray, N., Kumar, M. & Chaari, M. Beyond Conventional Meat Preservation : Saddling the Control of Bacteriocin and Lactic Acid Bacteria for Clean Label and Functional Meat Products Organization of the United Nations. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology (Springer US, 2023). doi:10.1007/s12010-023-04680-x.
- Nissen-Meyer, J., Rogne, P., Oppegård, C., Haugen, H. S. & Kristiansen, P. E. Structurefunction relationships of the non-lanthionine-containing peptide (class II) bacteriocins produced by gram-positive bacteria. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* **10**, 19–37 (2009).
- 168. Kumariya, R. *et al.* Bacteriocins: Classification, synthesis, mechanism of action and resistance development in food spoilage causing bacteria. *Microb. Pathog.* **128**, 171–177 (2019).
- 169. Gizaw, Z. Public health risks related to food safety issues in the food market: A systematic literature review. *Environ. Health Prev. Med.* **24**, 1–21 (2019).
- 170. Gressier, M., Sassi, F. & Frost, G. Healthy Foods and Healthy Diets. How Government Policies Can Steer Food Reformulation. *Nutrients* **12**, (2020).
- 171. Terzić-Vidojević, A. *et al.* Diversity of non-starter lactic acid bacteria in autochthonous dairy products from Western Balkan Countries Technological and probiotic properties. *Food Res.*

Int. 136, 109494 (2020).

- 172. Nikodinoska, I. *et al.* Characterization of Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Spontaneously Fermented Sausages: Bioprotective, Technological and Functional Properties. *Foods* **12**, (2023).
- 173. Carballo, J. Sausages: Nutrition, safety, processing and quality improvement. *Foods* **10**, 1–9 (2021).
- 174. dos Santos Cruxen, C. E. *et al.* Selection of native bacterial starter culture in the production of fermented meat sausages: Application potential, safety aspects, and emerging technologies. *Food Res. Int.* **122**, 371–382 (2019).
- 175. Zagorec, M. & Champomier-Vergès, M.-C. Lactobacillus sakei: A Starter for Sausage Fermentation, a Protective Culture for Meat Products. *Microorganisms* 5, (2017).
- 176. Bassi, D. *et al.* Taxonomical Identification and Safety Characterization Fermented Sausages. (2022).
- 177. Tangwatcharin, P., Nithisantawakhup, J. & Sorapukdee, S. Selection of indigenous starter culture for safety and its effect on reduction of biogenic amine content in Moo som. *Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci.* **32**, 1580–1590 (2019).
- 178. Koutsoumanis, K. *et al.* Update of the list of QPS-recommended biological agents intentionally added to food or feed as noti fi ed to EFSA 15 : suitability of taxonomic units noti fi ed to EFSA until September 2021 n. **20**, 1–40 (2022).

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- (AMR) Antimicrobial-resistant
- (ARGs) Antimicrobial Resistance Genes
- (ARIBA) Antimicrobial Resistance Identification By Assembly
- (BLAST) Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
- (BLISs) Bacteriocin-like inhibitory substances
- (CGE) Center for Genomic Epidemiology
- (CC) Clonal Complex
- (CARD) Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database
- (CA) Community-Associated
- (DDH) DNA-DNA hybridization
- (EAEC) Enteroaggregative
- (ECDC) European Centre for Disease Control
- (EFSA) European Food Safety Authority

- (EHEC) Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli
- (EPEC) Enteropathogenic
- (EPS) Extracellular Polymeric Substance
- (GRAS) Generally recognised as safe
- (GAP) Good Agricultural Practices
- (GHP) Good Hygienic Practices
- (GMP) Good Manufacturing Practices
- (HACCP) Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point
- (HC) Hemorrhagic Colitis
- (HUS) Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome
- (HA) Hospital-Associated
- (HGT) Horizontal Gene Transfer
- (IS) Insertion sequences
- (ICE) Integrative and Conjugative Elements
- (LAB) Lactic acid bacteria
- (LAA) Locus of Adhesion and Autoaggregation
- (LEE) Locus of Enterocyte Effacement
- (LPA) Locus of Proteolysis Activity
- (MRSA) Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
- (MGE) Mobile genetic elements
- (MDR) Multidrug Resistance
- (MLST) Multi-Locus Sequence Typing
- (MLVA) Multi-Locus Variable-Number of Tandem Repeats Analysis
- (NGS) Next Generation Sequencing
- (PAI) Pathogenicity Island
- (PBP5) Penicillin-Binding Protein 5
- (PFGE) Pulse-Field Gel Electrophoresis
- (PVM) Putative Virulence Markers
- (QPS) Qualified Presumption of Safety
- (QS) Quorum sensing
- (SEAR) Search Engine for Antimicrobial Resistance
- (STs) Sequence types
- (STEC) Shiga Toxin-Producing Escherichia coli
- (SNPs) Single nucleotide polymorphisms
- (SE-PAI) Subtilase-Encoding Pathogenicity Island
- (VSE-MDR) Vancomycin-Susceptible MDR
- (VF) Virulence Factor
- (VFDB) Virulence Factor Database
- (WHO) World Health Organisation

CHAPTER 2

Genomic insight of *Enterococcus* faecium

UC7251, a multi-drug resistant strain from ready-to-eat foods, highlights the risk of antimicrobial resistance in the food chain.

Genomic insight of *Enterococcus faecium* UC7251, a multi-drug resistant strain from ready-to-eat foods, highlights the risk of antimicrobial resistance in the food chain.

Mireya Viviana Belloso Daza¹, **Giovanni Milani¹**, Claudia Cortimiglia¹, Ester Pietta¹, Daniela Bassi¹, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli^{1*}

¹ Dipartimento di Scienze e Tecnologie Alimentari per una Filiera Agro-Alimentare Sostenibile (DISTAS),

Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Piacenza, Italy

Keywords: Enterococcus faecium, multi-drug resistant, ready-to-eat foods, genomic analysis, gene transfer

This article was published on **Frontiers in Microbiology** in June 2022 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.894241.

Corresponding author: Pier Sandro Cocconcelli: pier.cocconcelli@unicatt.it

1. ABSTRACT

The presence of multi-drug resistant (MDR) bacteria in ready-to-eat foods comprises a threat for the public health due to their ability to acquire and transfer antibiotic-resistant determinants that could settle in the microbiome of the human digestive tract. In this study, Enterococcus faecium UC7251 isolated from a fermented dry sausage was characterized phenotypically and genotypically to hold resistance to multiple antibiotics including aminogly cosides, macrolides, β -lactams and tetracyclines. We furtherly investigated this strain following a hybrid sequencing and assembly approach (short and long reads) and determined the presence of various mobile genetic elements (MGE) responsible of horizontal gene transfer (HGT). On the chromosome of UC7251, we found one Integrative Conjugative Element (ICE) and a conjugative transposon Tn916 carrying tetracycline resistance. UC7251 carries two plasmids, one small plasmid harboring a rolling circle replication and one MDR megaplasmid. The latter was identified as mobilizable and containing a putative integrative conjugative element-like region, prophage sequences, insertion sequences, heavy-metal resistance genes and several antimicrobial resistance (AMR) genes confirming the phenotypic resistance characteristics. The transmissibility potential of AMR markers was observed through mating experiments where Tn916-carried tetracycline resistance was transferred at intra- and inter-species level. This work highlights the significance of constant monitoring of products of animal origin, especially RTE foodstuffs, to stimulate the development of novel strategies in the race for constraining the spread of antibiotic resistance.

2. INTRODUCTION

Enterococcus faecium is an ubiquitous species found in a large number of foods, mainly fermented products of animal origin like cheeses and fermented sausages (1). Some strains of this species have been also recognized as probiotics conferring benefits to their hosts (2). Nevertheless, in the past three decades, *E. faecium* emerged as an important nosocomial multi-drug resistant (MDR) pathogen responsible for hospital-acquired infections (3). The duality of this species has led the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) to state a safety assessment scheme based on the absence of genetic markers generally present in the hospital-associated (HA) biotypes for those *E. faecium* strains that are intentionally introduced into the food chain (4). Although *E. faecium* is extensively used as a probiotic and as part of the fermentation processes, it does not actually hold the Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS) status due to its potential pathogenicity (5).

Previous studies indicated that the population structure of *E. faecium* is divided into three distinct clades. Clade A1 bearing clinical isolates, clade A2 mainly represented by strains from animal and human commensals that might cause sporadic human infections, both carrying determinants for virulence and antimicrobial resistance (AMR). The third, clade B, is characterized by community associated (CA) isolates lacking HA traits (6). Recently, clade B isolates were proposed to be reclassified as *Enterococcus lactis* because of the closer genomic proximity to this new species and lack of HA markers (7). The genetic

transmission of HA markers among isolates, for instance between farm animals and humans in the agricultural setting, revealed consequently the contamination of products of animal origin that affect the entire production and supply chain (8). The rise of MDR enterococci in the food chain represents a major public health concern as they are easily disseminated through the environment (9). Livestock animals and the farm environment exemplify an important reservoir of AMR bacteria due to the widely use of antibiotics (10), particularly in swine for prophylactic reasons (11). Also, resistance to heavy metals is a matter of concern because of possible co-selection of antibiotic resistance. Specifically, resistance towards copper is common in swine derived isolates due to the use of copper sulfate as a growth promoter in feed for pigs (12). Enterococci harboring MDR genes have been frequently isolated from the swine samples (13) and their diffusion arises concerns about the potential transmission to meat-based ready-to eat (RTE) foods, which proposes a risk because of the lack of microbial inactivation prior consumption (14). Considering the emergence of MDR enterococci and HA isolates, the current criteria for safety assessment is represented by a MIC of ampicillin of $\leq 2mg/L$ and lack of IS16/esp/hyl genes, associated with plasticity, adhesion, and carbohydrate metabolism, respectively (4). Further information on epidemiology and population structure can be analyzed by applying the Multi Locus Sequence Typing (MLST) scheme. Following this, E. faecium can be classified in different sequence types (STs), where ST17 was identified as the ancestral clone of HA isolates, forming the Clonal Complex 17 (CC17) (15). Nonetheless, it is crucial to understand the distribution of other putative virulence markers (PVM), involved in colonization and resistance recognized in other studies (3, 16). Horizontal gene transfer (HGT) is one the mechanism at the base of AMR and virulence markers dissemination among bacteria that, facilitates their survival and adaptation in stressful conditions. HGT of AMR genes between E. faccium and other species has been investigated mostly in clinical settings; furthermore, gene exchange in food was also demonstrated (14). Additionally, the transfer of resistance towards linezolid (17), oxazolinodone (18), aminoglycosides (19), glycopeptides, erythromycin and tetracycline (20) has been demonstrated between food isolated strains. The detection of AMR has also reached the retail level with the presence of AMR dissemination in RTE foods such as dairy products (21), salads (22), seafood (23) and meat products (24), pork-origin included (25).

Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS) has facilitated the understanding of the mechanisms that support the dissemination of mobile genetic elements (MGEs) in bacteria. The aim of this study is to investigate the genomic characteristics of a Vancomycin-susceptible MDR (VSE-MDR) *E. faecium* strain isolated from ready-to-eat fermented sausage and to evaluate the potential transmissibility of AMR markers through MGEs.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Bacterial strain, cultivation, and antibiotic susceptibility testing

The strain UC7251 was isolated from a dry fermented Italian salami on Slanetz & Bartley Medium (Oxoid) containing 4 μ g/ml Ampicillin (Sigma). The strain was sub-cultivated in Brain Heart Infusion (Oxoid) overnight at 37°C and species-specific PCR using primers for the ddl gene (Table 1S) was performed to confirm its taxonomical classification. Susceptibility to different antibiotics was determined by broth microdilution method according to EUCAST (26). The antimicrobial agents used were ampicillin, vancomycin, gentamycin, kanamycin, streptomycin, erythromycin, clindamycin, tylosine, tetracycline and chloramphenicol. The antibiotics were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, Missouri, USA). The minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) were compared to the breakpoints recommended by EUCAST (2003) (http://www.eucast.org/) and EFSA (4).

3.2 Heavy metal susceptibility testing

Susceptibility towards Copper (Cu), Zinc (Zn), Cadmium (Cd) and Mercury (Hg) was tested as previously described (27, 28). Briefly, overnight cultures were spotted onto Mueller-Hinton agar (Oxoid) supplemented with different concentrations (0.05 to 40 mM) of ZnCl₂ (Carlo Erba), HgCl₂ (Sigma Aldrich) and CdSO₄ (Sigma Aldrich) resuspended in distilled water, and CuSO4 (Merck Millipore) adjusted to pH 7.2 with 1 M NaOH. After 24 to 48 h of incubation at 37°C, the plates were visually inspected for bacterial growth on the spots.

3.3 Conjugal Transfer

In vitro conjugation experiments were performed as described before (29). UC7251 was used as donor strain and 29 bacterial strains as recipients (see Table 3S). Briefly, 1 ml of a culture (OD600= 0.8) of donor and recipient strains were passed through a 0.45µm filter (MF-Millipore Membrane Filters, Merck). Right after, the filter was placed onto a non-selective agar plates favoring the growth of recipient strains and incubated at 37°C for 24h. Conjugation with *Bacillus, Enterococcus, Listeria, Pseudomonas,* and *Staphylococcus* as recipient strains, were carried out onto BHI (Oxoid), *Clostridium* on RCM (Oxoid), for lactobacilli, *Pedioccoccus* and *Weisella* onto MRS (Difco). After the respective incubation period, cells were resuspended from the filter using saline solution and were diluted in a 10-fold dilution series and enumerated by spread plating onto appropriate agar media. Transconjugant selection was performed using the selective conditions reported in Table 3S. Transconjugant colonies were randomly selected and analyzed to check the presence or absence of the antibiotic resistance genes, by extracting the DNA with microLYSIS kit (Microzone) and performing PCR with primers for tetracycline and erythromycin resistance genes (Table 1S). The passage of potential plasmid-borne antibiotic resistance genes coding

for aminoglycosides (aad6, aph3-IIIa, aadE, satA, ant(6)-Ia) and lincosamides (IsaE, LnuB) resistance, was also tested by PCR using the primers listed on Table 1S.

3.4 Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) analysis

Allelic profiles and sequence types were derived by PubMLST (30). The obtained ST were analysed using Phyloviz and the goeBURST algorithm to compute a spanning forest graph to build the relatedness between isolates based on Single Locus Variants (SLV) to identify clonal complexes (31). Furthermore, given that the resolution of MLST is limited, cgMLST (core genome MLST) was also determined using the cgmlst.org website. This method uses an allele numbering system for a scheme of 1423 cgMLST target genes, which confers a higher level of discrimination (32).

3.5 Detection of markers relevant for the assessment of safety and antibiotic resistance determinants

The strain UC7251 was screened for the hospital-associated genetic markers IS16, hylEfm and esp by PCR, using primers previously listed in the related section. Strains U0317 and E980 were used respectively as positive and negative controls. The presence of the antibiotic resistance determinants coding for the phenotypical resistances observed in UC7251 was investigated by PCR using the primers reported in Table 1S. The complete pbp5 gene was amplified, sequenced, and analyzed as described before (33), while the amplification of ermB, tetM, tetL, aph3-IIIa ,satA ,ant(6)-Ia and aadE was performed as described elsewhere (34–39). Here, new primers aad6_F and aad6_R for aad6 screening, Lnu-B_F and Lnu-B_R for Lnu(B) screening, IsaE_F and IsaE_R for Isa(E) screening were designed de novo using Primer3 (40), and run the amplification reaction with the following conditions: initial denaturation at 95°C for 2 min; 35 cycles at 94°C for 40 s, 53°C for 45 s, and 72°C for 50 s; and extension at 72°C for 5 min.

3.6 Genome sequencing and database submission

A hybrid sequencing approach (short and long read) was followed to complete the assembly of UC7251. Genomic DNA was extracted from the cultured bacterium with NucleoSpin Tissue (Macherey-Nagel, Germany). Short read resequencing was performed with Illumina Miseq, 250 paired-end after Nextera XT paired-end library preparation. Long read sequencing was performed with PacBio Sequel II SMRT sequencing. After trimming the sequences using trimgalore! (GitHub - FelixKrueger/TrimGalore), hybrid assembly was carried out using Unicycler (41).

The finished genome was deposited on NCBI under assembly accession No. ASM41165v2.

3.7 Bioinformatic Analyses

A total of 74 *E. faecium* complete genomes, including reference strains were selected to carry out phylogenetic and taxonomic analyses in comparison with UC7251 (Table 2S). Assembled genomes were downloaded from NCBI in September 2021 and were subsequently annotated using Prokka (42). Annotation results were then submitted to pan- and core-genome analysis using Roary (43). The phylogenetic tree was constructed using RAxML-NG, V1.0.0(44) and iTOL was used to visualize and organize the tree (45). The genomes were also submitted to digital DNA-DNA hybridization (dDDH) using the Genome-to-Genome Distance Calculator (GGDC) (46). Average Nucleotide Identity (ANI) analysis was performed using fastANI (47).

In silico investigation of UC7251 was performed using the bioinformatics software platform Geneious prime v. 10.1. The Basic Local Alignment Tool (BLAST) from NCBI was used to investigate the presence and identity of different genetic markers contributing AMR, VF and MGE. The genome was interrogated for the presence of AMR genes using the Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database (CARD) (48) and ResFinder (49). Ampicillin resistance was studied by evaluating the allelic variation in the strain of interest, against the reference sequence for PBP5-S/R profiles. Virulence markers were investigated according to the latest guidelines of EFSA (4) using manual annotation, VirulenceFinder (50) and VFAnalyzer (51).

HGT determinants were analyzed through MobileElementFinder (52) and Island Viewer 4 (53). In addition, integrative and conjugative elements were predicted using ICEberg 2.0 (54), which detects the signature sequences of the integrative modules and conjugation modules based on the profile hidden Markov models (profile HMMs). The origin of transfer site (oriT) was determined with OriTFinder (55). Lastly, the genome was screened for the presence of sequences of phage origin with Prophage Hunter (56) and CRISPR-Cas sites using CRISPR-CasFinder (57).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Isolation and characterization of MDR E. faecium UC7251 from RTE food

In the framework of risk assessment of MDR in ready to eat foods, UC7251 was isolated from a dryfermented sausage at a count of 3 x 10⁵ CFU g-1 and identified as *Enterococcus faecium* by species-specific amplification of the ddl gene. This strain was resistant to ampicillin, streptomycin, kanamycin, erythromycin, clindamycin, tylosine and tetracycline and presented a MIC higher than the cutoff values defined by EUCAST and EFSA (Table 1). PCR analyses, using a pool of primers pairs targeted to the most commonly AMR genes found in enterococci (Table 1S) identified the genetic determinants for these resistances. *E. faecium* UC7251 was identified as a MDR strain, and harbored genes coding for aminoglycoside modifying enzymes, three genes for macrolide resistance and two genes responsible for tetracycline resistance. Moreover, the sequence of the amplicon targeted to the penicillin binding protein 5 PBP5, involved in β -lactams resistance, demonstrated that this strain showed the pbp5S1/R20 allelic profile, conferring resistance to ampicillin (58). *E. faecium* showed to be intrinsically resistant to low levels of ampicillin through cell wall synthesis protein complex PBP; pbp5 is part of this operon and sequence variations allow to differentiate the two groups of *E. faecium* according to allelic profile and expression levels

(33). Within the context of a study focusing on the detection of ampicillin resistant *E. faecium* in ready to eat fermented foods, a strain that presented resistance towards ampicillin with a MIC value of $64 \mu g/ml$ and carried the hybrid allelic profile PBP5-S1/R20 is of concern for the consumers safety. It has been demonstrated that pbp5 may spread through horizontal gene transfer and specifically that pbp5 of resistant isolates was located on transferable chromosomal regions, which suggested its dissemination through the environment (59).

Antibiotic	UC7251	EFSA Cut-off value	EUCAST	AMR gene
Resistance	(µg/ml)	(µg/ml)	(µg/ml)	
Ampicillin	64	2	4	$pbp5-S_1/R_{20}$
Vancomycin	1	4	4	-
Gentamycin	32	32	32	aac(6')-Ii
Kanamycin	>4096	1024	-	aph(3')-III
Streptomycin	>1024	128	128	aad6, aadE
Erythromycin	>512	4	4	ermB, mrsC, sat4
Clindamycin	>512	4	-	ermB, InuB, IsaE
Tylosine	>512	4	-	ermB
Tetracycline	128	4	4	tetL, tetM
Chloramphenicol	8	16	32	-

Table 1. Antimicrobial resistance genes and MIC values of strain UC7251, following the guidelines and cutoff values established by EFSA/EUCAST for the safety assessment of E. faecium.

4.2. Whole Genome Sequence Analyses

UC7251 was submitted to genome sequencing following a hybrid approach using long and short read technology (GenBank assembly accession numbers for chromosome CP084886.1, plasmid pUC7251_1 CP084887.1, plasmid pUC7251_2 CP084888.1). The assembly of the genome of UC7251 built a total of 3 contigs, predicted as a 2,6 Mb chromosome and two plasmids, pUC7251_1 and UC7251_2 (192 kb and 1,9 kb, respectively). The presence of the two plasmids was also distinguished by total DNA extraction and Pulsed Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE) (data not shown). The annotation of UC7251 resulted in 2662 coding sequences (CDS), of which 27% are hypothetical proteins and 73% have known functional assignments. It also contained genes coding for 18 rRNAs (6 copies each of 23S rRNA, 16S rRNA, and 5s rRNA), 69 tRNAs and 1 tmRNA. Compositional analysis resulted in 17 genomic islands (GIs), three active prophage sequences and several VF and AMR genes distributed throughout the chromosome and plasmidome. Regarding mobile genetic elements, two mobile regions were predicted on the chromosome and one on pUC7251_1 (Table 4S).

pUC7251_1 is a mobilizable megaplasmid as predicted by Plascad. According to OriTfinder, the origin of replication is 39bp long and showed homology with oriT_pUB110.There are no predicted T4SS proteins and only one T4CP protein on locustag UC7251_02595. The relaxase MobM is found on locustag UC7251_02679. Mobilizable plasmids carry their own oriT and relaxase gene but lack genes required for T4SS formation and can therefore be transferred to cells that carry elements encoding a compatible T4SS (60). This plasmid showed homology with plasmids pF88_1 (identity 83%), p17-318_1 (identity 83%) pE843-TC-299 (identity 82%) and pE843-171 (identity 80%). The first three are VSE-MDR plasmids carried by *E. faecium* strains of clade A2. These strains were isolated from environmental (pF88_1) and human samples (p17-318_1 and pE843-TC-299). The fourth plasmid pE843-171, is carried by *Enterococcus lactis* E843 and it is characterized as VSE-MDR (61). According to these results, pUC7251_1 holds unique traits, and although the prevalence of VSE-MDR is high, none of the results on BLAST showed VSE-MDR from food origin. UC7251_2 harbors a single open reading frame that codes for a rolling circle REP (rep14a). Small plasmid of such size was also found in other *E. faecium* isolates, making it a common genomic feature.

4.3. Phylogenomics and Population Structure show that foodborne UC7251 is neighboring HA isolates.

For phylogenomic evaluation, UC7251 was compared with the other selected 74 *E. faecium* genomes (fig. 1). The interrogation of the pangenome has been recently regarded as a useful tool for species delimitation based on identification of lineage- specific gene sets (62). Observing the distribution of coreand accessory- genomes of our analysis, isolates of clade A1 and to a smaller extent clade A2 have a high variability in their accessory genes. A highly variable accessory genome is conferred by the fact that *E. faecium* has an open pangenome and therefore a higher genomic diversity (6). The adaptation of *E. faecium* to specific environmental factors, such as antimicrobial pressure, have increased the genomic diversity through horizontal gene transfer, genome rearrangement and gene loss (63). Pan and core genome analysis uncovered an open pangenome, with a coregenome consisting of 9,5% and an accessory-genome of 90,5%. In this context, UC7251 contains 33 unique genes, mainly insertion sequences and hypothetical proteins located on the chromosome and on pUC7251_1. Transposases belonging to IS3, IS30 and IS256 families were detected as unique on both pUC7251_1 and chromosome. On the chromosome we found unique gene arnB, that catalyzes the conversion of UDP-4-ketoarabinose to UDP-4-amino-4-deoxy-L-arabinose. The modified arabinose is attached to lipid A and is required for resistance to polymyxin in Gram negative bacteria (64). Moreover, unique genes epsM and epsL coding for putative acetyltransferase and sugar transferase respectively, were detected. They are involved in the production of the exopolysaccharide (EPS) component of the extracellular matrix during biofilm formation (65). Gene cbh_2, chololyglycine hydrolyse, catalyzes the de-conjugation of bile acids (66). In *Enterococcus*, bile salt hydrolase activity has a hypo-cholesterolemic effects on animal and human hosts, conferring probiotic properties (67).

Furthermore, all 75 genomes were subjected to dDDH and ANI for genomic distance calculations. Although dDDH and ANI have different computational methods and species threshold values (70% for dDDH and 96% for ANI), they showed consistent results, confirming the taxonomical identification of UC7251. Digital DDH showed that values among UC7251-Clade A1 strains varied from 82-91%, among UC7251-Clade A2 strains 87-100% and, among UC7251-Clade B/E. lactis strains 64-70%. Similarly, ANI computation showed that the UC7251 is closest to Clade A2 strains with values between 98-100%, whereas comparison with genomes from the remaining two clades was lower (UC7251- Clade A1: 98% and UC7251-Clade B/E. lactis: 94%) (Table 2S).

The population structure and location of UC7251 was also evaluated using MLST. The genome was submitted to PubMLST and it was assigned to ST673. The latter clusters together with clonal group of ST117, which is known to be a part of CC17 meroclone (fig.1) . Published data on PubMLST showed a unique isolate harboring ST673, that contains a strain from a non-hospitalized person collected in Spain in 2010. MLST global scheme shows that UC7251, as other isolates from animal origin, belonged to hospital associated clades (68). Thus, *E. faecium* from CC17 have been also previously recovered from swine, poultry and cow samples (69–71). The use of cgMLST, a clustering based on 1423 target genes of the core genome, indicated that UC7251 belonged to the unique cluster type CT745.

Subspeciation of *E. faecium* has been also studied considering the defense mechanisms against HGT, such as CRISPR-Cas systems and R-M systems (72). CRISPR-Cas systems constitute endogenous barriers to HGT and, as a consequence, the presence of increased MGEs is associated with the complete absence or partial sequences of CRISPR-Cas systems (73). This has been observed in UC7251, where no complete CRISPR-Cas systems were detected. Differently, UC7251 carries a type I R-M system with the

allelic variations typical of clade A1 isolates, polymorphisms that are used for clade classification of *E. faecium* (74).



MLST

CC5

CC94

CC94

CC94

CC94

CC328

CC117

CC117

CC17

CC5

CC5

CC5

CC5

CC17

CC17 CC17

CC17 CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17 CC17

CC17 CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17 CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

CC17

Table 2. Distribution of virulence factors and AMR genes including antibiotic and heavy metal resistance genes in UC7251.

Molecule	Mechanism	Gene	Locus tag or position	Product
Chromosome	Antibiotic	AAC(6')- Ia	UC7251_02097	Aminoglycoside N(6')-acetyltransferase (EC 2.3.1.82)
		EfmM	UC7251_02049	rRNA) methyltransferase
		<i>lia</i> FSR	UC7251_01795- UC7251_01797	DAP
		pbp5	UC7251_01265	penicillin binding protein 5
		tet(M)	UC7251_02367	tetracycline resistance
	Heavy Metals	cadA_1 cadA_2	UC7251_00274 UC7251_00904	Cadmium-transporting ATPase Cadmium, zinc and cobalt-transporting ATPase
		copA_1	UC7251_00909	putative copper-importing P-type ATPase A
		copB_1	UC7251_00910	Copper-exporting P-type ATPase B
		copY_1	UC7251_00907	Transcriptional repressor CopY
		copZ_1	UC7251_00275	Copper chaperone CopZ
		copZ_2	UC7251_00908	Copper chaperone CopZ
		cutC	UC7251_02237	Copper homeostasis protein CutC
		czcD	UC7251_01786	Cadmium, cobalt and zinc/H()-K() antiporter
		fief	UC7251_01380	Ferrous-iron efflux pump FieF
		ftsH	UC7251_02411	Cell division-associated, ATP-dependent zinc metalloprotease FtsH
		ziaA	UC7251_01739	Zinc-transporting ATPase
		znuA	UC7251_02450	High-affinity zinc uptake system binding- protein ZnuA
		znuB	UC7251_02448	High-affinity zinc uptake system membrane protein ZnuB
		znuC	UC7251_02449	High-affinity zinc uptake system ATP- binding protein ZnuC
		zosA	UC7251_01471	Zinc-transporting ATPase
		zupT	UC7251_00019	Zinc transporter ZupT

		zur	UC7251_00846	Zinc-specific metallo-regulatory protein
	Virulence	swpB	UC7251_00118	small WxL protein B
		swpC	UC7251_00593	small WxL protein C
		swpA	UC7251_00718	small WxL protein A
		acm	UC7251_02106	cell-wall-anchored collagen adhesin, MSCRAMM
		sagA	UC7251_02425	secreted antigen A
		scm	UC7251_02536	second collagen adhesin, MSCRAMM
		efaA	UC7251_00462	adhesion associated protein
		BopD	UC7251_00373	maltose operon transcriptional repressor
		cpsA/upp S	UC7251_01047	Undecaprenyl diphosphate synthase uppS
		cpsB/cdsA	UC7251_01048	Phosphatidate cytidylyltransferase cdsA
		fms3	UC7251_00358	Efm surface protein 3 orf371 (PGC-4)
		fms12	UC7251_00496	Efm surface protein 12 orf1996 (PGC-4)
		ebpA	UC7251_00550	PGC-3: endocarditis- and bio- film- associated pili A (MSCRAMM)
		epbB	UC7251_00551	PGC-3: endocarditis- and bio- film- associated pili B (MSCRAMM)
		ebpC	UC7251_00552	PGC-3: endocarditis- and bio- film- associated pili C (MSCRAMM)
		srtC	UC7251_00553	sortase C
		fms6	UC7251_00720	Efm surface protein 6 LPXTG family cell surface proteinPGC-4)
		fms7	UC7251_01220	Efm surface protein 7 orf2356 (PGC-4)
		fms22	UC7251_01278	Efm surface protein 22 orf884 (PGC-4)
		yidC	UC7251_00884	inner memebrane protein translocase and chaperone
pUC7251_1	Antibiotic	ant(6)-Ia	UC7251_02669	Aminoglycoside 6-adenylyltransferase
		ant1	UC7251_02694	Streptomycin 3"-adenylyltransferase
		ant(6)-Ia	UC7251_02696	Aminoglycoside 6-nucleotidyltransferase

	aph	UC7251_02698	aminoglycoside phosphotransferase family protein
	Lnu(B)	UC7251_02689	lincosamide nucleotidyltransferase
	lsa(E)	UC7251_02690	ABC-F type ribosomal protection protein Lsa(E)
	tet(L)	UC7251_02678	tetracycline efflux MFS transporter Tet(L)
	satA	UC7251_02668	Streptothricin acetyltransferase A
	erm_1	UC7251_02671	rRNA adenine N-6-methyltransferase
	erm_2	UC7251_02674	rRNA adenine N-6-methyltransferase
	aad(6)-Ia	UC7251_02684	Aminoglycoside 6-adenylyltransferase
Heavy	copZ_3	UC7251_02781	Copper chaperone CopZ
Metals	cadA	UC7251_02780	Cadmium, zinc and cobalt-transporting ATPase
	cadC	UC7251_02779	Cadmium, zinc and cobalt-transporting ATPase
	cadD	UC7251_02778	Cadmium, zinc and cobalt-transporting ATPase
	copA_2	UC7251_02740	Copper-exporting P-type ATPase
	copB_2	UC7251_02739	Copper-exporting P-type ATPase B
	copY_2	UC7251_02742	Transcriptional repressor CopY
	mco	UC7251_02750	Multicopper oxidase mco
	merA	UC7251_02772	mercuric reductase
	merR1	UC7251_02771	Mercuric resistance operon regulatory protein
	TcrZ	UC7251_02740	copper chaperone
	zosA	UC7251_02776	Zinc-transporting ATPase
Virulence	lgt	UC7251_02756, UC7251_02782	surface protein anchor
	fms20	UC7251_02583- UC7251_02588	PGC-1: surface protein 20
	fms21 or pilA	UC7251_02583- UC7251_02588	PGC-1: surface protein 21



Figure 2. A. Map of plasmid pUC7251_1 harboring one large containing prophage sequences (mauve), an integrative conjugative-like element (cyan), five genomic islands (pink), insertion sequences (yellow), antibiotic resistance genes (red), metal resistance genes (orange), virulence factors (dark violet) and replication initiation systems (green), toxin-antitoxin systems (light blue). B. Details of the ICE-like region. The genetic elements are indicated with the color code above mentioned.

4.4. Conjugation experiments suggest AMR gene transfer by Insertion Sequences

The MDR profile of UC7251 endorsed the further evaluation of transmissibility of AMR genes and we focused on tetracycline resistance coded by two genes on Tn916 and pUC7251_1 and the plasmid encoded erythromycin resistance. This was tested through conjugation experiments where gene exchange was demonstrated at inter- and intra-generic level (Table 3 and Table 3S). Filter mating experiments demonstrated that tetracycline resistance was transferred from UC7251 to *E. faecalis* OG1rf, L. innocua L7, L. monocytogenes DSM 15675, S. aureus UC7180, L. rhamnosus UC8647, with frequencies of transconjugants per donors varying from 6 x 10-3 to 5,7 x 10-6 CFU/ml. No gene transfer was observed toward Gram negative species. The transfer of the tetM gene was confirmed by PCR assays, whereas tetL was absent in all tetracycline positive transconjugants. The transfer of the tetM gene was found to be carried by chromosomal transposon Tn916 from *E. faecalis*. This operon was predicted in chromosomal locus UC7251_02362-02376. The nucleotide identity between the 18,032 bp sequence of Tn916 of UC7251 and *E. faecalis* (Genbank Accession No. U09422.1) sequences, was of 99.97%. It has been discovered that the presence of subinhibitory concentrations of specific classes of antibiotics can trigger the mobility of Tn916, as it has a broad inducibility of antibiotic resistance genes, implying that the dissemination of resistance genes is not necessarily linked to their selective pressure (103).

No gene transfer for the genes coding for erythromycin resistance was observed, consistently with the characteristics of pUC7251_1, a mobilizable but non conjugative plasmid lacking the complete conjugation apparatus.

Donor	Recipient Strain	Conjugation Frequency	PCR Confirmatio	n
		(T/D)	tetM	tetL
E. faecium	E.s faecalis OG1rf	6.01E-03 5.68E-	+	-
UC7251	L. innocua L7	06	+	-
	L. monocytogenes DSM 15675	8.38E-04	+	-
	S. aureus UC7180	3.78E-02	+	-
	L. rhamnosus UC8647	6.84E-05	+	-

Table 3. Conjugation of tetracycline resistance between E. faecium UC7251 and strains from other genera.

4.5. Virulence markers in the UC7251 genome show a collection of colonization facilitators

The complete assembly and annotation of UC7251 genome allowed investigation of the presence of putative virulence markers (Table 2). Adherence is an essential step in bacterial pathogenesis, required for colonization and attachment and it is therefore considered a type of virulence marker. When scrutinizing the genome of UC7251, several microbial surface components, recognizing adhesive matrix molecules (MSCRAMMs) including LPXTG family cell wall-anchored surface proteins as well as fimbriae proteins such as pili, were identified. It is important to denote the presence of genes acm (cell-wall-anchored collagen adhesin) and scm (second collagen adhesin). These proteins enhance initial adherence in vivo and interact with extracellular matrix components. Other genes associated with adhesion, efaA (E. faecium surface protein) and sagA (secreted antigen A) were detected. A novel class of cell surface proteins coded by WxL operon, found in clade A E. faecium isolates, with a functional role in virulence associated with endocarditis pathogenesis and bile salt resistance was previously investigated (104). The coding genes swpA (small WxL protein A), swpB (small WxL protein B) and swpC (small WxL protein C) were found in UC7251. Additionally, malR, a maltosebinding transcriptional regulator that increases biofilm production in the presence of this specific carbohydrate, was detected. Pili associated proteins, previously described as Pilin Gene Clusters (PGC-1, PGC-2, PGC-3, PGC-4), (16), were identified. PGC-1 is composed by the genes fms20 and fms21; both are present along with a sortase A. This loci/operon is located between UC7251_02853 and UC7251_02588 in pUC7251_1. In addition, PGC-3 was found with 100% of nucleotide identity containing the endocarditis and biofilm associated pili genes ebpA, ebpB, ebpC accompanied by srtC (sortase) and flanked by IS1216E. This region is encompassed from UC7251_02583 to UC7251_02589 in the chromosome. PGC-4 cluster is incomplete lacking operon fms11-19-16 and PGC-2 associated genes fms14-17-13. UC7251 does not express the capsular polysaccharide, presenting the capsule operon polymorphism CPS type 1 (105) and does not harbor cytolysin (106) and BoNT/En toxin, a botulin type toxin found in a single strain of E. faecium (107). E. faecium UC7251 lacks the putative HA virulence markers as defined by EFSA (4) and does not harbor the complete operons coding piliassociated proteins, which is typical of clade A1 isolates

5. CONCLUSION

The presence of multi-drug resistant strains in ready-to-eat fermented food represents a risk of public health for the spread of AMR determinants in the food chain and in the gut microbiota of consumers. In silico bioinformatic evaluations derived from genomic data permitted to accurately assess the safety of UC7251, a strain of *E. faecium* clade A2 which does not carry virulence factors typical of HA strains but presents the colocation of several antimicrobial resistance genes with heavy metal resistances on the mobilizable plasmid pUC7251_1 and the conjugative transposon Tn*916*.

This work emphasizes the importance of a surveillance for the presence of AMR bacteria in food, with particular attention to fermented RTE foods. Moreover, the presence of MDR strains carrying mobile AMR genetic elements incites the development of innovative strategies for the mitigation of the risk related to antimicrobial resistance diffusion in food.

6. TRANSPARENCY DECLARATION

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version. This work was partially funded by the PRIMA programme, under BioProMedFood project (Reference Number: 2019-SECTION2-4; CUP: J34I19004820005). The PRIMA programme was supported by the European Union H2020 programme and innovation programme.

7. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB: methodology, formal analysis, investigation, resources, and writing—original draft preparation. GM: methodology, investigation, and writing—original draft preparation. EP: methodology, investigation, resources, and writing—original draft preparation. CC: writing—review and editing. DB: writing—review and editing, visualization, and supervision. PC: conceptualization, writing—review and editing, validation, visualization, supervision, and project administration. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

8. REFERENCES

 Ben Braïek O, Morandi S, Cremonesi P, Smaoui S, Hani K, Ghrairi T. 2018. Biotechnological potential, probiotic and safety properties of newly isolated enterocin-producing *Enterococcus lactis* strains. LWT - Food Sci Technol 92:361–370.

2. Ghattargi VC, Gaikwad MA, Meti BS, Nimonkar YS, Dixit K, Prakash O, Shouche YS, Pawar SP, Dhotre DP. 2018. Comparative genome analysis reveals key genetic factors associated with probiotic property in *Enterococcus faecium* strains. BMC Genomics 19:1–16.

 Gao W, Howden BP, Stinear TP. 2018. Evolution of virulence in *Enterococcus faecium*, a hospital- adapted opportunistic pathogen. Curr Opin Microbiol. Elsevier Ltd https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2017.11.030.

4. EFSA, Rychen G, Aquilina G, Azimonti G, Bampidis V, Bastos M de L, Bories G, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Flachowsky G, Gropp J, Kolar B, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, López Puente S, Mantovani A, Mayo B, Ramos F, Saarela M, Villa RE, Wallace RJ, Wester P, Glandorf B, Herman L, Kärenlampi S, Aguilera J, Anguita M, Brozzi R, Galobart J. 2018. Guidance on the characterisation of microorganisms used as feed additives or as production organisms. EFSA J 16.

5. EFSA BIOHAZ Panel, Koutsoumanis K, Allende A, Alvarez-Ordonez A, Bolton D, Bover-Cid S, Chemaly M, Davies R, De Cesare A, Hilbert F, Lindqvist R, Nauta M, Peixe L, Ru G, Simmons M, Skandamis P, Suffredini E, Cocconcelli PS, Fernández Escámez PS, Maradona MP, Querol A, Suarez JE, Sundh I, Vlak J, Barizzone F, Correia S, Herman L. 2021. The list of QPS status recommended biological agents for safety risk assessments carried out by EFSA https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.4428353.

Lebreton F, van Schaik W, McGuire AM, Godfrey P, Griggs A, Mazumdar V, Corander J, Cheng L, Saif S, Young S, Zeng Q, Wortman J, Birren B, Willems RJL, Earl AM, Gilmore MS. 2013. Emergence of epidemic multidrug-resistant *Enterococcus faecium* from animal and commensal strains. MBio 4.

7. Belloso Daza MV, Cortimiglia C, Bassi D, Cocconcelli PS. 2021. Genome-based studies indicate that the Enterococcus faecium Clade B strains belong to *Enterococcus lactis* species and lack of the hospital infection associated markers. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 71.

8. Manyi-Loh C, Mamphweli S, Meyer E, Okoh A. 2018. Antibiotic use in agriculture and its consequential resistance in environmental sources: Potential public health implications. Molecules. MDPI AG https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23040795.

9. Serwecińska L. 2020. Antimicrobials and Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria: A Risk to the Environment and to Public Health. Water 12:3313.

10. Koutsoumanis K, Allende A, Álvarez-Ordóñez A, Bolton D, Bover-Cid S, Chemaly M, Davies R, De Cesare A, Herman L, Hilbert F, Lindqvist R, Nauta M, Ru G, Simmons M, Skandamis P, Suffredini E, Argüello H, Berendonk T, Cavaco LM, Gaze W, Schmitt H, Topp E, Guerra B, Liébana E, Stella P, Peixe L. 2021. Role played by the environment in the emergence and spread of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) through the food chain. EFSA J 19.

 Pholwat S, Pongpan T, Chinli R, Rogawski McQuade ET, Thaipisuttikul I, Ratanakorn P, Liu J, Taniuchi M, Houpt ER, Foongladda S. 2020. Antimicrobial Resistance in Swine Fecal Specimens Across Different Farm Management Systems. Front Microbiol 11:1238.

12. Yu Z, Gunn L, Wall P, Fanning S. 2017. Antimicrobial resistance and its association with tolerance to heavy metals in agriculture production. Food Microbiol 64:23–32.

13. Tan SC, Chong CW, Teh CSJ, Ooi PT, Thong KL. 2018. Occurrence of virulent multidrug- resistant *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium* in the pigs, farmers and farm environments in Malaysia. PeerJ 2018.

 Chajęcka-Wierzchowska W, Zadernowska A, Zarzecka U, Zakrzewski A, Gajewska J.
2019. Enterococci from ready-to-eat food - horizontal gene transfer of antibiotic resistance genes and genotypic characterization by PCR melting profile. J Sci Food Agric 99:1172–1179.

15. Lee T, Pang S, Abraham S, Coombs GW. 2019. Antimicrobial-resistant CC17 *Enterococcus faecium*: The past, the present and the future. J Glob Antimicrob Resist 16:36–47.

16. Freitas AR, Tedim AP, Novais C, Coque TM, Peixe L. 2018. Distribution of putative virulence markers in *Enterococcus faecium*: towards a safety profile review. J Antimicrob Chemother 73:306–319.

17. Tyson GH, Sabo JL, Hoffmann M, Hsu C-H, Mukherjee S, Hernandez J, Tillman G, Wasilenko JL, Haro J, Simmons M, Wilson Egbe W, White PL, Dessai U, Mcdermott PF. 2018. Novel linezolid resistance plasmids in *Enterococcus* from food animals in the USA. J Antimicrob Chemother 73:3254–

3258.

18. Kang Z-Z, Lei C-W, Kong L-H, Wang Y-L, Ye X-L, Ma B-H, Wang X-C, Li C, Zhang Y, Wang H-N. 2019. Detection of transferable oxazolidinone resistance determinants in *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium* of swine origin in Sichuan Province, China. J Glob Antimicrob Resist 19:333–337.

19. Kim Y Bin, Seo KW, Son SH, Noh EB, Lee YJ. 2019. Genetic characterization of highlevel aminoglycoside-resistant *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium* isolated from retail chicken meat. Poult Sci 98:5981–5988. 20. Conwell M, Daniels V, Naughton PJ, Dooley JSGG. 2017. Interspecies transfer of vancomycin, erythromycin and tetracycline resistance among *Enterococcus* species recovered from agrarian sources. BMC Microbiol 2017 171 17:1–8.

21. Chajęcka-Wierzchowska W, Zadernowska A, García-Solache M. 2020. Ready-to-eat dairy products as a source of multidrug-resistant *Enterococcus* strains: Phenotypic and genotypic characteristics. J Dairy Sci 103:4068–4077.

22. Zhou SYD, Wei MY, Giles M, Neilson R, Zheng F, Zhang Q, Zhu YG, Yang XR. 2020. Prevalence of Antibiotic Resistome in Ready-to-Eat Salad. Front Public Heal 8:92.

23. Igbinosa EO, Beshiru A. 2019. Antimicrobial Resistance, Virulence Determinants, and Biofilm Formation of *Enterococcus* Species From Ready-to-Eat Seafood. Front Microbiol 10.

24. Chajęcka-Wierzchowska W, Zadernowska A, Łaniewska-Trokenheim Ł. 2016. Diversity of Antibiotic Resistance Genes in *Enterococcus* Strains Isolated from Ready-to-Eat Meat Products. J Food Sci 81:M2799–M2807.

25. Kim HJ, Koo M. 2020. Diversity of *Enterococcus faecium* in Processed Pork Meat Products in Korea. Foods 9:1–14.

26. The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. 2017. Breakpoint tables for interpretation of MICs and zone diameters, version 7.0, 2017. http://www.eucast.org. http://www.eucast.org/fileadmin/src/media/PDFs/EUCAST_files/Breakpoint_tables/v_5.0_Breakpoint_Table_01.pdf.

27. Capps KM, Amachawadi RG, Menegat MB, Woodworth JC, Perryman K, Tokach MD, Dritz SS, Derouchey JM, Goodband RD, Bai J, Apley MD, Lubbers B V, Nagaraja TG. 2020. Impact of added copper, alone or in combination with chlortetracycline, on growth performance and antimicrobial resistance of fecal enterococci of weaned piglets. J Anim Sci 98:1–11.

28. Sharifi Y, Abedzadeh A, Salighe A, Kalhor N, Motlagh MK, Javadi A. 2015. Antibiotics and heavy metals resistance patterns of *Enterococcus faecalis* and *faecium* bacteria isolated from the human and the livestock sources. Environ Heal Eng Manag J 2:199–202.

29. Cocconcelli PS, Cattivelli D, Gazzola S. 2003. Gene transfer of vancomycin and tetracycline resistances among *Enterococcus faecalis* during cheese and sausage fermentations, p. 315–323. In International Journal of Food Microbiology. Elsevier.

30. Jolley KA, Bray JE, Maiden MCJ. 2018. Open-access bacterial population genomics: BIGSdb software, the PubMLST.org website and their applications [version 1; referees: 2 approved]. Wellcome Open Res 3. Francisco AP, Vaz C, Monteiro PT, Melo-Cristino J, Ramirez M, Carriço JA. 2012.
PHYLOViZ: Phylogenetic inference and data visualization for sequence based typing methods.
BMC Bioinformatics 13.

32. De Been M, Pinholt M, Top J, Bletz S, Mellmann A, Van Schaik W, Brouwer E, Rogers M, Kraat Y, Bonten M, Corander J, Westh H, Harmsen D, Willems RJL. 2015. Core genome multilocus sequence typing scheme for high-resolution typing of *Enterococcus faecium*. J Clin Microbiol 53:3788–3797.

33. Pietta E, Montealegre MC, Roh JH, Cocconcelli PS, Murray BE. 2014. *Enterococcus faecium* PBP5S/R, the Missing Link between PBP5-S and PBP5-R. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 58:6978–6981.

34. Jacob J, Evers S, Bischoff K, Carlier C, Courvalin P. 1994. Characterization of the sat4 gene encoding a streptothricin acetyltransferase in *Campylobacter coli* BE/G4. FEMS Microbiol Lett 120:13–17.

35. Swenson JM, Ferraro MJ, Sahm DF, Clark NC, Culver DH, Tenover FC, Charache P, Harrell LJ, Reller LB, Hardy D, Moellering RC, Wilson W, Hindler J. 1995. Multilaboratory evaluation of screening methods for detection of high-level aminoglycoside resistance in enterococci. National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards Study Group on Enterococci. J Clin Microbiol 33:3008–3018.

36. Olsvik B, Olsen I, Tenover FC. 1995. Detection of tet(M) and tet(Q) using the polymerase chain reaction in bacteria isolated from patients with periodontal disease. Oral Microbiol Immunol 10:87–92.

37. Sutcliffe J, Grebe T, Tait-Kamradt A, Wondrack L. 1996. Detection of erythromycinresistant determinants by PCR. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 40:2562–2566.

38. Trzcinski K, Cooper BS, Hryniewicz W, Dowson CG. 2000. Expression of resistance to tetracyclines in strains of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Antimicrob Chemother 45:763–770.

39. Ouoba LII, Lei V, Jensen LB. 2008. Resistance of potential probiotic lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria of African and European origin to antimicrobials: Determination and transferability of the resistance genes to other bacteria. Int J Food Microbiol 121:217–224.

40. Untergasser A, Cutcutache I, Koressaar T, Ye J, Faircloth BC, Remm M, Rozen SG.2012. Primer3— new capabilities and interfaces. Nucleic Acids Res 40:e115.

41. Wick RR, Judd LM, Gorrie CL, Holt KE. 2017. Unicycler: Resolving bacterial genome assemblies from short and long sequencing reads. PLOS Comput Biol 13:e1005595.

42. Seemann T. 2014. Prokka: rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. Bioinformatics 30:2068–2069.

Page AJ, Cummins CA, Hunt M, Wong VK, Reuter S, Holden MTG, Fookes M, FalushD, Keane JA, Parkhill J. 2015. Roary: rapid large-scale prokaryote pan genome analysis.Bioinformatics 31:3691–3693.

44. Kozlov AM, Darriba D, Flouri T, Morel B, Stamatakis A. 2019. RAxML-NG: a fast, scalable and userfriendly tool for maximum likelihood phylogenetic inference. Bioinformatics 35:4453–4455.

45. Letunic I, Bork P. 2019. Interactive Tree of Life (iTOL) v4: Recent updates and new developments. Nucleic Acids Res 47:W256–W259.

46. Meier-Kolthoff JP, Auch AF, Klenk HP, Göker M. 2013. Genome sequence-based species delimitation with confidence intervals and improved distance functions. BMC Bioinformatics 14:60.

47. Jain C, Rodriguez-R LM, Phillippy AM, Konstantinidis KT, Aluru S. 2018. High throughput ANI analysis of 90K prokaryotic genomes reveals clear species boundaries. Nat Commun 9:1–8.

48. Alcock BP, Raphenya AR, Lau TTY, Tsang KK, Bouchard M, Edalatmand A, Huynh W, Nguyen AL V., Cheng AA, Liu S, Min SY, Miroshnichenko A, Tran HK, Werfalli RE, Nasir JA, Oloni M, Speicher DJ, Florescu A, Singh B, Faltyn M, Hernandez-Koutoucheva A, Sharma AN, Bordeleau E, Pawlowski AC, Zubyk HL, Dooley D, Griffiths E, Maguire F, Winsor GL, Beiko RG, Brinkman FSL, Hsiao WWL, Domselaar G V., McArthur AG. 2020. CARD 2020: Antibiotic resistome surveillance with the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. Nucleic Acids Res 48:D517–D525.

49. Bortolaia V, Kaas RS, Ruppe E, Roberts MC, Schwarz S, Cattoir V, Philippon A, Allesoe RL, Rebelo AR, Florensa AF, Fagelhauer L, Chakraborty T, Neumann B, Werner G, Bender JK, Stingl K, Nguyen M, Coppens J, Xavier BB, Malhotra-Kumar S, Westh H, Pinholt M, Anjum MF, Duggett NA, Kempf I, Nykäsenoja S, Olkkola S, Wieczorek K, Amaro A, Clemente L, Mossong J, Losch S, Ragimbeau C, Lund O, Aarestrup FM. 2020. ResFinder 4.0 for predictions of phenotypes from genotypes. J Antimicrob Chemother 75:3491–3500.

50. Joensen KG, Scheutz F, Lund O, Hasman H, Kaas RS, Nielsen EM, Aarestrup FM. 2014. Real-time whole-genome sequencing for routine typing, surveillance, and outbreak detection of verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 52:1501–1510.

51. Liu B, Zheng D, Jin Q, Chen L, Yang J. 2018. VFDB 2019: a comparative pathogenomic platform with an interactive web interface. Nucleic Acids Res 47:687–692.

52. Johansson MHKK, Bortolaia V, Tansirichaiya S, Aarestrup FM, Roberts AP, Petersen TN. 2021. Detection of mobile genetic elements associated with antibiotic resistance in *Salmonella enterica* using a newly developed web tool: MobileElementFinder. J Antimicrob Chemother 76:101–109.

 Bertelli C, Laird MR, Williams KP, Lau BY, Hoad G, Winsor GL, Brinkman FSL. 2017.
IslandViewer 4: expanded prediction of genomic islands for larger-scale datasets. Nucleic Acids Res 45:W30.

54. Liu M, Li X, Xie Y, Bi D, Sun J, Li J, Tai C, Deng Z, Ou HY. 2019. ICEberg 2.0: an updated database of bacterial integrative and conjugative elements. Nucleic Acids Res 47:D660–D665.

55. Li X, Xie Y, Liu M, Tai C, Sun J, Deng Z, Ou HY. 2018. OriTfinder: A web-based tool for the identification of origin of transfers in DNA sequences of bacterial mobile genetic elements. Nucleic Acids Res 46:W229–W234.

56. Song W, Sun HX, Zhang C, Cheng L, Peng Y, Deng Z, Wang D, Wang Y, Hu M, Liu W, Yang H, Shen Y, Li J, You L, Xiao M. 2019. Prophage Hunter: an integrative hunting tool for active prophages. Nucleic Acids Res 47:W74–W80.

57. Couvin D, Bernheim A, Toffano-Nioche C, Touchon M, Michalik J, Néron B, Rocha EPC, Vergnaud G, Gautheret D, Pourcel C. 2018. CRISPRCasFinder, an update of CRISRFinder, includes a portable version, enhanced performance and integrates search for Cas proteins. Nucleic Acids Res 46:W246–W251.

58. Galloway-Peña JR, Rice LB, Murray BE. 2011. Analysis of PBP5 of early U.S. isolates of *Enterococcus faecium*: Sequence variation alone does not explain increasing ampicillin resistance over time. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 55:3272–3277.

59. Morroni G, Brenciani A, Litta-Mulondo A, Vignaroli C, Mangiaterra G, Fioriti S, Citterio B, Cirioni O, Giovanetti E, Biavasco F. 2019. Characterization of a new transferable MDR plasmid carrying the pbp5 gene from a clade B commensal *Enterococcus faecium*. J Antimicrob Chemother 74:843–850.

60. Guédon G, Libante V, Coluzzi C, Payot S, Leblond-Bourget N. 2017. The Obscure World of Integrative and Mobilizable Elements, Highly Widespread Elements that Pirate Bacterial Conjugative Systems. Genes (Basel) 8.

61. Shan X, Yang M, Wang N, Schwarz S, Li D, Du X-D. 2022. Plasmid Fusion and Recombination Events That Occurred during Conjugation of poxtA-Carrying Plasmids in Enterococci. Microbiol Spectr 10.

62. Moldovan MA, Gelfand MS. 2018. Pangenomic definition of prokaryotic species and the phylogenetic structure of *Prochlorococcus* spp. Front Microbiol 9:428.

63. Bonacina J, Suárez N, Hormigo R, Fadda S, Lechner M, Saavedra L. 2017. A genomic view of foodrelated and probiotic *Enterococcus* strains. DNA Res An Int J Rapid Publ Reports Genes Genomes 24:11.

 Lee M, Sousa MC. 2014. Structural Basis for Substrate Specificity in ArnB. A Key Enzyme in the Polymyxin Resistance Pathway of Gram-Negative Bacteria. Biochemistry 53:796– 805.

65. Agius JE, Phalen DN, Rose K, Eden JS. 2021. Genomic Insights Into the Pathogenicity of a Novel Biofilm-Forming Enterococcus sp. Bacteria (Enterococcus lacertideformus) Identified in Reptiles. Front Microbiol 12:389.

66. Chand D, Panigrahi P, Varshney N, Ramasamy S, Suresh CG. 2018. Structure and function of a highly active Bile Salt Hydrolase (BSH) from *Enterococcus faecalis* and post-translational processing of BSH enzymes. Biochim Biophys Acta - Proteins Proteomics 1866:507–518.

67. Singhal N, Maurya AK, Mohanty S, Kumar M, Virdi JS. 2019. Evaluation of bile salt hydrolases, cholesterol-lowering capabilities, and probiotic potential of *Enterococcus faecium* isolated from rhizosphere. Front Microbiol 10:1567.

68. Gouliouris T, Raven KE, Ludden C, Blane B, Corander J, Horner CS, Hernandez-Garcia J, Wood P, Hadjirin NF, Radakovic M, Holmes MA, de Goffau M, Brown NM, Parkhill J, Peacock SJ. 2018. Genomic surveillance of enterococcus faecium reveals limited sharing of strains and resistance genes between livestock and humans in the United Kingdom. MBio 9.

69. Freitas AR, Coque TM, Novais C, Hammerum AM, Lester CH, Zervos MJ, Donabedian S, Jensen LB, Francia MV, Baquero F, Peixe L. 2011. Human and Swine Hosts Share Vancomycin-Resistant *Enterococcus faecium* CC17 and CC5 and Enterococcus faecalis CC2 Clonal Clusters Harboring Tn1546 on Indistinguishable Plasmids † J Clin Microbiol 49:925–931.

70. Werner G, Fleige C, Feßler AT, Timke M, Kostrzewa M, Zischka M, Peters T, Kaspar H, Schwarz S. 2012. Improved identification including MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry analysis of group D streptococci from bovine mastitis and subsequent molecular characterization of corresponding *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Enterococcus faecium* isolates. Vet Microbiol 160:162–169.

71. Getachew Y, Hassan L, Zakaria Z, Abdul Aziz S. 2013. Genetic variability of vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium* and *Enterococcus faecalis* isolates from humans, chickens, and pigs in malaysia. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:4528–4533.

72. Koonin E V., Makarova KS, Wolf YI. 2017. Evolutionary Genomics of Defense Systems in Archaea and Bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 71:233.

73. dos Santos BA, de Oliveira J da S, Parmanhani-da-Silva BM, Ribeiro RL, Teixeira LM, Neves FPG. 2020. CRISPR elements and their association with antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes among vancomycin-resistant and vancomycin-susceptible enterococci recovered from human and food sources. Infect Genet Evol 80:104183.

74. Huo W, Adams HM, Trejo C, Badia R, Palmer KL. 2019. A Type I Restriction-Modification System Associated with *Enterococcus faecium* Subspecies Separation. Appl Environ Microbiol 85.

75. Chow JW. 2000. Aminoglycoside resistance in enterococci. Clin Infect Dis 31:586–589.

76. Panesso D, Reyes J, Gaston EP, Deal M, Londoño A, Nigo M, Munita JM, Miller WR, Shamoo Y, Tran TT, Arias CA. 2015. Deletion of liaR reverses daptomycin resistance in *Enterococcus faecium* independent of the genetic background. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 59:7327–7334.

77. Diaz L, Tran TT, Munita JM, Miller WR, Rincon S, Carvajal LP, Wollam A, Reyes J, Panesso D, Rojas NL, Shamoo Y, Murray BE, Weinstock GM, Arias CA. 2014. Whole-Genome Analyses of *Enterococcus faecium* Isolates with Diverse Daptomycin MICs. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 58:4527.

78. Álvarez-Rodríguez I, Arana L, Ugarte-Uribe B, Gómez-Rubio E, Martín-Santamaría S, Garbisu C, Alkorta I. 2020. Type IV Coupling Proteins as Potential Targets to Control the Dissemination of Antibiotic Resistance. Front Mol Biosci 7:201.

79. Devirgiliis C, Coppola D, Barile S, Colonna B, Perozzi G. 2009. Characterization of the Tn*916* conjugative transposon in a food-borne strain of Lactobacillus paracasei. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:3866–3871.

80. Lavysh D, Sokolova M, Minakhin L, Yakunina M, Artamonova T, Kozyavkin S, Makarova KS, Koonin E V., Severinov K. 2016. The genome of AR9, a giant transducing Bacillus phage encoding two multisubunit RNA polymerases. Virology 495:185–196.

81. Duerkop BA, Palmer KL, Horsburgh MJ. 2014. Enterococcal Bacteriophages and Genome DefenseEnterococci: From Commensals to Leading Causes of Drug Resistant Infection. Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK190419/. Retrieved 31 May 2022.

82. Partridge SR, Kwong SM, Firth N, Jensen SO. 2018. Mobile genetic elements associated with antimicrobial resistance. Clin Microbiol Rev 31.

83. Lin Y-T, Tseng S-P, Hung W-W, Chang C-C, Chen Y-H, Jao Y-T, Chen Y-H, Teng L-J, Hung W-C. 2020. A Possible Role of Insertion Sequence IS1216V in Dissemination of Multidrug-Resistant Elements MESPM1 and MES6272-2 between *Enterococcus* and ST59 *Staphylococcus aureus*. Microorganisms 8:1–12.

Lorenzo-Díaz F, Fernández-López C, Guillén-Guío B, Bravo A, Espinosa M. 2018.
Relaxase MobM induces a molecular switch at its cognate origin of transfer. Front Mol Biosci 5:17.

85. Bayjanov JR, Baan J, Rogers MRC, Troelstra A, Willems RJL, van Schaik W. 2019. *Enterococcus faecium* genome dynamics during long-term asymptomatic patient gut colonization. Microb Genomics

5.

86. Sadowy E. 2018. Linezolid resistance genes and genetic elements enhancing their dissemination in enterococci and streptococci. Plasmid 99:89–98.

87. Elghaieb H, Tedim AP, Abbassi MS, Novais C, Duarte B, Hassen A, Peixe L, Freitas AR. 2020. From farm to fork: identical clones and Tn6674-like elements in linezolid-resistant *Enterococcus faecalis* from food-producing animals and retail meat. J Antimicrob Chemother 75:30–35.

88. Yan XM, Wang J, Tao XX, Jia HB, Meng FL, Yang H, You YH, Zheng B, Hu Y, Bu XX, Zhang JZ. 2021. A Conjugative MDR pMG1-Like Plasmid Carrying the lsa(E) Gene of *Enterococcus faecium* With Potential Transmission to *Staphylococcus aureus*. Front Microbiol 12.

89. Mikalsen T, Pedersen T, Willems R, Coque TM, Werner G, Sadowy E, Van Schaik W, Jensen LB, Sundsfjord A, Hegstad K. 2015. Investigating the mobilome in clinically important lineages of *Enterococcus faecium* and *Enterococcus faecalis*. BMC Genomics 16:1–16.

90. Wang X-M, Li X-S, Wang Y-B, Wei F-S, Zhang S-M, Shang Y-H, Du X-D. 2015. Characterization of a multidrug resistance plasmid from *Enterococcus faecium* that harbours a mobilized bcrABDR locus. J Antimicrob Chemother 70:609–632.

91. Lisotto P, Raangs EC, Couto N, Rosema S, Lokate M, Zhou X, Friedrich AW, Rossen JWA, Harmsen HJM, Bathoorn E, Chlebowicz-Fliss MA. 2021. Long-read sequencing-based in silico phage typing of vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium*. BMC Genomics 22.

92. Kondo K, Kawano M, Sugai M. 2021. Distribution of Antimicrobial Resistance and Virulence Genes within the Prophage-Associated Regions in Nosocomial Pathogens. mSphere6.

93. Mitchell S. 2014. Zombies in bacterial genomes: identification and analysis of previously virulent phage. zombies bact genomes identif anal previously virulent phage.

94. Ahmed MO, Baptiste KE. 2018. Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci: A Review of Antimicrobial Resistance Mechanisms and Perspectives of Human and Animal Health. Microb Drug Resist 24:590–606.

95. EFSA FEEDAP Panel. 2016. Revision of the currently authorised maximum copper content in complete feed. EFSA J 14.

96. Rebelo A, Mourão J, Freitas AR, Duarte B, Silveira E, Sanchez-Valenzuela A, Almeida A, Baquero F, Coque TM, Peixe L, Antunes P, Novais C. 2021. Diversity of metal and antibiotic resistance genes in *Enterococcus* spp. from the last century reflects multiple pollution and genetic exchange among phyla from overlapping ecosystems. Sci Total Environ 787:147548.

97. Wongnak K, Pattanachaiwit S, Rattanasirirat W, Limsrivanichakorn S, Kiratisin P, Assanasen S, Leelaporn A. 2021. First characterization of Tn1546-like structures of vancomycinresistant *Enterococcus faecium* Thai isolates. J Infect Chemother 27:991–998.

98. Silveira E, Freitas AR, Antunes P, Barros M, Campos J, Coque TM, Peixe L, Novais C. 2014. Cotransfer of resistance to high concentrations of copper and first-line antibiotics among *Enterococcus* from different origins (humans, animals, the environment and foods) and clonal lineages. J Antimicrob Chemother 69:899–906.

99. Murphy D, Ricci A, Auce Z, Beechinor JG, Bergendahl H, Breathnach R, Bureš J, Duarte Da Silva JP, Hederová J, Hekman P, Ibrahim C, Kozhuharov E, Kulcsár G, Lander Persson E, Lenhardsson JM, Mačiulskis P, Malemis I, Markus-Cizelj L, Michaelidou-Patsia A, Nevalainen M, Pasquali P, Rouby J, Schefferlie J, Schlumbohm W, Schmit M, Spiteri S, Srčič S, Taban L, Tiirats T, Urbain B, Vestergaard E, Wachnik-Święcicka A, Weeks J, Zemann B, Allende A, Bolton D, Chemaly M, Fernandez Escamez PS, Girones R, Herman L, Koutsoumanis K, Lindqvist R, Nørrung B, Robertson L, Ru G, Sanaa M, Simmons M, Skandamis P, Snary E, Speybroeck N, Ter Kuile B, Wahlström H, Baptiste K, Catry B, Cocconcelli PS, Davies R, Ducrot C, Friis C, Jungersen G, More S, Muñoz Madero C, Sanders P, Bos M, Kunsagi Z, Torren Edo J, Brozzi R, Candiani D, Guerra B, Liebana E, Stella P, Threlfall J, Jukes H. 2017. EMA and EFSA Joint Scientific Opinion on measures to reduce the need to use antimicrobial agents in animal husbandry in the European Union, and the resulting impacts on food safety (RONAFA). EFSA J 15.

100. Poole K. 2017. At the Nexus of Antibiotics and Metals: The Impact of Cu and Zn on Antibiotic Activity and Resistance. Trends Microbiol 25:820–832.

101. Argudín MA, Hoefer A, Butaye P. 2019. Heavy metal resistance in bacteria from animals. Res Vet Sci 122:132–147.

102. Wist V, Morach M, Schneeberger M, Cernela N, Stevens MJA, Zurfluh K, Stephan R, NüeschInderbinen M. 2020. Phenotypic and genotypic traits of vancomycin-resistant enterococci from healthy food-producing animals. Microorganisms 8.

103. Scornec H, Bellanger X, Guilloteau H, Groshenry G, Merlin C. 2017. Inducibility of Tn*916* conjugative transfer in *Enterococcus faecalis* by subinhibitory concentrations of ribosome-targeting antibiotics. J Antimicrob Chemother 72:2722–2728.

104. Galloway-Peña JR, Liang X, Singh K V., Yadav P, Chang C, La Rosa SL, Shelburne S, Ton-That H, Höök M, Murray BE. 2015. The identification and functional characterization of WxL proteins from *Enterococcus faecium* reveal surface proteins involved in extracellular matrix interactions. J Bacteriol 197:882–892.

105. Hufnagel M, Hancock LE, Koch S, Theilacker C, Gilmore MS, Huebner J. 2004. Serological and Genetic Diversity of Capsular Polysaccharides in *Enterococcus faecalis*. J Clin Microbiol 42:2548.

106. Top J, Willems R, Bonten M. 2008. Emergence of CC17 *Enterococcus faecium*: from commensal to hospital-adapted pathogen. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 52:297–308.

107. Zhang S, Lebreton F, Mansfield MJ, Miyashita SI, Zhang J, Schwartzman JA, Tao L, Masuyer G, Martínez-Carranza M, Stenmark P, Gilmore MS, Doxey AC, Dong M. 2018. Identification of a botulinum neurotoxin-like toxin in a commensal strain of *Enterococcus faecium*. Cell Host Microbe 23:169.

9. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Scope	Primer name	Primer sequence (5'-3')	Reference
Species identification	EM1A (ddl gene)	TTGAGGCAGACCAGATTGACG	Cheng et al. 1997
	EM1B (ddl gene)	TATGACAGCGACTCCGATTC	-
Screening of HA markers	esp14F	AGATTTCATCTTTGATTCTTGG	
			Leavis et al., 2003
	esp12R	AATTGATTCTTTAGCATCTGG	
	hylEfm-F	GAGTAGAGGAATATCTTAGC	Rice et al., 2003
	hylEfm-R	AGGCTCCAATTCTGT	-
	IS16-F	CATGTTCCACGAACCAGAG	Werner et al., 2011
	IS16-R	TCAAAAAGTGGGCTTGGC	-
AMR genes	Efmpbp5- 1outsideF	GGAATGACAAGCAAGAGAAGGAGG	
	Efmpbp5-1F	ATGAAAAGAAGTGACAAGCACGGC	-
	Efmpbp5-1R	GCAAAGATGAATACCTCATTAGG	Galloway-Pena et al.
	Efmpbp5-2F	CAAAGTAATCGGGTTGTACCCAGC	2011
	Efmpbp5-2R	GTCCCACGAAGATCCTTATCAAAAGCC	-
	Efmpbp5-3F	GGCTTTTGATAAGGATCTTCGTGGGAC	-
	Efmpbp5-3R	CCCATTITCAACGTTTCTTGTGCC	-
	Efmpbp5-4F	GGCACAAGAAACGTTGAAAATGGG	-
	Efmpbp5-4R	TTATTGATAATTTTGGTTGAGGTATTG	
	Efmpbp5- 4outsideR	CGCCACAGTCCTTTTACTGTAC	
	Rpbp5_1F	GCAAAGATGAATACCTCATTAGG	-
	Rpbp5_1R	CAAAGTAATCGGGTTGTACCCAGC	-
	Rpbp5_2F	CAGAACTTCCAGCTGGAGCTAC	-
	Rpbp5_2R	GATCATAGCTTGGAGAGCTAGC	-
	Rpbp5_3F	GCGACAGGTTATGCTCCTGG	-
	Rpbp5_3R	GAATACATTGCTGCTTGCTGGATAGG	-

Table 15. Primers used in this work

ermB1	GAAAAGGTACTCAACCAAATA	Sutcliffe et al., 1996
ermB2	AGTAACGGTACTTAAATTGTTTAC	-
tetM1	GAACTCGAACAAGAGGAAAGC	Olsvik et al., 1995
tetM2	ATGGAAGCCCAGAAAGGAT	
tetL-up	ATAAATTGTTTCGGGTCGGTAAT	Trzcinski et al., 2000
tetL-rev	AACCAGCCAACTAATGACAATGAT	
aad6_F	TTCGAATTGTGACCCTTGAG	This study
aad6_R	TGGTTCAGATGATCGATTGC	
aph3-IIIa_F	GCCGATGTGGATTGCGAAAA	Ouoba et al., 2008
aph3-IIIa_R	GCTTGATCCCCAGTAAGTCA	1
aadE_F	ATGGAATTATTCCCACCTGA	Ouoba et al., 2008
aadE_R	TCAAAACCCCTATTAAAGCC	
SatA_F	TCAAAGTTGGCGTATAA	Jacob et al., 1994
SatA_R	TAAACCCAGCGAACCAT	
Ant(6)-Ia_F	GCCTTTCCGCCACCTCACCG	Swenson et al., 1995
Ant(6)-Ia_R	ACTGGCTTAATCAATTTGGG	-
Lnu-B_F	ATCGAGCAGTGGTCTTTGCA	This study
Lnu-B_R	GGTTGTTTGACGTAGCTCCG	-
IsaE_F	TTGGCACGTTTCATCGCTTT	This study
IsaE_R	ACGGACGCGGTAAAACTACT	

Table 2S. selected strains for taxonomic and phylogenetic analyses

Strain	Clade	Genbank Accesion	MLST	Clonal Complex according to MLST scheme and central ST	dDDH Average against UC7251	ANI against UC7251
7150	A1	GCA_019356355.1	No match		90.53	98.93
15-307-1	A1	GCA_002973755.2	17	CC17	82.73	98.57
6E6	A1	GCA_001518735.1	203	CC203	82.40	98.58
A6521	A1	GCA_012933195.2	80	CC80	84.63	98.60
AA622	A1	GCA_019977575.1	No match		86.83	98.78

AALTL	A1	GCA_002880635.1	736	CC17	87.27	98.58
ATCC700221	A1	GCA_001594345.1	17	CC17	86.80	98.89
Aus0004	A1	GCA_000250945.1	17	CC17	86.03	98.78
Aus0085	A1	GCA_000444405.1	203	CC203	82.27	98.67
AUSMDU00011555	A1	GCA_017301355.1	No match		82.73	98.54
BA17124	A1	GCA_012932975.2	80	CC80	85.50	99.04
BP5067	A1	GCA_012932985.2	80	CC80	85.60	99.00
CFSAN059070	A1	GCA_003071425.1	203	CC203	82.63	98.59
Dallas1	A1	GCA_015999605.1	17	CC17	83.73	98.51
DB-1	A1	GCA_006337045.1	19	CC64	87.20	98.92
DO	A1	GCA_000174395.2	18	CC18	87.33	98.80
E1	A1	GCA_001886635.1	117	CC117	83.27	98.62
E232	A1	GCA_002777275.1	736	CC17	86.43	98.58
E39	A1	GCA_001635875.1	736	CC17	86.50	98.60
E745	A1	GCA_001750885.1	16	CC17	84.17	98.84
HOU503	A1	GCA_005952885.1	280	CC280	87.90	98.65
K60-39	A1	GCA_002334625.1	192	CC192	85.60	98.71
KUHS13	A1	GCA_009938285.1	17	CC17	87.00	98.77
LAC7-2	A1	GCA_009036045.1	323	CC17	89.57	98.87
PR01996-12	A1	GCA_018219325.1	18	CC18	84.57	98.66
RBWH1	A1	GCA_003957785.1	203	CC203	85.17	98.66
SC4	A1	GCA_002848385.1	78	CC78	84.90	98.72
SRR24	A1	GCA_009734005.2	78	CC78	85.23	98.77
UAMSEF_01	A1	GCA_005886545.1	80	CC80	87.50	98.70
UAMSEF_08	A1	GCA_005886655.1	80	CC80	87.50	98.67
UW8175	A1	GCA_001587115.1	904	CC280	91.23	98.91
V1836	A1	GCA_008728455.1	787	CC80	85.43	98.75
VB3240	A1	GCA_005576735.1	17	CC17	85.73	98.55
VB6171	A1	GCA_017897965.1	80	CC80	84.63	98.60

VRE	A1	GCA_009697285.1	No match		82.70	98.69
VRE1	A1	GCA_006007925.1	78	CC78	83.27	98.63
VRE3355	A1	GCA_017584065.1	796	CC203	86.43	98.84
VRE3389	A1	GCA_015999405.1	17	CC17	85.43	98.71
VVEswe-R	A1	GCA_007917035.3	203	CC203	82.70	98.56
VVEswe-S	A1	GCA_007917315.3	203	CC203	82.87	98.58
WGS1811-4-7	A1	GCA_016864255.1	117	CC117	84.50	98.69
ZY11	A1	GCA_009938075.1	78	CC78	88.07	98.80
ZY2	A1	GCA_010120755.1	78	CC78	84.93	98.81
116	A2	GCA_018279145.1	32	CC32	88.03	98.90
16-346	A2	GCA_002761555.1	121	CC78	87.60	99.07
18-465	A2	GCA_018516845.1	1676	CC5	89.77	99.10
3012STDY6244127	A2	GCA_900683475.1	160	CC32	91.10	99.16
64/3	A2	GCA_001298485.1	21	CC32 89.43		98.99
Е843-ТС	A2	GCA_019774555.1	515	CC5	90.57	99.18
F17E0263	A2	GCA_006280355.1	No match		87.27	98.65
F88	A2	GCA_019175425.1	957	CC323/CC17	89.57	98.85
fac90	A2	GCA_016743855.1	868	CC29	92.47	98.91
FDAARGOS_323	A2	GCA_002983785.1	683	CC32	90.00	98.80
N56454	A2	GCA_006351845.1	1091	CC5	87.60	98.70
NCTC7174	A2	GCA_900637035.1	1034	CC5	91.87	99.21
NM213	A2	GCA_005166365.1	1054	CC32	89.10	98.90
NRRLB-2354	A2	GCA_001544255.1	160	CC32	89.60	99.05
QU 50	A2	GCA_006/41355.1	No match		87.97	98.62
UC7251	A2	GCA_000411655.2	673	CC117	100.00	100.00
VBO96	A2	GCA_019456555.1	133	CC5	92.10	99.08
WEFA23	A2	GCA_002850515.1	66	CC66	91.87	99.11
BIOPOP-3 ALE	В	GCA_012045365.1	819	CC1255	69.07	94.37
BIOPOP3-WT	В	GCA_012045505.1	819	CC1255	69.07	94.34
BM4105-RF	В	GCA_003269465.1	172	CC328	64.63	94.25
CBA7134	В	GCA_004015145.1	No match		70.13	94.80
DMEA02	В	GCA_008330605.1	178	CC94	69.47	94.80

DT1-1	В	GCA_011745645.1	296	CC94	68.40	94.49
F\$86	В	GCA_013201055.1	296	CC94	68.40	94.54
Gr17	В	GCA_003711605.1	1985	CC94	68.17	94.60
HY07	В	GCA_003574925.1	No match		68.47	94.48
JE1	В	GCA_003667965.1	812	CC117	67.70	94.66
SRCM103470	В	GCA_004103475.1	No match		69.30	94.83
T110	В	GCA_000737555.1	812	CC117	66.50	94.70
TK-P5D	В	GCA_015377765.1	812	CC117	67.70	94.65
PR05720-3	В	GCA_018219285.1	59	CC5	82.50	98.15

Table 35. Strains used for mating experiments with tetracycline and erythromycin.

Conjugation		Tetracycli	Tetracycline			Erythromycin			
			Conjugati	on	PCR		Conjuga	ition	PCR
			frequency	r	confirm	nation	frequency		confirmation
Donor	Recepient	Strain	(T/D)	(T/R)	tetM	tetL	(T/D)	(T/R)	ermB
E. faecium UC7251	Enterococcus faecalis	OG1rf	6.01E03	2.80E- 06	yes	no	/	/	no
	Listeria innocua	L7	5.68E06	7.16E- 05	yes	no	/	/	no
	Listeria monocytogenes	DSM	8.38E-	3.88E-	yes	no	/	/	no
		15675	04	03					
	Staphylococcus aureus	UC7180	3.78E02	1.37E-	yes	no	/	/	no
				01					
	Staphylococcus xylosus	UC8727	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
	Staphylococcus carnosus	UC8838	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
	Lactobacillus rhamnosus	UC8647	6.84E05	1.30E-	yes	no	/	/	/
				04					
	Lactobacillus paracasei	UC8477	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
	Lactobacillus casei	UC8477	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
	Lactobacillus fermentum	UC10045	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
	Lactobacillus plantarum	UC8479	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
	Lactobacillus reuteri	UC10043	/	/	/	/	/	/	/
Bacillus cereus	UC4044	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
------------------------------	--------------	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	
Escherichia coli	BL21	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Pseudomonas koreensis	Psk	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Psa	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Pseudomonas chlororaphis	Psc	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Pseudomonas putida	Psp	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Pseudomonas fluorescens	Psf	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Weisella confusa	LMG 18478	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Weisella confusa	LMG176 96	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Weisella confusa	LMG 17695	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Weisella confusa	BCC 2344	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Weisella confusa	BCC 3263	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Weisella confusa	BCC4255	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Weisella confusa	024F6	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Pediococcus pentosaceus	UC8487	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Pediococcus acidilactici	UC8715	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Clostridium tyrobutyricum	UC7086	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	
Clostridium sporogenes	UC9000	/	/	/	/	/	/	/	

Table 4S. Annotation of ICE and IME in UC7251

Chi	romosome		pUC7251_1		
	Region 1	Region 2	Region 1		
Location (nt)	1097029-1202552	2360857-2421852	45229136214		
Length (bp)	105524	60996	90986		
GC content (%)	39.28	38.52	35.40		
oriT	-	2419860-2419992	8537085407		

Insertion site	Aspartate racemase (1096652- 1097383)		hypothetical protein (242 2422156)	-					
Direct Repeats	attL: 1097029-109 (aacagaaggaagtatg) 1202552 (aacagaag	7044 /attR: 1202537- ggaagtatg)	attL: 2360857-2360872 (tttctttattctttta)/attR: 242 (tttctttattctttta)	attL: 2360857-2360872 (tttctttattcttta)/attR: 2421837-2421852 (tttctttattctttta)					
Туре	Putative IME		Putative ICE with T4SS		ICE-like region				
Annotations	Proteins	Position	Proteins	Position	Proteins	Position			
	T2SSE	1119712- 1120962	T2SSE	2384650- 2386434	Integrase	4522- 45909			
	FtsK_SpoIIIE (T4CP)	1121045- 1121632	TrbC	2393945- 2394601	Pfam-B_706	47135- 47335			
	Pfam-B_6973 (Relaxase)	1123703- 1124461	T2SSE	2396328- 2398097	Integrase	48425- 48928			
	T2SSE	1140006- 1141790	Integrase	2404634- 2405851	Integrase	59358- 60194			
	VirB3	1181314- 1181997	tet(M)	2408450- 2410369	Integrase	61549- 62634			
			TrbL (Orf15_Tn, T4SS component)	2412673- 2414850	Integrase	64313- 64867			
			AAA_10 (Orf16_Tn, T4SS component)	2414853- 2417300	Integrase	65555- 66235			
			TrbC (Orf19_Tn, T4SS compont)	2418379- 2418600	Integrase	73299- 73979			
			Rep_trans (Relaxase)	2418643- 2419848	Integrase	74831- 75511			
			FtsK_SpoIIIE (T4CP)	2420026- 2421411	Mob_Pre (Relaxase)	85476- 86624			
					Recombinase (Integrase)	107823- 109391			
					Recombinase (Integrase)	109393- 109809			
					Integrase	113755- 114075			
					Integrase	114194- 114784			
					Integrase	123820- 124686			
					Recombinase (Integrase)	125063- 126289			
					Integrase	135534- 136214			

CHAPTER 3

Wild boars as an indicator of environmental spread of ESβLsproducing *Escherichia coli*.

Wild boars as an indicator of environmental spread of ES_βLs-producing *Escherichia coli*

Alessandra Mercato^{1†}, Claudia Cortimiglia^{2†}, Aseel Abualsha'ar¹, Aurora Piazza¹, Federica Marchesini¹, **Giovanni Milani**², Silvia Bonardi³, Roberta Migliavacca¹ and Pier Sandro Cocconcelli^{2*}

¹Department of Clinical-Surgical, Diagnostic and Pediatric Sciences, Unit of Microbiology and Clinical Microbiology, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy

²Department for Sustainable Food Processes, Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Piacenza, Italy

³Department of Veterinary Science, Unit of Food Inspection, University of Parma, Parma, Italy

'These Authors have contributed equally to this work

Keywords: ESBLs-producing Escherichia coli, ST131, ST10, wild boars, Italy

This paper is published on Frontiers in Microbiology (DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.838383).

Corresponding author Pier Sandro Cocconcelli (pier.cocconcelli@unicatt.it)

1. ABSTRACT

The Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) represents an increasing issue worldwide, spread not only in humans and farmed animals, but also in the wildlife. One of the most relevant problems is represented by Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamases (ES β Ls) producing *Escherichia coli*, because they are cause of important infections in humans. Wild boars (*Sus scrofa*) as a source of ES β Ls attracted attention because of the increasing density and their habits that lead them to be at the human-livestock-wildlife interface. The aim of this study is to increase the knowledge about the ES β Ls *E. coli* strains carried by wild boars living in a particularly high-density area of Northern Italy. The analysis of 60 animals allowed to isolate 16 ES β Ls-producing *E. coli* strains (prevalence 23.3%), which were characterized from a phenotypical and molecular point of view. The overall analysis revealed that the 16 isolates were all not only ES β Ls producers, but also multi-drug resistant and carried different types of plasmid replicons. The genome analysis performed on a subset of isolates confirmed the heterogeneity observed with PFGE and highlighted the presence of two pandemic sequence types, ST131 and ST10, with different collection of virulence factors. The genomic context of ES β Ls genes further evidenced that all of them were surrounded by transposons and insertion sequences, suggesting the possibility to exchange AMR genes.

Overall, this study showed the worrying dissemination of $ES\betaLs$ -producing *E. coli* in wild boars in Northern Italy, suggesting the role of these animals as spreader of AM resistance and their inclusion in surveillance programs, to shed light to the "One Health" complex interactions.

2. INTRODUCTION

The concept of One Health is based on an existing connection between humans, animals, plants, and environmental health (1). In recent years, this concept has been reformulated underlying the role of interconnected ecosystems, i.e. geographically close systems, in the occurrence of common health traits (2). Such interactions between the different domains are supported by the exchange of microbial communities between humans, animals, plants, and the local environment, thus influencing the health conditions of organisms, communities, and ecosystems (2). In this context, despite the importance of microbial communities' distribution across domains, AMR is considered the quintessential One Health issue (3).

The emergence and distribution of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria (AMB) between people and animals has been often attributed to abuse/misuse of antimicrobials in husbandry practices (sub-therapeutical doses and long-lasting treatments), which create the ideal conditions for bacteria to develop resistance (3). AMB shed by farmed animals may contaminate agricultural areas through spreading of manure and reach surface water, thus contributing to contamination of soil, plants, and wild animals (4). On the other hand, important sources of AMR bacteria are represented by hospitals, which release their sewage drains and wastewaters in the environment and represent a menace for different ecosystems (5). Even if hospital

effluents are treated in wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), AMR bacteria and their resistant genes can survive (6), thus persisting in the environment and circulating in the ecosystems.

It is commonly assumed that this anthropogenically-derived pollution of antimicrobials, AMB and resistance genes from human waste and livestock farms is the source for wildlife contamination (7). As a matter of fact, wildlife commonly carries AMB deriving from contact with anthropogenic sources that pollute the environment with AMB and/or with antimicrobials (8–10). Nevertheless, despite the isolation of AMB, some studies suggest a lack of evidence of direct contact of wild animals with human or livestock sewage, slurry, or faeces, thus questioning clear pathways of AMR transmission (9).

Most of the studies in wild animals are focused on the detection of *E. coli* producing ES β Ls, which are known to be emerging in livestock as well as in wildlife, thus escaping from human clinical settings (11–14). It has been reported that occurrence of ES β Ls-producing *E. coli* in wild animals, especially wild birds, could be a spill-over form of environmental pollution from human and livestock sources (11). As a matter of fact, wild birds have been considered environmental indicators, reservoirs and even spreaders of AMR (15). However, the role of AMR indicators could be postulated also for wild mammals, as wild boars (*Sus scrofa*).

During the last decades, wild boars have been expanding in Europe despite they are one of the most intensively hunted ungulate species (16). Due to their high reproductivity rate and omnivorous habits, their population is likely to overgrowth in many territories (16,17). In Italy, wild boars are among the most common wild ungulates, with densities varying from 0.01–0.05 to 2.32–10.5 animals/km2 across the whole Italian territory (18). In the region of the study (Emilia-Romagna region; 22,451 km2), a density of 1.37–2.31 wild boars/km2 was estimated, thus consisting in a regional wild boar population ranging between thirty and fifty thousand animals. Since these animals are also used for production of non-thermally treated foods, such as cured meats and dry fermented sausages, it is possible for bacteria from animals to reach the consumers via these foods.

The main aims of the study were the evaluation of: (i) prevalence of ESβLs-producing *E. coli* among a small group of wild boars hunted in Northern Italy (Emilia-Romagna region); (ii) molecular typing of the isolates to characterize AMR determinants, virulence determinants and phylogenetic groups; (iii) comparison with strains isolated from different sources, including human, food, wild and companion animals.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Samples collection and isolation of ES_βLs-producing *E. coli* strains

From June to December 2018, 60 wild boars (35 females and 25 males) hunted in Parma province, Northern Italy, were tested for the presence of ESβLs-producing *E. coli*. Fourteen animals (23.3%) belonged to age class 0 (young; less than 12 months), 17 (28.3%) to age class 1 (subadults; 13-24 months) and 29 (48.3%) to age class 2 (> 24 months). For this survey only animals dead since less than 5 hours were selected. Mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs) and faecal samples were collected immediately after evisceration. MLNs were washed with sterile saline solution and decontaminated using ethyl alcohol before being placed in sterile containers. Faecal samples were collected from the colon and placed in sterile containers. The samples were transported to the laboratory at refrigerated conditions and tested the day of collection.

MLNs were cut in small pieces (0.1-0.2 cm) by using sterile scissors. Five to 10 g grams of MLNs, according to their size, and 10 g of faeces were diluted 1:10 in Buffered Peptone Water (BPW; Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK) and incubated at $37\pm1^{\circ}$ C for 18-20 h. A 100 µL loopful of the cultures was streaked onto MacConkey (Oxoid) agar plates added with a disk containing cefotaxime (CTX; 5 µg) and incubated at $44\pm1^{\circ}$ C for 21 ± 3 h. Colonies grown in proximity of the antimicrobial disk were selected to be seeded onto Tryptone Soya Agar (TSA, Oxoid) and Tryptone Soya Broth (TSB, Oxoid), and incubated at $44\pm1^{\circ}$ C for 21 ± 3 h. Indole production was tested by adding James' reagent to TSB cultures. From TSA plates of indole-positive cultures, one well isolated colony was identified at species level with the Microgen® GN-A (Biogenetics, Padua, Italy) system. *E. coli* isolates were analysed by the Kirby-Bauer test following EUCAST recommendations (2018) using disks produced by Oxoid containing cefotaxime (CTX; 5 µg), ceftazidime (CAZ; 10 µg). *E. coli* ATCC 25922 was used as a quality control microorganism. The strains which showed an inhibition zone diameter <17 mm for CTX and <19 mm for CAZ were selected for ES β Ls testing. Phenotypic identification of ES β Ls-producing *E. coli* was performed using the ES β Ls-Confirm Kit (Rosco Diagnostica, Taastrup, Denmark) following the manufacturer's instructions.

3.2. Antimicrobial susceptibility test

The antimicrobial susceptibility profiles for the phenotypically identified ESβLs-producing *E. coli* isolates were determined using Microscan Gram-negative MIC/Combo panels and analyzed through the semi-automated system MicroScan autoSCAN-4 (Beckman Coulter) following manufacturer's instructions. Clinical categorization of the isolates was performed based on the EUCAST 2019 clinical breakpoints (http://www.eucast.org).

3.3. Molecular investigation of resistance determinants

The presence of ESβLs and carbapenemases determinants was investigated by microarray Check-Points CT 103 XL Check-MDR assay (Wageningen, the Netherlands), and PCR. To determine the exact allelic variant of *bla*_{CTX-M}, two-directional DNA sequencing was performed. PCR amplicons of 593 bp, obtained using the primers pair Fw: 5'-ATGTGCAGYACCAGTAARGT-3 and Rev: 5'-

TGGGTRAARTARGTSACCAGA-3', were purified using a Wizard® SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). DNA Sequencing was performed using the Microsynth services (Macrosynth Seqlab, Germany). The alignment between the forward, reverse, and reference DNA sequences were accomplished using Chromaspro software (2.1.10) and analysed using the BLAST software (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). PCR assays were performed to assess the presence of resistance determinants against quinolones (*qnrB*, *qnrS* and *aac(6')-Ib-cr*), and aminoglycosides (*aadA*, *armA*, *rmtB*, and *rmtC*).

3.4. Conjugation assay and plasmid typing

To assess the possible transferability of the blaCTX-M determinants identified, conjugation assays in liquid were performed using three different *E. coli* strains as recipients.: included the *E. coli* K12 strain J62 (pro-, his-, trp-, lac-, Sm R), J53-2 (met-, pro-, rif R), and the J53 AzideR. Donor strains in logarithmic growth phase were mixed with recipients in the early stationary phase in a 1:10 ratio in Mueller Hinton broth, and the mixture was incubated at 37°C overnight. The transconjugants were selected on MacConkey agar containing cefotaxime (2 mg/L) plus streptomycin (1000 mg/L), rifampicin (100 mg/L) or sodium azide (100 mg/L) (Tartor et al. 2021). The detection sensitivity of the assay was approximately 10–8 transconjugants per recipient. At least three possible transconjugants colonies for each recipient were subjected to antimicrobial susceptibility testing, and PCR to confirm blaCTX-M gene presence using the primers mentioned above. Plasmids were typed as well for both the donors and the transconjugants based on their incompatibility groups using the PCR based replicon typing scheme PBRT 2.0 Kit (Diatheva, Fano, Italy). Moreover, random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) -PCR was performed for donor, transconjugants and recipients using RAPD-PCR kit (Amersham biosciences UK limited, England) to definitely distinguish transconjugants from donor strains.

3.5. Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE)

The Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis (PFGE) was performed using XbaI restriction enzyme, the obtained genomic fragments were separated on a CHEF-DR II apparatus (Bio-Rad, Milan, Italy) for 22 h at 14°C. Bacteriophage λ concatenamers were used as DNA size markers. DNA restriction patterns of scanned gel pictures were interpreted following cluster analysis with the Fingerprinting II version 3.0 software (Bio-Rad) using the unweighted pair-group method with arithmetic averages (UPGMA). Only bands larger than 48 kb were considered for the analysis. The Dice correlation coefficient was used with a 1.0 % position tolerance to analyse the similarities of the banding patterns, and a similarity threshold of 90 % to define clusters. The restriction patterns of the genomic DNA from the isolates were analysed and interpreted according to the criteria of (19).

3.6. Phylogenetic groups investigation

Phylogenetic group typing was performed for the 16 ESβLs-producing *E. coli* isolates according to Clermont et al. using PCR assays targeting the genes *chuA*, *yjaA*, the DNA fragment TSPE4.C and *arpA* gene as described previously (20).

3.7. WGS and in silico analysis

Five out of the 16 ESβLs-producing *E. coli* strains were selected taking in consideration the highest level of antibiotic resistance and different phylogroups, and subjected to whole-genome sequencing for further investigation (Fig.1). Total DNA was extracted from pure overnight culture with E.Z.N.A.® Bacterial DNA Kit (Omega Bio-tek, Georgia, USA), following the manufacturer instructions. The DNA concentration was determined with Qubit 2.0 Fluorometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and visualized on 0,8% agarose gel to check the DNA integrity. DNA was sequenced by Fasteris (Geneve, Switzerland) using Illumina Miseq platform (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA) with 300 paired-end run.

The quality of raw reads was evaluated with FastQC software (21). SPades tool on PATRIC website was used to perform the de novo assembly, discarding contigs with a length below 400bp (22) and contigs were annotated with Prokka v 1.13.3 with e-value cut-off default (23). In silico investigation of MultiLocus Sequence Type (MLST), serotype, fimH subtyping and phylogroup was investigated using MLST 2.0 for *E. coli* #1 (24), SerotypeFinder 2.0 (25), FimTyper-1.0 (26), using default threshold. ResFinder 4.1 (27), PlasmidFinder 2.1 (28) and VirulenceFinder 2.0 (29) were used to detect antimicrobial resistance genes, plasmid replicons and virulence factors.

Contigs harbouring ES β Ls determinants were annotated with Prokka and the genetic environment of AMR genes were investigated using Geneious Prime v2021.2.2 and Isfinder (30). In particular, since bla_{CTX-15} is known to be flanked by the transposon element ISEcp1 (AJ242809), a BLASTn search was performed on bla_{CTX-15} -positive genomes.

The phylogeny among wild boar strains was investigated analysing the pan genome with Roary (31). Then, the phylogenetic relationship between ST131 and ST10 strains from wild boars and other strains with the same sequence type and isolated from different sources was investigated.

We explored the genomes deposited in PATRIC and EnteroBase (32), for which information about the sequence type was available. The data about sequence type was confirmed with MLST 2.0 for *E. coli* #1 (24). Moreover, metadata about isolation source (human, animal, food), isolation country, and host health (where applicable) and ES β Ls genes were also considered. All the selected genomes were reanalysed with ABRicate using ResFinder database (https://github.com/tseemann/abricate) and typing through SerotypeFinder.

Fifty-seven ST131 ESβLs-producing *E. coli* genomes with the mentioned features were obtained from PATRIC and EnteroBase (Table S1). When fastQ files were available, they were assembled with Spades.

FASTA files were re-annotated with Prokka v 1.13.3 with e-value cut-off default (23). The GFF files of all the downloaded ST131 and of WB 249 F2 strain were used for the pan and core genome analysis using Roary (31). The Newick file resulting from Roary analysis was uploaded in iTOL for viewing the relationship based on Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) detected in the core genome.

The same approach was adopted for the comparison between ST10 wild boar strains and genome sequences of ST10 strains isolated from different sources (Table S2). Genome sequences of ST10 Es β Ls-producing *E. coli* were retrieved from PATRIC database. Sequences were screened confirming the ST group and a subset of 49 genomes were selected, considering the source (human, companion, and wild animal food) and the positivity for ES β Ls genes.

4. **RESULTS**

4.1. Wild boars are carriers of ES β Ls-producing and multi drug resistant (MDR) *E. coli* Fourteen wild boars out of 60 (23.3%; 95% CI 14.4-35.4) were found to be positive for the presence of CTX-and CAZ-resistant *E. coli*. A total of 16 *E. coli* isolates were collected from the 14 animals from MLNs (5/60; 8.3%) and faeces (11/60; 18,3%) samples, with three wild boars positive both in MLNs and faeces. Positive wild boars were represented by 5 females (35.7%) and 9 males (64.3%) belonging to age class 0 (4/14; 26.6%) and age class 2 (10/29; 34.5%). All the 16 isolates were positive to the ES β Ls-Confirm kit.

A wider evaluation of antimicrobial susceptibility profiles of the 16 ES β Ls-producing *E. coli* showed 100% non-susceptibility to penicillins, third generation cephalosporins (3GCs) and fourth generation cephalosporins (4GCs), tetracyclines, monobactams, and tetracycline; 75% to trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole, 37,5% to chloramphenicol, among fluoroquinolones 62,5% to ciprofloxacin and 31,25% to levofloxacin, against aminoglycosides 31,25% to tobramycin and 37,5% to gentamycin, and 18,75% to amoxicillin/clavulanate. All isolates resulted fully susceptible to carbapenems, amikacin, tigecycline, fosfomycin, piperacillin/tazobactam and colistin (Fig. 1).

Genotypic investigation was then used to determine the identity of genes conferring the phenotypic resistance. The presence of the *bla*_{CTX-M}-type genes was detected by microarray and confirmed using targeted PCR. *bla*_{CTX-M-245}, *bla*_{CTX-M-15}, *bla*_{CTX-M-1}, were found in 31.3% (n=5/16), 25% (n=4/16), 25% (n=4/16) strains, respectively. Among ESβLs-producing strains, fluoroquinolone resistant isolates (56.3%, n= 9/16) harboured either *qnrS* (55.6%, n=5/9), *aac*(6')*Ibcr* (33.3%, n=3/9), or both *qnrS* and *aac*(6')*Ibcr* (1.1%, n=1/9) genes, while aminoglycoside resistant isolates (37.5%, n=6/16) harboured either *aadA* (33.3%, n=2/6), *aac*(6')*Ibcr* (50%, n=3/6), or *aadA* and *aac*(6')*Ibcr* (16.7%, 1/6) determinants (Fig.1).

4.2. Plasmid profile and conjugations results

The possible presence of plasmids was assessed for all 16 *E. coli* isolates. IncFII was the prevalent incompatibility group found in the isolates (n=6/16). Other groups detected included IncN (n=2/16), IncX1 (n=2/16), IncX3 (n=2/16), IncFIIS (n=2/16), IncFIIK (n=1/16), IncF (2/16), IncFIA (n=1/16), IncA/C (n=1/156), IncH12 (n=1/16), IncH1 (n=1/16), IncQ1 (1/16), and IncP1 (n=1/16). Two isolates resulted negative for all the Incompatibility groups searched. All strains were then subjected to conjugation experiments, and a lateral transfer of resistance genes was observed in 25% (n=4/16) of them. The resistance profiles of donors and transconjugants confirmed the lateral transfer of 3GCs resistance. PCR analysis confirmed the presence of a *bla*_{CTX-M}-type gene in all the transconjugants. Inc group plasmid and RAPD profile analysis performed on all the transconjugants confirmed that *bla*_{CTX-M} gene was plasmid-encoded and that plasmids are mobilized by conjugation to the *E. coli* J53 or *E. coli* J62 recipient.

4.3. Molecular typing reveals high heterogeneity among ESβLs-producing *E. coli*

PFGE analysis of the 16 ESβLs-producing *E. coli* isolates showed a high clonal heterogeneity, revealing 14 different pulsotypes, even for the isolates recovered from MLNs and faeces of the same wild boar (Fig. 1). One *E. coli* isolate resulted not typable with this method.

The assignment to *E. coli* phylogenetic groups of the 16 isolates revealed that the 37,5% (n=6/16), all CTX-M-producers, belonged to phylogroup A; 37,5% (n=6/16) belonged to phylogroup B1; 12,5% (n=2/16) to phylogroup D; 6% (n=1/16) to phylogroup B1, and 6,25% (n=1/16) to phylogroup C (Fig. 1).

4.4. In-depth genomic characterization: typing, virulence, AMR and dissemination potential

Among the 16 ESβLs-producing *E. coli* strains, five of them were selected considering the resistance to high number of antimicrobials and the phylogroup, and sequenced for further deep characterization. As shown in Table 1, the *in silico* analysis evidenced 4 different Sequence Types (ST), and in particular two strains with ST10, one strain with ST131, one strain with ST46 and one strain with ST5051. The ST10 strains belonged to two different serogroups (O101:H9 and O127:H21), and ST131 strain belonged to O25:H4 serogroup; O8:H4 and O153:H9 were detected as serogroup of ST46 and ST505, respectively. While the ST131 strain showed the fimbrial variant fimH30, the other isolates harboured fimH54, except for WB221F2 which carries fimH34.



Figure 1. The figure includes all the phenotypical and molecular characterization, including the analysis performed with WGS. The part (A) is related to the molecular typing by PFGE, with the identification of pulsotypes, phylogroups and plasmid replicons, for all the ES \$Ls-producing E. coli strains, while STs and serogroups are evidenced for the sequenced strains. The heatmap (B) shows the phenoppical resistance profile of all ESpLs-producing E. coli, where yellow identifies exceptible phenotype, while blue identifies the resistance phenotype. The molecular determinants find by PCR and genome analysis are evidenced in the heatmap in burble (C), while the virulence genes harbored by the sequenced strains are shown in orange (D). AMR genes and virulence factors are grouped by evidenced categories.

f AMC, amossicilin/ clavulanic acid; AMP, ampicilin; PIP, piperacilin; ATM, aztreonam; FEP, cefepime; CTX, cefotaxime; CAZ, ceftazidime; CXM, cefuroxime; CIP, ciprofloxacin; LEV, levofloxacin; TZP, piperacillin-tazobactam, AK. Amikacin; GM, gentamicin; TOB, tobramycin; CLO, chloramphenicol; ERT, ertapenem; ERT, ertapenem; IMI, imipenem; MEM, meropenem; TET, tetracycline; TMS, trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole.

* Determinants detected by PCR.

	WB218 F1	WB221 F2	WB231 L2	WB234 F2	WB249 F2
Genome size (bp)	4917558	4790178	4649545	5051588	5070855
N° contigs	113	164	74	78	73
MLST	10	46	10	5051	131
FimH group	54	34	54	54	30
Serogroup	O101: H9	O8: H4	O127:H21	O153:H9	O25:H4

Table 1. Main genome features of five $ES\beta Ls$ -producing E. coli selected strains isolated from wild boars.

The analysis of the genome led to a deep characterization of virulence and antimicrobial resistance content. The analysis of virulence profile evidenced the absence of Shiga-toxin genes (*stx1* and *stx2*) and intimin gene (*eae*). Some other putative virulence factors were identified. In particular, WB249F2 shows a large collection of genes involved in adherence (*iba*, *yfeV*), complement resistance (*iss*, *traT* and *ompT*), iron acquisition (*iucC*, *iutA*, *chuA*, *fyuA*, *irp2*) and membrane integrity (*kpsE*, *kpsMII_K5*). The other strains showed a less enriched panel of virulence factors, some of whom were in common with WB249F2 strain. Differently from all other strains, WB234F2 carried hexosyltransferase homolog gene (*capU*) and Salmonella *hilA* homolog (*eilA*).

A more accurate and comprehensive typing of antimicrobial determinants was assessed using the WGS analysis (Fig. 1). Among ES β Ls genes, the five sequenced wild boar strains were confirmed to carry the same determinants found by molecular analysis and moreover was able to detect other genes. Indeed, the screening of genome revealed that WB218F1 strain was a carrier of also *bla*_{TEM-1B} and *bla*_{SHV-12} genes. It is interesting to notice that while all strains were positive for *bla*_{CTX-M} genes, the WB218F1 carried also all the other Es β Ls determinants.

Genome analysis of other resistance genes confirmed the most resistance phenotypes against other antimicrobials, identifying determinants directly related to the phenotype. Indeed, WB218F1 showed a point mutation in *gyrA* gene (S83L) linked to the fluoroquinolone phenotype, while the resistance of WB249F2 strain was due to mutations in *gyrA* (S83L and D87N) gene associated with the *parC* (E84V, S80I) and *parE* (I529L) mutations.

WB218F1 and WB221F2 were positive for *cmlA1* gene, responsible for the resistance against chloramphenicol together with *catA1* and *flor1*, respectively. The analysis revealed that strains (WB221F2 and WB249F2) phenotypically resistant to aminoglycosides like gentamicin and tobramycin carried not only *aac(6')-Ib-cr* genes but also other genes belonging to the aminoglycoside-(3)-N-acetyltransferase family, such as *aac(3)-IId* and *aac(3)-IIa*. From a phenotypic point of view, all five strains resulted resistant to tetracycline; this evidence was confirmed at genome level only for three strains, which carried *tet(A)*, *tet(B)* and *tet(M)*. The tetracycline resistance for WB234F2 was related to the presence of *mdf(A)*, a multidrug resistance determinant, while in the case of WB249F2 strain no genes were identified. Moreover, the analysis lead to identify the presence of other genes linked to the resistance to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole such as *dfrA1*, *dfrA12*, *dfrA17*, *sul3*, *sul2*, *sul1* in WB218F1, WB221F2 and WB249F2 genomes. No gene mutations usually linked to levofloxacin were identified, due to the absence of correlation in the ResFinder/PointFinder database (33). The possibility of AMR genes to be mobilized between strains is directly linked to their localization on mobile genetic elements, i.e. plasmids and transposons. The genome of five strains was screened for plasmid replicons; moreover, this information was linked to the investigation of genome makeup around AMR genes in order to study the possibility of gene sharing through mobile elements. The analysis with PlasmidFinder matched with the results of PCR (Table 2).

The replicon position at contig level was compared to the position of ESBL determinants, assuming that, if AMR genes were carried by plasmid, they would be found near the replicons. The analysis revealed that none of them were located on the same contig of plasmid replicon.

strain	Plasmid replicon	Contig position	Contig length (bp)
WB218 F1	IncHI2	46	10181
	IncHI2 2	42	22264
	післэ	37	35167
WB221 F2	IncFIB	92	4852
		12	104785
WB231 L2	IncN	26	31042
	IncR	32	15115
WB234 F2	IncN	28	31174
	IncR	33	11243
	IncX1	25	45110
WB249 F2	IncFIA	29	17426
	IncFII	35	8144

Table 2. Identification of plasmid replicons in the sequenced $ES\betaLs$ -producing E. coli strains. For each strain, the Incompatibility group (plasmid replicon) is highlighted with the related number of contig on which the replicon was found, and the length of contig.

In particular, the beta-lactamase genes are located on short contigs (Fig.2), preventing a complete view of the genomic makeup around them. Anyway, the annotation of these contigs was performed and evidenced that *bla*_{TEM-1B}, *bla*_{CTX-M-1} and *bla*_{SHV-12} genes of WB218F1 strain were surrounded by IS6 and Tn3 family transposase (Fig. 2), differently from *bla*_{OXA-1} which was not enclosed by any transposable elements. The same situation was detected for other strains. *bla*_{CTX-M-15} and *bla*_{TEM-1B} genes of WB221F2 strain were bracketed with Tn3-like transposase and TnpA, as well as *bla*_{CTX-M-15} of WB249F2; no mobile genetic elements were detected near *bla*_{CTX-M-1} gene of WB231L2 and WB234F2 strains. Moreover, the Blastn search evidenced the presence of the transposon ISEcp1 near the *bla*_{CTX-M-15} genes in WB231L2 and WB249F2.



Figure 2. Genomic context of $ES\betaLs$ genes in wild boar isolates. Each line represents a contig harboring the $ES\betaLs$ determinants and it is identified by the name of strain and number of contig. bla_{CTX} , bla_{OXA} , bla_{TEM} and bla_{SHV} genes are colored in purple, while the mobile elements are evidenced in blue. Green, yellow, orange and light blue indicate other AMR genes, while hypothetical or other proteins are white.

4.5. Phylogenetic insight of wild boar ESβLs-producing *E. coli* and the correlation with ST131 and ST10 ESβLs-producing *E. coli* isolated from different sources

In order to understand how strains were genetically correlated, the pan-genome analysis was carried out. The phylogenetic relationship between wild boar strains is evidenced in the Figure 3.



Figure 3. Pangenome analysis of $ES\betaLs$ -producing E. coli isolated from wild boars. The figure evidence, on the left, the phylogenetic tree, built on SNPs of core genes. Identification of Sequence Type (MLST), serogroup and phylogroup are also indicated.



Figure 4. Phylogenetic tree built on the SNPs of core genes in the ST131 (A) and ST10 (B) ES β Ls-producing E. coli strains analyzed. (A) WB249F2, the ST131 strain isolated from wild boar, was compared with other 57 strains selected by isolation source and country, and (B) the same analysis was performed comparing WB218F1 and WB231L2 with other 49 strains, chosen following the same criteria. The wild boar isolates are highlighted in red in order to better evidence them. Color-coding is used to report the serotype (first line), isolation source (second line), while isolation countries are represented by different symbols.

All the strains shared 3325 genes (45% of pangenome), which represent the core genome; the remaining non-core 4085 genes were divided into 1316 accessory genes (18% of pangenome) shared by 2 to 4 strains and 2769 unique genes (cloud genes; 37% of pangenome). The phylogenetic tree built on SNPs of core genes divided strains in three groups, showing high degree of heterogeneity inside and reflecting the difference in the genetic composition in term of virulence and antimicrobial resistance profile, ST and serogroup.

Then, wild boar isolates with ST131 and ST10 were considered for further investigation, with the aim to compare them with other strains with the same ST, isolated from different sources, namely human, food, wild and domestic animals. While the phylogenetic tree shows a clear clusterization of analysed depending on serotype (Fig. 4A), including the wild boar ST131 strain in the O25:H4 group, it evidences also a widely distribution of genomes belonging to different source and country. The same situation is observed for the comparison among the ST10 strains (Fig. 4B). Although for the ST10 genomes a more heterogeneous situation was observed regarding the serogroups, the relationship between wild boar isolates and other strains seems do not follow a strict criterion. Interestingly, the 2 strains are located far from each other, placing WB231L2 near human and domestic animals, while the WB218F1 near to food and wild animal isolates.

5. DISCUSSION

The epidemiology of ESBLs-producing microorganisms is quite complicated, including geographical areas, hospitals, communities, hosts, as well as various reservoirs represented by the environment (soil and water), farmed animals, wild animals, and pets. Transmission from food and water, or from direct contact (person-to-person), represents the final step of ESBLs-producing bacteria epidemiology (34). The role of wild animals, including wild boars, as maintenance hosts of ESβLsproducing E. coli has already been assessed worldwide (35-37), with some phylogenetic groups showing clinical relevance (38)). The acquisition of ESBLs-producing E. coli by wild boars has been proposed to be related to their proximity to human and other animals' habitats, as well as by their omnivorous habits which may give the animals the possibility to eat human food waste (39), as well as carrions and vegetables contaminated by animal manure. The major aim of our study was the genomic characterization of EsBLs-producing E. coli isolated from wild boars in terms of antimicrobial resistance, virulence, mobile genetic elements and epidemiology (phylogroups and MLSTs). Since these animals were hunted in mountain areas with limited anthropic influence but they can also move in wider area, they can be considered as indicators of the environmental load of AMR. The comparison with similar studies performed in Northern Italy confirms the high prevalence of ESBLs-producing E. coli, as 15.96% of ESBLs/AmpC E. coli-positive wild boars hunted during 2017-2020 in Lombardy region (40). In our study, where the overall prevalence of ESBLs-E. coli carriers reached 23.3%, the adults were more frequently positive (35.5%) if compared to the young (26.6%) and the subadults (0.0%), probably because they could move in wider territories and come in contact with different ESBLs sources. While young wild boars (0-12 months) were highly exposed to the colonization due to their impaired immune system, subadults (12-24 months) were probably more reactive in eliminating the microorganisms from the gut. In the present study, all the suspected ESBLs-producing E. coli showed a MDR profile, with a high percentage (>60%) of fluoroquinolones non-susceptibility level; this represents a particular concern, as this antibiotic class is frequently employed to treat clinical infections. The ESBLs of CTX-M-type resulted the most spread 3GCs/4GCs hydrolysing enzymes among the collected isolates. Although this fact is already established and reported in the literature, it is nevertheless interesting to note that the allelic variants identified included the hyper-represented and globally widespread *bla*_{CTX-M-1} and blaCTX-M-15. We also found the blaCTX-M-245 variant, never described before in Italy, nor in Europe. It was reported only once from a Serratia marscescens isolate collected from a blood sample of a neonate in Iraq (41). This finding suggests that human-animal proximity could also lead to the exchange and circulation of under-detected variants of resistance genes. The transferability of some resistance plasmids, mainly those ESBLs-harbouring, is a further cause for concern. In addition to the ESBLs encoding genes, the isolates studied also showed fluoroquinolone and aminoglycoside resistance genes, as qnrS, aac(6')Ibcr and aadA alone or in combination. Interestingly, the molecular typing showed a very high heterogeneity in terms of clonal lineages; isolates collected from different sites

(MLNs and feces) of the same wild boar resulted not clonally related to each other. Among the strains isolated from wild boars, five were selected in order to be deeper characterized from a genomic point of view. Interestingly, the in silico genome analysis highlighted a pandemic clone ST131 isolated from wild boar feces, belonging to the O25:H4 serogroup and B2 phylogroup. This clone is recognized as highly virulent group of ExPEC (extraintestinal pathogenic E. coli), which is responsible for urinary tract infections, bacteremia, urinary sepsis and neonatal sepsis. This strain harbors genomic features typical of ESβLs ExPEC, since it shows *bl*a_{CTX-M-15} gene, other than *bla*_{CXA-} 1, and a virulence pattern which includes genes responsible for an improved adherence and ability to survive in the human body (42). Since the worldwide diffusion of ST131 clones in humans and in wildlife as well (43-45), it is not surprising to find this ST in wild boars (46,47). This fact is supported by the phylogenetic analysis which places WB249F2 near human isolates, and near wild and domestic animals as well. While ST131 clone commonly shows a rich set of virulence genes (48,49), we found other STs with a less extensive virulence pattern. Notably, we isolated two ST10 strains, which are frequently responsible for AMR-resistant human infection (50,51). The same sequence type was detected in wild boars in Germany (47), and it is known to be common especially in poultry (52,53). From the analysis of core genome SNPs, the correlation between ST10 wild boar strains and other strains isolated from different origin, especially human and food, from one side, and human and domestic animal from the other side, has been highlighted. These results confirm again the heterogeneity observed among the isolates of this study, suggesting that wild boars could be a carrier and spreader of any type of ESBLs-producing E. coli clones. The other STs detected seem not to be widespread. Indeed, the ST46 was found rarely in water in Bangladesh (54) and Chinese companion animals (55), while no other authors detected the ST5051 clone. The capability of antimicrobial resistance genes to be shared with other bacteria in the same niche represents a major threat. This possibility is strictly connected to the genome organization and genomic feature of E. coli, in particular with mobile genetic elements, namely plasmids, transposons and insertion sequences. With the aim to investigate if the AMR genes could be transferred to other strains, the genomes of 5 strains were screened. Overall, the ESBLs genes were found to be surrounded by different type of transposons, despite the assembly procedure was not able to reconstruct in a definitive way the genomic context. Since the mobility of AMR can be driven not only by the entire plasmid but also by transposable elements, we cannot exclude the exchange of AMR gene through this mechanism. Further analysis should be performed using long-read sequencing, as suggested by others (56).

6. CONCLUSION

The main finding of our study is the detection of the ExPEC clone ST131 and the ES β Ls-MDR ST10 *E. coli* isolates in a restricted wild boar population living in Northern Italy, thus suggesting a circulation of human pathogenic *E. coli* strains among wildlife. Since the concept of One Health is based on the connection between humans, animals, plants, and environmental health, especially in geographically close systems such as the area of the study, we can assess that wild animals should be included in each AMR surveillance programs. Their role as indicators of the environmental load of AMR is especially evident in our study, since all ESβLs-producing *E. coli* strains showed a MDR phenotype, including resistance to highly important antimicrobials.

Given the importance of genome analyses to recognize the different *E. coli* clones and trace their occurrence in humans as well as in other species, we strongly suggest the WGS as the most effective tool to investigate ES_βLs-producing *E. coli*.

7. DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Sequencing data were submitted to the Sequence Read Archive (SRA) under the Project ID PRJNA759409.

8. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SB collected samples and performed the strains isolation. AA, AP, AM, FM and SB performed phenotypic and molecular analysis. CC and GM carried out bioinformatic analysis. AP, CC and SB wrote the manuscript. PSC, RM, and SB supervised the experiment design and all the analysis and contributed to the manuscript revision. All authors have read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

9. REFERENCES

- Karesh WB, Dobson A, Lloyd-Smith JO, Lubroth J, Dixon MA, Bennett M, et al. Ecology of zoonoses: natural and unnatural histories. *Lancet* (London, England). 2012 Dec;380(9857):1936– 45.
- Van Bruggen AHC, Goss EM, Havelaar A, van Diepeningen AD, Finckh MR, Morris JGJ. One Health - Cycling of diverse microbial communities as a connecting force for soil, plant, animal, human and ecosystem health. *Sci Total Environ.* 2019 May;664:927–37.
- Robinson TP, Bu DP, Carrique-Mas J, Fèvre EM, Gilbert M, Grace D, et al. Antibiotic resistance is the quintessential One Health issue. Vol. 110, *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*. 2016. p. 377–80.
- 4. Laxminarayan R, Duse A, Wattal C, Zaidi AKM, Wertheim HFL, Sumpradit N, et al. Antibiotic

resistance-the need for global solutions. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013 Dec;13(12):1057-98.

- Baquero F, Martínez J-L, Cantón R. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in water environments. *Curr Opin Biotechnol.* 2008 Jun;19(3):260–5.
- Yang F, Mao D, Zhou H, Luo Y. Prevalence and Fate of Carbapenemase Genes in a Wastewater Treatment Plant in Northern China. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(5):e0156383.
- Carroll D, Wang J, Fanning S, McMahon BJ. Antimicrobial Resistance in Wildlife: Implications for Public Health. *Zoonoses Public Health*. 2015 Nov;62(7):534–42.
- Bondo KJ, Pearl DL, Janecko N, Boerlin P, Reid-Smith RJ, Parmley J, et al. Epidemiology of Antimicrobial Resistance in *Escherichia coli* Isolates from Raccoons (Procyon lotor) and the Environment on Swine Farms and Conservation Areas in Southern Ontario. *PLoS One.* 2016;11(11):e0165303.
- Furness LE, Campbell A, Zhang L, Gaze WH, McDonald RA. Wild small mammals as sentinels for the environmental transmission of antimicrobial resistance. *Environ Res.* 2017 Apr;154:28– 34.
- Swift BMC, Bennett M, Waller K, Dodd C, Murray A, Gomes RL, et al. Anthropogenic environmental drivers of antimicrobial resistance in wildlife. *Sci Total Environ.* 2019 Feb;649:12– 20.
- Guenther S, Ewers C, Wieler LH. Extended-Spectrum Beta-Lactamases Producing *E. coli* in Wildlife, yet Another Form of Environmental Pollution? *Front Microbiol.* 2011;2:246.
- Atterby C, Börjesson S, Ny S, Järhult JD, Byfors S, Bonnedahl J. ESBL-producing *Escherichia coli* in Swedish gulls-A case of environmental pollution from humans? *PLoS One*. 2017;12(12):e0190380.
- Bonardi S, Cabassi CS, Longhi S, Pia F, Corradi M, Gilioli S, et al. Detection of Extended-Spectrum Beta-Lactamase producing *Escherichia coli* from mesenteric lymph nodes of wild boars (Sus scrofa). *Ital J Food Saf.* 2018;7(4):213–6.
- Zendri F, Maciuca IE, Moon S, Jones PH, Wattret A, Jenkins R, et al. Occurrence of ESBL-Producing *Escherichia coli* ST131, Including the H30-Rx and C1-M27 Subclones, Among Urban Seagulls from the United Kingdom. *Microb Drug Resist.* 2020 Jun;26(6):697–708.
- Bonnedahl J, Järhult JD. Antibiotic resistance in wild birds. Ups J Med Sci. 2014 May;119(2):113–6.
- 16. EFSA. Evaluation of possible mitigation measures to prevent introduction and spread of African swine fever virus through wild boar. *EFSA J.* 2014;12(3):1–23.

- Keuling O, Baubet E, Duscher A, Ebert C, Fischer C, Monaco A, et al. Mortality rates of wild boar Sus scrofa L. in central Europe. *Eur J Wildl Res.* 2013;59(6):805–14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-013-0733-8
- 18. Pittiglio C, Khomenko S, Beltran-Alcrudo D. Wild boar mapping using population-density statistics: From polygons to high resolution raster maps. *PLoS One.* 2018;13(5):e0193295.
- Tenover FC, Arbeit RD, Goering R V, Mickelsen PA, Murray BE, Persing DH, et al. Interpreting chromosomal DNA restriction patterns produced by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis: criteria for bacterial strain typing. *J Clin Microbiol.* 1995 Sep;33(9):2233–9.
- Clermont O, Christenson JK, Denamur E, Gordon DM. The Clermont *Escherichia coli* phylotyping method revisited: improvement of specificity and detection of new phylo-groups. *Environ Microbiol* Rep. 2013 Feb;5(1):58–65.
- 21. Babraham B. FastQC: A Quality Control Tool for High Throughput Sequence Data. 2010; Available from: https://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/fastqc/
- 22. Wattam AR, Davis JJ, Assaf R, Boisvert S, Brettin T, Bun C, et al. Improvements to PATRIC, the all-bacterial bioinformatics database and analysis resource center. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2017;45(D1):D535–42.
- Seemann T. Prokka: rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. *Bioinformatics*. 2014 Jul;30(14):2068–
 9.
- 24. Larsen M V, Cosentino S, Rasmussen S, Friis C, Hasman H, Marvig RL, et al. Multilocus sequence typing of total-genome-sequenced bacteria. *J Clin Microbiol.* 2012 Apr;50(4):1355–61.
- Joensen KG, Tetzschner AMM, Iguchi A, Aarestrup FM, Scheutz F. Rapid and easy in silico serotyping of *Escherichia coli* isolates by use of whole-genome sequencing data. *J Clin Microbiol.* 2015;53(8):2410–26.
- Roer L, Tchesnokova V, Allesøe R, Muradova M, Chattopadhyay S, Ahrenfeldt J, et al. Development of a Web Tool for *Escherichia coli* Subtyping Based on fimH Alleles. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2017 Aug;55(8):2538-2543. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00737-17
- 27. Bortolaia V, Kaas RS, Ruppe E, Roberts MC, Schwarz S, Cattoir V, et al. ResFinder 4.0 for predictions of phenotypes from genotypes. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2020;75(12):3491–500.
- Carattoli A, Hasman H. PlasmidFinder and In Silico pMLST: Identification and Typing of Plasmid Replicons in Whole-Genome Sequencing (WGS). *Methods Mol Biol.* 2020;2075:285–94.
- 29. Malberg Tetzschner A, Johnson J, Johnston B, Lund O, Scheutz F. In Silico Genotyping of *Escherichia coli* Isolates for Extraintestinal Virulence Genes by Use of Whole-Genome

Sequencing Data. J Clin microbiolo. 2020;58(10):1-13.

- 30. Siguier P, Perochon J, Lestrade L, Mahillon J, Chandler M. ISfinder: the reference centre for bacterial insertion sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2006;34(Database issue):32–6.
- Page AJ, Cummins CA, Hunt M, Wong VK, Reuter S, Holden MTG, et al. Roary: Rapid largescale prokaryote pan genome analysis. *Bioinformatics*. 2015;31(22):3691–3.
- 32. Zhou Z, Alikhan NF, Mohamed K, Fan Y, Achtman M. The EnteroBase user's guide, with case studies on *Salmonella* transmissions, *Yersinia pestis* phylogeny, and *Escherichia* core genomic diversity. *Genome Res.* 2020;30(1):138–52.
- Mahfouz N, Ferreira I, Beisken S, von Haeseler A, Posch AE. Large-scale assessment of antimicrobial resistance marker databases for genetic phenotype prediction: A systematic review. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2020;75(11):3099–108.
- Carattoli A. Animal reservoirs for extended spectrum beta-lactamase producers. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* 2008;14 Suppl 1:117-23
- 35. Wasyl D, Zając M, Lalak A, Skarżyńska M, Samcik I, Kwit R, et al. Antimicrobial Resistance in *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Wild Animals in Poland. *Microb Drug Resist.* 2018;24(6):807–15.
- 36. Darwich L, Seminati C, López-Olvera JR, Vidal A, Aguirre L, Cerdá M, et al. Detection of Beta-Lactam-Resistant *Escherichia coli* and Toxigenic Clostridioides difficile Strains in Wild Boars Foraging in an Anthropization Gradient. *Animals (Basel)*. 2021 May;11(6).
- 37. Palmeira JD, Cunha M V., Carvalho J, Ferreira H, Fonseca C, Torres RT. Emergence and spread of cephalosporinases in wildlife: A review. *Animals (Basel)*. 2021;11(6).
- 38. Cristóvão F, Alonso CA, Igrejas G, Sousa M, Silva V, Pereira JE, et al. Clonal diversity of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase producing *Escherichia coli* isolates in fecal samples of wild animals. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* 2017 Mar;364(5).
- Poeta P, Radhouani H, Pinto L, Martinho A, Rego V, Rodrigues R, et al. Wild boars as reservoirs of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) producing *Escherichia coli* of different phylogenetic groups. *J Basic Microbiol.* 2009 Dec;49(6):584–8.
- 40. Formenti N, Calò S, Parisio G, Guarneri F, Birbes L, Pitozzi A, et al. Esbl/ampc-producing *Escherichia* coli in wild boar: Epidemiology and risk factors. *Animals (Basel)*. 2021;11(7):1–10.
- 41. Sahan Z, Hamed S. Molecular Detection of Extended-Spectrum -Lactamases- Producer Serratia marcescens Causing Neonatal Sepsis in Iraq. Int J Res Pharmaceuical Sci. 2020;11(4):5803–8.
- 42. Sarowska J, Futoma-Koloch B, Jama-Kmiecik A, Frej-Madrzak M, Ksiazczyk M, Bugla-Ploskonska G, et al. Virulence factors, prevalence and potential transmission of extraintestinal

pathogenic *Escherichia coli* isolated from different sources: Recent reports. *Gut Pathog.* 2019;11(1):1–16. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13099-019-0290-0

- 43. Costa D, Poeta P, Sáenz Y, Vinué L, Rojo-Bezares B, Jouini A, et al. Detection of *Escherichia coli* harbouring extended-spectrum β-lactamases of the CTX-M, TEM and SHV classes in faecal samples of wild animals in Portugal . J Antimicrob Chemother. 2006;58(6):1311–2.
- 44. Wang J, Ma ZB, Zeng ZL, Yang XW, Huang Y, Liu JH. The role of wildlife (wild birds) in the global transmission of antimicrobial resistance genes. *Zool Res.* 2017;38(2):55–80.
- 45. Sabença C, Igrejas G, Poeta P, Robin F, Bonnet R, Beyrouthy R. Multidrug Resistance Dissemination in *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Wild Animals: Bacterial Clones and Plasmid Complicity. *Microbiol Res* (Pavia). 2021;12(1):123–37. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2036-7481/12/1/9
- 46. Alonso CA, González-Barrio D, Ruiz-Fons F, Ruiz-Ripa L, Torres C. High frequency of B2 phylogroup among non-clonally related fecal *Escherichia coli* isolates from wild boars, including the lineage ST131. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol.* 2017 Mar;93(3).
- Holtmann AR, Meemken D, Müller A, Seinige D, Büttner K, Failing K, et al. Wild boars carry extended-spectrum β-lactamase-and ampc-producing *Escherichia coli*. *Microorganisms*. 2021;9(2):1– 13.
- 48. Johnson JR, Johnston B, Clabots C, Kuskowski MA, Castanheira M. Escherichia coli sequence type ST131 as the major cause of serious multidrug-resistant E. coli infections in the United States. Clin Infect Dis an Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am. 2010 Aug;51(3):286–94.
- Blanco J, Mora A, Mamani R, López C, Blanco M, Dahbi G, et al. National survey of *Escherichia coli* causing extraintestinal infections reveals the spread of drug-resistant clonal groups O25b:H4-B2-ST131, O15:H1-D-ST393 and CGA-D-ST69 with high virulence gene content in Spain. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2011;66(9):2011–21.
- 50. Day MJ, Rodríguez I, van Essen-Zandbergen A, Dierikx C, Kadlec K, Schink AK, et al. Diversity of STs, plasmids and ESBL genes among *Escherichia coli* from humans, animals and food in Germany, the Netherlands and the UK. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2016;71(5):1178–82.
- 51. Pietsch M, Eller C, Wendt C, Holfelder M, Falgenhauer L, Fruth A, et al. Molecular characterisation of extended-spectrum β-lactamase (ESBL)-producing *Escherichia coli* isolates from hospital and ambulatory patients in Germany. *Vet Microbiol.* 2017;200:130–7.
- 52. Falgenhauer L, Imirzalioglu C, Oppong K, Akenten CW, Hogan B, Krumkamp R, et al. Detection and characterization of ESBL-producing *Escherichia coli* from humans and poultry in Ghana. *Front Microbiol.* 2019;10(JAN):1–8.

- 53. Ramos S, Silva V, de Lurdes Enes Dapkevicius M, Caniça M, Tejedor-Junco MT, Igrejas G, et al. *Escherichia coli* as commensal and pathogenic bacteria among food-producing animals: Health implications of extended spectrum β-lactamase (ESBL) production. *Animals (Basel)*. 2020;10(12):1–15.
- 54. Rashid M, Rakib MM, Hasan B. Antimicrobial-resistant and ESBL-producing *Escherichia coli* in different ecological niches in Bangladesh . *Infect Ecol Epidemiol*. 2015;5(1):26712.
- 55. Chen Y, Liu Z, Zhang Y, Zhang Z, Lei L, Xia Z. Increasing Prevalence of ESBL-Producing Multidrug Resistance *Escherichia coli* From Diseased Pets in Beijing, China From 2012 to 2017. *Front Microbiol.* 2019;10(December):1–12.
- 56. Arredondo-Alonso S, Rogers MRC, Braat JC, Verschuuren TD, Top J, Corander J, et al. Mlplasmids: a User-Friendly Tool To Predict Plasmid- and Chromosome-Derived Sequences for Single Species. *Microb genomics*. 2018;4(11).

Strain	Accession number	Serot ype	Country	Sour ce	Bla tem	Bla ctx	Bla oxa	Bla kpc	Bla cmy
 1011	GCA_00164	O25:	Commons	П	blaTEM-				
1011	7335.1	H4	Germany	п	235				
1010	GCA_00164	O25:	Company	ц	blaTEM 1				
1019	7315.1	H4	Germany	11	DIA I L'IVI-I				
1030	GCA_00164	O25:	Germany	н	bleTEM 1		bla OXA 1		
1037	7325.1	H4	Germany	11	Dia TEMI-T		bia OAA-1		
2963	GCA_00156	O25:	Germany	н	blaTEM_1	blaCTX-			
2705	1105.1	H4	Germany	11		M-27			
2999	GCA_00156	O25:	Germany	Н	blaTEM-				
2777	1195.1	H4	Germany	11	235				
852	GCA_00155	O25:	Germany	н	blaTEM_1		bla OXA-1		
852	5495.1	H4	Oeimany	11					
972	GCA_00155	O25:	Germany	Н	blaTFM-1				
12	5635.1	H4	Germany	11					
B107	GCA_00156	O86:	UК	Н	blaTFM-1				
DIOT	1735.1	H18	en	11					
B125	GCA_00156	O25:	ЦК	Н		blaCTX-			
0125	1785.1	H4	0IX	11		M-15			
B132	GCA_00156	O25:	ЦК	Н		blaCTX-			
0152	1705.1	H4	en			M-1			
B16	GCA_00156	O25:	UК	Н		blaCTX-	bla OXA-1		
DIO	1275.1	H4	en			M-15	514 011111		
B58	GCA_00156	O25:	UК	Н	blaTEM-1				
В58	1495.1	H4	011		Sm11				
B65	GCA_00156	O25:	UK	Н	blaTEM-1	blaCTX-	bla OXA-1		
B65	1285.1	H4	en		5	M-15	5		

10. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

L102	GCA_00342 7875.1	О25: Н4	France	Н			bla OXA-1	
L110	GCA_00342 7575.1	O16: H5	France	Н	blaTEM-1			
L111	GCA_00342 7815.1	О25: Н4	France	Н	blaTEM-1	blaCTX- M-1		
L14	GCA_00342 8115.1	O25: H4	France	Н		blaCTX- M-1		
L41	GCA_00342 8105.1	O16: H5	France	Н	blaTEM-1	blaCTX- M-1		
L64	GCA_00342 7895.1	О25: Н4	France	Н	blaTEM-30			
sk35y35t	ERX4530492	О25: Н4	Italy	Н	blaTEM-90	blaCTX- M-15	blaOXA-1 and 9	blaKP C-2
sk36y36t	ERX4530493	О25: Н4	Italy	Н	blaTEM- 122	blaCTX- M-27	blaOXA-9	blaKP C-2
sk55y55t	ERX4530512	О25: Н4	Italy	Н	blaTEM-79	blaCTX- M-27	blaOXA-9	blaKP C-3
208_14LC PV	data unpublished	O25: H4	Italy	Н	blaTEM-1			
AA185	data unpublished	O25: H4	Italy	Н	blaTEM-1	blaCTX- M-27	blaOXA-9	blaKP C-3
AA88	data unpublished	O25: H4	Italy	Н	blaTEM-1		blaOXA-9	blaKP C-3
1VIM	data unpublished	O25: H4	Italy	Н	blaTEM-1 and 79		blaOXA-9	blaKP C-2
MS10667	GCA_01872 8485.1	O25: H4	Australia	CLF	blaTEM-1			
MS10669	GCA_01872 8495.1	О25: Н4	Australia	CLF			bla OXA-1	
MS10672	GCA_01872 8425.1	O25: H4	Australia	CLF		blaCTX- M-15	bla OXA-1	
MS10673	GCA_01872 8365.1	O25: H4	Australia	CLF		blaCTX- M-15	bla OXA-1	
MS10675	GCA_01872 8385.1	О25: Н4	Australia	FC		blaCTX- M-27		
MS10677	GCA_01872 8345.1	О25: Н4	Australia	CLF		blaCTX- M-15	bla OXA-1	
MS10678	GCA_01872 8325.1	О16: Н5	Australia	FC		blaCTX- M-14		
MS10893	GCA_01872 8245.1	O25: H4	Australia	CLF	blaTEM-1	blaCTX- M-15		
MS10898	GCA_01872 8265.1	O25: H4	Australia	CLF	blaTEM-1			
MS10900	GCA_01872 8225.1	O25: H4	Australia	CLF	blaTEM-1			
MS10902	GCA_01872 8155.1	O25: H4	Australia	CLF	blaTEM-1	bla CTX- M-14		
MS10908	GCA_01872 8145.1	О25: Н4	Australia	CLF	blaTEM-1			
Q13_1_26 1	GCA_01872 8525.1	O16: H5	Australia	CLF	blaTEM-1			
591	SRR7724635	О25: Н4	Australia	WA		blaCTX- M-15	blaOXA-1	

567	SRR7724756	O25:	Australia	WA		blaCTX-	blaOXA-1	
420	SDD 7724(40	O25:	A	W/ A		blaCTX-		
429	SKK//24049	H4	Australia	WA		M-15	DIaOAA-1	
440	SDD7724742	O16:	Ametalia	W/ A	bl/TEM 1	blaCTX-		
442	SKK//24/42	H5	Australia	WΛ	DIA I EIVI-I	M-15		
122	SDD7724657	O16:	Anstralia	W/ A		blaCTX-		
433	31117/24037	H5	Tustialia	W 11		M-15		
297	SBB7724771	O16:	Australia	W/ A		blaCTX-		
201	31111/24//1	H5	Tustiana	W 11		M-15		
229	SRR7724629	O25:	Australia	W/A		blaCTX-	blaOXA-1	
	51017721025	H4	rustrana	W 11		M-15	biaonii	
224	SRR7724623	O25:	Australia	WA	blaTEM-1	blaCTX-		
	5141772 1025	H4	rtustrana	****	blartinit i	M-15		
HP47	GCA_00156	O25:	Czech	WA	blaTEM-1	blaCTX-	blaOXA-1	
	1865.1	H4	Republic			M-15		
KO178B	GCA_00163	O25:	Czech	WA		blaCTX-		
	7865.1	H4	Republic			M-27		
KO198B	GCA_00163	O25:	Serbia	WA		blaCTX-		
	8005.1	H4				M-27		
F283	GCA_00156	O25:	USA	WA		blaCTX-		
	1845.1	H4				M-27		
HS115	GCA_00156	O25:	Serbia	WA	blaTEM-1	blaCTX-	blaOXA-1	
MODA	1895.1	H4	0 . 1			M-15		
MOD1-	GCA_00246	025:	Switzerlan	WA	blaTEM-1	blaCTX-		
EC6116	3555.1	H4	d			M-15		
AZ-	SRR1220791	025:	USA	F	blaTEM-1			
TG/3391		H4						
AZ-	SRR1178255	025:	USA	F	blaTEM-1			
1G60445		H4						11.016
09-2012-	ERR4769384	025:	Norway	F				DIACM
01-3380		H4 ()25:						1-2
195740	SRR5031226	025: H4	UK	F	blaTEM-1			
		114						

Supplementary Table S1. List of ST131 ES β L-producing E.coli genomes used for the comparison with WB249F2, the ST131 strain isolated from wild boars. Genomes were selected by country (UK: United Kingdom; US: United States), source (H: Homo sapiens; CLF: Canus lumpus familiaris; FC: Felis catus; F: food; WA: Wild Animal), and ES β L genes variants.

STRAIN	ACCESSIO N NUMBER	serotyp e	countr y	so ur ce	bla- TEM	bla- CTX	bla- OXA	bla- SHV	bla- CMY	bla ND M
60000	GCA_01411 7545.1	O nd: H12	Thailan d	Н	blaT EM-1	blaCT X-M-3	blaOXA -1	blaS HV- 12		blaN DM- 1
15062645	GCA_01819 3775.1	O117:H 10	Italy	D A	blaT EM- 150	blaCT X-M-1				
1041_14	GCA_01469 1585.1	О101:Н 9	Germa ny	Н	blaT EM- 154				blaC MY-2	
15_AB020 02_0	PRJEB21546	O8:H32	Germa ny	D A	blaT EM- 150					

16- AB00129_	PRJEB21546	O50:H2 7	Germa ny	D A		blaCT X-M-1		
482_16	PRJNA5142 45	O132:H 28	Germa ny	D A	blaT EM- 235			blaC MY-2
6_16	PRJNA5142 45	O nd: H4	Germa ny	D A	blaT EM-1			blaC MY-2
740_12	GCA_01469 1485.1	O101:H 10	Germa ny	Н	blaT EM-1			blaC MY-2
AVC123	GCA_00333 8865.1	O132:H 21	Austral ia	D A	blaT EM-1			
OT16	GCA_00359 1315.1	O nd:H10	Czech Republ ic	D A	blaT EM- 34			blaC MY-2
PE01_650	GCA_01342 5265.1	О166:Н 4	Peru	Н	blaT EM-1			
PE01_652	GCA_01342 5145.1	O99:H3 3	Peru	Η	blaT EM-1			
PE01_667	GCA_01342 4045.1	H21	Peru	Н	EM- 150			
R0007_20 3	GCA_90023 9835.1	O101:H 10	Tanzan ia	Н	blaT EM- 235		blaOXA -1	
RDK02_9 7	GCA_90023 9925.1	O101:H 10	Tanzan ia	Н	255		blaOXA -1	
RL297	GCA_01468 3685.1	O23:H3 2	Germa ny	F				blaC MY- 132
RL308	GCA_01468 8505.1	O101:H 9	Germa ny	F				blaC MY-2
RL315	GCA_01469 1445.1	O2:H2	Germa ny	F	blaT EM-1			blaC MY-2
RS131	GCA_01468 7265.1	H27	Germa ny	Н	blaT EM-1	blaCT X-M- 65	blaOXA -10 and 1	blaC MY-2
SC352	GCA_00335 8245.1	O127:H 16	USA	W	blaT EM-1			
U14_0692	GCA_01669 7145.1	O101:H 9	Poland s	W A	blaT EM- 154			
U14_0857	GCA_01669 7225.1	O101:H 9	Poland s	W A	blaT EM-1			
W109_1	GCA_01160 0965.1	O50:H4	Canada	D A		blaCT X-M-1		
W113_1	GCA_01160 1165.1	O28ac/ O42:H3 7	Canada	D A		blaCT X-M-1		
W26_1	GCA_01160 0865.1	O109:H 32	Canada	D A		blaCT X-M-1		
1283	GCA_00231 0735.1	O101:H 10	UK	D A				blaC MY-2

CEREMI_ E21	SAMEA485 3120	O73:H3 1	France	Н					blaC MY- 138
CEREMI_ E22	SAMEA485 3121	O8:H17	France	Н					blaC MY- 138
CEREMI_ E25	SAMEA485 3122	O71:H4 8	France	Н	blaT EM-1	blaCT X-M-1			
CEREMI_ E30	SAMEA485 3123	O73:H3 1	France	Н		blaCT X-M-1			
CEREMI_ E32	SAMEA485 3124	O73:H3 1	France	Н		blaCT X-M-1			blaC MY- 138
176	GCA_01261 8795.1	O16:H4 8	Spain	W A	blaT EM- 122				
1224_C3G	GCA_01468 9345.1	O8:H17	USA	W A				blaS HV- 12	
549ESBA	GCA_01415 8385.1	O26:H3 2	Austral ia	W A	blaT EM- 1B	blaCT X-M- 15			
AM_LRE C-115	GCA_01778 3665.1	O153:H 10	Spain	W A	blaT EM- 1A	blaCT X-M- 32			
CFSAN06 1759	PRJNA2309 69	O101:H 9	Egypt	W A	blaT EM- 1B	blaCT X-M- 15			
CPW17	PRJNA4082 14	O86:H1 2	China	F	blaT EM- 1B	blaCT X-M- 14	blaOXA -1		
Ec47	PRJNA7058 36	O16:H4 8	France	F	blaT EM- 122				
PF9285	GCA_00477 1235.1	О117:Н 4	Switzer land	W	blaT EM- 1B				
CFSAN05 1543	GCA_01266 4925.1	O9:H9	USA	W A	blaT EM- 1B				
AM_LRE C-118	GCA_01778 3505.1	O153:H 10	Spain	D A	blaT EM- 1A	blaCT X-M- 32			
113-2012- 01- 5997_S6	SAMEA748 3614	O125:H 4	Norwa y	F					blaC MY-2
88-2012- 01- 1658_S189	SAMEA748 3587	O nd:H4	Norwa y	F					
99-2012- 01- 1659_\$50	SAMEA748 3588	O nd:H4	Norwa y	F					

148-2014- 01- 5656_\$86	SAMEA748 3649	O nd:H4	Norwa y	F		
A1_349	SAMN14534 474	O45:H4 5	USA	F		blaCM Y-2
Ec46	SAMN18104 154	O16:H4 8	France	F	blaT EM- 1B	
PSU-1447	SAMN10315 796	O101:H 9	Hungar y	W A	blaT EM- 1A	
SG179ES B	GCA_01477 9015.1	O92:H3 3	Austral ia	W A		blaCT X-M- 15

Supplementary table S2. List of T10 ES β L-producing E.coli genomes used for the comparison with WB218 and WB231, the ST10 strain isolated from wild boars. Genomes were selected by country (UK: United Kingdom; US: United States), source (H: Human; DA: domestic animal; F: food; WA: Wild Animal; W: water), and ES β L genes.

CHAPTER 4

Unrestricted Gene Exchange: Transfer of Tn*916*-Mediated Tetracycline Resistance Gene in Food, Animals, and the Environment.

Unrestricted Gene Exchange: Transfer of Tn*916*-Mediated Tetracycline Resistance Gene in Food, Animals, and the Environment.

Giovanni Milani, Mireya Viviana Belloso Daza, Claudia Cortimiglia, Daniela Bassi, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli*

Dipartimento di Scienze e Tecnologie Alimentari per una Filiera Agro-Alimentare Sostenibile (DISTAS), Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Piacenza, Italy

Keywords: Horizontal gene transfer, *Enterococcus faecium*, *Listeria monocytogenes*, tetracycline, microplastics, *in vivo* model, food model.

1. Abstract

The dissemination of antimicrobial resistance in the environments, including foods, pose a rising public health concern at global level. In this study, we applied a gene exchange model involving the transfer of the tetracycline resistance gene tet(M) carried by the conjugative transposon Tn916 from the commensal Enterococcus faecium UC7251 to two foodborne pathogens, Listeria monocytogenes DSM 15675 and Scott A, to evaluate the rate of horizontal gene transfer in different segments of the food system. We investigated this gene transfer event in fermented food models of cheese and sausage, where the latter showed higher conjugation frequencies. Then, Galleria mellonella, a model of terrestrial invertebrates, was utilized in in vivo experiments with a conjugation frequency of 10-5 transconjugant/donor for both strains. The transfer dynamics was examined after biofilm formation on environmental polyethylene microplastic particles, in a marine model containing Mytilus galloprovincialis. The tet(M) transfer occurred in mussels, exhibiting conjugation rates of 10-6 transconjugant/donor. No conjugation was observed in the absence of microplastics. In our study, both Listeria strains were able to acquire tet(M), suggesting that Tn916 was able to spread genes of concern without the need for the recipient strains to carry a conjugation machinery. The presence of enterococci resistant to antimicrobial, particularly E. faecium, in the food chain, warrants closer monitoring due to their fundamental role in the spreading of antibiotic resistance in L. monocytogenes and other foodborne pathogens.

2. Introduction

The emergence of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a global threat to human and animal health, occurring in all environments, where microbial communities are exposed to anthropogenic use of antimicrobials, such as clinical settings and farm animals [1], [2]. The excessive and inappropriate use of antimicrobial compounds has led to the escalation of AMR, amplifying its propagation across diverse microbial ecosystems including open environments and the food systems [3].

The primary cause for the dissemination of antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) is horizontal gene transfer (HGT) via mobile genetic elements (MGEs), such as plasmids and transposons [4]. Particularly conjugative transposons, are mobile genetic elements that often carry antibiotic resistance genes, pathogenicity genes and metabolic capabilities. These elements play a role in bacterial evolution by imparting particular phenotypes to host cells[5]. HGT can occur in complex matrices like environments, animal guts and food, where high-density bacterial populations contribute to its occurrence [6], [7]. Moreover, in these environments, non-pathogenic bacteria, limiting the effectiveness of commonly used antimicrobial drugs and making infections more difficult to treat. Hence, the food system has been proposed as one of the key factors in the spread of AMR across the One-health continuum, from the environment and animals to humans [1]. The number of studies that address this issue considering different sections of the food chain is still limited. The propagation of ARGs in fermented food has been studied in the last years, highlighting that, commensal bacteria harbouring resistance determinants and

naturally contaminating meat and milk, are able to deliver them to the microbiota sharing the same niche [8]. Some examples were reported in fermented meats for coagulase negative staphylococci [9], *Lactobacillaceae* spp. strains [10] and *Enterococcus faecium* and *Enterococcus faecalis* [11]. In dairy products, different species of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) and enterococci have been identified to harbour ARGs, indicating the potential transmission of these genes between them. However, only a limited number of researchers have directly investigated the HGT of resistance determinants in cheese [12], [13].

The AMR spread has been also observed in environmental niches and, among them, the seawater aquatic environment. Thus, it was shown to act as a reservoir for resistant bacteria originating from human and animal sources, contributing to the dissemination of ARGs [14]. Mussels, a common organism found in seawater, accumulate bacteria from the surrounding water through their suspension filtration process, making them valuable biomonitoring tools for assessing AMR in aquatic environments [15]. Additionally, the pollutants of aquatic environments such as microplastics have raised concerns about the dissemination of ARGs as they provide surfaces for biofilm formation, creating favourable conditions for HGT [16]-[18]. The limitation of in vitro conditions can be overcome by utilizing in vivo models such as animal models using insects, that are useful for preliminary tests prior to proceeding with mammalian studies [19]. The assessment of in vivo HGT between different species and genera can be effectively evaluated using animal models, such as the utilization of wax moth Galleria mellonella larvae, characterised by an innate immune system closely analogous to that of mammals, offering a closer resemblance to the human situation compared to in vitro assays. In particular Galleria mellonella larvae has become a surrogate organism for the study HGT in vivo and thus a suitable preliminary model before conducting mammalian studies, greatly reducing costs and testing time[19], [20]. Furthermore, terrestrial invertebrates can act as environmental reservoirs for antimicrobial resistance genes. Understanding how these genes spread within invertebrate populations may shed light on potential transmission routes to other organisms and environments[21].

Several non-pathogenic foodborne bacteria, such as *E. faecium*, have raised public health concerns for representing AMR reservoirs contributing to their spread to humans through the food chain, animals and the environment [11], [22], [23]. *E. faecium* is remarkably prone to develop AMR compared to other bacteria with particular attention to tetracycline, one of the most widely used antimicrobials in humans and animal production [24]. Moreover, it has been reported that tetracycline resistance in *E. faecium* can be acquired and transferred through transposons, especially the conjugative transposon Tn*916* [25]. A previous study reported the successful passage of this determinant from *E. faecium* of fermented meat origin to *Listeria monocytogenes in vitro* [26]. The latter, an important foodborne pathogen, frequently detected in cheese, meat and seafood products, has been shown to be able to acquire or transfer AMR genes from MGEs including, either *in vitro* or within the intestinal tract [27].

In a previous study, the multidrug resistant *E. faecium* strain UC7251 isolated from fermented dry sausage, was shown to harbour several MGEs with a capacity to transfer AMR genes intra- and inter-genera [24]. Specifically, UC7251 carries the conjugative transposon Tn*916* inside an integrative conjugative element

(ICE) region, and a 192 kb plasmid harbouring genes coding for resistance to tetracycline, macrolides and aminoglycosides. This strain showed a high ability to withstand environmental stresses, being resistant up to 10% NaCl and to heavy metals such as copper, zinc and cadmium.

The objective of this study is to utilize an established gene exchange model involving the transfer of the Tn916-tetracycline resistance gene *tet*(M) from the commensal *E. faecium* UC7251 to the foodborne pathogen *L. monocytogenes* to assess the rate of HGT in various sections of the food chain. Specifically, we investigated HGT in cheese and sausages food models, that more closely simulate conditions present in the food matrix, such as free water content, nutrient and salt concentration. Moreover westudied the transfer dynamics using the bivalve *Mytilus galloprovincialis* as a representative model for seafood, examining also the influence of the environmental contaminant polyethylene microplastics on HGT. Additionally, the *Galleria mellonella* larvae, commonly utilized as host in microbiological studies, was employed as a terrestrial invertebrate model to further investigate HGT dynamics in the environment and along the food chain.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Bacterial strains and bioinformatic analyses

E. faecium UC7251, isolated from a dry fermented sausage and previously characterized [24], was used as the donor strain and cultured in Brain Heart Infusion (BHI) (Oxoid) supplemented with 10 µg/ml of tetracycline (Sigma Aldrich) and 50 µg/ml of erythromycin (Sigma Aldrich) and incubated at 37 °C overnight. *Listeria monocytogenes* DSM 15675 and Scott A, cultivated in BHI and incubated at 37°C overnight, were used as recipient strains. *E. faecium* and *L. monocytogenes* genomes were downloaded from NCBI (Genbank accession UC7251: GCA_000411655.2; Scott A: GCA_009866905.1; DSM 15675: GCA_002156185.1) and analysed for the presence of MGE with ICEfinder [28].

3.2 Filter mating and plate mating

In vitro conjugation experiments were carried out with two different approaches, filter mating and plate mating. The filter mating assay was adjusted from a previously reported method[29] with some modifications. Briefly, the donor and recipient strains were grown overnight in BHI broth. Absorbance was measured and corrected to $OD600 = 1.0 \pm 0.05$ for each culture. Recipient and donor strains were centrifuged at 4100 × g for 10 min) and pellets were washed twice with 1 mL of Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) 0.1 M, and finally re-suspended in 1 mL of PBS 0.1 M. Then, 500 µL of donor and 500 µL recipient cultures were mixed well. The resulting mixture was centrifuged and the pellet re-suspended in 200 µL of PBS 0.1 M. For conjugation, a Durapore® membrane filter (Merck Millipore, Burlington, MA, USA) was placed onto BHI Agar and the conjugation mixture was transferred to the centre of the filter. The plate was incubated for 72 hours at 37 °C. After 24,48 and 72 three replicates of filters were transferred in 2 mL of 0.9% NaCl solution and homogenized. The conjugation mixture was serially diluted and plated on Chromogenic Listeria Agar Base (ALOA) (Oxoid) supplemented with tetracycline

 $(10\mu g/ml)$ to select transconjugants and, on Slanetz and Barley (SB) (Oxoid) supplemented with tetracycline $(10\mu g/ml)$ and erythromycin $(50\mu g/ml)$ to select the donor. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours in aerobic conditions. The plate mating was carried out as previously described by [30] with some minor modifications. After an overnight incubation, 100 µL of donor cells were mixed with 900 µL of recipient cells in a 1.5 mL microtube. The mixture was then centrifuged at room temperature for 15 min at 3000 × g and, the pellet was re-suspended in 0.1 ml of BHI. The obtained suspension was plated on the surface of BHI agar and incubated for 72 h at 37°C under aerobic conditions. After the three incubation period cells were retrieved from the plate and re-suspended in 1 ml of saline solution, serially diluted, plated and incubated as describe above.

3.3 Gene exchange in meat-based and cheese-based food models.

The conjugation experiment was performed in two types of food models, one reproducing the chemical characteristics of fermented meat and the other representing dairy products. To prepare the meat model, 60 g of pork mixture was finely minced and pasteurized for 30 min at 65°C. At the end of the heat treatment, 12 ml of sterile H₂O and 180 ml of 2% Agar-H₂O solution are added to the mixture and thoroughly blended to maximize nutrient dissolution. The mixture was filtered using sterile gauze to eliminate large meat particles. Following the recipe used in the industrial production, glucose (Carlo Erba) (0.5 % of total weight), NaCl (Carlo Erba) (3 % of total weight) and NaNO₃ (Carlo Erba) (150 ppm) were added. For the cheese model, semi-hard cheese was finely minced and mixed with 50 ml of Agar-H₂O 1%. The mixture was pasteurized for 30 min at 65°C. At the end of the heat treatment, 1.9 ml of sterile 20% lactose solution was added.

For the conjugation experiments, 100 μ L of an overnight culture of donor and recipient strains previously washed three times with saline solution, were placed at the bottom of a square petri plate well (Thermo Fisher Scientific), covered by 4 mL of the meat agar mixture or the cheese agar mixture and carefully mixed with a sterile loop. The plate was incubated at 37°C in aerobic conditions for 72 h. Three replicates of meat and cheese agar mixture respectively were taken after 24, 48 and 72 h of incubation, and serially diluted with saline solution and plated as previously described. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours in aerobic conditions.

3.4 In vivo gene exchange in Galleria mellonella larvae.

The evaluation of *in vivo* gene transfer in the animal model *Galleria mellonella* was performed by injecting the larvae with the conjugation mixture. This method was conducted as described by Morgan et al. (2014) with modifications to adapt it to the conjugation test [31]. Briefly, donor and recipient bacterial overnight cultures were pelleted by centrifugation (4000 x g for 10 min) and washed twice in Phosphate Buffer Solution (PBS) (0.1 M) and finally re-suspended in PBS, normalized using optical density ($OD_{600}=0.7$). Three independent biological replicates of 10 larvae were infected with 10 µl of donor and recipient strains in a ratio 1:1, by injection with a Hamilton syringe (26 gauge) via the last right proleg. A negative control with only PBS was also included. Larvae were incubated at 37° C in the dark for 24 h. After the

incubation period larvae of each replicate were homogenized, serially diluted and plated onto selective ALOA and SB supplemented with antibiotics as described above.

3.5 In vivo gene exchange in Mytilus galloprovincialis in aquatic environmental model.

The assessment of AMR gene transfer was studied *in vivo* in mussels with or without microplastics in the controlled aquatic environment composed o artificial seawater ASTM D1141-98 (ThermoFisher Scientific) in a 60 L fish tank (Radys) with water recycling and oxygenation. Seventy undamaged and live mussels were added to the fish tank with microplastic particles covered by biofilm produced separately with donor and recipient strains. The biofilm formation was carried out as previously described by others with some modifications [32]. Five grams of Polyethylene molecular weight 35000 (PE 35000) (Sigma Aldrich) pre-sterilized with ethanol 95% for 24 h were placed into different 250 ml glass flasks with 100 ml of BHI. Each glass flask was individually inoculated with 1.5 ml of overnight bacterial cultures, washed with saline solution, of UC7251, DSM 15675 and Scott A, and then incubated at 37°C without agitation for 6 days. The biofilm determination was performed as previously described by Hchaichi et al. (2020) [32]. Then, the microplastics were recovered aseptically, washed three times with distilled water. The obtained microplastics sample with the donor and recipient strains biofilm were added into the fish tank.

The same experiment was carried out without microplastics. An overnight culture of the donor and recipient strains was washed three times, with saline solution, and inoculated into the fish tank in a ratio 1:1000. After 4 and 7 days, three replicates of 10 bivalves were separated from the shells, re-suspended in 90 ml of saline solution, and homogenized in a stomacher three times for 5 min. The obtained mixtures were serially diluted and plated to select transconjugants as detailed above. At the same time points, the conjugation frequency was assessed analysing three replicates of 10 ml of seawater. A negative control in which neither planktonic cells nor biofilm-covered microplastics was added. The water temperature was maintained at 15° C in all experiments.

3.6 Transconjugants confirmation, statistical analysis and safety hazards

The obtained transconjugants were confirmed using gene specific PCR with primers *tet*(M) as previously described [24]. The conjugation frequencies was calculated as previously described [33]. The experiments were performed in at least three independent replicates. Statistical analysis was performed using Past4.06b. Conjugation frequency were analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's multiple comparison test ($p \le 0.05$). Experiments were conducted in a BL2 (Biosafety Level 2) Bacteriology Laboratory, in accordance with the WHO guidelines [34].

4 Results
For the purpose of assessing the effect of MGE in the efficiency of gene exchange in different models, we selected two different strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* on the basis of the presence of MGEs. The genome investigation for MGEs in strain DSM 15675 resulted in the absence of any type of MGE, whereas Scott A presented an integrative conjugative element of 58 kb (2375271-2433301bp) containing the conjugative transposon Tn*5422*. The latter carried heavy metal resistance genes for cadmium and arsenic. A more detailed genomic screening of UC7251 revealed that the integrative conjugative element carrying Tn*916* is classified as a conjugative system MPF type FA containing a relaxase, type 4 coupling protein (T4CP) and a VirB4 type four secretion system (T4SS), with accessory profile genes containing orf13-14-15-16-17a-17b-19 and 23.

4.2 Conjugation *in vitro* by filter and plate mating

The conjugation experiments carried out *in vitro* confirmed the capability of the donor strain UC7251 to transfer the *tet*(M) resistance gene to both the recipient strains *L. monocytogenes* DSM 15675 and Scott A. For both recipient strains, an increasing number of transconjugants were observed throughout the analysis period with the highest conjugation frequency at 72 h, for both approaches. For DSM 15675, conjugation frequencies in plate and filter mating reached values of 10⁻⁵ transconjugants/donors (T/D). While Scott A showed a T/D of 10⁻⁵ in plate mating and 10⁻⁶ for filter mating. No significant differences were observed between tested strains and mating techniques at the three times of analysis. Conjugation frequency and the relative statistical analysis, for both *L. monocytogenes* strains were reported in Table 1S and 2S.

4.3 Conjugation in food models

Experiments on food models were developed to estimate the conjugation frequency in conditions mimicking fermented meat and cheese. Table 3S and 4S shows the conjugation frequencies obtained with food models and the relative statistical analysis at the three different testing times for the two *L. monocytogenes* strains. The analysis highlighted the increase of conjugation rates with the increase of mating time between donor and recipient. For both strains in the meat model at 72h, a significant increase in conjugation rate was observed during the analysis period. In the meat model, statistically significant higher conjugation frequencies when compared to the cheese model were observed in experiments with strain Scott A . In the cheese model at 72h, conjugation frequencies obtained with Scott A were statistically lower than those with DSM 15675 (Fig.1a and 1b).

4.4 Conjugation in vivo using Galleria mellonella

After observing high conjugation frequencies of gene exchange in food matrices, our aim was to evaluate this event in an animal model that represented the dissemination of ARGs in the environment. For this scope, *Galleria mellonella* was used to evaluate the capability of the donor UC7251 to transfer the Tn916 to the recipient strains of *L. monocytogenes* in an *in vivo* terrestrial invertebrate model. (Fig.1c). Table 5S shows the conjugation frequencies obtained and the relative statistical analysis. The frequency obtained

in vivo did not present statistically significant differences between the two recipient strains with a T/D rate of 2.5 $\times 10^{-5}$ (-4.59 Log) and 2.4 $\times 10^{-5}$ (-4.62 Log), for DSM 15675 and Scott A, respectively. No tetracycline resistant *Listeria* spp. was detected in the negative control, with a limit of detection of 10 CFU/ml.

4.5 Conjugation in aquatic environmental model

The HGT of the tet(M) gene was assessed in an aquatic model that incorporates live mussels and microplastics, reproducing the marine environment. The controlled aquatic environment was recreated to evaluate the ability of M. galloprovincialis, a filter-feeding aquatic organisms, to act as a host HGT in bacterial communities in the presence or absence of microplastics. First, the ability of the three strains, the E. faecium UC7251 and the two recipients L. monocytogenes DSM 15675 and Scott A, to form biofilms on PE microparticles was tested. All these strains were able to form biofilms on the PE surface, with the highest formation on the sixth day of incubation (data not shown). No conjugation events were found when the donor and recipients were inoculated as planktonic cells in water in absence of microplastics (fig. 1d and 1e), with a limit of detection of 10 transconjugants/ml. When PE microparticles separately colonised by the donor or recipient strain biofilms were added to the seawater, HGT was detected after 4 and 7 days of incubation, with a final frequency of transfer of 2.49 x 10^{-7} (-6.60 Log) and 2.13 x 10^{-7} (-6.68 Log) for DSM 15675 and Scott A, respectively. Statistically significant higher frequencies of tet(M) gene exchange were found in mussels, when the biofilm covered microplastics, were added into the fish tank. Conjugation frequencies in mussels significantly increased over time, from 4 to 7 days. On day 7, DSM 15675 presented a T/D rate of 6.79 x 10^{-6} (-5.17 Log) and Scott A of 8.76 x 10^{-6} (-5.06 Log), and no significant differences were reported between the two tested strains as shown in (fig. 1d and 1e).

Table 6S and 7S show the conjugation frequency and the related statistical analysis. No tetracycline resistant *Listeria* spp. was detected in the negative control, with a limit of detection of 10 CFU/ml.



Figure 1. Conjugation frequencies expressed as Log of T/D (Transconjugants/Donors) detected in: a) meat and cheese model after 72 h, for L. monocytogenes DSM 15675; b) meat and cheese model after 72 h, for L. monocytogenes Scott A; c) in vivo using G. mellonella larvae; d) in vivo in M. galloprovincialis and in seawater with (PE) and without microplastics in aquatic environmental model for L. monocytogenes DSM 15675; e) in vivo in M. galloprovincialis and in seawater with (PE) and without microplastics in aquatic environmental model for L. monocytogenes Scott A. The figure shows the average values from three independent replicates. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

5. Discussion

The worldwide spread of AMR is rapidly increasing, posing a constant threat to humans, animals and the environment [35]. The objective of this study was to employ a gene exchange model for assessing the HGT rate at different stages of the food chain. Specifically, we focused on the transfer of the tetracycline resistance gene *tet*(M), carried by Tn*916*, from the commensal bacterium *E. faecium* UC7251 to the foodborne pathogen *L. monocytogenes*. In particular, we selected the strain DSM 15675, lacking mobile genetic elements, and Scott A, containing the conjugative transposon Tn*5422* [36], in order to assess if the presence of conjugation machinery, encoded by transposons, within the recipient would affect the capability of Tn*916* to transfer *tet*(M). An initial screening with filter and plate mating was carried out with the aim to optimize experimental conditions and to test the tetracycline conjugation frequency (T/D) of 10⁻⁵ obtained by previous studies where the transfer of tetracycline resistance from *E. faecium* to *L. monocytogenes* was reported in filter, liquid and plate mating [37], [38].

We focused on exploring HGT in the context of fermented food models, namely cheese and sausages, which are matrices where Enterococcus and Listeria species are frequently found and isolated [39], [40]. Our results showed that in the sausage model, the horizontal gene transfer frequency was not statistically significant between the two strains DSM 15675 and Scott A, with values of 10-5. Differently, in the cheese model, DSM 15675 presented a T/D value of 10-5, significantly higher than Scott A with T/D value of 10-6. The distinct sources origins of L. monocytogenes DSM 15675, isolated from soft cheese, and L. monocytogenes ScottA, isolated from a patient affected by listeriosis in Massachusetts due to consumption of pasteurized milk, may offer insights into their varying degrees of adaptation to the dairy environment. This differential adaptation could potentially account for the higher occurrence of conjugation events observed in the context of this food matrix. Taken together, all the experiments in vitro with plate and filter mating and with food models showed that the presence of Tn5422 in strain Scott A did not affect the conjugation capacity of UC7251-Tn916 to transfer tet(M) efficiently. A few studies have explored the capacity of transfer of antibiotic resistance genes during the ripening of fermented sausages [41], [42], supporting the fact that during this process, the genetic transfer is promoted by the bacterial contact. Interestingly, other studies have performed in situ experiments on salmon and fermented chicken sausage, where Tn916-carried tet(M) was transferred to E. faecalis [13], [43]. Moreover, other studies have also explored the capacity of Tn916-mediated transfer of tet(M) from L. monocytogenes and E. faecalis in situ on the surface of cheese, with results comparable to ours [12], [44]. The transfer of the conjugative transposon Tn916 in cheese is relevant, as enterococci could come in close contact with Listeria spp. and other bacteria during cheese ripening and storage [45]. The acquisition of ARGs by L. monocytogenes or other pathogens is of considerable concern as it is associated with a decrease in the efficacy of available treatments [46].

To gain further insights into HGT dynamics in both the environment and the food chain, we utilized *Galleria mellonella* larvae as a terrestrial invertebrate model [19], [47], [48]. The conjugation frequencies obtained *in vivo* through injection, reached T/D values of 2.58 x 10⁻⁵ (-4.59 Log) and 2.41 x 10⁻⁵ (-4.62 Log) for *L. monocytogenes* DSM 15675 and Scott A, respectively. In a previous study, Göttig and colleagues investigated the HGT of gene OXA-48 using *G. mellonella*, finding higher transmission frequencies in *in vivo* than *in vitro* mating experiments [49]. Our study proves that *G. mellonella* larvae act as a host for HGT of the *tet*(M) resistance gene and that such exchange may occur within their gastrointestinal tract under laboratory conditions. The high gene transfer rate could be due to the ability of trasconjugant *L. monocytogenes*, carrying the *tet*(M) gene from conjugation, to adhere and enter to the intestinal tract cells of larvae [50], [51], resulting in a concentration effect. The high capacity of *L. monocytogenes* to tolerate environmental stresses, and in particular acid stresses, and to create biofilm are of crucial importance for the colonization of the gastrointestinal tract, thus acting as a possible reservoir of ARGs that can be transferred to other resident or transient gut bacteria[52].

Additionally, we investigated the dynamics of gene transfer using the bivalve species Mytilus galloprovincialis as a representative model for seafood and seawater environment. Moreover, we examined the potential impact of environmental contaminant polyethylene microplastics on HGT processes. In recent decades, microplastic pollution has become one of the most pressing environmental challenges, with a particular emphasis on aquatic environments [53]. Mussels are now recognized as a useful indicator of microplastic pollution in marine environments given their wide distribution in ecological niches and their high susceptibility to microplastic accumulation [15]. Previous studies have assessed the presence of pathogenic and AMR bacteria in bivalve mussels and seafood, raising a problem that needs to be monitored [54]-[57]. This led us to evaluate the ability of UC7251 to transfer the tet(M) to L. monocytogenes in a complex aquatic model, including mussels, as filtering organisms in which gene exchange could take place [58]–[60], and to assess the role of microplastics on the frequency of horizontal gene exchange [61]. Our results support that UC7251 is unable to transfer resistance to tetracycline in the aquatic environment model in absence of microplastics. Thus, no transconjugants were detected in the experiments without the presence of the PE particles either in the seawater or in the mussels. Differently, when polyethylene (PE) microplastics, pre-colonized by L. monocytogenes and E. faecium separately, were introduced into the seawater, conjugation took place at a frequency of 3×10^{-6} (-6.6 Log) for both recipient strains on day four. In this case, mussels acted as biological amplifier of the horizontal gene exchange, since the frequencies were significantly higher than those observed in water. The HGT detected in mussels increased significantly over time, with a T/D of 6.8 x 10-6 (-5.17 Log) and 8.8 x 10-6 (-5.06 Log) for L. monocytogenes DSM 15675 and Scott A on day seven, respectively. Although mussels are rather used as bioindicator for seawater and not commonly used as a model for assessing HGT, previous studies support the fact that ARG transfer can occur in the aquatic ecosystem and in the marine wildlife acting as a reservoir of antibiotic resistance [62]-[65]. For instance, Guglielmetti and colleagues isolated L. garvieae from salmonoid fish and demonstrated in vitro the transfer capacity of tet(S) to three different strains of *L. monocytogenes* [66]. In another study, a *in vivo* approach was applied to assess the ARGs conjugal transfer in the intestines of zebra fish, highlighting that the fish gut promote the HGT [67]. Another study demonstrated the transfer of vancomycin resistance in *E. faecalis* in a similar acquatic model using zebra mussels *Dreissena polymorpha* [68]. By exposing the zebra mussels to specific concentrations of strains of *E. faecalis* (donor isolate MF06036^{VanA} and recipient isolate MW01105^{Rif}), the gene transfer occurred at a maximal transfer efficiency of 10⁻⁶ (T/D) for mussel parts (visceral mass, shell and gills) [68]. In contrast to previous findings where conjugation was observed in animal models without the presence of microplastics, our results demonstrate that this phenomenon exclusively occurs when both the donor and recipient are carried by microplastics. Our study highlighted the role of mussels as filtering organism involved in facilitating the emergence and spread of AMR in the natural environment.

Moreover, the role of microplastics as a reservoir and vehicle for the spread of ARG has been observed in different studies [69], [70]. In agreement with our results, other studies support the involvement of microplastics in promoting biofilm formation and thus significantly increasing ARG transfer, compared to water samples without microplastics[71]–[73]. Indeed, Arias-Andres and colleagues discovered a significantly higher frequency of plasmid transfer among bacteria associated with microplastics compared to free-living bacteria or natural aggregates in an aquatic environment. [17], [74].

In various *in vitro*, food, animal, and environmental models, it has been observed that the presence of conjugation machinery in the recipient strains does not have a significant impact on the gene transfer capacity of Tn*916* of UC7251. This is primarily attributed to the existence of a Type IV secretion system (T4SS) and a relaxase in donor cells that promotes the transfer of genes to the recipient cell without requiring these proteins to be present in the recipient cell itself [75].

Overall, we observed notable rates of gene transfer in various ecological contexts and food-related scenarios. This highlights the concerning potential for antibiotic resistance dissemination from a One-Health perspective. Additionally, we developed models to assess the HGT between commensal and foodborne pathogenic bacteria within the food system. Furthermore, our research draws attention to the role of environmental pollutants, such as microplastics in marine bivalves, in facilitating the spread of transposon-coded antimicrobial resistance among food-associated bacteria. The dissemination of ARGs in the food chain is a complex issue with broad implications for the health of humans, animals, and the environment. These findings underline the need for a holistic and collaborative One Health approach to implement effective mitigation strategies to combat the widespread and occurrence of antibiotic resistance, including responsible antibiotic use in agriculture, surveillance, and interventions aimed at safeguarding public health and ecosystem integrity.

6. Author Contributions

G.M.: Methodology, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Writing-Original Draft Preparation

M.V.B.D.: Formal Analysis, Investigation, Writing-Original Draft Preparation.

C.C.: Formal Analysis, Writing-Review and Editing.

D.B.: Writing-Review and Editing

P.S.C.: Conceptualisation, Writing-Review and Editing, Validation, Visualisation, Supervision, Project Administration.

7. Funding

Project funded under the National Recovery and Resilience Plan (NRRP), Mission 4 Component 2 Investment 1.3 - Call for tender No. 341 of 15 March 2022 of Italian Ministry of University and Research funded by the European Union – NextGenerationEU. Award Number: Project code PE00000003, Concession Decree No. 1550 of 11 October 2022 adopted by the Italian Ministry of University and Research, CUP D93C22000890001, Project title "ON Foods - Research and innovation network on food and nutrition Sustainability, Safety and Security – Working ON Foods".

8. Data Availability Statement

The genomic data used in this study (Accession numbers of *E. faecium* UC7251: GCA_000411655.2; *L. monocytogenes* Scott A: GCA_009866905.1; *L. monocytogenes* DSM 15675: GCA_002156185.1) can be found in online repositories (NCBI, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genome/?term=). The conjugation frequencies and the relative ANOVA results can be found in the supplementary from Table 1S to Table 7S.

9. References

- B. Aslam *et al.*, "Antibiotic Resistance: One Health One World Outlook," *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.*, vol. 11, 2021, doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2021.771510.
- [2] T. M. Coque, R. Cantón, A. E. Pérez-Cobas, M. D. Fernández-de-Bobadilla, and F. Baquero, "Antimicrobial Resistance in the Global Health Network: Known Unknowns and Challenges for Efficient Responses in the 21st Century," *Microorganisms*, vol. 11, no. 4, 2023, doi: 10.3390/microorganisms11041050.
- [3] W. H. O. WHO, Global antimicrobial resistance and use surveillance system (GLASS) report 2022. Geneva, 2022.
- [4] S. R. Partridge, S. M. Kwong, N. Firth, and S. O. Jensen, "Mobile genetic elements associated with antimicrobial resistance," *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.*, vol. 31, no. 4, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1128/CMR.00088-17.
- [5] E. L. Bean, L. K. McLellan, and A. D. Grossman, "Activation of the integrative and conjugative

element Tn916 causes growth arrest and death of host bacteria," *PLOS Genet.*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 1–34, 2022, doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1010467.

- [6] R. I. Aminov, "Horizontal gene exchange in environmental microbiota.," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 2, p. 158, 2011, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00158.
- [7] P. G. Vinayamohan, A. J. Pellissery, and K. Venkitanarayanan, "Role of horizontal gene transfer in the dissemination of antimicrobial resistance in food animal production," *Curr. Opin. Food Sci.*, vol. 47, p. 100882, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.cofs.2022.100882.
- [8] L. E. Lamberte and W. van Schaik, "Antibiotic resistance in the commensal human gut microbiota.," *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.*, vol. 68, p. 102150, Aug. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2022.102150.
- [9] C. M. Lopez, M. L. Callegari, V. Patrone, and A. Rebecchi, "Assessment of antibiotic resistance in staphylococci involved in fermented meat product processing," *Curr. Opin. Food Sci.*, vol. 31, pp. 17–23, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.cofs.2019.09.002.
- [10] M. J. Fraqueza, "Antibiotic resistance of lactic acid bacteria isolated from dry-fermented sausages," *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, vol. 212, pp. 76–88, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.04.035.
- [11] M. Jahan, G. G. Zhanel, R. Sparling, and R. A. Holley, "Horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance from Enterococcus faecium of fermented meat origin to clinical isolates of E. faecium and Enterococcus faecalis," *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, vol. 199, pp. 78–85, Apr. 2015, doi: 10.1016/J.IJFOODMICRO.2015.01.013.
- [12] L. Haubert, C. Eduardo, G. Völz, and W. Padilha, "Food isolate Listeria monocytogenes harboring tetM gene plasmid-mediated exchangeable to Enterococcus faecalis on the surface of processed cheese," *Food Res. Int.*, vol. 107, no. August 2017, pp. 503–508, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2018.02.062.
- [13] D. Bertsch, A. Uruty, J. Anderegg, C. Lacroix, V. Perreten, and L. Meile, "Tn6198, a novel transposon containing the trimethoprim resistance gene dfrG embedded into a Tn916 element in Listeria monocytogenes.," J. Antimicrob. Chemother., vol. 68, no. 5, pp. 986–991, May 2013, doi: 10.1093/jac/dks531.
- [14] E. Marti, E. Variatza, and J. L. Balcazar, "The role of aquatic ecosystems as reservoirs of antibiotic resistance," *Trends Microbiol.*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 36–41, 2014, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2013.11.001.
- [15] J. Li *et al.*, "Using mussel as a global bioindicator of coastal microplastic pollution.," *Environ. Pollut.*, vol. 244, pp. 522–533, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.10.032.

- [16] X. Hu, M. G. Waigi, B. Yang, and Y. Gao, "Impact of Plastic Particles on the Horizontal Transfer of Antibiotic Resistance Genes to Bacterium: Dependent on Particle Sizes and Antibiotic Resistance Gene Vector Replication Capacities," *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 56, no. 21, pp. 14948– 14959, Nov. 2022, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.2c00745.
- [17] M. Arias-Andres, U. Klümper, K. Rojas-Jimenez, and H.-P. Grossart, "Microplastic pollution increases gene exchange in aquatic ecosystems," *Environ. Pollut.*, vol. 237, pp. 253–261, 2018, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.02.058.
- [18] X. Yu *et al.*, "Microplastisphere may induce the enrichment of antibiotic resistance genes on microplastics in aquatic environments: A review," *Environ. Pollut.*, vol. 310, no. August, p. 119891, 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119891.
- [19] S. Tao, H. Chen, N. Li, T. Wang, and W. Liang, "The Spread of Antibiotic Resistance Genes In Vivo Model.," *Can. J. Infect. Dis. Med. Microbiol. = J. Can. des Mal. Infect. la Microbiol. medicale*, vol. 2022, p. 3348695, 2022, doi: 10.1155/2022/3348695.
- [20] C. J.-Y. Tsai, J. M. S. Loh, and T. Proft, "Galleria mellonella infection models for the study of bacterial diseases and for antimicrobial drug testing," *Virulence*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 214–229, 2016.
- [21] W. Gwenzi *et al.*, "Insects, Rodents, and Pets as Reservoirs, Vectors, and Sentinels of Antimicrobial Resistance," *Antibiotics*, vol. 10, no. 1, 2021, doi: 10.3390/antibiotics10010068.
- [22] M. Cinthi, S. N. Coccitto, G. Morroni, G. D'Achille, A. Brenciani, and E. Giovanetti, "Detection of an Enterococcus faecium Carrying a Double Copy of the PoxtA Gene from Freshwater River, Italy," *Antibiotics*, vol. 11, no. 11, pp. 1–10, 2022, doi: 10.3390/antibiotics11111618.
- [23] E. A. M. Mussa *et al.*, "Acquired tetracycline resistance genes by transposons and virulence factors in enterococci recovered from overland and aquatic animals: A systematic review," *Rev. Aquac.*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 399–413, 2022, doi: 10.1111/raq.12605.
- [24] M. V. Belloso Daza, G. Milani, C. Cortimiglia, E. Pietta, D. Bassi, and P. S. Cocconcelli, "Genomic Insights of Enterococcus faecium UC7251, a Multi-Drug Resistant Strain From Ready-to-Eat Food, Highlight the Risk of Antimicrobial Resistance in the Food Chain," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 13, 2022, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.894241.
- [25] S. Ramos, V. Silva, M. de L. E. Dapkevicius, G. Igrejas, and P. Poeta, "Enterococci, from harmless bacteria to a pathogen," *Microorganisms*, vol. 8, no. 8, pp. 1–12, 2020, doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8081118.
- [26] M. Jahan and R. A. Holley, "Transfer of antibiotic resistance from Enterococcus faecium of fermented meat origin to Listeria monocytogenes and Listeria innocua," *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 304–310, Apr. 2016, doi: 10.1111/LAM.12553.

- [27] M. E. Elsayed *et al.*, "New Insights into Listeria monocytogenes Antimicrobial Resistance, Virulence Attributes and Their Prospective Correlation," *Antibiotics*, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 1–13, 2022, doi: 10.3390/antibiotics11101447.
- [28] M. Liu et al., "ICEberg 2.0: an updated database of bacterial integrative and conjugative elements," Nucleic Acids Res., vol. 47, no. D1, pp. D660–D665, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1093/NAR/GKY1123.
- [29] M.-T. Gekenidis, A. Kläui, K. Smalla, and D. Drissner, "Transferable Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase (ESBL) Plasmids in Enterobacteriaceae from Irrigation Water.," *Microorganisms*, vol. 8, no. 7, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8070978.
- [30] F. Iannelli, F. Santoro, V. Fox, and G. Pozzi, "A Mating Procedure for Genetic Transfer of Integrative and Conjugative Elements (ICEs) of Streptococci and Enterococci.," *Methods Protoc.*, vol. 4, no. 3, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.3390/mps4030059.
- [31] J. K. Morgan, J. A. Ortiz, and J. T. Riordan, "The role for TolA in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli pathogenesis and virulence gene transcription.," *Microb. Pathog.*, vol. 77, pp. 42–52, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2014.10.010.
- [32] I. Hchaichi, F. Bandini, G. Spini, M. Banni, P. S. Cocconcelli, and E. Puglisi, "Enterococcus faecalis and Vibrio harveyicolonize low-density polyethylene and biodegradable plastics under marine conditions," *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, vol. 367, no. 15, 2020, doi: 10.1093/femsle/fnaa125.
- [33] M. Palm *et al.*, "The Effect of Heavy Metals on Conjugation Efficiency of an F-Plasmid in Escherichia coli," *Antibiotics*, vol. 11, no. 8, 2022, doi: 10.3390/antibiotics11081123.
- [34] "Laboratory biosafety manual Third edition World Health Organization," 2004.
- [35] H. Bennani, A. Mateus, N. Mays, E. Eastmure, K. D. C. Stärk, and B. Häsler, "Overview of Evidence of Antimicrobial Use and Antimicrobial Resistance in the Food Chain.," *Antibiot.* (*Basel, Switzerland*), vol. 9, no. 2, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.3390/antibiotics9020049.
- [36] Y. Briers, J. Klumpp, M. Schuppler, and M. J. Loessner, "Genome sequence of Listeria monocytogenes Scott A, a clinical isolate from a food-borne listeriosis outbreak," *J. Bacteriol.*, vol. 193, no. 16, pp. 4284–4285, 2011, doi: 10.1128/JB.05328-11.
- [37] M. Jahan and R. A. Holley, "Transfer of antibiotic resistance from Enterococcus faecium of fermented meat origin to Listeria monocytogenes and Listeria innocua," *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 304–310, 2016, doi: 10.1111/lam.12553.
- [38] L. Rizzotti, F. La Gioia, F. Dellaglio, and S. Torriani, "Molecular diversity and transferability of the tetracycline resistance gene tet(M), carried on Tn916-1545 family transposons, in enterococci from a total food chain," *Antonie Van Leeuwenboek*, vol. 96, no. 1, pp. 43–52, 2009, doi:

10.1007/s10482-009-9334-7.

- [39] N. D. Andritsos and M. Mataragas, "Characterization and Antibiotic Resistance of Listeria monocytogenes Strains Isolated from Greek Myzithra Soft Whey Cheese and Related Food Processing Surfaces over Two-and-a-Half Years of Safety Monitoring in a Cheese Processing Facility," *Foods*, vol. 12, no. 6, p. 1200, 2023, doi: 10.3390/foods12061200.
- [40] E. V. Zaiko, D. S. Bataeva, Y. K. Yushina, A. A. Makhova, and M. Y. Minaev, "Antibiotic resistant of microorganisms in fermented sausages," *IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci.*, vol. 421, no. 5, pp. 1–6, 2020, doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/421/5/052013.
- [41] P. S. Cocconcelli, D. Cattivelli, and S. Gazzola, "Gene transfer of vancomycin and tetracycline resistances among Enterococcus faecalis during cheese and sausage fermentations," *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, vol. 88, no. 2–3, pp. 315–323, Dec. 2003, doi: 10.1016/S0168-1605(03)00194-6.
- [42] S. Leroy, S. Christieans, and R. Talon, "Tetracycline gene transfer in staphylococcus xylosus in situ during sausage fermentation," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 10, no. MAR, pp. 1–9, 2019, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00392.
- [43] S. Chandra, R. Thumu, and P. M. Halami, "Conjugal transfer of erm (B) and multiple tet genes from Lactobacillus spp. to bacterial pathogens in animal gut, in vitro and during food fermentation," *Food Res. Int.*, vol. 116, no. June 2018, pp. 1066–1075, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2018.09.046.
- [44] D. Bertsch, J. Anderegg, C. Lacroix, V. Perreten, and L. Meile, "Tn 6198, a novel transposon containing the trimethoprim resistance gene dfrG embedded into a Tn 916 element in Listeria monocytogenes," no. January, pp. 986–991, 2013, doi: 10.1093/jac/dks531.
- [45] U. Gonzales-Barron, F. B. Campagnollo, D. W. Schaffner, A. S. Sant'Ana, and V. A. P. Cadavez, "Behavior of Listeria monocytogenes in the presence or not of intentionally-added lactic acid bacteria during ripening of artisanal Minas semi-hard cheese," *Food Microbiol.*, vol. 91, no. September 2019, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2020.103545.
- [46] C. J. H. Von Wintersdorff *et al.*, "Dissemination of antimicrobial resistance in microbial ecosystems through horizontal gene transfer," *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 7, no. FEB, pp. 1–10, 2016, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00173.
- [47] A. P. Desbois and P. J. Coote, "Wax moth larva (Galleria mellonella): an in vivo model for assessing the efficacy of antistaphylococcal agents," J. Antimicrob. Chemother., vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 1785–1790, 2011.
- [48] C. J. Coates *et al.*, "The insect, Galleria mellonella, is a compatible model for evaluating the toxicology of okadaic acid," *Cell Biol. Toxicol.*, vol. 35, pp. 219–232, 2019.

- [49] S. Göttig, T. M. Gruber, B. Stecher, T. A. Wichelhaus, and V. A. J. Kempf, "In vivo horizontal gene transfer of the carbapenemase OXA-48 during a nosocomial outbreak," *Clin. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 1808–1815, 2015.
- [50] R. Drolia, S. Tenguria, A. C. Durkes, J. R. Turner, and A. K. Bhunia, "Listeria Adhesion Protein Induces Intestinal Epithelial Barrier Dysfunction for Bacterial Translocation," *Cell Host Microbe*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 470-484.e7, 2018, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2018.03.004.
- [51] J. Osek and K. Wieczorek, "Listeria monocytogenes—How This Pathogen Uses Its Virulence Mechanisms to Infect the Hosts," *Pathogens*, vol. 11, no. 12, 2022, doi: 10.3390/pathogens11121491.
- [52] J. R. Huddleston, "Horizontal gene transfer in the human gastrointestinal tract: potential spread of antibiotic resistance genes," *Infect. Drug Resist.*, vol. 7, pp. 167–176, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.2147/IDR.S48820.
- [53] A. C. Vivekanand, S. Mohapatra, and V. K. Tyagi, "Microplastics in aquatic environment: Challenges and perspectives," *Chemosphere*, vol. 282, p. 131151, 2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131151.
- [54] E. E. Rees, J. Davidson, J. M. Fairbrother, S. St. Hilaire, M. Saab, and J. T. McClure, "Occurrence and antimicrobial resistance of Escherichia coli in oysters and mussels from Atlantic Canada," *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 164–169, 2015.
- [55] M. Aerts, A. Battisti, R. Hendriksen, I. Kempf, C. Teale, and B. Tenhagen, "Technical specifications on harmonised monitoring of antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic and indicator bacteria from food-producing animals and food. EFSA J. 2019; 17." 2019.
- [56] A. S. Singh, B. B. Nayak, and S. H. Kumar, "High prevalence of multiple antibiotic-resistant, extended-spectrum β-lactamase (ESBL)-producing Escherichia coli in fresh seafood sold in retail markets of Mumbai, India," *Vet. Sci.*, vol. 7, no. 2, p. 46, 2020.
- [57] A. Lozano-León, C. García-Omil, R. R. Rodríguez-Souto, A. Lamas, and A. Garrido-Maestu, "An Evaluation of the Pathogenic Potential, and the Antimicrobial Resistance, of Salmonella Strains Isolated from Mussels.," *Microorganisms*, vol. 10, no. 1, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.3390/microorganisms10010126.
- [58] M. Lopatek, K. Wieczorek, and J. Osek, "Prevalence and Antimicrobial Resistance of Bacterial Foodborne Pathogens Isolated from Raw Bivalve Molluscs Subjected to Consumption in Poland during a Ten-Year Period," *Foods*, vol. 11, no. 21, 2022, doi: 10.3390/foods11213521.
- [59] D. H. Grevskott, C. S. Svanevik, M. Sunde, A. L. Wester, and B. T. Lunestad, "Marine bivalve mollusks as possible indicators of multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli and other species of the

Enterobacteriaceae family," Front. Microbiol., vol. 8, p. 24, 2017.

- [60] V. Bueris *et al.*, "Convergence of virulence and resistance in international clones of WHO critical priority enterobacterales isolated from Marine Bivalves," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 12, no. 1, p. 5707, 2022, doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-09598-8.
- [61] P. Cholewińska *et al.*, "The Occurrence of Microplastics and the Formation of Biofilms by Pathogenic and Opportunistic Bacteria as Threats in Aquaculture," *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, vol. 19, no. 13, 2022, doi: 10.3390/ijerph19138137.
- [62] A. Serra-Compte, Á. Sánchez-Melsió, D. Álvarez-Muñoz, D. Barceló, J. L. Balcázar, and S. Rodríguez-Mozaz, "Exposure to a Subinhibitory Sulfonamide Concentration Promotes the Spread of Antibiotic Resistance in Marine Blue Mussels (Mytilus edulis)," *Environ. Sci.* \& Technol. Lett., vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 211–215, 2019, doi: 10.1021/acs.estlett.9b00112.
- [63] Q. Wang *et al.*, "Antibiotic resistance genes and their links with bacteria and environmental factors in three predominant freshwater aquaculture modes," *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*, vol. 241, p. 113832, 2022, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.113832.
- [64] S. Hossain and G.-J. Heo, "Detection of Antimicrobial and Heavy-Metal Resistance Genes in Aeromonas spp. Isolated from Hard-Shelled Mussel (Mytilus Coruscus)," *Microb. Drug Resist.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 127–135, 2022, doi: 10.1089/mdr.2020.0590.
- [65] D. H. Grevskott, F. Salvà-Serra, E. R. B. Moore, and N. P. Marathe, "Nanopore sequencing reveals genomic map of CTX-M-type extended-spectrum β-lactamases carried by Escherichia coli strains isolated from blue mussels (Mytilus edulis) in Norway," *BMC Microbiol.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2020, doi: 10.1186/s12866-020-01821-8.
- [66] E. Guglielmetti, J. M. Korhonen, J. Heikkinen, L. Morelli, and A. Von Wright, "Transfer of plasmid-mediated resistance to tetracycline in pathogenic bacteria from fish and aquaculture environments," *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, vol. 293, no. 1, pp. 28–34, 2009.
- [67] J. Fu *et al.*, "Aquatic animals promote antibiotic resistance gene dissemination in water via conjugation: Role of different regions within the zebra fish intestinal tract, and impact on fish intestinal microbiota," *Mol. Ecol.*, vol. 26, no. 19, pp. 5318–5333, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.1111/mec.14255.
- [68] B. Strachan, "Bivalve populations infreshwater environments: viability, invasion, peristance and a potential role in the spread of antimicrobial resistance.," no. June, 2019.
- [69] J. Lu, Y. Zhang, J. Wu, and Y. Luo, "Effects of microplastics on distribution of antibiotic resistance genes in recirculating aquaculture system," *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*, vol. 184, no. August, p. 109631, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109631.

- [70] Z. Wang, J. Gao, Y. Zhao, H. Dai, J. Jia, and D. Zhang, "Plastisphere enrich antibiotic resistance genes and potential pathogenic bacteria in sewage with pharmaceuticals," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 768, p. 144663, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144663.
- [71] J. Wang *et al.*, "Evidence of selective enrichment of bacterial assemblages and antibiotic resistant genes by microplastics in urban rivers," *Water Res.*, vol. 183, p. 116113, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2020.116113.
- [72] X. Wu, J. Pan, M. Li, Y. Li, M. Bartlam, and Y. Wang, "Selective enrichment of bacterial pathogens by microplastic biofilm," *Water Res.*, vol. 165, p. 114979, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2019.114979.
- [73] K. Abe, N. Nomura, and S. Suzuki, "Biofilms: Hot spots of horizontal gene transfer (HGT) in aquatic environments, with a focus on a new HGT mechanism," *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, vol. 96, no. 5, pp. 1–12, 2021, doi: 10.1093/FEMSEC/FIAA031.
- [74] M. Arias-Andres, K. Rojas-Jimenez, and H. P. Grossart, "Collateral effects of microplastic pollution on aquatic microorganisms: An ecological perspective," *TrAC - Trends Anal. Chem.*, vol. 112, no. April 2021, pp. 234–240, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.trac.2018.11.041.
- [75] M. Trokter, "crossm Translocation through the Conjugative Type IV Secretion."

10. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

		Conjugatio	on Frequency	[Log(T/D)]	Stand	ard dev	iation
Strain	Туре	24 h	48 h	72 h	24 h	48 h	72 h
	filter mating	-5.18	-5.24	-4.65	0.07	0.03	0.04
Listeria monocytogenes DSM 15675	plate mating	-5.48	-5.44	-5.00	0.21	0.12	0.11
	filter mating	-6.34	-6.20	-5.10	0.27	0.53	0.10
Listeria monocytogenes Scott A	plate mating	-5.60	-5.22	-5.00	0.19	0.23	0.65

Table 15. Conjugation frequency in plate and filter mating.

Table 2S.	ANOVA	of conjugation	frequencies	in nlate	and filter mating
10510 25.	ANO VA V	or conjugation	incquencies	in place	and much mating.

			Listeria monocytogenes DSM 15675						Listeria monocytogenes Scott A						
			filt	er mat	ing	pla	te mat	ing	filt	er mati	ing	pla	ite mat	ing	
		Time of	24	48	72	24	48	72	24	48	72	24	48	72	
Strain	Туре	analysis	h	h	h	h	h	h	h	h	h	h	h	h	
	filter			1,0	5,0	9,4	9,9	1,0	9,0	8,1	1,0	7,2	1,0	1,0	
	matin			E+0	E-	E-	E-	E+0	E-	E-	E+0	E-	E+0	E+0	
	g	24 h		0	01	01	01	0	04	04	0	01	0	0	
	filter		4,0		3,4	9,9	1,0	1,0	1,8	1,6	1,0	8,6	1,0	1,0	
	matin		E-		E-	E-	E+0	E+0	E-	E-	E+0	E-	E+0	E+0	
	g	48 h	01		01	01	0	0	03	03	0	01	0	0	
Listeria	filter		3,3	3,7		3,6	6,4	9,0	4,0	3,6	7,0	1,1	3,1	4,1	
monocy	matin		E+0	E+0		E-	E-	E-	E-	E-	E-	E-	E-	E-	
togenes	g	72 h	0	0		02	02	01	06	06	01	02	01	01	
DSM	plate		2,1	1,7	5,3		1,0	5,7	2,8	2,5	8,2	1,0	9,9	9,7	
15675	matin		E+0	E+0	E+0		E+0	E-	E-	E-	E-	E+0	E-	E-	
	g	24 h	0	0	0		0	01	02	02	01	0	01	01	
	plate		1,7	1,3	4,9	3,8		7,4	1,5	1,4	9,2	1,0	1,0	9,9	
	matin		E+0	E+0	E+0	E-		E-	E-	E-	E-	E+0	E+0	E-	
	g	48 h	0	0	0	01		01	02	02	01	0	0	01	
	plate		1,0	1,4	2,2	3,1	2,7		1,5	1,4	1,0	2,9	9,9	1,0	
	matin		E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0		E-	E-	E+0	E-	E-	E+0	
	g	72 h	0	0	0	0	0		04	04	0	01	01	0	
	filter		7,5	7,1	1,1	5,5	5,9	8,6		1,0	4,1	8,2	2,1	1,3	
	matin		E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0		E+0	E-	E-	E-	E-	
	g	24 h	0	0	1	0	0	0		0	04	02	03	03	
	filter		7,6	7,2	1,1	5,5	5,9	8,6	6,6		3,7	7,4	1,8	1,1	
	matin		E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E-		E-	E-	E-	E-	
	g	48 h	0	0	1	0	0	0	02		04	02	03	03	
	filter		4,6	8,6	2,8	2,5	2,1	5,9	8,0	8,1		5,2	1,0	1,0	
Listeria	matin		E-	E-	E+0	E+0	E+0	E-	E+0	E+0		E-	E+0	E+0	
monocy	g	72 h	01	01	0	0	0	01	0	0		01	0	0	
togenes	plate		2,8	2,4	6,0	7,1	1,1	3,8	4,8	4,8	3,2		8,9	8,0	
Scott A	matin		E+0	E+0	E+0	E-	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0		E-	E-	
	g	24 h	0	0	0	01	0	0	0	0	0		01	01	
	plate		4,9	8,8	3,8	1,6	1,2	1,5	7,0	7,1	9,5	2,3		1,0	
	matin		E-	E-	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E-	E+0		E+0	
	g	48 h	01	02	0	0	0	0	0	0	01	0		0	
	plate		2,0	2,0	3,5	1,8	1,5	1,2	7,3	7,4	6,6	2,6	2,8		
	matin		E-	E-	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E-	E+0	E-		
	g	72 h	01	01	0	0	0	0	0	0	01	0	01		

	-	Conju	gation Freq [Log(T/D)]	uency	Standard deviation			
Strain	Туре	24 h	48 h	72 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	
	sausage model	-5.24	-5.15	-4.40	0.08	0.10	0.10	
<i>Listeria monocytogenes</i> DSM 15675	cheese model	-6.44	-5.89	-4.82	0.19	0.47	0.08	
	sausage model	-6.22	-5.78	-4.43	0.26	0.35	0.02	
<i>Listeria monocytogenes</i> Scott A	cheese model	-6.30	-6.30	-5.49	0.22	0.20	0.45	

Table 35. Conjugation frequency in sausage and cheese models.

Table 45. ANOVA of conjugation frequencies in sausage and cheese models.

			Listeria monocytogenes DSM 15675						Listeria monocytogenes Scott A						
			sau	sage mo	odel	ch	eese mo	del	sau	isage mod	lel	ch	eese moo	del	
Strain	Туре	Ti me	24 h	48 h	72 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	
Listeria monocytog enes DSM	sausage model	24 h		1,00 E+0 0	1,73 E-02	2,20 E-04	3,57 E-02	6,69E -01	2,05E- 03	1,80E- 01	2,17 E-02	9,98 E-04	1,09 E-03	6,90 E-01	
15675	sausage model	48 h	6,48 E-01		4,80 E-02	7,39 E-05	1,26 E-02	9,02E -01	6,80E- 04	7,37E- 02	5,95 E-02	3,31 E-04	3,62 E-04	4,09 E-01	
	sausage model	72 h	5,77 E+0 0	5,13 E+0 0		2,93 E-08	2,52 E-06	6,59E -01	1,87E- 07	1,51E- 05	1,00 E+0 0	1,02 E-07	1,10 E-07	1,46 E-04	
	cheese model	24 h	8,36 E+0 0	9,00 E+0 0	1,41 E+0 1		5,97 E-01	2,03E -06	9,98E- 01	1,87E- 01	3,56 E-08	1,00 E+0 0	1,00 E+00	2,55 E-02	
	cheese model	48 h	5,32 E+0 0	5,97 E+0 0	1,11 E+0 1	3,04 E+0 0		2,90E -04	9,82E- 01	1,00E +00	3,14 E-06	9,20 E-01	9,32 E-01	8,22 E-01	
	cheese model	72 h	2,88 E+0 0	2,23 E+0 0	2,90 E+0 0	1,12 E+0 1	8,19 E+0 0		1,63E- 05	1,98E- 03	7,20 E-01	8,23 E-06	8,96 E-06	1,94 E-02	
Listeria monocytog enes	sausage model	24 h	7,05 E+0 0	7,69 E+0 0	1,28 E+0 1	1,31 E+0 0	1,73 E+0 0	9,92E +00		6,79E- 01	2,30 E-07	1,00 E+0 0	1,00 E+00	1,74 E-01	
Scott A	sausage model	48 h	4,19 E+0 0	4,84 E+0 0	9,97 E+0 0	4,16 E+0 0	1,13 E+0 0	7,07E +00	2,85E +00		1,91 E-05	4,93 E-01	5,16 E-01	9,97 E-01	
	sausage model	72 h	5,63 E+0 0	4,98 E+0 0	1,42 E-01	1,40 E+0 1	1,10 E+0 1	2,76E +00	1,27E +01	9,82E +00		1,24 E-07	1,34 E-07	1,85 E-04	
	cheese model	24 h	7,47 E+0 0	8,12 E+0 0	1,32 E+0 1	8,89 E-01	2,15 E+0 0	1,03E +01	4,22E- 01	3,28E +00	1,31 E+0 1		1,00 E+00	9,82 E-02	

cheese model	48 h	7,42 E+0	8,06 E+0	1,32 E+0	9,41 E-01	2,10 E+0	1,03E +01	3,70E- 01	3,22E +00	1,31 E+0	5,28 E-02		1,06 E-01
		0	0	1		0				1			
cheese	72	2,83	3,47	8,60	5,53	2,49	5,70E	4,22E	1,37E	8,46	4,64	4,59	
model	h	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	E+0	+00	+00	+00	$E \pm 0$	E+0	E+00	
		0	0	0	0	0				0	0		

Table 55. Conjugation frequency in vivo using Galleria mellonella.

	Listeria monocy	togenes DSM 15675	Listeria monocytogenes				
			Sco	tt A			
	24 h	Standard deviation	24 h	Standard deviation			
conjugation by injection	-4.59	0.08	-4.62	0.01			
		ANOVA					
Listeria monocytogenes			1	l			
DSM 15675							
Listeria monocytogenes							

Scott A

,...

Table 65. Conjugation frequency in aquatic model using Mytilus galloprovincialis.

			Conjugation [Log(T/	n Frequency D*100)]	Standevia	dard ation
			4 days	7 days	4 days	7 days
Listeria monocytogenes DSM 15675	PE 3500	M. galloprovincialis	-5.48	-5.17	0.07	0.06
		H2O	-6.91	-6.60	0.05	0.04
	No-PE 3500	M. galloprovincialis	ND	ND	ND	ND
		H2O	ND	ND	ND	ND
Listeria monocytogenes Scott A	PE 3500	M. galloprovincialis	-5.49	-5.06	0.02	0.03
		H2O	-6.83	-6.68	0.06	0.11
	No-PE 3500	M. galloprovincialis	ND	ND	ND	ND
		H2O	ND	ND	ND	ND

Table 75. ANOVA of conjugation frequencies in Aquatic model Mytilus galloprovincialis.

			Liste M gallopre	eria monoo 150 M. ovinciali s	<i>zytogenes</i> DSM 675 H2O		Listeria monoc <u>.</u> M. galloprovinciali s		<i>vtogenes</i> Scott A H2O	
			4 days	7 days	4 days	7 days	4 days	7 days	4 days	7 days
	M. galloprovinci	4 day s 7	¥	2,70E- 04	6,56E- 14	3,96E- 12	1,00E +00	5,78E- 06	1,70E- 13	1,43E -12
<i>Listeria monocytogenes</i> DSM 15675	alis	day s 4	8,76E +00		2,19E- 14	6,31E- 14	1,68E- 04	3,57E- 01	2,27E- 14	3,35E -14
	H2O	day s 7	4,09E +01	4,96E +01		3,09E- 04	7,59E- 14	2,14E- 14	7,77E- 01	5,64E -03
		day s	3,22E +01	4,10E +01	8,66E +00		4,70E- 12	2,80E- 14	5,73E- 03	7,81E -01

	M. galloprovinci	4 day s 7	3,73E- 01	9,14E +00	4,05E +01	3,19E +01		3,86E- 06	2,04E- 13	1,71E -12
Listeria monocytogenes Scott A	alis	day s 4	1,20E +01	3,23E +00	5,29E +01	4,42E +01	1,24E +01		2,18E- 14	2,35E -14
	H2O	day s 7	3,87E +01	4,75E +01	2,18E +00	6,48E +00	3,83E +01	5,07E +01		1,05E -01
		day s	3,44E +01	4,32E +01	6,50E +00	2,17E +00	3,40E +01	4,64E +01	4,32E +00	

CHAPTER 5

Genome engineering of Stx1-and Stx2converting bacteriophages unveils the virulence of the dairy isolate *Escherichia coli* O174:H2 strain UC4224

Genome engineering of Stx1-and Stx2-converting bacteriophages unveils the virulence of the dairy isolate *Escherichia coli*O174:H2 strain UC4224

Giovanni Milani[†], Mireya Viviana Belloso Daza[†], Claudia Cortimiglia, Daniela Bassi and Pier Sandro Cocconcelli^{*}

Dipartimento di Scienze e Tecnologie Alimentari per una Filiera Agro-Alimentare Sostenibile (DISTAS) Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Piacenza, Italy

Keywords: Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC), O174, Stx-converting bacteriophages, food model, raw milk cheese, *Galleria mellonella*, genome engineering, locus of adhesion and autoaggregation.

This paper is published on Frontiers in Microbiology (DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2023.1156375)

1. ABSTRACT

The past decade witnessed the emergence in Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC) infections linked to the consumption of unpasteurized milk and raw milk cheese. The virulence of STEC is primarily attributed to the presence of Shiga toxin genes (stx1 and stx2) carried by Stx-converting bacteriophages, along with the intimin gene eae. Most of the available information pertains to the "Top 7" serotypes associated with STEC infections. The objectives of this study were to characterize and investigate the pathogenicity potential of E. coli UC4224, a STEC O174:H2 strain isolated from semi-hard raw milk cheese and to develop surrogate strains with reduced virulence for use in food-related studies. Complete genome sequence analysis of E. coli UC4224 unveiled the presence of a Stx1a bacteriophage, a Stx2a bacteriophage, the Locus of Adhesion and Autoaggregation (LAA) pathogenicity island, plasmid-encoded virulence genes, and other colonization facilitators. In the Galleria mellonella animal model, E. coli UC4224 demonstrated high pathogenicity potential with an LD₅₀ of 6CFU/10µL. Upon engineering E. coli UC4224 to generate single and double mutant derivatives by inactivating stx1a and/or stx2a genes, the LD₅₀ increased by approximately 1 Log-dose in the single mutants and 2 Log-doses in the double mutants. However, infectivity was not completely abolished, suggesting the involvement of other virulence factors contributing to the pathogenicity of STEC O174:H2. Considering the possibility of raw milk cheese serving as a reservoir for STEC, cheesemaking model was developed to evaluate the survival of UC4224 and the adequacy of the respective mutants as reduced-virulence surrogates. All tested strains exhibited the ability to survive the curd cooking step at 48°C and multiplied (3.4 Log CFU) in cheese within the subsequent 24h. These findings indicate that genomic engineering did not exert any unintended effect on the double stx1-stx2 mutant behaviour, making it as a suitable lessvirulent surrogate for conducting studies during food processing.

2. INTRODUCTION

Infections caused by Shiga toxin producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) are responsible for outbreaks of serious diseases such as haemorrhagic colitis (HC) and haemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS), posing a serious public health concern (Pedersen et al., 2018). In 2020, 28 European countries reported 4,824 confirmed cases of infection with *E. coli* STEC and thus, recognized as the fourth most reported zoonosis (ECDC, 2022). Cattle have been recognized as an asymptomatic natural reservoir of STEC, representing a vehicle for human infection through direct contact or via foodstuffs (Zuppi et al., 2020). Recently, STEC outbreaks have been increasingly related to the consumption of dairy products; in Europe, two outbreaks in 2020 and one in 2021 as reported by EFSA-ECDC (EFSA and ECDC, 2021, 2022); in 2019, 20 paediatric cases of STEC O26:H11 infections were associated to the consumption of fresh raw milk cheese in France and other 21 cases were related to a milk pasteurisation malfunction at dairy farm level in UK (Jones et al., 2019; Jenkins et al., 2022). These outbreaks, as reported by the data collected

in the European Union One-Health (2022) report, demonstrate as raw milk cheese and other dairy products are frequently associated to the presence of STEC (2% of analysed dairy products (EFSA and ECDC, 2022)). Thus, in the absence of an effective pasteurisation process, the cheese production and ripening steps have proven to be insufficient to achieve the complete inactivation of these pathogenic E. coli microorganism (Bellio et al., 2018; Ioanna et al., 2018), as shown in studies that investigated the persistence of STEC in raw milk and its derivatives (Miszczycha et al., 2013; Peng et al., 2013; Ahmed and Samer, 2017). The current framework for identification of STEC includes the determination of serogroup, with correlation to their capacity to cause human illness. Serogroups O157, O145, O111, O103, and O26, considered the "top 5" STEC, have been identified as responsible for severe diseases and outbreaks (Franz et al., 2019; Koutsoumanis et al., 2020). Shiga toxins Stx1 and Stx2, encoded by genes stx1 and stx2 carried by lambdoid prophages, are considered the central driver of STEC virulence. Each of the Stx toxins are furtherly classified into subtypes and, particularly Stx2 subtypes a and c, seem to be corelated to the most severe forms of STEC diseases (Werber and Scheutz, 2019; Rodríguez-Rubio et al., 2021). The risk for a severe disease is generally associated with the concurrent presence of the stx^2 gene and the Locus of Enterocyte Effacement (LEE), which contains the eae gene, coding for the intimin protein responsible for adhesion (Franzin and Sircili, 2015). However, recently, non-O157 LEE-negative strains have been correlated with increasing number of infections in humans (Cundon et al., 2018; Krause et al., 2018; Colello et al., 2019; Cortimiglia et al., 2021). The LEE-negative STEC strains implicated in human disease harbour other virulence factors (VFs) involved in other adherence processes carried by plasmids, non-Stx prophages or unique pathogenicity islands (PAIs). Montero et al., (Montero et al., 2017), described the PAI Locus of Adhesion and Autoaggregation (LAA), a 86 kb region divided in four modules containing the hes gene coding for and haemagglutinin (Montero et al., 2017). A recent study by Cortimiglia et al. (Cortimiglia et al., 2021) detected this virulence locus in STEC O174 strains harboring both Stx1- and Stx2- bacteriophages isolated from Italian semi-hard raw milk cheese. Moreover, E. coli O174 strains are frequently detected as being among the top 10 STEC serotypes from animal, food and humans (EFSA and ECDC, 2022). Although the risk that STEC poses for consumers of dairy products is high, few studies have addressed the growth, survival and inactivation kinetics of Shiga toxin producing E. coli during the cheese processing and ripening (Schlesser et al., 2006; Miszczycha et al., 2016; Centorotola et al., 2021). One of the major limitations in the development of challenge studies in food, is the high pathogenicity of STEC strains that hamper their use in pilot plants outside the confined conditions of biosafety laboratories. STEC mutants with the toxin genes inactivated were developed to assess the role of Stx virulence (Kim et al., 2010; Xue et al., 2011) but not specifically used as surrogate for toxigenic strains to appraise the growth and persistence in food models. The objective of our study is to perform a comprehensive genomic characterization of the virulence profile of E. coli UC4224, a STEC strain isolated from semi-hard raw milk cheese, utilizing a WGS-based approach. Our research also aims to investigate the impact of stx1 and stx2 genes on pathogenicity in vivo using the Galleria mellonella model by individually and collectively inactivating them via genome engineering.

Moreover, we assessed the survival of the parental strain and the suitability of the three mutants as attenuated surrogates under acid stresses and in cheesemaking conditions.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Bacterial strains, plasmids, and media

STEC strain UC4224, isolated from semi-hard raw milk cheese, and respective mutant strains were grown in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth (Sigma-Aldrich) and supplemented with appropriate antibiotics when needed. The antibiotics used were chloramphenicol (Cm) (Sigma-Aldrich) ($3.125-25 \mu g/mL$), kanamycin (Kan) (Sigma-Aldrich) ($12.5-25 \mu g/mL$), and ampicillin (Amp) (Sigma-Aldrich) ($100 \mu g/mL$). Strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 1 whereas oligonucleotides are listed in Supplementary Table S1. The *E. coli* strain DH5 α , grown in LB broth supplemented with Amp, was used for the propagation and purification of plasmids.

Strain	Relevant genotype, phenotype	Reference/Source
E. coli		
UC4224	STEC parental strain	This study
UC4175	UC4224(pSIM6), Amp ^R (Ts)	This study
UC4176	UC4224 <i>_lstx1::kan</i> , Kan ^R	This study
UC4177	UC4224_Istx2::cat, CmR	This study
UC4178	UC4224 <i>_lstx1::kan _lstx2::cat</i> , Kan ^R Cm ^R	This study
Plasmids		
pSIM6	Plasmid expressing Lambda red	Datta et al. (2006)
	recombination genes below the control of	
	CI857 repressor, Amp ^R (Ts)	
pKD3	Template plasmid for the amplification of	Datsenko and Wanner (2000)
	FRT-cat-FRT amplicon, Amp ^R Cm ^R	
pRL128	Template plasmid for the amplification of	Gueguen and Cascales (2013)
	FRT-kan-FRT amplicon, Amp ^R Kan ^R	

Table 1 Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study.

Amp, ampicillin; Kan, kanamycin; Cm, chloramphenicol; superscripts "R" and "S" represent resistance and sensitivity, respectively.

3.2 Whole genome sequencing and data submission

Genomic DNA of UC4224 and UC4178 (UC4224_Jstx1::kan_Jstx2::cat) was extracted from 1 mL of an overnight culture by E.Z.N.A. ® Bacterial DNA Kit (Omega Bio-tek), following the manufacturer's instructions. After, Qubit 2.0 Fluorometer (Thermo FisheR Scientific) was utilized to quantify the DNA concentration and then loaded on agarose gel (0.8%) to confirm the DNA integrity. Genomic DNA of UC4224 and UC4178 were sequenced using Illumina Miseq platform with 250 paired-end run after Nextera XT paired-end library preparation (Illumina). Additionally, long-read sequencing was carried out for UC4224 only and performed with PacBio Sequel II SMRT sequencing. Sequence trimming was completed with trimgalore! (GitHub – FelixKrueger/TrimGalore) (Krueger, 2016). After, hybrid assembly was executed using Unicycler (Wick et al., 2017). Then, contigs of both parental and mutant strains, were annotated with Prokka with a de fault e-value cut-off (version 1.13.3) (Seemann, 2014). Genome assemblies were deposited on NCBI under Genbank assembly accession No. GCA_025369975.1 for UC4224 and GCA_025290845.1 for UC4178.

3.3 Bioinformatic analyses

A total of 99 strains genomes (including UC4224) were retrieved from NCBI for phylogenomic analyses, including 40 from cheese, 5 from dairy milk and 54 from non-specified dairy products (Supplementary Table S2). Bioinformatic analyses comprising the calculation of the pangenome and the construction of the phylogenetic tree with bootstrapping of 1,000, of all genomes were performed as previously described by Belloso Daza et al. (2021). The screening for virulence factors, antimicrobial resistance genes was executed according to another study (Cortimiglia et al., 2021). Finally, the analysis of mobile genetic elements like plasmids and prophages was carried out following the pipeline of Belloso Daza et al. (2022).

3.4 Construction the amplimer with short (50bp) and long (~280bp) homology sequences

PCR reactions were performed using Phusion Flash High-Fidelity PCR Master Mix (ThermoFisher Scientific) as provided by the manufacturer. The two plasmids pKD3 (Datsenko and Wanner, 2000) and pRL128 (Gueguen and Cascales, 2013) were used for amplifying the resistance cassettes using primers (Supplementary Table S1) constructed as described by Egan et al. (2016). The detection of each amplicon was verified by gel electrophoresis (ThermoFisher Scientific), then the product was excised from the gel and purified using the Macherey-NagelTM NucleoSpinTM Gel and PCR Clean-up (Macherey- Nagel). The PCR product was concentrated using Zymo Research's DNA Clean & Concentrator KitTM-25 (D4005) in a final volume of 25 µL of molecular-grade water.

Homology regions of the *stx2* gene, located at the two ends of the *cat* cassette, have been increased as previously described by Serra- Moreno et al. (2006). The new PCR products were constructed using the overlapping regions within three different dsPCR fragments: the *cat* cassette and the other two that present homology with both *stx2* and antibiotic resistance cassette using the primers reported in Supplementary Table S1. The amplimers obtained were *stx2* Forward/ Cm-F *stx2* (270 bp) and *stx2* Reverse/Cm-R *stx2* (280 bp). The three amplimers obtained were annealed at their overlapping region. The two external primers *stx2* Forward and *stx2* Reverse were used to overlap the three fragments. The fusion product was amplified using the same primer pair *stx2* Forward/Reverse, subsequently purified. The fusion product obtained is $_lstx2::cat$ PCR amplicon with long homologous arms.

3.5 Transformation of *Escherichia coli* STEC UC4224 with plasmids pSIM6 and preparation of electrocompetent cells for recombineering

The pSIM6 plasmid was propagated in *E. coli* strain DH5a and extracted using ZymoPURE Plasmid Miniprep Kit (Zymo Research) following the manufacturer instructions. Then it was transformed in UC4224 after making it electrocompetent (BIORAD, 1900) *E. coli*. The transformant of UC4224 with the pSIM6 was named UC4175. The UC4175 overnight culture was then diluted to 100-fold in LB with Amp (100 µg/mL) and grown to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.8. The culture was then thermally shocked at 42°C at 250 rpm for 45 min to induce the lambda red genes expression by pSIM6, as described previously (Egan et al., 2016). After the induction, UC4175 was made electrocompetent as described above. Ninety µl of chilled electrocompetent UC4175 cells were added to 100 ng of *Lstx2::cat* or *Lstx1::kan* PCR amplicons, including negative controls without PCR products. The mix was held on ice for 1 min, then, electroporation was performed at a voltage of 2.5 kV. Electroporants were immediately recovered in 1 mL of S.O.C medium and grown at 37°C at 225 rpm overnight, After, the cultures were spread on LB supplemented with Cm (6.5–25 µg/mL) or Kan (15–30 µg/mL) and examined to determine Cm^R and Kan^R recombinants. Recombinants were observed after 1 to 2 days of incubation at 37°C. The resulting mutants are UC4176 (UC4224_Lstx1::kan, Kan^R) and UC4177 (UC4224_Lstx2::cat, Cm^R) (Table 1).

Subsequently, UC4176 was induced and made eletrocompetent, as described above. The induced eletrocompetent cells were eletroporated with 100 ng of $\$ *istx2::cat* PCR amplicons with long homologous arms. The electroporation conditions used were the same as those described previously. After 16 h of incubation, recovered cultures were cultured onto LB plates with Cm (6.5–25 µg/mL) and Kan (15–30 µg/mL) and examined to determine Cm^R/Kan^R recombinants. The resulting double mutant is UC4178 (UC4224 $\$ *istx1::kan* $\$ *istx2::cat*, Kan^R Cm^R) (Table 1).

3.6 Curing of pSIM6 and replacement confirmation

Once the recombinant UC4178 had been found, 10 μ L of an overnight culture was spread on LB agar with added Cm (6.25 μ g/mL) and Kan (22.5 μ g/mL) and incubated overnight at 42°C. A few colonies were then taken and streaked onto both LB agar supplemented with respective antibiotics and incubated overnight at 30°C. The correct replacement was confirmed by locus specific PCR and Sanger sequencing. Briefly, the *stx1* and *stx2* genes were amplified with the external primer listed in Supplementary Table S1 (Paton et al., 1993, 1995; Ruessmann et al., 1994; Muniesa et al., 2003), visualized on 1.2% agarose gel by Sybr-Safe staining (Thermofisher) and purified using ReliaPrep DNA clean-up and concentration system (Promega) according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. The purified DNA was sequenced by commercial facility (Eurofins Genomics, Italy) using Sanger technology. Additionally, the replacement was confirmed through WGS, performed as reported above. The genome assembly is deposited in Genbank with accession number GCA_025290845.1.

3.7 Pathogenicity assessment in Galleria mellonella

The in vivo analysis using larvae of the greater wax moth, G. mellonella, was performed as previously described by Morgan et al. (2014). Briefly, bacterial overnight cultures were pelleted and washed twice in Phosphate Buffer Solution (PBS) (0.1 M) and resuspended in 10 mL of PBS. The larvae were selected to be 15-25 mm long, cream- coloured with minimal spotting and no grey marks. Three independent biological replicates of ten larvae of 200 to 250 mg each, were infected with 10 μ L of serial dilution (10¹-10⁷ CFU/10 µL) of each different strains, by injection with a 26-gauge Hamilton syringe. Larvae were then incubated at 37° C in the dark and the dose resulting in 50% of kills (LD₅₀) was calculated after 24 h. The survival rate was monitored for an additional 48 h. The strains used for this assay were UC4224, UC4176, UC4177, UC4178 and E. coli BL21 and PBS only as a negative control. An additional control composed by three groups (n = 10) without manipulation, was added. Kaplan–Meier survival curves were constructed to evaluate the probability of survival of the different strains at different injection doses using GraphPad Prism (Survival curve 8.4.3 (686)). Logrank tests were applied to detect any significant differences in survival rates between strains (p < 0.05). Microbial count of bacteria was realized to verify the inoculated doses onto LB agar supplemented with Kan and Cm, when needed. The LD50 values were calculated using Probit Analysis, following the methodology of Finney (1971) in Excel 2010 with a 95% confidence limit (Mekapogu, 2021).

3.8 Cheesemaking model and tolerance to lactic acid

We assessed the survival capacity of UC4224 and the suitability of UC4176, UC4177 and UC4178 as attenuated surrogates under acid stresses and in cheesemaking process. The cheesemaking process was carried out according to the traditional production method from raw milk. Briefly, 200 mL of raw milk was aliquoted in five different 500 mL flasks and pre-warmed at 30°C. Once the desired temperature was reached, each flask was inoculated with a mix of three different starter cultures: *Streptococcus thermophilus*,

Lactococcus lactis and *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *lactis* at a cell numbers of 10^7 CFU/m each, and 0.2 mL of rennet per litre of milk. Subsequently, four flasks prepared as described above were individually inoculated with 200 µL of an overnight culture of UC4224 and the three mutants (inocula-t0); the remaining flask, without *E. coli* inoculum, was used as a negative control. The five samples were heat-treated at 34°C for 40 min (t1); then, the temperature was increased at 48°C for 40 min (t2) and finally the curds were packaged, pressurised and drained; thus, stored at room temperature (20°C) for 24 h (t3). Plate counts were carried out in triplicate at times t0, t1, t2 and t3 using Violet Red Bile Glucose Agar (Oxoid), supplemented with Kan 50 µg/mL and Cm 50 µg/mL when required, and incubated at 37°C for 24 h. Lactic acid tolerance was tested as previously described by Liu et al. (2020) with slight variations. Shortly, the overnight culture of the parental strain and the three mutants were serially diluted and 10 µL of each dilution were spotted on LB agar, modified with L-lactic acid (Carlo Erba) to a pH of 4, 4.5, 5, 5.5, 6 and 6.5, and incubated at 37°C for 24 h. All results were statistically analysed using the Tukey's pairwise test, via the *Past4.06b* software, with *a* = 0.05.

4. RESULTS

4.1 Genome sequencing and characterization of UC4224

In this study, *Escherichia coli* STEC strain UC4224, isolated from semi-hard raw milk cheese, was investigated for its resistome/ virulome/mobilome. The first step toward identifying the nature of this strain was to perform WGS following a long-and short-read approach. After sequencing and quality check, UC4224 was assembled into 3 molecules, one chromosome of 5,047,333 bp and two plasmids, pUC4224_1 (111,840 bp) and pUC4224_2 (6,883 bp). UC4224 was identified as ST 661, serotype O174:H2 and Clermont phylogroup B1.

4.2 Phylogenomics and distribution of dairy associated STEC

Phylogenomic analysis was performed to understand the relationship of *E. coli* UC4224 with a selection of 95 *E. coli* genomes, retrieved from NCBI, isolated from dairy-associated sources: milk, cheese and dairy products. The pangenome analysis resulted in a total of 2,175 (8.7%) core genes, 2,652 (8.3%) shell genes and 25,653 (83%) cloud or accessory genes. This outcome is in line with the concept of the open pangenome of *E. coli*, decreasing core genomes and increasing accessory genomes that support the adaptability of *E. coli* from different ecological niches and the diversity of strains with pathogenicity for animals and human (Tantoso et al., 2022). Furthermore, core-genome derived data was then used to construct a maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree. As observed in Figure 1, no clear cluster patterns regarding serogroup or Stx type are noticeable. When observing the relative abundance of the serogroups we found the most frequent serogroups were O157 (17%), O6 (13.8%), O26 (8.5%) and O174 (7.4%). Other recurring serogroups were O103 (6.4%), O5 (5.3%) O8 (4.3%), O110 (3.2%), O116 (3.2%), O145

(4.3%). Out of 94, only 6 isolates (6.4%) were not assigned to any serogroup. A strict relationship between the Stx-bacteriophages and serogroups results from the phylogenomic analysis, as reported in other studies (Zhang et al., 2022). In particular, O174 strains harbour both Stx1- and Stx2-converting phages and O6 and O26 dairy isolates carry Stx1. Higher variability was observed in O157 which may contain either Stx2 – or both Stx1- and Stx2-phages.

Tree scale: 0.1



Figure 2 Maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree using core genes alignment of 99 dairy-associated strains retrieved from NCBI. UC4224 is depicted in red. The serogroup of each isolate was determined using a bioinformatic tool and it is presented on the right side of the three. The type of Shiga toxin is depicted in green for Stx1, yellow for Stx2 and blue for Stx1 and Stx2. The variability of the presence of Stx-type is correlated to the serogroup. No clear patterns in serogroup or Stx-type distribution is observed. The selected strains had different isolation sources: milk, cheese and dairy products; their distribution can be found in Supplementary Table S2.

4.3 Stx-converting phages and other prophages

Genome scrutiny of UC4224 revealed the presence of *stx1a* and *stx2a* carried by two separate prophages. We comprehensively explored the two Stx-phages and their respective flanking regions by identifying the attachment sites, structural and regulatory regions. Stx-phages are double-stranded DNA-phages with a functional genetic organization comparable lambda phage, as it is the case of UC4224 phages. Stx1-phage of size 62.2 kb (Figure 2B), was found in positions 669,258–731,903 bp, with the highest homology score to Enterobacteria phage D3 (NC_042057). Stx2-phage, of size 77 kb (Figure 2C), found in position 4,824,523–4,901,603 bp with highest similarity to phage D3, as well. Both phages were found to be unique with the highest BLAST nucleotide identity of 92 and 88% with other Stx-phages for Stx1-phage and Stx2-phage, respectively.

The *stx* genes loci of both phages, were composed by the two *stx* genes coding for subunits a and b, the antitermination protein Q, responsible for late-phase transcription regulator and lysis protein S. Downstream from the Stx-region of both phages, lysis, terminase and structural proteins coding for capsid, tail and tail fibers were observed. Regulation and recombination genes were found adjacent to the toxin and structural genes regions. Upstream from the Stx-region, recombination coding sequences were found (Figures 2B,C). Specifically, in Stx1-phage, gene *nu1* was found, coding for a typical protein for DNA packaging in Stx-converting phages (Figure 2B). Stx2-phage carries *perC*, a Type 3 Secretion System (T3SS) expression regulator related to the expression of LEE-encoded virulence factors in STEC (Carter et al., 2021).

Moreover, four additional prophages were predicted chromosomally, namely a 25.4 kb phage with highest homology to Enterobacteria phage YYZ_2008 (Acc. No. NC_011356), two phages of 39.1 kb and 44.7 kb similar to Enterobacteria phage lambda (Acc. No. NC_001416) and a 46.9 kb closest to *Klebsiella* phage 4 LV-2017 (Acc. No. NC_047818). The 44.7 kb phage carried gene *ompT* (outer membrane protein and serum resistance lipoprotein *bor* was found flaking the lysis and terminase regions of this phage. Downstream from the structural region and adjacent to the tail fibers coding genes, *lom* (outermebrane protein) was found (data not shown).



Figure 3 Stx1- and Stx2-converting phages and LAA PAI in UC4224. **(A)** sequence alignment of LAA PAI reference sequence from E. coli B2F1 (Genbank accession AFDQ01000026) and UC4224. **(B)** genomic annotation of Stx1-phage including stx1a toxin subunits (red), antiterminator protein Q and holin S (blue), Nu1 protein (magenta), lysis and toxin operon CDS (green), structural proteins for capsid and tail (yellow) and, regulation, recombination and other CDS (grey). Stx 1 attachment site attL was found in position 669,258–669,271bp (13bp, TGCCGGATGCGGCG) and attR in position 731,916–731,903 (13bp, TGCCGGATGCGGCG). **(C)** genomic annotation of Stx2-phage including stx2a toxin subunits (red), antiterminator protein Q and holin S (blue), lysis and toxin operon CDS (grey). Stx2-phage including stx2a toxin subunits (red), antiterminator protein Q and holin S (blue), lysis and toxin operon CDS (grey). Stx2- phage presented attL in position 4,830,701–4,830,714bp (13bp, TGGATGATTTTTCA) and attR in 4,901,592–4,901,603bp (11bp, TTATGAAAAACG).

4.4 Virulence factors and LAA pathogenicity island

Although *stx* genes are considered the main drivers of virulence, *E. coli* STEC strains have developed pathogenicity islands (PAI) carrying genes for adhesion and colonization and attachment that facilitate the expression of virulence within the host. *E. coli* UC4224. does not harbour the Locus of Enterocyte Effacement (LEE) PAI, a 35.6 kb region containing genes responsible for causing attaching and effacing lesions, characteristic of *E. coli* O157: H7 (Franzin and Sircili, 2015). Differently, the WGS scrutiny revealed the presence of a region showing 60.8% nucleotide similarity with the Locus of Adhesion and Autoaggregation (LAA) PAI (Genbank Acc No. AFDQ01000026) (Figure 2C), a genetic locus described by Montero et al. (Montero et al., 2017). As shown in Figure 2A, module 1 carries the gene *hes*, involved in self-aggregation and adhesion (Vélez et al., 2020a). Module 2 habours the *lesP* gene, which encodes a variant of an enterobacterial self-transporting serine protease (SPATE) (Montero et al., 2019). Module 3 has the *pagC*, an outer membrane protein important in serum resistance in *Salmonella enterica* (Hasson et al., 2022).

Finally, the *agp43* gene is found in module 4, which is related to the capacity for self-aggregation and accumulation of cells, which promotes biofilm formation (Montero et al., 2017).

Other two PAIs have been described to appear in LEE-negative STEC strains, specifically: the Locus of Proteolysis Activity (LPA) (Hauser et al., 2013) and the Subtilase-Encoding Pathogenicity Island (SE-PAI) (Bondì et al., 2017) were not found in E. coli UC4224. Other chromosomally located genes encoding for adhesins, T3SS effectors and potential virulence factors were identified, including bra (heat-resistant agglutinin) and long polar fimbriae (h f A), an important factor for STEC intestinal colonization and adhesion (Supplementary Table S3) (Toma et al., 2006; Vélez et al., 2022). The IncF-type conjugative plasmid pUC4224_1 (111 kb), carries a large Integrative Conjugative Element (ICE) in position 25,634-106,706 bp (81,073 bp). This ICE presents an origin of transfer (ori7), Type 4 Secretion System (T4SS) proteins tra and trb and Type IV coupling protein (T4CP) in ORF 48 (795 aa). Moreover, pUC4224_1 carried several potential virulence factors (Supplementary Table S3), among them adherence protein iha, enterohemolysin operon ehxABCD. Next, gene expP was also found, these genes are homologues members of Serine Protease Autotransporters of Enterobactericeae (SPATE) family. The traT gene, a plasmidlocated determinant encoding for an outer membrane protein that inhibits the membrane- attack complex present in the serum of the host (Miajlovic and Smith, 2014) and saa (STEC autoagglutinating adhesin) genes (Cundon et al., 2018) were found as potentially involved in virulence. This strain harbours colicin coding genes *cia* and *celb*, considered as a putative virulence factors as they facilitate colonization (Micenková et al., 2017). Furthermore, several stress response systems regulators were found in UC4224, gene list with corresponding gene function are listed in Supplementary Table S3.

4.5 Construction of *stx1* and *stx2* null mutants

To investigate the role of phage encoded *stx* genes from newly identified Stx-phages from a non-O157 strain isolated from semi-hard raw milk cheese. Therefore, we constructed *stx1-* and *stx2-*knock-out strains by inserting antimicrobial cassettes by using the lambda red recombination system expressed by the low copy plasmid pSIM6, as shown in Figure 3. After the deletion of *stx* genes, PCR experiments and Sanger sequencing confirmed the substitution of the *stx1* region with the KanR (aph(3')-IIa) (UC4176 and UC4178) and the *stx2a* with the CmR (*catA1*) (UC4177 and UC4178), in all the three obtained mutants as shown in Figure 3. Moreover, the WGS analyses of UC4178 confirmed the double substitution of the *stx* genes and the absence of the pSIM6 plasmid and, no other differences were observed when compared with the parental strain UC4224.



Figure 4 Schematic representation of stx1 and stx2 replacement in UC4224. Genes are represented by arrows. In cyan the antimicrobial resistance cassettes. In red the two subunits, respectively, of stx1 and stx2 genes. In the double mutant UC4178, the replacement event occurred via homologous recombination between stx1 subunits a/b and the kanamycin resistance cassette and between stx2a and the chloramphenicol resistance cassette. The dimension of the amplified stx1 and stx2 genes, with the external primers, in the parental strain UC4224 have a size, respectively, of 1,281bp and 1,241bp. Instead, the size of the same region, amplified with the same primers, in strain UC4178 are, respectively, of 1,403bp and 1,568bp; thus, confirming the correct gene substitution.

4.6 Lethality in the *Galleria mellonella* model of UC4224 and its derivative mutants is correlated with carriage of *stx* genes

In this study we tested the virulence of STEC UC4224 and STEC- negative mutants UC4176, UC4177 and UC4178. To determine the mortality rates, the *G. mellonella* larvae were injected with a range of 10¹ to 10⁷ CFU/10 μ L of the mutant strains in comparison with UC4224 and *E. coli* BL21 as negative control. Larvae injected with negative controls showed no mortality. The Kaplan–Meier survival analysis (Figure 4) was based on the four lowest doses, as at 1.8×10⁴ CFU/10 μ L or higher, and the observed mortality rate was 100% for all the tested strains. The parental strain UC4224, which harbours the two intact *stx* operons, has a LD₅₀ of 6.0 CFU/10 μ L (Supplementary Table S5.2). When the two single mutants UC4176 and UC4177 were tested, the observed mortality rates were significantly lower than UC4224 (p < 0.05) for the three lowest doses injected, with a LD₅₀ of 81.7 CFU/10 μ L and 50.5 CFU/10 μ L respectively, but not significantly different between them (Supplementary Table S5.1). The lethality rate of UC4178 strain, with a LD₅₀ of 582.7 CFU/10 μ L, was significantly lower than the parental strains and the two single mutants for the four tested doses. *In vivo* trials with *G. mellonella* indicated an improved survival rates in larvae samples treated with the three mutants compared to those treated with the parental strain, with particular attention to UC4178 in which the deletion of the *stx1* and *stx2* genes allowed a considerable reduction in pathogenicity.



Figure 5 Kaplan–Meier survival curves of the experiments with G. mellonella larvae inoculated with tested strains at different injection doses (A) 9CFU/10 μ L, (B) 1.8×10^{1} CFU/10 μ L, (C) 1.8×10^{2} CFU/10 μ L, and (D) 1.8×10^{3} CFU/10 μ L. Each group contained 30 larvae separated in three groups of 10 larvae. E. coli.

4.7 Survival and growth dynamics of UC4224 and derivate mutants during food processing

A cheesemaking model, mimicking the first step of raw milk cheese production, was developed to evaluate the survival of UC4224 and the adequacy of the respective mutants as reduced-virulence surrogates during the cheesemaking process. The results of the bacterial counts, expressed as the average of three experiments, are shown in Figure 5. The four considered strains showed the same inactivation and growth dynamics in all the analysed steps of the food processing model, without statistically significant differences. In the first 40 min at 34°C, corresponding to the renneting step, no growth was observed. The thermal treatment at 48°C for 40 min, which represents the typical step of semi-hard raw milk cheese, resulted in a reduction greater than a 2 Log CFU/g for all four strains. In the subsequent step, when the curd was separated from whey and maintained at 20°C for 24 h, growth was observed reaching values of 1.3 Log and 3.4 Log to the thermal treatment at 48°C step. *E. coli* UC4224 and its Stx-phage-inactivated strains derivative were tested for their resistance to pH values typical of dairy products, obtained by adding lactic acid to growth medium. At pH 4, no growth was detected for any of the four strains at any cell density tested, at pH 4.5 growth was observed only with an inoculum concentration higher than 7 Log CFU/ml, while at pH of 5 was not growth limitation was seen (Supplementary Table S4).



Figure 6 E. coli counts in cheese making, at different analysis times, for the four independent experimental tests expressed as the average of three independent experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation.

5. CONCLUSION

Recently, Shiga-toxin producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) infections have been associated with the consumption of raw milk and derivatives thereof. In this study, STEC strain UC4224 was isolated from semi-hard raw milk cheese and was subjected WGS to investigate its virulence profile. Bioinformatic analyses using genome-derived data, allowed the classification of UC4224 as ST 661, serotype O174:H2 and, carrying two new and separate Stx1 and Stx2- converting phages with the typical Stx-converting phage structure (Figure 2). Many *stx*-carrying strains harbour LEE PAI but this strain was determined LEE-negative. LEE-negative strains have developed further mechanisms that facilitate infection. Commonly, LEE-negative STEC strains carry other adhesion and colonization-contributing factors like *iha* (IrgA homologue adhesin), *saa* (STEC autoagglutinating adhesin), and *lpfA* (long polar fimbria), that compensate for the absence of LEE, as it is the case of UC4224 (Lorenz et al., 2016). UC4224 harbours also LAA PAI (86 kb) in the chromosome and carries virulence factors throughout its 4 modules as previously described (Montero et al., 2017). A 44.7 kb non-*stx* prophage was found in the chromosome, with the gene *ompT*, a gene coding for a membrane protease highly associated with adhesion and pathogenicity in urinary tract infections (He et al., 2015); *lom* and *bor* genes were also found, which are

involved in T3SS expression that confer serum resistance and enhance adhesion (Rodríguez-Rubio et al., 2021). It has been demonstrated that other non-*stx* prophages have a direct impact on the STEC pathogenicity and pangenome, but the direct impact on UC4224 virulence is still to be determined (Rodríguez-Rubio et al., 2021). Other plasmid encoded virulence genes were found in pUC4224_1 (111 kb), including enterohemolysin gene *ehx*.*A*, demonstrated to contribute to virulence in STEC (Lorenz et al., 2016; Hua et al., 2021); SPATE family gene (*espP*) and other adhesion (*traT* and *saa*) genes.

Insights into the virulence profile of UC4224 led to the construction of single and double stx1 and stx2knock-out mutants to study its pathogenicity potential in vivo and evaluate their adequacy as surrogates with reduced pathogenicity during cheesemaking. With a genome engineering approach we generated three mutant strains in which genes stx1 and stx2 were substituted with antibiotic resistance cassettes to create UC4176(_Jstx1::kan, KanR), UC4177(_Jstx2::cat, CmR) and UC4178(_Jstx1::kan _Jstx2::cat, KanR CmR), as confirmed by Sanger sequencing. Previous studies have deleted both stx1 and stx2 from STEC O157:H7 (Yokoyama et al., 2001; Ma et al., 2011), without evaluating the pathogenicity in vivo. We focused the first part of this study to assess the role of Shiga toxins in UC4224 and respective mutants in vivo. Our results showed that, when considering the deletion of either or both the stx genes, all three mutants presented differences in the lethality against G. mellonella larvae when compared to the parental strain. In particular, we observed that the double mutant UC4178 $\exists stx1 \ \exists stx2$ showed highly reduced virulence with an increased LD_{50} of 2 Log dose when compared to UC4224 which shows a LD_{50} of 6 CFU/10 μ L. Our study indicates that the presence of both stx1 and stx2 genes have a combined effect on the pathogenicity of STEC, in fact the single mutants UC4176 *Lstx1* and UC4177 *Lstx2* showed a lower virulence (1 Log increase of median lethal dose) than UC4224. No differences between strains producing Stx1or Stx2 toxins were detected in the G. mellonella model, differently from what was observed in other animal models (Xue et al., 2011). In line with our results, a previous study has shown that non-pathogenic E. coli strains are non-lethal to G. mellonella with inoculations of up to 107 CFU/ larvae (Zuppi et al., 2020). Our results highlight that the deletion of either or both the stx genes does not completely suppress UC4224 virulence, leading to suppose the involvement of LAA PAI, plasmid- encoded VFs, non-stx prophage encoded VFs, non-LEE T3SS effectors and other colonization contributing factors in delivering pathogenicity to the host (Cundon et al., 2018; da Campos et al., 2019; Vélez et al., 2020b; Cortimiglia et al., 2021; Sánchez et al., 2021). Indeed, previously, another study observed that the deletion of stx genes in the presence of other virulence factors reduces the pathogenicity. In this work, Habets et al. (2022) showed that non-STEC EPEC O80:H26E. coli strains which correctly transduced with the Stx2d-phage, increased lethality in G. mellonella larvae, proving that the Stx2phage confers partial virulence to a strain harboring other virulence factors (Habets et al., 2022).

After establishing the mutants as suitable substitutes with diminished virulence, the second part of our study focused on the evaluation of the phenotypic differences between the mutants and the parental strain. The three mutants and the parental strain were submitted to a pilot scale raw milk cheese production to assess their survival in the cheese matrix, which is typically subjected to different stressing conditions like
temperature, pH, aw and redox potential changes. The possibility to use less virulent strains to study how it reacts within cheese manufacturing is important in challenge tests to avoid using hazardous pathogens. The intrinsic attributes of cheese, related to the different production and ripening processes, should act as a barrier to bacterial growth. Along with this, the intrinsic microbiota of raw milk together with the starter cultures are expected to outcompete pathogens by lowering the pH (Baylis, 2009). Nevertheless, raw milk cheeses of different varieties (soft and semi-hard) have been described as sources of contamination or outbreaks of STEC, since they do not undergo pasteurisation and the production process is not effective in counteracting the proliferation of these bacteria (Schlesser et al., 2006; Caro and García-Armesto, 2007; Miszczycha et al., 2013, 2016; Peng et al., 2013; Ahmed and Samer, 2017; Celikl et al., 2021). However, STEC have been isolated from pasteurised milk cheese as well, possibly due to cross- contamination (Fereydouni and Darbouy, 2015; Callon et al., 2016; Cardoso and Marin, 2016). It has been demonstrated that the survival capacity of STEC in the cheesemaking environment is due to the activation of stress response systems (dos Santos Rosario et al., 2021). This mechanism includes the induction of sigma factor encoded by gene *rpoS*, as a response reaction to acid stress and can also be influenced by high pressure, cold, heat, UV radiation, H₂O₂ and the concentration of salt (Cheville et al., 1996; Robey et al., 2001; Mei et al., 2015; Li et al., 2018). Other SOS response regulons were identified in UC4224 that act together with the induction of σ^{s} such as *gadE*, coding for one of the most efficient acid stress regulators (Vanaja et al., 2009), osmotic regulator ompR and oxidative stress coping gene katG (dos Santos Rosario et al., 2021). In line with other studies (Dineen et al., 1998), our results showed that the acidity values found in dairy products do not limit the growth of UC4224 and its three mutants being able to grow at pH 4.5, a value substantially lower than that of cheese. In a previous work by Cheng et al. (2002), where E. coli O157 was treated with pH 5.5 for 4 and 5 h, resulting in higher resistance to 10% NaCl and a temperature of 55°C (Cheng et al., 2002). Another study has shown that certain strains of the O157 serogroup are able to survive at low pH between 3 and 4, although the ideal condition for their growth is at pH 7 (Meira et al., 2017). The presence of these survival mechanisms in STEC explains the fact that they can be isolated from different types of dairy products and dairy-related environments. In effect, the phylogenomic analysis conducted in this study elucidated that the distribution of the stx genes did not follow a particular pattern in relation to the isolation sources or serogroups. The most abundant were O6, O26, O157 and O174. The latter was also found in other semi-hard raw milk cheeses as reported in previous study (Cortiniglia et al., 2021). Other studies have stated that O174 strains were sporadically isolated during outbreaks yet they represented the most frequently isolated STEC isolates from cattle and foods (Stephan et al., 2008; Lorenz et al., 2013; Cundon et al., 2018). Our results indicated a similar behaviour of the parental strains and engineered strains, demonstrating that the genomic modification did not affect the possibility to use them to study various metabolic features useful in the cheesemaking process. For the first time, we investigated the pathogenicity of O174:H2 non-LEE STEC highlighting that the virulence is related not only to stx genes but to other virulence factors. For this reason, further efforts should be done to gain a deeper knowledge on STEC from food regarding the importance of non-stx non-LEE virulence markers in defining the pathogenicity potential of dairy isolates. This work led to the creation adequate surrogates with decreased virulence for studies during food

processing. In order to enhance the suitability and safety of these strains, further experiments need to be conducted to eliminate non-stx virulence factors.

6. DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary material.

7. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GM: methodology, investigation, and writing-original draft preparation. MB: formal analysis, investigation, and writing-original draft preparation. CC and DB: writing-review and editing. PC: conceptualisation, writing-review and editing, validation, visualisation, supervision, and project administration. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

8. FAUNDING

This work was supported by the National Recovery and Resilience Plan (NRRP), Mission 4 Component 2 Investment 1.3 – Call for tender No. 341 of 15 March 2022 of Italian Ministry of University and Research funded by the European Union – NextGenerationEU. Award Number: Project code PE00000003, Concession Decree No. 1550 of 11 October 2022 adopted by the Italian Ministry of University and Research, CUP D93C22000890001, Project title "ON Foods – Research and innovation network on food and nutrition Sustainability, Safety and Security – Working ON Foods."

9. REFERENCES

- 1. Ahmed, W. F., and Samer, A. (2017). Detection of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in raw and pasteurized milk. *Zagazig Vet. J.* 45, 47–54. doi: 10.21608/ zvjz.2017.7686
- Baylis, C. L. (2009). Raw milk and raw milk cheeses as vehicles for infection by Verocytotoxinproducing *Escherichia coli. Int. J. Dairy Technol.* 62, 293–307. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0307.2009.00504.x
- 3. Bellio, A., Bianchi, D. M., Vitale, N., Vernetti, L., Gallina, S., and Decastelli, L. (2018). Behavior of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 during the manufacture and ripening of Fontina protected designation of origin cheese. *J. Dairy Sci.* 101, 4962–4970. doi: 10.3168/ jds.2017-13458
- Belloso Daza, M. V., Cortimiglia, C., Bassi, D., and Cocconcelli, P. S. (2021). Genome- based studies indicate that the *Enterococcus faecium* clade B strains belong to Enterococcus lactis species and lack of the hospital infection associated markers. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 71, 1466–5034. doi: 10.1099/ijsem.0.004948

- Belloso Daza, M. V., Milani, G., Cortimiglia, C., Pietta, E., Bassi, D., and Cocconcelli, P. S. (2022). Genomic insights of *Enterococcus faecium* UC7251, a multi- drug resistant strain from ready-to-eat foods, highlight the risk of antimicrobial resistance in the food chain. *Front. Microbiol.* 13:894241. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2022.894241
- BIORAD (1900). Electroporation manual. *Bio Rad*, 1–32. Available at: papers2:// publication/uuid/55DF74D6-FBBE-457C-B2E6-37A35FDED0A8.
- Bondì, R., Chiani, P., Michelacci, V., Minelli, F., Caprioli, A., and Morabito, S. (2017). The gene tia, harbored by the Subtilase-encoding Pathogenicity Island, is involved in the ability of locus of enterocyte effacement-negative Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains to invade monolayers of epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* 85, 1–7. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.00613-17
- Callon, C., Arliguie, C., and Montel, M.-C. (2016). Control of Shigatoxin-producing *Escherichia* coli in cheese by dairy bacterial strains. *Food Microbiol.* 53, 63–70. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2015.08.009
- Cardoso, P., and Marin, J. M. (2016). Occurrence of non-O157 Shiga toxin-encoding *Escherichia* coli in artisanal mozzarella cheese in Brazil: risk factor associated with food workers. *Food Sci. Technol.* 37, 41–44. doi: 10.1590/1678-457x.06316
- Caro, I., and García-Armesto, M. R. (2007). Occurrence of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in a Spanish raw ewe's milk cheese. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 116, 410–413. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2007.02.015
- Carter, M. Q., Pham, A., Huynh, S., Parker, C. T., Miller, A., He, X., et al. (2021). DNA adenine methylase, not the PstI restriction-modification system, regulates virulence gene expression in Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. *Food Microbiol*. 96:103722. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2020.103722
- Celikl, G., Dikici, A., and Koluman, A. (2021). Survival of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia* coli (STEC) Serogroups during production and storage of yogurt. J. Hell. Vet. Med. Soc. 72, 2689– 2687. doi: 10.12681/jhvms.26753
- Centorotola, G., Sperandii, A. F., Tucci, P., D'Alterio, N., Ricci, L., Goffredo, E., et al. (2021). Survival rate of *Escherichia coli* O157 in artificially contaminated raw and thermized ewe milk in different pecorino cheese production processes. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 347:109175. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2021.109175
- Cheng, H. Y., Yang, H. Y., and Chou, C. C. (2002). Influence of acid adaptation on the tolerance of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to some subsequent stresses. *J. Food Prot.* 65, 260–265. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X-65.2.260

- Cheville, A. M., Arnold, K. W., Buchrieser, C., Cheng, C. M., and Kaspar, C. W. (1996). rpoS regulation of acid, heat, and salt tolerance in *Escherichia coli* O157: H7. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62, 1822–1824. doi: 10.1128/aem.62.5.1822-1824.1996
- Colello, R., Krüger, A., Velez, M. V., Del Canto, F., Etcheverría, A. I., Vidal, R., et al. (2019). Identification and detection of iha subtypes in LEE-negative Shiga toxin- producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) strains isolated from humans, cattle and food. *Heliyon* 5, e03015–e03016. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e03015
- Cortimiglia, C., Borney, M. F., Bassi, D., and Cocconcelli, P. S. (2021). Genomic investigation of virulence potential in Shiga toxin *Escherichia coli* (STEC) strains from a semi-hard raw Milk cheese. *Front. Microbiol.* 11:3642. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.629189
- Cundon, C., Carbonari, C. C., Zolezzi, G., Rivas, M., and Bentancor, A. (2018). Putative virulence factors and clonal relationship of O174 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* isolated from human, food and animal sources. *Vet. Microbiol.* 215, 29–34. doi: 10.1016/J.VETMIC.2017.12.006
- da Campos, A. C., Cavallo, F. M., Andrade, N. L., van Dijl, J. M., Couto, N., Zrimec, J., et al. (2019). Determining the virulence properties of *Escherichia coli* ST131 containing bacteriocinencoding plasmids using short-and long-read sequencing and comparing them with those of other *E. coli* lineages. *Microorganisms* 7, 1–15. doi: 10.3390/ microorganisms7110534
- Datsenko, K. A., and Wanner, B. L. (2000). One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in Escherichia coli K-12 using PCR products. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 6640–6645. doi: 10.1073/pnas.120163297
- 21. Datta, S., Costantino, N., and Court, D. L. (2006). A set of recombineering plasmids for gramnegative bacteria. *Gene* 379, 109–115. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2006.04.018
- Dineen, S. S., Takeuchi, K., Soudah, J. E., and Boor, K. J. (1998). Persistence of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 in dairy fermentation systems. *J. Food Prot.* 61, 1602–1608. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X-61.12.1602
- Dos Santos Rosario, A. I. L., da Silva Mutz, Y., Castro, V. S., da Silva, M. C. A., Conte-Junior, C. A., and da Costa, M. P. (2021). Everybody loves cheese: crosslink between persistence and virulence of Shiga-toxin *Escherichia coli. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 61, 1877–1899. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2020.1767033
- 24. ECDC (2022). Annual epidemiological report for 2020.
- 25. EFSA and ECDC (2021). The European Union one health 2020 Zoonoses report.
- 26. EFSA J. 19:e06971. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2021.6971

- 27. EFSA and ECDC (2022). The European Union one health 2021 Zoonoses report.
- 28. EFSA J. 20:e07666. doi:
- Egan, M., Ramirez, J., Xander, C., Upreti, C., and Bhatt, S. (2016). Lambda red-mediated recombineering in the attaching and effacing pathogen *Escherichia albertii. Biol. Proced. Online* 18, 3–13. doi: 10.1186/s12575-015-0032-8
- Fereydouni, F., and Darbouy, M. (2015). Isolation and characterization of Shiga toxin producing Escherichia coli isolates from raw milk and cheese by biochemical and PCR of the specific genes in Fars province, Iran. Afr. J. Agric. Sci. Technol. 3, 461–466.
- Franz, E., Rotariu, O., Lopes, B. S., Macrae, M., Bono, J. L., Laing, C., et al. (2019). Phylogeographic analysis reveals multiple international transmission events have driven the global emergence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 69, 428–437. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy919
- 32. Franzin, F. M., and Sircili, M. P. (2015). Locus of enterocyte effacement: a pathogenicity island involved in the virulence of enteropathogenic and enterohemorragic *Escherichia coli* subjected to a complex network of gene regulation. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015, 1–10. doi: 10.1155/2015/534738
- Gueguen, E., and Cascales, E. (2013). Promoter swapping unveils the role of the *citrobacter rodentium* CTS1 type VI secretion system in interbacterial competition. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 32–38. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02504-12
- Habets, A., Antoine, C., Wagemans, J., Vermeersch, M., Laforêt, F., Diderich, J., et al. (2022). Impact of Shiga – toxin encoding gene transduction from O80: H2 Shiga toxigenic *Escherichia coli* (STEC) on non – STEC strains. *Sci. Rep.* 12:21587. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-26198-8
- 35. Hasson, S. O., Judi, H. K., Salih, H. H., Al-Khaykan, A., Akrami, S., Sabahi, S., et al. (2022). Intimin (eae) and virulence membrane protein Pag C genes are associated with biofilm formation and multidrug resistance in Escherichia coli and *Salmonella enterica* isolates from calves with diarrhea. *BMC. Res. Notes* 15, 1–6. doi: 10.1186/ s13104-022-06218-6
- Hauser, E., Mellmann, A., Semmler, T., Stoeber, H., Wieler, L. H., Karch, H., et al. (2013). Phylogenetic and molecular analysis of food-borne Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 2731–2740. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03552-12
- He, X. L., Wang, Q., Peng, L., Qu, Y. R., Puthiyakunnon, S., Liu, X. L., et al. (2015). Role of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* outer membrane protein T in pathogenesis of urinary tract infection. *Pathog. Dis.* 73, 1–9. doi: 10.1093/femspd/ftv006
- Hua, Y., Zhang, J., Jernberg, C., Chromek, M., Hansson, S., Frykman, A., et al. (2021). Molecular characterization of the Enterohemolysin gene (ehxA) in clinical Shiga toxin- producing *Escherichia coli* isolates. *Toxins (Basel)*. 13:71. doi: 10.3390/toxins13010071

- Ioanna, F., Quaglia, N. C., Storelli, M. M., Castiglia, D., Goffredo, E., Storelli, A., et al. (2018). Survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 during the manufacture and ripening of Cacioricotta goat cheese. *Food Microbiol.* 70, 200–205. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2017.10.005
- 40. Jenkins, C., Bird, P. K., Wensley, A., Wilkinson, J., Aird, H., MacKintosh, A., et al. (2022). Outbreak of STEC O157:H7 linked to a milk pasteurisation failure at a dairy farm in England, 2019. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 150:e114. doi: 10.1017/ S0950268822000929
- 41. Jones, G., Lefèvre, S., Donguy, M. P., Nisavanh, A., Terpant, G., Fougère, E., et al. (2019). Soutbreak of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) O26 paediatric haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS) cases associated with the consumption of soft raw cow's milk cheeses, France, march to may 2019. *Eur. Secur.* 24:1900305. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.22.1900305
- 42. Kim, S. H., Lee, S. R., Kim, K. S., Ko, A., Kim, E., Kim, Y. H., et al. (2010). Shiga toxin a subunit mutant of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 releases outer membrane vesicles containing the Bpentameric complex. *FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol.* 58, 412–420. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.2010.00654.x
- 43. Koutsoumanis, K., Allende, A., Alvarez-Ordóñez, A., Bover-Cid, S., Chemaly, M., Davies, R., et al. (2020). Pathogenicity assessment of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) and the public health risk posed by contamination of food with STEC. *EFSA J.* 18, 1–105. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2020.5967
- 44. Krause, M., Barth, H., and Schmidt, H. (2018). Toxins of locus of enterocyte effacementnegative Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli. Toxins (Basel).* 10, 1–19. doi: 10.3390/toxins10060241
- 45. Krueger, F. (2016). TrimGalore. A wrapper around Cutadapt and FastQC to consistently apply adapter and quality trimming to FastQ files, with extra functionality for RRBS data. TrimGalore. Available at: https://github.com/FelixKrueger/TrimGalore (Accessed November 25, 2021).
- Li, Y., Zhou, D., Hu, S., Xiao, X., Yu, Y., and Li, X. (2018). Transcriptomic analysis by RNAseq of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 response to prolonged cold stress. *LWT* 97, 17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2018.06.025
- 47. Lorenz, S. C., Monday, S. R., Hoffmann, M., Fischer, M., and Kase, J. A. (2016). Plasmids from Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains with rare enterohemolysin gene (ehxA) subtypes reveal pathogenicity potential and display a novel evolutionary path. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 82, 6367–6377. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01839-16
- 48. Lorenz, S. C., Son, I., Maounounen-Laasri, A., Lin, A., Fischer, M., and Kase, J. A. (2013). Prevalence of hemolysin genes and comparison of ehxA subtype patterns in Shiga toxin-

producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) and non-STEC strains from clinical, food, and animal sources. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 6301–6311. doi: 10.1128/ AEM.02200-13

- Liu, Y., Zhu, L., Dong, P., Liang, R., Mao, Y., Yang, X., et al. (2020). Acid Tolerance Response of Listeria monocytogenes in Various External pHs with Different Concentrations of Lactic Acid. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 17:253–263. doi: 10.1089/ fpd.2019.2730
- Ma, J., Ibekwe, A. M., Yi, X., Wang, H., Yamazaki, A., Crowley, D. E., et al. (2011). Persistence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and its mutants in soils. *PLoS One* 6:e23191. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023191
- Mei, G.-Y., Tang, J., Carey, C., Bach, S., and Kostrzynska, M. (2015). The effect of oxidative stress on gene expression of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) O157: H7 and non-O157 serotypes. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 215, 7–15. doi: 10.1016/j. ijfoodmicro.2015.07.029
- 52. Meira, N. V. B., Holley, R. A., Bordin, K., de Macedo, R. E. F., and Luciano, F. B. (2017). Combination of essential oil compounds and phenolic acids against *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 in vitro and in dry-fermented sausage production. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 260, 59–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017.08.010
- 53. Mekapogu, (2021). *Finney's probit analysis spreadsheet calculator*. Available at: https:// probitanalysis.wordpress.com/
- Miajlovic, H., and Smith, S. G. (2014). Bacterial self-defence: how *Escherichia coli* evades serum killing. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 354, 1–9. doi: 10.1111/1574-6968.12419
- 55. Micenková, L., Beňová, A., Frankovičová, L., Bosák, J., Vrba, M., Ševčíková, A., et al. (2017). Human *Escherichia coli* isolates from hemocultures: septicemia linked to urogenital tract infections is caused by isolates harboring more virulence genes than bacteraemia linked to other conditions. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 307, 182–189. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2017.02.003
- 56. Miszczycha, S. D., Bel, N., Gay-Perret, P., Michel, V., Montel, M.-C., and Sergentet-Thevenot, D. (2016). Behavior of different Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* serotypes (O26: H11, O103: H2, O145: H28, O157: H7) during the manufacture, ripening, and storage of a white mold cheese. *J. Dairy Sci.* 99, 5224–5229. doi: 10.3168/ jds.2015-10803
- Miszczycha, S. D., Perrin, F., Ganet, S., Jamet, E., Tenenhaus-Aziza, F., Montel, M.-C., et al. (2013). Behavior of different Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* serotypes in various experimentally contaminated raw-milk cheeses. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 150–158. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02192-12
- Montero, D. A., Canto, F. D., Velasco, J., Colello, R., Padola, N. L., Salazar, J. C., et al. (2019). Cumulative acquisition of pathogenicity islands has shaped virulence potential and contributed

to the emergence of LEE-negative Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* 8, 486–502. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2019.1595985

- Montero, D. A., Velasco, J., Del Canto, F., Puente, J. L., Padola, N. L., Rasko, D. A., et al. (2017). Locus of adhesion and autoaggregation (LAA), a pathogenicity island present in emerging Shiga toxin–producing *Escherichia coli* strains. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 1–13. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-06999-y
- Morgan, J. K., Ortiz, J. A., and Riordan, J. T. (2014). The role for TolA in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli pathogenesis and virulence gene transcription. *Microb. Pathog.* 77, 42–52. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2014.10.010
- Muniesa, M., de Simon, M., Prats, G., Ferrer, D., Pañella, H., and Jofre, J. (2003). Shiga toxin 2converting bacteriophages associated with clonal variability in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains of human origin isolated from a single outbreak. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 4554–4562. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.8.4554-4562.2003
- 62. Paton, A. W., Beutin, L., and Paton, J. C. (1995). Heterogeneity of the amino-acid sequences of *Escherichia coli* Shiga-like toxin type-I operons. *Gene* 153, 71–74. doi: 10.1016/0378-1119(94)00777-p
- Paton, A. W., Paton, J. C., and Manning, P. A. (1993). Polymerase chain reaction amplification, cloning and sequencing of variant *Escherichia coli* Shiga-like toxin type II operons. *Microb. Pathog.* 15, 77–82. doi: 10.1006/mpat.1993.1058
- Pedersen, R. M., Nielsen, M. T. K., Möller, S., Ethelberg, S., Skov, M. N., Kolmos, H. J., et al. (2018). Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: incidence and clinical features in a setting with complete screening of patients with suspected infective diarrhoea. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 24, 635–639. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2017.10.002
- Peng, S., Hoffmann, W., Bockelmann, W., Hummerjohann, J., Stephan, R., and Hammer, P. (2013). Fate of Shiga toxin-producing and generic *Escherichia coli* during production and ripening of semihard raw milk cheese. *J. Dairy Sci.* 96, 815–823. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-5865
- 66. Robey, M., Benito, A., Hutson, R. H., Pascual, C., Park, S. F., and Mackey, B. M. (2001). Variation in resistance to high hydrostatic pressure and rpoS heterogeneity in natural isolates of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67, 4901–4907. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.10.4901-4907.2001
- Rodríguez-Rubio, L., Haarmann, N., Schwidder, M., Muniesa, M., and Schmidt, H. (2021). Bacteriophages of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli and their contribution to pathogenicity. *Pathogens* 10, 1–23. doi: 10.3390/pathogens10040404

- Ruessmann, H., Schmidt, H., Caprioli, A., and Karch, H. (1994). Highly conserved B-subunit genes of Shiga-like toxin II variants found in *Escherichia coli* O157 strains. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 118, 335–340. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1994.tb06849.x
- Sánchez, F., Fuenzalida, V., Ramos, R., Escobar, B., Neira, V., Borie, C., et al. (2021). Genomic features and antimicrobial resistance patterns of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from food in Chile. *Zoonoses Public Health* 68, 226–238. doi: 10.1111/zph.12818
- Schlesser, J. E., Gerdes, R., Ravishankar, S., Madsen, K., Mowbray, J., and Teo, A.-L. (2006). Survival of a five-strain cocktail of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 during the 60-day aging period of cheddar cheese made from unpasteurized milk. *J. Food Prot.* 69, 990–998. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X-69.5.990
- Seemann, T. (2014). Prokka: rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. *Bioinformatics* 30, 2068–2069. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu153
- Serra-Moreno, R., Acosta, S., Hernalsteens, J. P., Jofre, J., and Muniesa, M. (2006). Use of the lambda red recombinase system to produce recombinant prophages carrying antibiotic resistance genes. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 7, 1–12. doi: 10.1186/1471-2199-7-31
- Stephan, R., Schumacher, S., Corti, S., Krause, G., Danuser, J., and Beutin, L. (2008). Prevalence and characteristics of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in Swiss raw Milk cheeses collected at producer level. *J. Dairy Sci.* 91, 2561–2565. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1055
- 74. Tantoso, E., Eisenhaber, B., Kirsch, M., Shitov, V., Zhao, Z., and Eisenhaber, F. (2022). To kill or to be killed: pangenome analysis of *Escherichia coli* strains reveals a tailocin specific for pandemic ST131. *BMC Biol.* 20, 146–126. doi: 10.1186/ s12915-022-01347-7
- 75. Toma, C., Higa, N., Iyoda, S., Rivas, M., and Iwanaga, M. (2006). The long polar fimbriae genes identified in Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* are present in other diarrheagenic E. coli and in the standard *E. coli* collection of reference (ECOR) strains. *Res. Microbiol.* 157, 153–161. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2005.06.009
- Vanaja, S. K., Bergholz, T. M., and Whittam, T. S. (2009). Characterization of the *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 Sakai GadE regulon. J. Bacteriol. 191, 1868–1877. doi: 10.1128/ JB.01481-08
- Vélez, M. V., Colello, R., Etcheverría, A. I., and Padola, N. L. (2022). Shiga toxin producing Escherichia coli: the challenge of adherence to survive. Rev. Argent. Microbiol. 55, 100–107. doi: 10.1016/j.ram.2022.04.001
- Vélez, M. V., Colello, R., Etcheverría, A. I., Vidal, R. M., Montero, D. A., Acuña, P., et al. (2020a). Distribution of locus of adhesion and autoaggregation and hes gene in STEC strains

from countries of Latin America. Curr. Microbiol. 77, 2111–2117. doi: 10.1007/s00284-020-02062-8

- Vélez, M. V., Colello, R., Etcheverría, A. I., Vidal, R. M., Montero, D. A., Acuña, P., et al. (2020b). Distribution of locus of adhesion and autoaggregation and hes gene in STEC strains from countries of Latin America. *Curr. Microbiol.* 77, 2111–2117. doi: 10.1007/s00284-020-02062-8
- Werber, D., and Scheutz, F. (2019). The importance of integrating genetic strain information for managing cases of Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* infection. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 147:e264. doi: 10.1017/S0950268819001602
- Wick, R. R., Judd, L. M., Gorrie, C. L., and Holt, K. E. (2017). Unicycler: resolving bacterial genome assemblies from short and long sequencing reads. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 13:e1005595. doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PCBI.1005595
- Xue, T., Chen, X., Gao, S., and Liu, X. (2011). Construction of the XZ113 delta eaeA, XZ113 delta eta and XZ113 delta eta and XZ113 delta eta and XZ113 and their pathogenicity in mice. Wei Sheng Wu Xue Bao 51, 1655–1662. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22379807
- Yokoyama, S. I., Suzuki, T., Shiraishi, S., Ohishi, N., Yagi, K., Ichihara, S., et al. (2001). Construction of deletion mutants of Shiga (-like) toxin genes (stx-1 and/or stx-2) on enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (O157: H7). *J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr.* 30, 33–42. doi: 10.3164/jcbn.30.33
- Zhang, X., Payne, M., Kaur, S., and Lan, R. (2022). Improved genomic identification, clustering, and serotyping of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* using cluster/ serotypespecific gene markers. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 11:772574. doi: 10.3389/ fcimb.2021.772574
- Zuppi, M., Tozzoli, R., Chiani, P., Quiros, P., Martinez-Velazquez, A., Michelacci, V., et al. (2020). Investigation on the evolution of Shiga toxin-converting phages based on whole genome sequencing. *Front. Microbiol.* 11, 1–14. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2020.01472

10. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Primers	Purpose	Sequence	Length	Reference
P1cat*	5' primer for replacing $st \ge 2$ with <i>cat</i>	CTTCAGCCAAAAGGAACACCTGTATATG AAGTGTATATTATTTAAATGGG- CCATATGAATATCCTCCTTA		
			1117bp	This study
P2cat*	3' primer for replacing stx2 with cat	CACATACCACAAATCAGGTTATGCCTCAG TCATTATTAAACTGCACTTCA- GTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC		
Cm-F		CCATATGAATATCCTCCTTA	1015bp	Serra-Moreno et al. 2006
Cm-R	cat gene	GTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC		
stx2-F stx2-R	5' primer to verify <i>stx</i> 2 deletion 3' primer to verify <i>stx</i> 2 deletion	GTGCCTGTTACTGGGTTTTTCTTC AGGGGTCGATATCTCTGTCC	118bp	Paton et al., 1993
P1kan*	5' primer for replacing $st \ge 1$ with kan	GGTGCTCAAGGAGTATTGTGTAATATGA AAATAATTATTTTTTAGAGTGCTG- GGATCCGTCGACCTGCAGT		
P2kan*	3' primer for replacing stx1 with kan	GCTATTTTCACTGAGCTATTCTGAGTCAA CGAAAAATAACTTCGCTGAAT- GTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC	1398bp	This study
PKAN F	kan gene	GGGATCCGTCGACCTGCAGT	1298bp	This study
PKAN R		GTGTAGGCTGGAGCTGCTTC		
stx1-F stx1-R	5' primer to verify $st \ge 1$ deletion 3' primer to verify $st \ge 1$ deletion	TTCGCTCTGCAATAGGTA TTCCCCAGTTCAATGTAAGAT	555bp	Paton et al., 1995
tx2 Forward	Binds <i>stx2a</i> subunit to the starting codon (external primer)	ATGAAGTGTATATTATTTA	10411	Muniesa et al., 2003
tx2 Reverse	Binds <i>stx2b</i> subunit to the end codon (external primer)	TCAGTCATTATTAAACTG	12410p	Rüssmann et al., 1993
Cm-F stx2	Used for construction of the 5' fragment	TAAGGAGGATATTCATATGG ACGAAGATGGTCAAAACGCG	270bp	0 1 -004
Cm-R stx2	Used for construction of 3' fragment of the <i>cat</i> gene	GAAGCAGCTCCAGCCTACAC AGGAGTTAAGTATGAAGAAG	280bp	Serra-Moreno et al. 2006
stx1 start	Binds <i>stx1a</i> subunit to the starting codon (external primer)	CCGCCTGCTATTTTCACTGA		
stx1 end	Binds $stx1b$ subunit to the end codon (external primer)	GGTGCTCAAGGAGTATTGTG	1281bp	This Study

*Tm= 50°C

Table S1 Oligonucleotides used in this study for the construction of antibiotic resistance cassette with homologous arms and the confirmation of the correct gene replacement

Strain	Assembly	STEC	isolation category	serotype	isolation date
1429	GCA_0259 89075.1	stx1	Dairy product	O79:H48	03/11/2 022
2206	GCA_0259 89065.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O175:H16	03/11/2 022
09QMA299- 3B	GCA_0259 88945.1	stx1	Dairy product	O8:H19	03/11/2 022
09QMA303- 1A	GCA_0259 88885.1	stx2	Dairy product	O2:H27	03/11/2 022
09QMA311- 2-3	GCA_0259 88955.1	stx2	Dairy product	O175:H16	03/11/2 022
09QMA33-1	GCA_0259 88865.1	stx2	Dairy product	O6:H10	03/11/2 022
09QMA47-1	GCA_0259 88835.1	stx1	Dairy product	O26:H11	03/11/2 022
13_5821	GCA_0146 08415.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	16/09/2 020
13-5819	GCA_0146 22575.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	16/09/2 020
13-5820	GCA_0146 23105.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	16/09/2 020
13-5822	GCA_0146 09055.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	16/09/2 020
13-5823	GCA_0146 21915.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	16/09/2 020
13-5824	GCA_0146 09655.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	16/09/2 020
1890-4	GCA_0259 88825.1	stx1	Dairy product	O145:H28	03/11/2 022
19_0255	GCA_0181 33045.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	23/04/2 021
19_0256	GCA_0181 33325.1	stx2	Cheese	O8:H30	23/04/2 021

2011-O26	GCA_0259 88775.1	stx1	Dairy product	O26:H11	03/11/2 022
2026-0145	GCA_0259 88785.1	stx2	Dairy product	O145:H28	03/11/2 022
2039-O26	GCA_0259 88765.1	stx1	Dairy product	O26:H11	03/11/2 022
2048-O145	GCA_0259 88725.1	stx2	Dairy product	O145:H28	03/11/2 022
2149-O103	GCA_0259 88735.1	stx1	Dairy product	O103:H11	03/11/2 022
2236-3b	GCA_0261 35185.1	stx1	Dairy product	O26:H11	11/11/2 022
2918-O145	GCA_0259 88695.1	stx2	Dairy product	O145:H28	03/11/2 022
3273-O103	GCA_0261 35215.1	stx1	Dairy product	O103:H11	11/11/2 022
3313-0111	GCA_0259 88665.1	stx1	Dairy product	O111:H8	03/11/2 022
3382-O103	GCA_0261 34445.1	stx1	Dairy product	O103:H11	11/11/2 022
3383-O26b	GCA_0261 35105.1	stx1	Dairy product	O26:H11	11/11/2 022
3430-O103	GCA_0261 35085.1	stx1	Dairy product	O103:H11	11/11/2 022
429-026	GCA_0259 88635.1	stx1	Dairy product	O26:H11	03/11/2 022
4712-O26	GCA_0261 35005.1	stx1	Dairy product	O26:H11	11/11/2 022
4747-O26	GCA_0259 88675.1	stx1	Dairy product	O26:H11	03/11/2 022
97HMPL449	GCA_0259 88625.1	stx1	Dairy product	O3:H12	03/11/2 022
97HMPL473	GCA_0259 88605.1	stx1	Dairy product	O110:H9	03/11/2 022
97HMPL650	GCA_0259 88535.1	stx1	Dairy product	O112ac:H1 9	03/11/2 022
97HMPL652	GCA_0259 88575.1	stx1	Dairy product	O17:H18	03/11/2 022
97HMPL657	GCA_0261 34525.1	stx1	Dairy product	O5:H9	11/11/2 022

97HMPL915	GCA_0259 88525.1	stx2	Dairy product	O110:H9	03/11/2 022
98HMPL324	GCA_0261 34235.1	stx2	Dairy product	O5:H9	11/11/2 022
98HMPL325	GCA_0259 88545.1	stx1	Dairy product	O110:H9	03/11/2 022
98HMPL475	GCA_0259 88505.1	stx1	Dairy product	O91:H14	03/11/2 022
98HMPL479	GCA_0259 88485.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O136:H12	03/11/2 022
98HMPL487	GCA_0259 88425.1	stx1	Dairy product	O174:H21	03/11/2 022
BUR-FI- 2013-MI- 00677-1	GCA_0121 40015.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	01/08/2 018
BUR-FI- 2013-MI- 00677-7	GCA_0121 41065.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	01/08/2 018
BUR-FI- 2013-MI- 00727-1	GCA_0121 40585.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	01/08/2 018
BUR-FI- 2013-MI- 00727-6	GCA_0121 40105.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy Milk	O157:H7	31/07/2 018
BUR-FI- 2013-MI- 00758-4-1	GCA_0121 40765.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	01/08/2 018
BUR-FI- 2013-MI- 00758-4-6	GCA_0121 40565.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	01/08/2 018
CAL-FD- 2013-MI- 0636-1	GCA_0121 40745.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy Milk	O157:H7	31/07/2 018
CAL-FD- 2013-MI- 0670-1	GCA_0121 39765.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	01/08/2 018
CDPHFDLB -F1602047- 001	GCA_0126 90685.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy Milk	O?:H7	08/03/2 016
CFSAN0515 26	GCA_0120 49985.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	30/11/2 018

CFSAN0515 27	GCA_0120 49785.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	30/11/2 018
CFSAN0515 31	GCA_0120 50045.1	stx2	Cheese	O8:H30	30/11/2 018
CFSAN0515 33	GCA_0120 50125.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	30/11/2 018
CFSAN0515 35	GCA_0126 43025.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	24/07/2 016
CFSAN0515 37	GCA_0126 43005.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	24/07/2 016
EC14	GCA_0259 88305.1	stx2	Dairy product	O113:H4	03/11/2 022
EC15	GCA_0104 99655.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	13/02/2 020
EC872416	GCA_0101 79635.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	05/02/2 020
ECA15	GCA_0261 34185.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy product	O76:H19	11/11/2 022
ECA34	GCA_0261 34195.1	stx1	Dairy product	O79:H48	11/11/2 022
ECA36	GCA_0261 34485.1	stx1	Dairy product	O103:H2	11/11/2 022
ECA37	GCA_0261 34765.1	stx1	Dairy product	O103:H11	11/11/2 022
ECA89	GCA_0261 34405.1	stx1	Dairy product	O174:H21	11/11/2 022
ECA97	GCA_0259 88125.1	stx2	Dairy product	O177:H25	03/11/2 022
FDA1110442 -S008-001	GCA_0153 29005.1	stx1	Cheese	O?:H40	07/06/2 019
FDA1110442 -S008-002	GCA_0153 28765.1	stx1	Cheese	O?:H40	12/06/2 019
FDA1110442 -S008-003	GCA_0153 28865.1	stx1	Cheese	O?:H40	07/06/2 019
FDA1110442 -S008-005	GCA_0153 28745.1	stx1	Cheese	O?:H40	12/06/2 019
FLAG-59726	GCA_0128 84835.1	stx2	Cheese	O172:H5	12/03/2 020

MOD1- EC2541	GCA_0025 16325.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	11/10/2 017
MOD1- EC2549	GCA_0025 14885.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	11/10/2 017
MOD1- EC2766	GCA_0024 76375.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	06/10/2 017
MOD1- EC2769	GCA_0024 76355.1	stx1	Cheese	O81:H21	06/10/2 017
MOD1- EC3827	GCA_0025 16025.1	stx1	Cheese	O20:H16	11/10/2 017
MOD1- EC3831	GCA_0025 15965.1	stx1	Cheese	O20:H16	11/10/2 017
PNUSAE004 169	GCA_0124 94245.1	stx1	Cheese	O?:H5	02/03/2 017
PNUSAE004 170	GCA_0124 94445.1	stx2	Cheese	O?:H48	02/03/2 017
PNUSAE004 171	GCA_0124 94465.1	stx1	Cheese	O5:H9	02/03/2 017
PNUSAE004 172	GCA_0124 94365.1	stx1	Cheese	O5:H9	02/03/2 017
PNUSAE004 173	GCA_0124 94405.1	stx1	Cheese	O5:H9	02/03/2 017
PNUSAE063 752	GCA_0152 26665.1	stx1 and stx2	Dairy Milk	O157:H7	04/11/2 020
PNUSAE068 927	GCA_0177 34475.1	stx1 and stx2	Cheese	O38:H21	17/03/2 021
PNUSAE113 785	GCA_0253 08195.1	stx2	Cheese	O157:H7	16/09/2 022
PSU-3645	GCA_0179 46745.1	stx1	Cheese	O121:H7	13/04/2 021
SC_872416	GCA_0151 59835.1	stx1	Cheese	O6:H10	01/11/2 020
SC_886340	GCA_0151 59895.1	stx2	Cheese	O8:H30	01/11/2 020
Slk8430767	GCA_0259 88085.1	stx2	Dairy product	O157:H7	03/11/2 022
UC4128	GCA_0161 23515.1	stx1 and stx2	Cheese	O174:H2	19/12/2 020

UC4129	GCA_0161 23475.1	stx2	Cheese	O116:H48	19/12/2 020
UC4130	GCA_0161 23455.1	stx1 and stx2	Cheese	O174:H2	19/12/2 020
UC4131	GCA_0161 23425.1	stx1 and stx2	Cheese	O174:H2	19/12/2 020
UC4132	GCA_0161 23415.1	stx1 and stx2	Cheese	O174:H2	19/12/2 020
UC4133	GCA_0161 23385.1	stx2	Cheese	O116:H48	19/12/2 020
UC4134	GCA_0161 23375.1	stx2	Cheese	O116:H48	19/12/2 020
UC4224	GCA_0253 69975.1	stx1 and stx2	Cheese	O174:H2	22/09/2 022
VA-WGS- 00283	GCA_0128 30355.1	stx2	Cheese	O157:H7	28/10/2 014
VL1029a	GCA_0151 17575.1	stx2	Dairy Milk	O157:H43	05/10/2 020

Table S2 Dairy associated Escherichia coli genomes used to infer phylogeny.

Gene	▼ Subtype	▼ Molecule ↓	Position in con	Protein function
		Shiga	a Toxins	
stx1A	STEC	Chromosome	712684-713631	Shiga toxin 1, subunit A, variant a
stx1B	STEC	Chromosome	712405-712674	Shiga toxin 1, subunit B, variant a
stx2A	STEC	Chromosome	4855779-4856738	Shiga toxin 2, subunit A, variant a
stx2B	STEC	Chromosome	4856750-4857019	Shiga toxin 2, subunit B, variant a
		LA	A PAI	
ag43	LAA PAI related	Chromosome	1911034-1914153	ORF67 that promotes autoaggregation
hes	LAA PAI related	Chromosome	1842328-1843068	Hemagglutinin from STEC
lesP	LAA PAI related	Chromosome	1866536-1870627	LAA encoded SPATE
pagC	LAA PAI related	Chromosome	1881900-1882475	Serum resistance
sisA	LAA PAI related	Chromosome	1839242-1840285	shiA-like inflammation suppressor genes A
		Oth	ner VFs	
hra	adherence	Chromosome	1842328-1843082	Heat-resistant agglutinin
iss	serum resistance	Chromosome	4166610-4166903	Increased serum survival
lpfA	adherence	Chromosome	2800504-2801076	Long polar fimbriae
ompT	adherence	Chromosome	4194798-4195751	Outer membrane protease
рарС	adherence	Chromosome	3397513-3400023	Outer membrane usher P fimbriae
		non-LEE	F3SS effectors	
bipA	transcription	Chromosome	2951208-2953031	50S ribosomal subunit assembly factor BipA
cpxP	transcription	Chromosome	2997993-2998493	Periplasmic protein CpxP
cpxA	transcription	Chromosome	2995775-2997148	Sensor histidine kinase CpxA
cpxR	transcription	Chromosome	2997145-2997843	Transcriptional regulatory protein CpxR
fis	transcription	Chromosome	2299433-2299729	DNA-binding protein Fis
gadE	transcription	Chromosome	2533254-2533781	acid resistance transcriptional activator GadE
hha	transcription	Chromosome	4067077-4067295	Hemolysin expression-modulating protein Hha
hns	transcription	Chromosome	4997804-4998217	DNA-binding protein H-NS
ihfB	transcription	Chromosome	4619240-4619524	Integration host factor subunit beta
sspA	transcription	Chromosome	2256653-2257291	Stringent starvation protein A
eutR	transcription	Chromosome	1286916-1287968	HTH-type DNA-binding transcriptional activator EutR
leuO	transcription	Chromosome	3658723-3659667	HTH-type transcriptional regulator LeuO
sdiA	transcription	Chromosome	772807-773529	Regulatory protein SdiA
сфХ	post-transcriptional	Chromosome	4044415-4045689	ATP-dependent Clp protease ATP-binding subunit Clp
сфР	post-transcriptional	Chromosome	4043666-4044289	ATP-dependent Clp protease proteolytic subunit
degP	post-transcriptional	Chromosome	3754780-3756204	Periplasmic serine endoprotease DegP
DsrA	post-transcriptional	Chromosome	799931-800017	DsrA RNA
rpoS	regulation	Chromosome	1573744-1574736	RNA polymerase sigma factor RpoS
kdpE	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	4342543-4343220	KDP operon transcriptional regulatory protein KdpE
qseC	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	1999173-2000522	Sensor protein QseC
qseE	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	1415709-1417091	two component system sensor histidine kinase QseE/G
qseG	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	1414831-1415544	Quorum-sensing regulator protein G
qseF	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	1413507-1414841	two-component system response regulator QseF/GlrR
rcsB	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	1071336-1071986	transcriptional regulator RcsB
GlmY_tke1	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	1417231-1417378	Glm Y RNA activator of glmS mRNA
GlmY_tke1	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	2874402-2874550	Glm Y RNA activator of glmS mRNA
GlmZ_SraJ	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	1417193-1417380	GlmZ RNA activator of glmS mRNA
GlmZ_SraJ	Quorum sensing	Chromosome	2874400-2874606	GlmZ RNA activator of glmS mRNA
		plasmid enc	oded virulence	
cia	colicin	pUC4224_1	109510-109762	Colicin ia
espP	SPATE	pUC4224_2	27625-31527	autotransporter, serine protease
ehxA	hemolysin	pUC4224_1	6244-9240	hemolysin transport protein
ehxB	hemolysin	pUC4224_1	4074-6191	hemolysin transport protein
ehxC	hemolysin	pUC4224_1	9242-9757	hemolysin transport protein
ehxD	hemolysin	pUC4224_1	2631-4070	hemolysin transport protein
iha	adherence	pUC4224_1	38300-40387	Adherence protein
tra'l'	serum resistance	pUC4224_1	109940-110673	Outer membrane protein complement resistance
celb	colicin	pUC4224_1	6118-6261	Endonuclease colicin E2

Table S3 Distribution of virulence factors in UC4224

			pI	H 4					pН	4.5					pł	ł 5		
concentration																		
(CFU/ml)	109	10 ⁸	107	106	105	104	109	10 ⁸	107	106	105	104	109	10 ⁸	107	106	105	104
UC4224	-	-	-	-	-	-	+++	+++	-	-	-	-	+++	$^{+++}$	+++	+++	+++	+++
UC4176	-	-	-	-	-	-	+++	+++	-	-	-	-	+++	$^{+++}$	$^{+++}$	$^{+++}$	+++	+++
UC4177	-	-	-	-	-	-	+++	+++	-	-	-	-	+++	$^{+++}$	+++	+++	+++	+++
UC4178	-	-	-	-	-	-	+++	+++	-	-	-	-	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++

"-" corresponds to no growth. "+++" corresponds to growth.

Table S4 Growth values of UC4224 and mutants UC4176 (Δ stx1), UC4177 (Δ stx2) and UC4178 (Δ stx1, Δ stx2) during treatment with lactic acid at pH 4, 4.5 and 5.

9 CFU/10 μl	UC4224	UC4176 <i>(Δstx1)</i>	UC4177 <i>(Δstx2)</i>	UC4178 <i>(Δstx1Δstx2)</i>
UC4224	-	<0,0001	<0,0001	<0,0001
UC4176 <i>(Δstx1)</i>	<0,0001	-	<0,0001	<0,0001
UC4177 <i>(Δstx2</i>)	<0,0001	<0,0001	-	0,1106
UC4178 <i>(\Deltastx1\Deltastx2</i>)	<0,0001	<0,0001	0,1106	-
40 CEU /40 1				
18 CFU/10 μ1				10 000 1
UC4224	-	<0,0001	<0,0001	<0,0001
UC4176 <i>(Δstx1</i>)	<0,0001	-	<0,0001	<0,0001
UC4177 <i>(Δstx2)</i>	<0,0001	<0,0001	-	0,151
UC4178 <i>(Δstx1Δstx2)</i>	<0,0001	<0,0001	0,151	-
180 CFU/10 µl				
UC4224	-	<0,0001	0,0006	0,0013
UC4176 <i>(Δstx1</i>)	<0,0001	-	<0,0001	<0,0001
UC4177 <i>(Δstx2)</i>	0,0006	<0,0001	-	0,7832
UC4178 <i>(\Deltastx1\Deltastx2)</i>	0,0013	<0,0001	0,7832	-
1800 CFU/10 μl				
UC4224	-	0,0003	>0,9999	>0,9999
UC4176 <i>(Astx1</i>)	0,0003	_	0,0003	0,0003
UC4177 <i>(Astx2)</i>	>0,9999	0,0003	-	>0,9999
UC4178 <i>(\Deltastx1\Deltastx2</i>)	>0,9999	0,0003	>0,9999	-

Table S5.1 Statistical significance difference determined using the log-rank test between tested strains at different injection doses a) 9 CFU/10 μ l b) 18 CFU/10 μ l c) 180 CFU/10 μ l d) 1800 CFU/10 μ l. Highlighted in grey the statistically significant differences.

LD ₅₀ Strains CFU/10 μl 95% CI				R ²
		Lower	Upper	
UC4224	6	3.39	10.36	0.988
UC4176 <i>(Δstx1)</i>	81,7	35.85	185.94	0.986
UC4177 <i>(Astx2)</i>	50.5	20.45	124.55	0.933
UC4178 <i>(Δstx1Δstx2)</i>	582.7	142.53	2381.78	0.947

Table S5.2 LD50 detected for the four tested strains, with the respective 95% Interval of Confidence (CI) and coefficient of determination (R^2).

CHAPTER 6

Taxonomical Identification and Safety Characterization of *Lactobacillaceae* from Mediterranean Natural Fermented Sausages.

Taxonomical Identification and Safety Characterization ofLactobacillaceae from Mediterranean Natural Fermented Sausages.

Daniela Bassi ^{1*}, **Giovanni Milani** ¹, Mireya Viviana Belloso Daza ¹, Federica Barbieri ², Chiara Montanari ²; Silvia Lorenzini ²; Vida Šimat ³, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli ¹, Fausto Gardini ^{2,4} and Giulia Tabanelli ^{2,4}

¹Department for Sustainable Food Process (DISTAS), Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, 26100 Cremona, Italy;

² Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, 40127 Bologna, Italy;

³ University Department of Marine Studies, University of Split, R. Boškovića 37, HR-21000 Split, Croatia;

⁴ Interdepartmental Center for Industrial Agri-Food Research, University of Bologna, 47521 Cesena, Italy

Keywords: Lactobacillaceae; spontaneously fermented sausages; Mediterranean Countries; safety assessment

This article was published on Food in September 2022 DOI: 10.3390/foods11182776

* Corresponding author: daniela.bassi@unicatt.it

1. ABSTRACT

Fermented meat products represent an important industrial sector in Europe, particularly in the Mediterranean Countries (MC), where the presence of numerous local productions, still obtained through spontaneous fermentation, is recognized as a formidable treasure chest of unexplored microbial biodiversity. Lactobacillaceae naturally occurring in fifteen spontaneously fermented sausages from MC (Italy, Spain, Croatia, and Slovenia) were isolated and taxonomically characterized using molecular techniques. Additionally, a safety assessment for the presence of antibiotic resistances and biogenic amine (BA) production was performed to determine their suitability as autochthonous starter cultures. Molecular typing, performed using REP-PCR, discriminated 151 strains belonging to Latilactobacillus sakei (59.6%), Latilactobacillus curvatus (26.5%) and Companilactobacillus alimentarius (13.9%). The minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of eight different antibiotics revealed a high resistance to streptomycin (27%), tetracycline (16%), followed by gentamycin (14%) and kanamycin (13%). Interestingly, the results showed a geographical distribution of resistant biotypes. tetM/tetS or ermB genes were identified in only six strains. The amino-biogenic potential of the strains was assessed, confirming the absence of this trait among L. sakei, while a high number of producer strains was found among L. curvatus. On the 151 analyzed strains, 45 demonstrated safety traits for their future use as starter food cultures. These results open the way to further studies on the technological properties of these promising autochthonous strains, strongly linked to the Mediterranean environment.

2. INTRODUCTION

The curing of meats can be considered one of the most ancient methods for preserving perishable raw materials and the origin of this approach dates back several centuries [1,2]. Among cured meats, dry sausage preparation combines the use of curing salts with a fermentation step that involves several microorganisms including lactic acid bacteria (LAB), staphylococci, micrococci and fungi [3,4]. Early studies concerning the complex dynamics of this microbial process were published about 60 years ago [5,6] and lead to establish criteria f or the selection of starter cultures to be used for driving meat fermentation [7,8]. Nowadays, the use of starter cultures is common in industrial products, and they are mainly constituted of LAB and coagulase negative cocci (CNC). Among LAB, the strains mainly selected belong to the species Latilactobacillus sakei, Latilactobacillus curvatus, Lactiplantibacillus plantarum, Pediococcus pentosaceus and Pediococcus acidilactici [9]. However, as observed by [2], the use of starters may result in the loss of microbial biodiversity and, therefore, of the peculiar characteristics (impoverishment of sensory features), if compared to artisanal sausages obtained with spontaneous fermentation. On the other hand, selected cultures are able to guarantee the constant quality, safety and longer shelf-life [2,10]. The search for new and tailor-made cultures able to impart specific and traditional attributes to fermented sausages represents an important approach to overcome the negative aspects and preserving the authenticity and recognisability of artisanal products. In this perspective, the presence of numerous local products still obtained through spontaneous fermentation is a formidable source of unexplored microbial biodiversity of a given terroir which could be exploited for isolating new starter candidates [11–13].

The most peculiar traits of LAB strains in meat fermentation are undoubtedly their abilities to rapidly decrease the pH and to colonize the environment throughout the complete production process [14]. A low pH limits the growth of undesirable species (pathogens and spoilers) and favours texture and water loss by approaching the isoelectric point of meat proteins [15]. However, further technological characteristics are requested for their use as meat starter cultures. These features can represent an important trait for starter selection also in the frame of NaCl reduction, which characterizes the new market trends considering nutritional needs and consumer demands [16]. Generally, LAB starters are selected in order to improve safety and reduce hygienic and toxicological risks in food [2,17], but they have to be firstly safe, so that their use as starter cultures for fermentation requires a safety assessment. Biogenic amines (BA) are toxic products deriving from amino acid decarboxylation that accumulate in sausages during fermentation and ripening [18]. Many bacterial species may contribute to their production in fermented foods, including LAB. For this reason, the absence of specific decarboxylases is a prerequisite for LAB used as starter cultures, mainly because their performances could affect BA accumulation during ripening [19,20]. The presence of genetic clusters containing the necessary genes for BA production have been deeply studied, especially for the most dangerous BA, i.e., tyramine and histamine [21,22]. The conditions of BA accumulation define the so called aminobiogenic potential, that can be tested both genetically and phenotypically [23]. Another relevant safety aspect is the presence of antibiotic resistance genes in mobile genetic elements, such as plasmids and transposons. In fact, these elements can be transferred to other species, including pathogenic bacteria, during food manufacture or during the passage through the gastrointestinal tract [24]. This poses an additional risk due to the nature of consumption of ready-to-eat fermented products and their potential to become strong antibiotic resistance reservoirs [25]. Particularly, the presence of tetracycline and erythromycin resistant lactobacilli, studied applying EFSA (European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) 2012) cut-off limits, has been well documented in fermented dry sausages produced in northern Italy [26,27].

The aim of this study was the isolation, characterization and safety assessment of autochthonous *Lactobacillaceae* from 15 Mediterranean spontaneously fermented sausages, collected from four different MC (Italy, Spain, Croatia, and Slovenia) and previously characterized for their characteristics and bacterial biodiversity [28]. This investigation had the purpose to widen the previously studied microbiota composition, in order to understand the ecology of these natural fermented meats and to know which LAB species are the most abundant. In addition, the work was aimed to study the presence and the type of strain antimicrobial resistances and aminobiogenic potential. With this aim, more than 900 isolates have been genotyped using fingerprint analysis for the differentiation of the strains, which have been further taxonomically identified and characterized for their safety features. This knowledge will be the starting point to further determine strains suitability to be used in foods from one side as potential

autochthonous starter cultures, studying their technological properties, and secondary, as protective food cultures against pathogenic and spoiling agents, assessing their antimicrobial potential.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Sausage Samples and Lactobacillaceae Isolation

A sampling of 15 natural-fermented sausages, produced without any starters addition, was collected at the end of ripening from four different MC and particularly: three sausages were obtained from Italy (IM1, IM2, IAL), two from Slovenia (SN, SWO), seven from Spain (ESA, ESB, ESE, ESO, ECB, ECE, ECO) and three from Croatia (HNS, HS, HZK).

Times and ripening conditions were heterogeneous and only for the three Slovenian domestic samples, smoking was used (14 days). These samples were previously characterized for their chemical-physical features and their microbial profile [28].

For cultivation-dependent analysis, sausages were processed as previously described by Barbieri et al. [28]: Man-Rogosa-Sharpe (MRS) agar medium (Oxoid, Milan, Italy) was employed for presumptive LAB counts and their isolation at 30 °C for 48 h in anaerobic conditions achieved using Anaerocult A (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) in anaerobic jars. Grown colonies on MRS agar plates were randomly selected, picked with a sterile loop, and streaked onto new MRS plates in duplicate. Isolates were collected from plates containing from 20 to 50 colonies. A minimum of 22 to a maximum of 70 isolates for each sample was considered. The pure cultures obtained were observed for morphological characteristics and tested by means of catalase test, Gram test, growth at 15 °C and 45 °C, as well as for their homo or heterolactic fermentation. For further analyses, the isolates were stored at -20 °C in MRS broth containing 20% glycerol (Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy).

3.2. DNA Extraction and REP-PCR Analysis

All isolates were cultured in 10 mL of MRS broth (GranuCult[®], Darmstadt, Germany), incubated at 30 °C overnight. From these fresh pure cultures, isolates were streaked in MRS agar and incubated in anaerobic conditions for 48 h. Single colonies were selected from the agar plates to perform DNA extraction using the fast microLYSIS[®]-Plus DNA extraction kit (Microzone, Labogen, Stourbridge, UK) following the manufacturer's instructions; 20 μ L of DNA was obtained and used for the molecular analysis. The rep-PCR (Repetitive element (or extragenic) palindromic-Polymerase Chain Reaction) using oligonucleotide primer (GTG) 5 (5°–GTGGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGGTG-3°), was chosen for fingerprint analysis of isolates [29]. The amplified products were electrophoresed in a 2.5% agarose gel. The study was performed analysing the fingerprint profile for each group of isolates from the different sausage types. The selected biotypes were grown in 10 mL of MRS broth and incubated overnight at 30 °C under anaerobic conditions. Cells were collected by centrifugation (3200× g, 15 min) and frozen at -20 °C in MRS + glycerol 20% solution.

3.3. Genotyping Identification of Isolates

16S rRNA gene sequencing was done on all biotypes with different rep-PCR profiles using specific primers and PCR reaction designed by [30]. After amplification and before sequencing, the PCR products were purified using ExoSAP-ITTM (Applied BiosystemsTM, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Leicestershire, UK) according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. The DNA was sequenced by a commercial facility (Eurofins Genomics, Italy) and the obtained sequences were analysed using the Ribosomal Database Project tools (http://rdp.cme.msu.edu/, accessed on 1 Febraury 2021) and assigned to the species with the highest percentage of identity. Species-specific PCR reactions for the identification of *Latilactobacillus sakei* and *Latilactobacillus curvatus* were performed on those isolates that were not correctly assigned to species level (identity \leq 98.7% [31]). PCR products were separated by electrophoresis in a 1% agarose gel and visualized by Sybr-Safe staining.

The relative frequency of intra-species biotypes for each MC salami sample has been calculated using Microsoft Excel 2016, Version 2207.

3.4. Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing

EFSA Guidance [32] was followed for antibiotic resistance determination of the selected strains and minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) testing. Resistances to Ampicillin (Amp), Chloramphenicol (Chl), Clindamycin (Cli), Erythromycin (Ery), Gentamicin (Gen), Tetracycline (Tet), Kanamycin (Kan) and Streptomycin (Str) were determined by using micro dilution technique in the recommended LSM medium (Iso-SensitestTM broth 90% [Thermo Fisher Scientific, Leicestershire, UK], MRS broth 10%) [33]. Bacterial growth was measured after 48 h of incubation at 28 °C for *Latilactobacillus sakei* and 37 °C for *Latilactobacillus curvatus*, under anaerobic conditions.

Relative abundance of resistant biotypes for each species and antibiotics tested were calculated using Microsoft Excel 2016, Version 2207 (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, WA, USA).

3.5. PCR-Based Screening of Resistance Genes

The presence of Tetracycline and Erythromycin resistance genes was screened by standard PCR with specific primers reported in Table 1. Genes coding for ribosomal protection proteins conferring Tetracycline resistance were targeted with specific primers for *tet* (W) [34], *tet* (M) [35] and tet (S) [36]. Tetracycline efflux pump gene, *tet* (L) was also searched using gene-specific primers [37]. The presence of Erythromycin resistance genes was tested using specific primers for *ermA*, *ermB* [38] and *ermC* [39]. PCR products were separated by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel and visualized by Sybr-Safe staining.

Primers Name	Oligonucleotide Sequence (5 ⁰ -3 ⁰)	Expected Band (bp)	Positive Control Strain	Reference
ermA1 ermA2	TCTAAAAAGCATGTAAAAGAA CTTCGATAGTTTATTAATATTAGT	645	E. faecium PE1	[38]
ermB1 ermB2	GAAAAGGTACTCAACCAAATA AGTAACGGTACTTAAATTGTTTAC	639/694	E. faecium PE1	[38]
ermC1 ermC2	ATCTTTGAAATCGGCTCAGG CAAACCCGTATTCCACGATT	275/294	L. reuteri 70	[39]
tetL1 tetL2	GTMGTTGCGCGCTATATTCC GTGAAMGRWAGCCCACCTAA	696	<i>E. faecium</i> LMG 20927	[29]
tetM1 tetM2	GAACTCGAACAAGAGGAAAGC ATGGAAGCCCAGAAAGGAT	740	L. plantarum 146	[35]
tetS1 tetS2	GGAGTACAGTCACAAACTCG GGATATAAGGAGCAACTTTG	335	L. reuteri 541	[36]
tetW1 tetW2	GAGAGCCTGCTATATGCCAGC GGGCGTATCCACAATGTTAAC	168	L. reuteri 534	[34]

Table 2 Primers for selected antibiotic resistance genes used in this study

3.6. Biogenic Amines (Bas) Production

To test the aminobiogenic potential of the strains, overnight cultures on MRS were inoculated to a concentration of 6 log CFU/mL in Bover-Cid and Holzapfel broth, supplemented with the BA precursors (histidine, tyrosine, ornithine or lysine) and incubated at 30 °C. The ability to produce BAs was assessed with the method proposed by Bover-Cid and Holzapfel (1999) and BA production confirmation was performed thought HPLC according to the method reported by [28].

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Strain Genotyping and Identification of Biotypes

A total of 914 microorganisms, grown on MRS agar medium and presumptive classified as LAB based on Gram staining and catalase test results, were isolated from 15 naturalfermented sausages from MC: 173 isolates from Italian sausages, 140 from Slovenian sausages, 444 from Spanish sausages and 157 from Croatian sausages, respectively. To achieve taxonomical identification at the strain level, (GTG)5rep-PCR fingerprinting technique was applied on DNA extracted from the all the isolated samples. Representative profiles for each sausage were selected and subjected to partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing and species-specific PCR for *L. sakei* and *L. curvatus*. In Table 2 the total number of isolates and biotypes per each type of MC sausage are reported.

Production		Sample	Number of	Biotypes	
Country	Type of Sausage	Name	Isolates		
Italy	Salame Fabriano-producer 1 (Marche)	IM1	58	3	
	Salame Fabriano-producer 2 (Marche)	IM2	48	2	
	Salame Alfianello (Brescia), Lombardy	IAL	67	4	
Slovenia	Traditional smoked salami with nitrates	SN	70	5	
	Traditional smoked salami without nitrates	SWO	70	6	
Spain	Salchichòn Bérchules	ESB	69	11	
	Chorizo Bérchules	ECB	48	16	
	Chorizo Olvera	ECO	52	7	
	Salchichon Olvera	ESO	70	19	
	Chorizo Ecija	ECE	69	22	
	Salchichon Ecija	ESE	69	8	
	Salchichon Alhendin	ESA	67	11	
Croatia	Salami ZminjskaKlobasica	HZK	53	21	
	Traditional smoked salami	HS	49	5	
	Traditional unsmoked salami	HNS	55	11	
Total	15		914	151	

Table 3 Type of sausages, number of isolates and biotypes from the four different production countries(Italy, Slovenia, Spain and Croatia).

Based on the data described in Table 2, a total of 151 biotypes were detected. The fingerprint analysis showed a higher variability in the electrophoretic profiles of the samples from Spanish and Croatian sausages. From 69 and 70 isolates of the Spanish Salchichones ESB and ESO, 11 and 19 different biotypes have been respectively differentiated, while out of 48 and 69 isolates from the Spanish Chorizo ECB and ECE, 16 and 22 biotypes have been highlighted. Regarding Croatian samples, the richest in LAB biodiversity was the Salami HZK, with 21 biotypes out of 53 isolates. Differently, Italian and Slovenian sausages were characterized by a lower biodiversity, with only two identified biotypes among 48 isolates from Italian Salame IM2, 5 biotypes among 70 isolates from the Slovenian traditional smoked salami SWO.

Secondarily, the 151 strains that showed unique rep-PCR profiles, were identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. Isolates that failed to be assigned to any species (level of identity \leq 98.7%), were identified using species-specific PCR for the identification of *L. sakei* and *L. curvatus*. The combined molecular approach allowed to identify three dominant species: *L. sakei*, *L. curvatus* and *C. alimentarius*; particularly, 90 strains were assigned to *L. sakei*, 40 strains to *L. curvatus* and 21 strains to *C. alimentarius*. As frequently stated by previous works [40,41], natural meat fermentation is dominated by coagulase-negative cocci (CNC) and LAB, whose most commonly species are represented by *L. sakei*, *L. curvatus* and *L. plantarum*. Considering the results of the combined methodology to assess the taxonomic identity of the 150 *Lactobacillaceae* biotypes, *L. sakei* resulted to be the dominant species in the IM1 (100%), IM2 (100%), IAL (75%), SN (100%), SWO (100%), ESB (91%), ESE (62.5%), ESA (82%), HZK (81%), HS (100%), HNS (64%) sausages. *L. curvatus* prevailed in the ECE (63.7%) sausages, while the ESO sausages presented an equal presence of *L. sakei* and *L. curvatus* (47% each). *C. alimentarius* dominated in the ECB (87.5%) and in the ECO (57%) sausages.

These data confirmed the outcome obtained through metagenomics analysis on the same samples [28], where *L. sakei* was the dominant species among LAB, especially in IM2, IAL, and SN samples, followed by members of the *L. sakei* group in lower amounts. This dominance is highlighted also by the relative frequency of the *L. sakei* biotypes that were found in higher percentage particularly in the Italian and Slovenian sausages, followed by Croatian ones; a higher species biodiversity was instead typical of Spanish samples, where the species distribution among biotypes is more balanced for the three described LAB (Figure 1 and Supplementary Material Table S1).



Figure 7 Relative frequency of LAB biotypes, identified as L. sakei, L. curvatus and C. alimentarius, found in each MC fermented sausages.

During the ripening process of natural fermented sausages, LAB species diversity is limited and L. sakei is one of the main adapted species to the restrictive conditions generally present in the dry meat environment, due to the species excellent adaptation, competitiveness and assertiveness in the meat matrix [12,42]. The samples of the study were processed at the end of the maturation period when low availability of sugars was still supposed to be present in the sausages and free amino acids were probably used by *L. sakei* to grow and survive in these conditions. This species is highly adapted to this ecological niche, due to its metabolic pathways, including the arginine deiminase pathway and the utilization of nucleosides [12,43,44]. The Spanish sausages surprisingly showed a high percentage of biotypes belonging to the *C. alimentarius* species; sample ECB showed, for example, 95% *C. alimentarius* biotypes. *C. alimentarius* species was also previously highlighted through amplicon sequencing and metagenomic analysis in these Mediterranean sausage samples [28]. In fact, also in this preliminary work, high quantities of the members of *C. alimentarius, C. heilongijangensis* and *C. versmoldensis* were present in many Spanish sausages, in particular ESE and ECB (55.3 and 45.0% of the total ASVs, respectively). This species has been reported as a regional peculiarity in the literature [45,46], but its presence was described also as minoritarian in some traditional fermented salami of Southern Italy, such as Naples-type salami [47].

In addition, the Spanish sausages, if compared to the other MC fermented meats, had a higher strain biodiversity in terms of different identified biotypes. The technological parameters, together with the ingredients, the fermentation process and ripening conditions could strongly influence the survival and adaptation of different bacterial populations to a peculiar environment.

4.2. Safety Assessment of Isolated Strains

Starter strains to be used as food cultures have to comply with safety criteria such as the absence of antibiotic resistance genes and the incapacity to produce biogenic amines [48,49]. In this context, the two main occurring species *L. sakei* and *L. curvatus* (90 and 39 isolates, respectively) were tested for their safety features in order to prove their safe use as food cultures. Particularly, their antimicrobial resistance profile was tested by micro dilution technique and the aminobiogenic potential through HPLC analysis. *C. alimentarius* strains were not analysed for the characterization, since this species is not considered among the possible adequate starter cultures in meat productions.

4.3. Antibiotic Resistance Assessment

Cut off values established by EFSA [32], were used as reference to search for the presence of resistant biotypes isolated from the 15 artisanal fermented sausages. A unimodal distribution of the MICs values, divided per species, is reported in Table 3 for all the analysed samples.

Table 4 Unimodal distribution of MICs for L. sakei and L. curvatus isolated biotypes. The resistant strains for each antibiotic are highlighted (bold and italics). Gen = Gentamycin; Kan = Kanamycin; Str = Streptomycin; Tet = Tetracycline; Ery = Erythromycin; Clin = Clindamycin; Chlor = Chloramphenicol; Amp = Ampicillin.

Antibiotica	Species	Isolates	with th	ne follow	ving mic	s (μg n	nl-1)									
		<0,016	0.032	0.063	0.125	0.25	0.5	1	2	4	8	16	32	64	128	256
GEN	Lat. sakei						1	1	4	11	33	27	10	3		
	Lat. curvatus						1	3	2	9	10	10	5			
KAN	Lat. sakei								1	5	12	20	20	21	5	6
	Lat. curvatus								1	3	8	11	7	7	3	
STR	Lat. sakei								1	5	10	10	17	22	22	3
	Lat. curvatus							1		2	3	7	7	9	4	7
TET	Lat. sakei				7	5	9	26	17	5	6	1		14		
	Lat. curvatus					2	4	3	9	9	6	6	1			
ERY	Lat. sakei	4	11	37	17	13	3	5								
	Lat. curvatus		3		7	15	7	6	2							
CLIN	Lat. sakei		66	6	1	9	2	2	2	1	1					

	Lat. curvatus	20	3	11	1		2	2	1		
CHLOR	Lat. sakei			7	2	10	33	29	7	2	
	Lat. curvatus					1	4	4	27	3	1
АМР	Lat. sakei	7			2	9	20	12	40		
	Lat. curvatus				1	15	11	7	4	2	

Considering L. sakei, the most representative isolated species, 45 strains out of 90, showed resistance to at least one antibiotic. A total of 28 strains presented only 1 resistance, while a discrete number of multidrug resistant strains have been found; particularly, 11 strains showed 2 resistances, 5 strains carried 3 resistances and 1 strain, the ECE-5 isolated from a Spanish sausage, presented 5 resistances (data not shown). For what concerns the antibiotic classes, these results demonstrated that there is a limited susceptibility to aminoglycosides, especially for Streptomycin, with 25 resistant strains, followed by Tetracycline, with 15 resistant strains, Gentamycin, with 13 resistant strains, and by Kanamycin, with 11 resistant strains. The genotypic analysis on L. sakei showed the presence of two genes coding for Tetracycline resistance: tetS and tetM. TetS gene was detected in the strains HNS-7, HNS-3 and ESB-57, while tetM gene was found in HNS-3, ECO-19 and ESB-57. No resistant strains were detected for Erythromycin and Ampicillin. In the case of L. curvatus, 20 out of the 40 strains were recognised as resistant. Especially, 12 strains showed one resistance, only one strain presented 2 resistances, 6 strains carried 3 resistances and 1 strain, the HZK-49 isolated from a Croatian sausage showed 5 resistances. In this case, the results showed that susceptibility to aminoglycosides is the lowest; particularly, 11 strains presented resistance to Streptomycin, followed by Gentamycin, with 5 resistant strains, and by the Kanamycin, with 3 resistant strains. In addition, 7 isolates were resistant to Tetracycline, 4 isolates were resistant to Chloramphenicol, 3 strains were resistant to Clindamycin and 2 strains were resistant to Ampicillin. Furthermore, the genotypic analysis presented the gene ermB coding for Erythromycin resistance in L. curvatus strains ESO-52 and HZK-49; the results confirmed the output obtained with the micro dilution method. Comparing the two LAB dominant species for antibiotic resistance, Streptomycin resulted to be the most spread resistance both in L. sakei and L. curvatus isolates (Figure 2), followed by Tetracycline. Differently from L. curvatus strains, L. sakei isolates harboured no resistances to Ampicillin and Erythromycin.





The occurrence of strains characterized by MICs higher than EFSA breakpoints was found to be superior in the ones isolated from the Spanish and the Croatian sausage samples, showing a geographical distribution of resistant biotypes. In fact, the highest values for Gentamycin was 64 µg/mL (ESA and ESE sausages); for Kanamycin was 256 µg/mL(ESA, HZK, HS sausages); for Streptomycin was 256 µg/mL (ESO, ECE, ESE, HZK, HNS sausages); for Tetracycline was 64 µg/mL (ESB, ECO, ESO, ECE, HZK and HNS sausages); for Erythromycin was 2 µg/mL (ESO, HZK sausages); for Clindamycin was 8 µg/mL (HS sausage); for Chloramphenicol was 8 µg/mL (ECE and HZK sausages); for Ampicillin was 8 µg/mL (ESO and HNS sausages). Among the antibiotics, Streptomycin, Tetracycline, Gentamycin and Kanamycin resistances were the most detected: 27% of the strains were resistant to Streptomycin, 16% to Tetracycline, 14% to Gentamycin and 10% to Kanamycin. A lower number of strains were found to be resistant to other antimicrobials, in particular: 3% to Clindamycin, 3% to Chloramphenicol, 1.5% to Erythromycin and 1.5% to Ampicillin. Fermented sausages from Italy (IM1, IM2 and IAL), Slovenian sausages SN and SWO and the Spanish CB sausages showed to be colonized by susceptible lactobacilli, with no resistances to the antibiotics tested in the study.

4.4. Biogenic Amines (BAs) Production

Aminobiogenic potential results demonstrated high variability among the strains based on their species and source of isolation. No BA producers were detected among the *L. sakei* strains, while a high number of *L. curvatus* (26 out of 40 strains) accumulated these compounds. As already evidenced for antibiotic resistance, also the decarboxylase activity was strongly linked to the geographic origin of the isolates. The highest number of BA producing strains have been isolated from Spanish products, indicating an effect of raw materials, environmental conditions, and processes in exerting a selective pressure on microbial communities and their metabolisms (Table 4).

Countries of	L. Curvatus	Turamina	Uistamino	Dutrogging	Cadaverine	
Origin	Aminobiogenic Strains	1 yrannine	Histailline	rutrescine	Cadaverine	
Italy	L. curvatus IAL6 (S) *	+	_	_	_	
Spain	L. curvatus ESB8 (S)	_	-	+	-	
	L. curvatus ECB11 (S)	+	-	-	-	
	L. curvatus ECB12 (S)	+	-	-	-	
	L. curvatus ECO46 (S)	+	-	-	-	
	L. curvatus ESO6 (R)	-	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ESO13 (R)	+	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ESO14 (R)	+	_	+	_	
	L. curvatus ESO16 (R)	+	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ESO19 (R)	_	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ESO25 (R)	_	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ESO52 (R)	_	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ESO59 (S)	+	_	+	_	
	L. curvatus ESO61 (R)	_	_	+	_	
	L. curvatus ECE16 (R)	+	-	+	-	
	L. curvatus ECE25 (R)	_	-	-	-	
	L. curvatus ECE27 (R)	-	+	_	_	
	L. curvatus ECE32 (S)	+	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ECE35 (S)	+	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ECE37 (S)	+	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ECE40 (R)	_	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ECE42 (S)	+	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ECE46 (S)	+	_	+	_	
	L. curvatus ECE51 (S)	_	_	+	_	
	L. curvatus ECE52 (S)	+	_	_	_	
	L. curvatus ECE53 (R)	_	_	_	_	

Table 5 BAs production by L. curvatus strains sorted by origin. *: the presence of (S) or (R) indicates an antibiotic-sensitive or antibiotic-resistant strain, respectively.

	L. curvatus ECE54 (S)	+	_	_	-
	L. curvatus ECE57 (S)	-	_	+	_
	L. curvatus ESE3 (S)	-	_	+	_
	L. curvatus ESE19 (S)	-	_	+	_
	L. curvatus ESA38 (S)	+	_	_	_
	L. curvatus ESA53 (S)	+	_	_	_
Creatia	L. curvatus HZK3 (R) L.	+	_	_	_
Croatia	curvatus HZK32 (R)	-	_	_	_
	L. curvatus HZK43 (R)	-	_	_	_
	L. curvatus HZK49 (R)	-	_	_	_
	L. curvatus HNS1 (R)	-	_	_	_
	L. curvatus HNS18 (R)	-	_	_	_
	L. curvatus HNS20 (R)	-	_	_	_
	L. curvatus HNS55 (S)	-	_	_	_
Total strains	40	19	1	10	0

Among the 40 *L. curvatus* strains, 26 were decarboxylase-positive and namely 19 produced tyramine, 10 putrescine and 1 histamine, while 4 strains were able to accumulate both tyramine and putrescine (Table 4). Seven out of 26 aminobiogenic strains presented one or more antibiotic resistances, showing different traits that are related to their safety features. Apart from enterococci, *L. curvatus* is considered the main tyramine producer among LAB in fermented sausages [20,50], while *L. sakei* is usually described as non-aminobiogenic. The decarboxylase potential has been demonstrated to be strain dependent [51]. Moreover, Ladero et al. (2015) described the capability of *L. curvatus* strains to produce both tyramine and putrescine. The latter is mainly accumulated in LAB though agmatine deiminase (AgDI) pathway, rather than ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), common in Gram negative bacteria [52].

The spontaneously fermented sausages used as source of isolation of *L. curvatus* strains presented a BA concentration ranging from about 100 mg/kg to more than 1000 mg/kg, including tyramine, putrescine and cadaverine. Interestingly, in the samples where *L. curvatus* CE-27 has been found, histamine was present at a concentration of 170 mg/kg [28].

5. CONCLUSION

Fermented sausages are produced all over Europe, with a wide diversity of manufacturing techniques and organoleptic properties between different countries and even between different regions within the same country. The 15 naturally fermented MC sausages with peculiar characteristics in terms of manufacturing and ripening conditions [28], demonstrated to be a good source of interesting autochthonous *Lactobacillaceae* to be studied for their potential technological applications in the food industry. At species level, the identified biotypes did not show a consistent biodiversity, with only *L. sakei*, dominating over the rest of the species (59.6% of isolates), *L. curvatus* present in lower proportion (26.5%) and few isolates identified as *C. alimentarius* (13.9%). Anyway, results obtained are in accordance with those described in previous studies on similar types of fermented sausages [53–56]. A more consistent biodiversity could be described in terms of strain ecology, with the Spanish sausages being the richest for the number of biotypes, while Italian and Slovenian samples showed only a low percentage of strains, belonging the majority to *L. sakei* species.

The evaluation of the safety profile of these Mediterranean products resulted in a high incidence of *L. sakei* (50%) and *L. curvatus* (45%) resistant to antibiotics; in addition, the safety assessment allowed to define a geographical clustering of resistant biotypes: strains isolated from Italian and Slovenian natural fermented sausages showed no incidence of antibiotic resistance and a negligible production of BA; on the contrary, the highest number of antibiotic-resistant isolates were detected in Spanish and Croatian salami, with a high prevalence of MDR (Multi Drug Resistant) bacteria; in particular, Streptomycin, Tetracycline, Gentamycin and Kanamycin resistances were the most observed. We found one *L. sakei* and one *L. curvatus*, which carried five resistances to antibiotics, respectively in the ECE and HZK sausages. This aspect arises a global concern linked to the safety of ready-to-eat fermented meat products; the previous large use of antibiotics in the pig production chain has led to a change in the pig microbiome and consequently in the diffusion of antibiotic resistant genes (ARG) in the meat environment [57]. The application of good manufacturing practices in the pork industry can help to control antibiotic resistant pathogen or spoilage species, but when are technological species, such as LAB, to harbor resistant genes, this can represent a difficult risk to be monitored for the consumer safety.

Finally, amino biogenic potential seemed to be species-related; in fact, no BA producers were detected among the *L. sakei* analysed strains, while a high number of producer strains was found among *L. curvatus*. After the safety assessment, a total of 45 *Lactobacillaceae* strains (44 *L. sakei* and 1 *L. curvatus* respectively) were classified to be safe, having no resistances and amino biogenic capacity. *L. sakei* demonstrated to be the most abundant species present in naturally fermented MC sausages but also the species with the best safety traits. These results could be the starting point for improved knowledge regarding the study of the technological attributes and bioprotective activity of these strains. The main aim will be to select natural starters with added value to be employed in the fresh and fermented meat productions.

6. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

Conceptualization, D.B.; methodology, D.B., G.T., C.M., F.G. and V.Š.; software, G.M. and M.V.B.D.; validation, D.B., G.T. and F.G.; formal analysis, G.M., F.B., M.V.B.D. and S.L.; investigation, D.B., G.M., F.B., M.V.B.D., S.L. and G.T.; resources, D.B., C.M., V.Š., F.G. and G.T.; data curation, D.B., G.M., C.M. and G.T.; writing—original draft preparation, D.B., G.M. and M.V.B.D.; writing—review and editing, D.B., G.M., M.V.B.D., C.M., F.G., V.Š. and G.T.; visualization, D.B., F.G., G.T. and C.M.; supervision, D.B., G.T. and F.G.; project administration, D.B., F.G. and G.T.; funding acquisition, D.B., F.G., V.Š. and G.T. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

7. REFERENCES

- Aquilanti, L.; Garofalo, C.; Osimani, A.; Clementi, F. Ecology of Lactic Acid Bacteria and Coagulase Negative Cocci in Fermented Dry Sausages Manufactured in Italy and Other Mediterranean Countries: An Overview. *Int. Food Res. J.* 2016, 23. Available online: http://www.ifrj.upm.edu.my/23%20(02)%202016/(1).pdf (accessed on 28 August 2022).
- Franciosa, I.; Alessandria, V.; Dolci, P.; Rantsiou, K.; Cocolin, L. Sausage fermentation and starter cultures in the era of molecular biology methods. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 2018, 279, 26–32. [CrossRef]
- Cocolin, L.; Dolci, P.; Rantsiou, K.; Urso, R.; Cantoni, C.; Comi, G. Lactic acid bacteria ecology of three traditional fermented sausages produced in the North of Italy as determined by molecular methods. *Meat Sci.* 2009, *82*, 125–132. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kumar, P.; Chatli, M.K.; Verma, A.K.; Mehta, N.; Malav, O.P.; Kumar, D.; Sharma, N. Quality, functionality, and shelf life of fermented meat and meat products: A review. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* 2015, *57*, 2844–2856. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Niinivaara, F.P. Starter Cultures in the Processing of Meat by Fermentation and Dehydration. 1991, pp. 59–63. Available online: https://meatscience.org/docs/default-source/publicationsresources/rmc/1991/starter-cultures-in-the-processingof-meat-by-fermentation-anddehydration.pdf?sfvrsn=2 (accessed on 28 August 2022).
- Comi, G.; Muzzin, A.; Corazzin, M.; Iacumin, L. Lactic Acid Bacteria: Variability Due to Different Pork Breeds, Breeding Systems and Fermented Sausage Production Technology. *Foods* 2020, *9*, 338.
 [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Luecke, F.K. Microbiological Processes in the Manufacture of Dry Sausage and Raw Ham. *Fleischwirtschaft* 1986, 66, 1505–1509.
- 8. Lücke, F.-K. Utilization of microbes to process and preserve meat. *Meat Sci.* 2000, *56*, 105–115. [CrossRef]
- Cocconcelli, P.S.; Fontana, C. Bacteria. In *Handbook of Fermented Meat and Poultry*; Wiley: New York, NY, USA, 2014; pp. 117–128.
- Carballo, J. Sausages: Nutrition, Safety, Processing and Quality Improvement. Foods 2021, 10, 890.
 [CrossRef]
- Capozzi, V.; Spano, G. Food Microbial Biodiversity and "Microbes of Protected Origin". Front. Microbiol. 2011, 2, 237. [CrossRef] 12. Montanari, C.; Barbieri, F.; Magnani, M.; Grazia, L.; Gardini, F.; Tabanelli, G. Phenotypic Diversity of Lactobacillus sakei Strains. Front. Microbiol. 2018, 9, 2003. [CrossRef]
- Van Reckem, E.; Geeraerts, W.; Charmpi, C.; Van Der Veken, D.; De Vuyst, L.; Leroy, F. Exploring the Link between the Geographical Origin of European Fermented Foods and the Diversity of Their Bacterial Communities: The Case of Fermented Meats. *Front. Microbiol.* 2019, *10*, 2302.
 [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Flores, M. Understanding the implications of current health trends on the aroma of wet and dry cured meat products. *Meat Sci.* **2018**, *144*, 53–61. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Ameer, A.; Seleshe, S.; Kim, B.-J.; Kang, A.S.N. Inoculation of *Lactobacillus sakei* on Quality Traits of Dry Fermented Sausages. *Prev. Nutr. Food Sci.* 2021, *26*, 476–484. [CrossRef]
- 16. Barat, J.M.; Toldrá, F. Reducing Salt in Processed Meat Products. Processed Meats: Improving Safety, Nutrition and Quality; Woodhead Publishing Limited: Sawston, UK. [CrossRef]
- 17. Bover-Cid, S.; Holzapfel, W.H. Improved screening procedure for biogenic amine production by lactic acid bacteria. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **1999**, *53*, 33–41. [CrossRef]
- Suzzi, G. Biogenic amines in dry fermented sausages: A review. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 2003, 88, 41– 54. [CrossRef]
- Pasini, F.; Soglia, F.; Petracci, M.; Caboni, M.F.; Marziali, S.; Montanari, C.; Gardini, F.; Grazia, L.; Tabanelli, G. Effect of Fermentation with Different Lactic Acid Bacteria Starter Cultures on Biogenic Amine Content and Ripening Patterns in Dry Fermented Sausages. *Nutrients* 2018, 10, 1497. [CrossRef]

- 20. Barbieri, F.; Montanari, C.; Gardini, F.; Tabanelli, G. Biogenic Amine Production by Lactic Acid Bacteria: A Review. *Foods* 2019, *8*, [CrossRef]
- 21. Landete, J.M.; Rivas, B.D.L.; Marcobal, A.; Muñoz, R. Updated Molecular Knowledge about Histamine Biosynthesis by Bacteria. *Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.* **2008**, *48*, 697–714. [CrossRef]
- 22. Marcobal, A.; Sonnenburg, J.L. Human milk oligosaccharide consumption by intestinal microbiota. *Clin Microbiol Infect* **2012**, *18*, [CrossRef]
- 23. Dos Santos Cruxen, C.E.; Funck, G.D.; Haubert, L.; da Silva Dannenberg, G.; de Lima Marques, J.; Chaves, F.C.; da Silva, W.P.; Fiorentini, Â.M. Selection of native bacterial starter culture in the production of fermented meat sausages: Application potential, safety aspects, and emerging technologies. *Food Res. Int.* 2019, 122, 371–382. [CrossRef]
- Ammor, M.S.; Flórez, A.B.; Mayo, B. Antibiotic resistance in non-enterococcal lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria. *Food Microbiol.* 2007, 24, 559–570. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Daza, M.V.B.; Milani, G.; Cortimiglia, C.; Pietta, E.; Bassi, D.; Cocconcelli, P.S. Genomic Insight of *Enterococcus faecium* UC7251, a Multi-Drug Resistance Strain from Ready-to-Eat Foods, Highlights the Risk of Antimicrobial Resistance in the Food Chain. *Front. Microbiol.* 2022, *13*, 894241. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zonenschain, D.; Rebecchi, A.; Morelli, L. Erythromycin- and tetracycline-resistant lactobacilli in Italian fermented dry sausages. J. Appl. Microbiol. 2009, 107, 1559–1568. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fontana, C.; Patrone, V.; Lopez, C.M.; Morelli, L.; Rebecchi, A. Incidence of Tetracycline and Erythromycin Resistance in Meat-Associated Bacteria: Impact of Different Livestock Management Strategies. *Microorganisms* 2021, *9*, 2111. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Barbieri, F.; Tabanelli, G.; Montanari, C.; Dall'Osso, N.; Šimat, V.; Možina, S.S.; Baños, A.; Özogul, F.; Bassi, D.; Fontana, C.; et al. Mediterranean Spontaneously Fermented Sausages: Spotlight on Microbiological and Quality Features to Exploit Their Bacterial Biodiversity. *Foods* 2021, *10*, 2691.
 [CrossRef]
- 29. Gevers, D.; Huys, G.; Swings, J. Applicability of rep-PCR fingerprinting for identification of *Lactobacillus* species. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 2001, 205, 31–36. [CrossRef]
- Klijn, N.; Weerkamp, A.H.; de Vos, W.M. Identification of mesophilic lactic acid bacteria by using polymerase chain reactionamplified variable regions of 16S rRNA and specific DNA probes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 1991, *57*, 3390–3393. [CrossRef]

- 31. Chun, J.; Oren, A.; Ventosa, A.; Christensen, H.; Arahal, D.R.; Da Costa, M.S.; Rooney, A.P.; Yi, H.; Xu, X.-W.; De Meyer, S.; et al. Proposed minimal standards for the use of genome data for the taxonomy of prokaryotes. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 2018, *68*, 461–466. [CrossRef]
- 32. European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP). Scientific Opinion Guidance on the assessment of bacterial susceptibility to antimicrobials of human and veterinary importance. EFSA J. 2012, 10, 2740. [CrossRef]
- 33. International Organization for Standardization. Milk and Milk Products: Determination of the Minimal Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) of Antibiotics Applicable to Bifidobacteria and Non-Enterococcal Lactic Acid Bacteria; International Organization for Standardization: Geneva, Switzerland; International Dairy Federation: Brussels, Belgium.
- Villedieu, A.; Diaz-Torres, M.L.; Hunt, N.; McNab, R.; Spratt, D.A.; Wilson, M.; Mullany, P. Prevalence of Tetracycline Resistance Genes in Oral Bacteria. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2003, 47, 1028–1036. [CrossRef]
- Olsvik, B.; Olsen, I.; Tenover, F.C. Detection of tet(M) and tet(Q) using the polymerase chain reaction in bacteria isolated from patients with periodontal disease. *Oral Microbiol. Immunol.* 1995, 10, 87–92. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Guglielmetti, E.; Korhonen, J.M.; Heikkinen, J.; Morelli, L.; Von Wright, A. Transfer of plasmidmediated resistance to tetracycline in pathogenic bacteria from fish and aquaculture environments. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2009, 293, 28–34. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gevers, D.; Danielsen, M.; Huys, G.; Swings, J. Molecular Characterization of *tet* (M) Genes in Lactobacillus Isolates from Different Types of Fermented Dry Sausage. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2003, 69, 1270–1275. [CrossRef]
- 38. Sutcliffe, J.; Grebe, T.; Tait-Kamradt, A.; Wondrack, L. Detection of erythromycin-resistant determinants by PCR. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1996**, *40*, 2562–2566. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jensen, L.B.; Frimodt-Møller, N.; Aarestrup, F.M. Presence of *erm* gene classes in Gram-positive bacteria of animal and human origin in Denmark. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 1999, 170, 151–158.
 [CrossRef]
- Casaburi, A.; Di Martino, V.; Ferranti, P.; Picariello, L.; Villani, F. Technological properties and bacteriocins production by *Lactobacillus curvatus* 54M16 and its use as starter culture for fermented sausage manufacture. *Food Control* 2016, *59*, 31–45. [CrossRef]

- Ruiz-Moyano, S.; Martín, A.; Benito, M.J.; Nevado, F.P.; de Guía Córdoba, M. Screening of lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria for potential probiotic use in Iberian dry fermented sausages. *Meat Sci* 2008, *80*, 715–721. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. McLeod, A.; Mosleth, E.F.; Rud, I.; Dos Santos, F.B.; Snipen, L.; Liland, K.H.; Axelsson, L. Effects of glucose availability in *Lactobacillus sakei*; metabolic change and regulation of the proteome and transcriptome. *PLoS ONE* **2017**, *12*, e0187542. [CrossRef]
- Widenmann, A.; Schiffer, C.; Ehrmann, M.; Vogel, R. Impact of different sugars and glycosyltransferases on the assertiveness of *Latilactobacillus sakei* in raw sausage fermentations. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 2022, 366, 109575. [CrossRef]
- Janßen, D.; Eisenbach, L.; Ehrmann, M.A.; Vogel, R.F. Assertiveness of Lactobacillus sakei and Lactobacillus curvatus in a fermented sausage model. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 2018, 285, 188–197.
 [CrossRef]
- Garciafontan, M.; Lorenzo, J.; Parada, A.; Franco, I.; Carballo, J. Microbiological characteristics of "androlla", a Spanish traditional pork sausage. *Food Microbiol.* 2007, 24, 52–58. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fontán, M.C.G.; Lorenzo, J.M.; Martínez, S.; Franco, I.; Carballo, J. Microbiological characteristics of Botillo, a Spanish traditional pork sausage. *LWT* 2007, 40, 1610–1622. [CrossRef]
- Coppola, S.; Mauriello, G.; Aponte, M.; Moschetti, G.; Villani, F. Microbial succession during ripening of Naples-type salami, a southern Italian fermented sausage. *Meat Sci.* 2000, 56, 321–329.
 [CrossRef]
- 48. Ammor, M.S.; Mayo, B. Selection criteria for lactic acid bacteria to be used as functional starter cultures in dry sausage production: An update. *Meat Sci.* **2007**, *76*, 138–146. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Coton, M.; Lebreton, M.; Salas, M.L.; Garnier, L.; Navarri, M.; Pawtowski, A.; Le Blay, G.; Valence, F.; Coton, E.; Mounier, J. Biogenic amine and antibiotic resistance profiles determined for lactic acid bacteria and a propionibacterium prior to use as antifungal bioprotective cultures. *Int. Dairy J.* 2018, *85*, 21–26. [CrossRef]
- Holck, A.; Axelsson, L.; McLeod, A.; Rode, T.M.; Heir, E. Health and Safety Considerations of Fermented Sausages. J. Food Qual. 2017, 2017, 9753894. [CrossRef]
- 51. Freiding, S.; Gutsche, K.A.; Ehrmann, M.A.; Vogel, R.F. Genetic screening of *Lactobacillus sakei* and *Lactobacillus curvatus* strains for their peptidolytic system and amino acid metabolism, and

comparison of their volatilomes in a model system. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 2011, 34, 311-320. [CrossRef]

- Romano, A.; Trip, H.; Lonvaud-Funel, A.; Lolkema, J.S.; Lucas, P.M. Evidence of Two Functionally Distinct Ornithine Decarboxylation Systems in Lactic Acid Bacteria. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 2012, 78, 1953–1961. [CrossRef]
- Parente, E.; Grieco, S.; Crudele, M. Phenotypic diversity of lactic acid bacteria isolated from fermented sausages produced in Basilicata (Southern Italy). J. Appl. Microbiol. 2001, 90, 943–952.
 [CrossRef]
- 54. Samelis, J.; Maurogenakis, F.; Metaxopoulos, J. Characterisation of lactic acid bacteria isolated from naturally fermented Greek dry salami. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **1994**, *23*, 179–196. [CrossRef]
- 55. Hugas, M.; Garriga, M.; Aymerich, T.; Monfort, J. Biochemical characterization of lactobacilli from dry fermented sausages. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **1993**, *18*, 107–113. [CrossRef]
- 56. Santos, E.M.; González-Fernández, C.; Jaime, I.; Rovira, J. Comparative study of lactic acid bacteria house flora isolated in different varieties of 'chorizo'. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 1998, 39, 123–128. [CrossRef]
- 57. Monger, X.C.; Gilbert, A.-A.; Saucier, L.; Vincent, A.T. Antibiotic Resistance: From Pig to Meat. *Antibiotics* **2021**, *10*, 1209. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

8. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS



Table S1. List of strains used in this study with respective origin, MIC, ATB PCR detection and biogenic amines prediction.

CHAPTER 7

Technological traits and mitigation activity of autochthonous lactic acid bacteria from Mediterranean fermented meat-products

Technological traits and mitigation activity of autochthonous lactic acid bacteria from Mediterranean fermented meat-products

Giovanni Milani^a, Giulia Tabanelli^{b,c*}, Federica Barbieri^d, Chiara Montanari^d, Fausto Gardini^d, Mireya Viviana Belloso Daza^a, Vincenzo Castellone^a, Marianna Bozzetti^a, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli^a, Daniela Bassi^a

^a Department for Sustainable Food Process (DISTAS), Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, 26100 Cremona, Italy;

^b Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, 40127 Bologna, Italy;

° Interdepartmental Center for Industrial Agri-Food Research, University of Bologna, 47521 Cesena, Italy

^d Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, 40127 Cesena, Italy.

Keywords: autochthonous lactic acid bacteria, fermented sausages, bacteriocins, bio-protection, growth performances

The paper is submitted to LWT- Food Science and Technology

Corresponding author: Giulia Tabanelli; giulia.tabanelli2@unibo.it

1. ABSTRACT

The production of safe and standardized fermented sausages with typical characteristics linked to traditional origin is highly desirable. The use of autochthonous starter cultures that provide peculiar flavor, texture and color to the fermented products, while maintaining the meat-product safe can be a feasible strategy for producers. In this study, 45 strains of *Latilactobacillus sakei* and 1 *Latilactobacillus curvatus* isolated from natural Mediterranean fermented sausages, were screened as potential protective cultures for their use in the fermented sausage industry. Technological properties, inhibitory activity towards *Escherichia coli* and *Listeria innocua* and the presence of genes coding for bacteriocins, were investigated. All tested strains showed an antagonistic effect by growing, while inhibiting the growth of target harmful microorganisms, in a strain-specific manner. At least one bacteriocin encoding genes was present in 25 strains, mainly sakacin X and sakacin P. The technological performances of the strains highlighted a great variability in the behavior, confirming the phenotypic diversity already reported for LAB species highly adapted to meat environment. Results highlight the potentiality of these strains to be used as protective starters in fermented meat products to improve food quality and microbiological safety, as well as giving peculiar characteristics to the final product.

2. INTRODUCTION

Food-borne diseases are a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide, causing up to 600 million cases of foodborne illness and 420,000 deaths per year (Lee & Yoon, 2021). This represents a substantial health burden for governments, which incur in greater expenditure to healthcare and medical expenses (Erdoğmuş et al., 2021; Faour-Klingbeil & Todd, 2020; Lee & Yoon, 2021). The ability of foodborne pathogens to grow, create biofilms and toxin production represent dangerous aspects connected to pathogenicity, outbreaks and affect consumers health (Janež et al., 2021; Kim & Kim, 2012). Consequently, there has been a growing demand from consumers in recent years for healthy and safe food (de Andrade et al., 2019; Gressier et al., 2020).

Manufacturing of standardized and safe food products, but still characterized by traditional and regional organoleptic and nutritional properties, represents a main issue for food companies, which aim to find a strategy to meet all the market requests (Gizaw, 2019). In this perspective, the use of autochthonous starter cultures can be a useful tool to achieve the production of safe and high quality traditional foods (Lorenzo et al., 2017). Moreover, indigenous starter cultures are known to often improve the organoleptic features of fermented products such as taste, texture and color (dos Santos Cruxen et al., 2019; Terzić-Vidojević et al., 2020).

Among processed foods, meat and meat products pose a significant challenge to food companies in ensuring safety of final products (Belloso Daza et al., 2022; Devleesschauwer et al., 2019). In fact, microbial contaminations of fresh and processed meats by various pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms has become a major issue for consumers health (Fegan & Jenson, 2018; Huffaker & Hartmann, 2021). In the last decades, these issues moved companies and researchers to broaden their

knowledge about new control measures, such as bioprotectants and protective food cultures (Falardeau et al., 2021; Sameli & Samelis, 2022). Physical methods alone are frequently not sufficient to ensure the production of safe and reliable foods (Lahiri et al., 2022). A possible strategy is the incorporation of lactic acid bacteria (LAB), with the capacity to produce antimicrobial compounds, during the manufacturing process. Given their GRAS (generally recognized as safe) status, LAB are extensively employed in the meat industry as starter cultures to facilitate fermentation and/or as biocontrol agents, thereby addressing these concerns effectively (Patricia Castellano et al., 2017; Mathur et al., 2020; Raman et al., 2022).

LAB antimicrobial activity against foodborne pathogens and spoilage agents can be exerted by different metabolites produced during their growth such as organic acids, diacetyl, acetoin, hydrogen peroxide and bacteriocins (Patricia Castellano et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2021; da Costa et al., 2019). Their inhibitory activity has been extensively studied in food matrices to evaluate the effect against the growth of pathogenic or spoilage microorganisms (Baillo et al., 2023; Ben Said et al., 2019; Danielski et al., 2022; Segli et al., 2021; Todorov et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2021). Several studies documented that a wide range of LAB strains, which include *Latilactobacillus sakei*, *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum*, *Ligilactobacillus animalis* and *Latilactobacillus curvatus*, can be used as effective bioprotective microorganisms in meat and meat products (Castellano et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2010; Li et al., 2016; Tirloni et al., 2014).

Food industries are continuously searching for autochthonous indigenous bacteria (LAB and Grampositive catalase cocci), endowed with technological and antimicrobial features, that can be potentially used as new starter and, at the same time, as protective cultures in meat products (dos Santos Cruxen et al., 2019)

In the selection of potential LAB starter cultures, proper growth performances at different temperatures, even in the presence of high concentrations of NaCl and the consequent rapid pH drop in the meat matrix, are the most important technological characteristics (Nikodinoska et al., 2023). In addition, the contribution of candidate strains to the aroma profile formation is relevant for the sensorial acceptability and product recognizability (Carballo, 2021; Montanari et al., 2018).

In this study 45 *L. sakei* and 1 *L. curvatus* strains, isolated from spontaneously fermented sausages produced in the Mediterranean area and previously screened regarding their safety aspects (Barbieri et al., 2021; Bassi et al., 2022), were characterized for their ability to inhibit pathogenic microorganisms *in vitro* and in meat models. Moreover, the presence of genes related to the production of bacteriocins was assessed. The most promising strains were then analyzed for their technological properties. Growth kinetics at different salt concentrations and different temperatures were studied with the aim to exploit the microbial biodiversity of LAB populations in European fermented sausages and select new autochthonous starter cultures for traditional products manufacture.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Strains and growth conditions

The 45 strains of *Latilactobacillus sakei* and 1 *Latilactobacillus curvatus* considered in this study are reported in Table 1, in relation to their isolation source (Bassi et al., 2022). Selected microorganisms were cultivated in MRS broth (Oxoid, Italy) for 48 h at 37°C under anaerobic conditions. *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922 and *Listeria innocua* UC8409, used to test the LAB inhibitory activity, were grown in BHI broth (Oxoid, Italy) overnight at 37°C. After incubation, samples were stocked at -40°C in MRS broth and BHI broth respectively, containing 20% glycerol (Carlo Erba, Italy) until the beginning of experiments. **Table 6 S**trains of Latilactobacillus isolated from different naturally fermented Mediterranean sausages.

Isolation source (type of sausages and Countries)	Strains	Species
	1M8	L. sakei
Salame Fabriano - producer 1 (Italy)	1M24*	L. sakei
	1M51	L. sakei
Solomo Fabricano - producor 2 (Italy)	2M7*	L. sakei
Salame Fabriano - producer 2 (Italy)	2M9*	L. sakei
	IAL8*	L. sakei
Salame Alfianello (Italy)	IAL18	L. sakei
	IAL38	L. sakei
	SN4	L. sakei
	SN34*	L. sakei
Traditional smoked salami with nitrates (Slovenia)	SN58*	L. sakei
	SN63	L. sakei
	SN70	L. sakei
	SWO10*	L. sakei
	SWO18	L. sakei
Traditional smoled salami without nitrates (Slovenia)	SWO29	L. sakei
fractional smoked salariti without filtrates (Slovenia)	SWO48	L. sakei
	SWO60	L. sakei
	SWO61*	L. sakei
Salchichón Albendín (Spain)	ESA21	L. sakei
Salemenon American (Span)	ESA49	L. sakei
	ESB2*	L. sakei
	ESB7	L. sakei
	ESB14*	L. sakei
Salchichón Bérchules (Spain)	ESB24	L. sakei
	ESB53	L. sakei
	ESB60	L. sakei
	ESB67	L. sakei
	ESE30*	L. sakei
Salchichón Écija (Spain)	ESE41	L. sakei
	ESE67	L. sakei
	ESO8*	L. sakei
	ESO10	L. sakei
Salchichón Olyera (Spain)	ESO23*	L. sakei
Salemenon Olvera (Span)	ESO38	L. sakei
	ESO47	L. sakei
	ESO65*	L. sakei
Chorizo Écija (Spain)	ECE2*	L. sakei
Chorizo Olvera (Spain)	ECO38*	L. sakei
	HNS21	L. sakei
Traditional unsmaled salami (Croatia)	HNS28	L. sakei
i radiuonai unsinokeu saianni (Groatia)	HNS48*	L. sakei
	HNS55*	L. curvatus
	HZK39*	L. sakei
Salami Zminjska Klobasica (Croatia)	HZK42*	L. sakei
	HZK50	L. sakei

*strains selected for further technological characterization.

3.2. Inhibitory activity against E. coli ATCC25922 and List. innocua UC8409 with agar overlay assay

The agar overlay method was used to test the inhibitory capacity of the LAB strains against *E. coli* ATCC 25922 and *List. innocua* UC8409, selected as the non-pathogenic counterpart of Shiga toxin producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) and *List. monocytogenes*, as previously described by Mendling and colleagues with some modifications (Mendling, 2017). Briefly, 10 µl of an overnight culture of the LAB microorganism to be tested, were spotted on MRS agar plates and incubated for 48 h at 30°C under anaerobic conditions. After, each MRS plate was overlayed with 10ml of BHI with the addition of 0.8% bacteriological agar (Oxoid) previously inoculated with 7 log CFU/ml of *E. coli* ATCC 25922 or *List. innocua* UC8409. After solidification of the overlayed agar medium, the plates were incubated at 30°C for 48 h. The analysis was performed in triplicate. Once the incubation time has expired the diameter of the inhibition halos was measured and the results were analyzed using the following scale:

- (+++): diameter > 4 cm;
- (++): diameter 2-4 cm;
- (+): diameter 0.5-2 cm;
- (-): no halo.

Inhibitory activity of *Latilactobacillus* against *E. coli* ATCC25922 and *List. innocua* UC8409 in sausage meat models

The fermented sausage (salami) meat model composition was reported in table 2. Salami meat was finely minced in sterile conditions; then, 60 g were taken, supplemented with 12 ml of sterile water and pasteurized at 65°C for 30 min. After, 180 ml of a 2% water-agar solution were added. The resulting mixture was mixed for 3 min and then filtered to remove particulate material. After filtration, 6.3 ml of 20% glucose solution was added in order to obtain a final concentration of 0.5%. Finally 2.5 ml of 1% solution of 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (MERC) was added to allow the enumeration of colonies (Beloti et al., 1999).

Agar-salami medium was cooled at 50°C and then poured on sterile 25-well plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Then, 30 µl of a 6 log CFU/ml concentrated culture of each *Latilactobacillus* (Table 1) were spotted separately in each well. Subsequently the agar-salami medium was poured, and the inoculum was homogenized with a sterile loop. After solidification of the media, overnight cultures of *List. innocua* UC8409 with a microbial cell load of 8x10⁸ CFU/ml and *E. coli* ATCC 25922 with a concentration of 1x10⁹ CFU/ml, were serially diluted 7 times with saline solution. Then, 30 µl of each obtained diluted microorganism was spotted on the surface of 1 agar-salami well, previously inoculated with *L. sakei* or *L. curvatus*. As a positive control 30 µl of each dilution of *List. innocua* and *E. coli* were inoculated on the surface of agar-salami without the addition of any *Latilactobacillus*. The plates, containing 8 wells per sample, were first incubated at 37°C for 24 h under anaerobic conditions

followed by other 24 h at room temperature in aerobic conditions. Same conditions were maintained also for positive controls, without adding any *Latilactobacillus* strain. The results obtained were expressed as the logarithmic reduction of growth when compared to the positive control. pH values for each tested strain were measured and was expressed as the mean of eight growing wells. **Table 7** Fermented sausage meat model composition.

Ingredient	Amount	Final concentration
Meat	60 g	
$H_{2}0$	12 ml	
Bacteriological agar (Oxoid)	180 ml	
Glucose 20% (Carlo Erba)	6.3 ml	0.5%
2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride 1% (Sigma)	2.5 ml	0.01%
Final volume	250 ml	

3.4. Gene-specific PCR for the detection of genes coding for bacteriocins

The presence of genes related to the production of bacteriocins was investigated for the 45 strains of *L. sakei* and one *L. curvatus*. DNA was extracted from LAB strains using the NucleoSpin® Tissue (MACHEREY-NAGEL GmbH & Co. KG, Düren, Germany) according to the manufacturers instructions in order to perform the gene-specific PCR test for the detection of genes encoding bacteriocins. Extracted DNA was PCR processed according to previous protocols (Barbosa et al., 2014; Dortu et al., 2008; Fontana et al., 2015). The presence of genes coding for Curvacin A (*curA*), Sakacin P (*sakP*), Sakacin Q (*sakQ*), Sakacin G (*sakG*), Sakacin Ta (*sakTa*), Sakacin T β (*sakT\beta*), Sakacin X (*sakX*) was detected. PCR was performed on a total volume of 25 µl containing 12.5 µl of PCR Master Mix, 2X (Promega, Germany) and 2 µl of DNA. We used two different PCR profiles to detect genes for different 21 bacteriocins; primers and PCR conditions are described in Table 3. The amplified products were separated in 1.5% agarose gel and visualized by Sybr-Safe staining. Positive controls (2 µl of a reference strain) were also included in the amplification runs. DNA from *L. curvatus* 705 and R212 as positive control of *CurA* detection.

Table 8	Primers	and PC	JR protil	es usec	l tor the	detection	of	bacteriocin	coding genes.	•

. . .

Target bacteriocin	Primer Name	Sequence (5'-3')	Siz e (bp)	PCR Profile	Referenc e	
Sakacin P	SakP-F	GAA(T/A)T(A/G)(C/A)(A/C)ANCAATTA (C / T)(A / C)GGTGG	124	94°Cx5', 35 x (94°Cx30 °, 50°Cx45", 72°Cx1'), 72°Cx7'	(Dortu et	
	SakP-R	GGCCCAGTTTGCAGCTGCAT			al., 2008)	

Sakacin T	SakTα- F SakTα- R	TCGGTGGCTATACTGCTAAACA TGTCCTAAAAATCCACCAATGC	160	94°Cx5', 35x (94°Cx 30",50°Cx45",72°Cx1'), 72°Cx7	(S.J. Macwana & Muriana, 2012)
	SakTβ- F	AAGAAATGATAGAAATTTTTGGAG G	151	94°Cx5',35x (94°Cx 30",50°Cx45",72°Cx1'), 72°Cx7	2012)
Sakacin T	SakTβ- R	TGTGAAATCCAATCTTGTCCTG			
Salvagin ()	SakQ-F	GAA(T/A)T(A/G)(C/A)(A/C)ANCAATTA (C/T)(A/C)GGTGG	130	94°Cx5', 35x (94°Cx30 °, 50°Cx45", 72°Cx1'),	Dorth of
Sakacin Q	SakQ-R	TACCACCAGCAGCCATTCCC		72°Cx7'	(Dortu et al., 2008)
	SakX-F	AGCTATGAAAGGTATTGTCGGG	156	94°Cx5', 35x (94°Cx	(S.
Sakacin X	SakX-R	TAAGATTTCCAGCCAGCAGC		30",50°Cx45",72°Cx1'), 72°Cx7'	Macwana & Muriana, 2012)
	SakG-F	GTAAAAATTATTTAACAGGAGG	492	94°Cx5', 35 x (94°Cx30 °,	
Sakacin G	SakG-R	TTAGTGCTTTTTTTATCTGGTA		50 Cx45 , 72 Cx1), 72°Cx7'	(Dortu et al., 2008)
	curA-F	GTAAAAGAAITAAGTATGACA	171	94°Cx5', 35 x (94°Cx30 '',	
Curvacin A	curA-R	ITACATTCCAGCTAAACCACT		72°Cx7'	(Remiger et al., 1996)

3.5. Growth performances in presence of different salt concentrations at different incubation temperatures

Based on results obtained from their antimicrobial activity, 19 *L. sakei* and 1 *L. curvatus* were chosen to perform further technological analyses (strains highlighted with * on Table 1). LAB strains were evaluated for their growth performances in MRS broth in relation of different salt concentrations (0%, 2.5% and 5% NaCl) at 20°C and at different incubation temperatures (10°C, 20°C and 30°C) in the absence of salt. They were pre-cultivated in MRS broth for 24 h at 30°C and then inoculated to a final concentration of 5 log CFU/ml into the different media for further analyses. During incubation, their growth was monitored through the variation of optical density at 600 nm, measured with an UV-VIS spectrophotometer 6705 UV-Vis (Jenway, Stone, UK).

3.6. Predictive microbiology models

Collected data were elaborated by using predictive microbiology models. In this context, Gompertz equation (1), as modified by Zwietering et al. (1990), was used to model them with Statistica 8.0 software (StatSoft Inc.) (Zwietering et al., 1990):

$$OD_{600} = A \cdot e^{-e^{((\frac{\mu_{max} \cdot e}{A}) \cdot (\lambda - t) + 1)}}$$
(1)

where A represent the maximum OD₆₀₀ value reached (OD₆₀₀), μ_{max} is the maximum OD₆₀₀ increase rate in exponential phase (h⁻¹) and λ is the lag phase (h). pH in MRS broth was measured with pH-meter Basic 20 (Crison Instruments). The initial pH of the growth medium was 5.9 ± 0.07.

3.7. Statistical analysis

Parameters obtained with Gompertz equation modelling were elaborated through statistical software R (R Core Team, 2009). The analyses were performed by using "boxplot" function. These data were also analyzed through a one-way ANOVA model by addition of "Ime4" (Bates et al., 2015) and "emmeans" (Lenth et al., 2018) packages in software R. All statistical differences were considered significant at a level of $P \le 0.05$ using the Bonferroni test.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Inhibitory activity with Agar Overlay Assay against *E. coli* ATCC 25922 and *List. innocua* UC8409

This study aims to test the ability of different LAB strains, belonging to L. sakei and L. curvatus species, isolated from spontaneously fermented sausages produced in the Mediterranean area, in inhibiting pathogens that could be considered as possible contaminants in meat products. This approach was meant to identify the most inhibiting wild strains. Antimicrobial activity of the 46 selected LAB strains (45 L. sakei and 1 L. curvatus) was evaluated against E. coli ATCC 25922 and List. innocua UC8409 as candidate microorganisms. Data reported in Table 4 show that all tested LAB inhibited the growth of E. coli and List. innocua at different levels. Inhibition of pathogens proved to be dependent on the specific tested strain. In fact, as expressed by the results of inhibition halo tests, E. coli was the most sensible microorganism to inhibitory effect exerted by LAB. To support this outcome, 15 strains of L. sakei out of 45 and the only L. curratus created an inhibition zone between 2.4 and 3.2 cm. 30 out of 45 L. sakei tested strains generated an inhibition zone between 1.6 and 2.4 cm. On the other hand, List. innocua was inhibited to a minor extent with only 8 strains of L. sakei out of 45 able to form an inhibition zone comprised between 2.6 and 3.4 cm and 34 strains that create inhibition zones of 1.6 to 2.4 cm. The only L. curvatus isolated from Croatian salami Zminjska Klobasica tested shows good inhibition performances creating an inhibition zone >4 cm against both pathogens. Similarly, a total of 7 L. sakei strains, 6 isolated from Croatian salami Zminjska Klobasica and one present in Spanish Salchichón Alhendín, demonstrated the highest inhibitory effect (+++) against both microorganisms. Low differences between inhibitory performance of *L. sakei* and *L. curvatus* are supported by the literature where it has been also reported that these two microorganisms, traditionally bounded to meat products (Hugas, 1998), are phylogenetic and metabolically close (Lopez-Arvizu et al., 2021).

Strains	Species	<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 25922	<i>List. innocua</i> UC8409
1M8	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
1M24	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
1M51	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
2M7	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
2M9	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
IAL8	L. sakei	(+)	(+)
IAL18	L. sakei	(+)	(+)
IAL38	L. sakei	(+)	(++)
SN4	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SN34	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SN58	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SN63	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SN7 0	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SWO10	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SWO18	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SWO29	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SWO48	L. sakei	(++)	(++)
SWO60	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
SWO61	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESA21	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESA49	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESB2	L. sakei	(++)	(++)
ESB7	L. sakei	(+++)	(+++)
ESB14	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESB24	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESB53	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESB60	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESB67	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESE30	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESE41	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESE67	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESO8	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESO10	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESO23	L. sakei	(++)	(++)
ESO38	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
ESO47	L. sakei	(+)	(+)
ESO65	L. sakei	(+)	(+)
ECE2	L. sakei	(+)	(+)
ECO38	L. sakei	(++)	(+)
HNS21	L. sakei	(+++)	(+++)
HNS28	L. sakei	(+++)	(+++)
HNS48	L. sakei	(+++)	(+++)
HNS55	L. curvatus	(+++)	(+++)
HZK39	L. sakei	(+++)	(+++)

Table 9 Inhibition halo of the 46 LAB against E. coli and List. innocua. Inhibition zones: (+++) > 4cm; (++) 2-4 cm; (+) 0.5-2 cm; (- no halo).

HZK42	L. sakei	(+++)	(+++)
HZK50	L. sakei	(+++)	(+++)

4.2. Inhibition of *E. coli* ATCC 25922 and *List. innocua* UC8409 by LAB strains in fermented sausage model

Results of *in vitro* agar overlay assay, although promising, can only suggest the ability of viable cells to inhibit the growth of pathogenic microorganisms. For this reason, an inhibition assay on agar-salami media was assessed. This medium was prepared starting from pork meat to maintain the same nutritional and physicochemical characteristics of the real product. Meat batter purchased from a local market and used in this model was selected to allow the growth of LAB and target microorganisms to be inhibited, mimicking the processes that take place in the real product. The mitigation activity of Latilactobacillus strains was assessed by comparing the growth and the inhibition of the target microorganism with and without the addiction of the LAB cultures. The inhibition rate was expressed as log CFU reduction. The results reported in Table 5, indicated that all the strains were able to inhibit the growth of selected microorganisms to some extent, except for the strain IAL18 that did not cause any reduction of List. innocua. Data also confirmed that E. coli showed higher sensitivity to LAB inhibition with respect to List. innocua, with 12 strains of L. sakei able to limit the growth of E. coli of at least 4 log CFU in the meat model. Three strains from the same Slovenian salami, namely HNS21, HNS28 and HNS48 inhibited respectively 5, 6 and 7 log CFU/ml of E. coli. Proving their ability to inhibit the growth of $1x10^6$, $1x10^7$ and 1x108 CFU/g of the targeted microorganism. On the other hand, only 8 strains of LAB were able to reduce 4 log CFU of List. innocua with only one strain (HNS48) able to reduce microbial cell load of 5 log CFU/ml, inhibiting 8x10⁵ CFU/ml List. innocua. Different experiments recently investigated the effect of different compounds derived from LAB as bioprotectants in food models. For example, Incili at al. (2023) tested the effect of paraprobiotics deriving from Pediococcus acidilactici to inhibit E. coli O157:H7, Salmonella typhimurium and List. monocytogenes in meatballs. They report that the concentration of paraprobiotics should be 10 times higher in food with respect to in vitro to achieve the same inhibitory effect, and that this phenomenon is probably due to the matrix effect. In our experiments we obtained a sensible reduction of pathogens by using live microorganisms, which suggests their efficacy in increasing safety of processed meat (Kürşad İncili et al., 2023). In Pisano et al. (2022), an inhibitory effect of LAB against List. monocytogenes is reported, where Lactiplantibacillus plantarum and Lactococcus lactis produced an inhibition zone of > 4 mm in cheese agar (Pisano et al., 2022).

By-products of LAB metabolism can allow the inhibition of undesired microorganisms, determined by means of a synergistic effect between different bioactive compounds and an adverse environment for the growth of harmful microbes. Among all bio-protectant acid compounds, lactic acid seems to be particularly effective (Barcenilla et al., 2022; Parlindungan et al., 2021). In fact, the highest reductions in log CFU values were achieved by the strains which caused the greater drop in pH values (Table 4).

From our results, it was also possible to notice that the strains with best inhibitory performances against E. coli, caused the most relevant decrease of List. innocua concentrations. Nevertheless, lower values of Listeria reduction achieved in our experiments are supported also by literature. As an example, Wang et al. (2015), reported the necessity of an increased contact time between List. monocytogenes and lactic acid, with respect to Salmonella spp. and E. coli, to achieve the same level of inactivation (Wang et al., 2015).

Studing.	S	Target mic	roorganisms	Final pH					
Strains	Species	Log ₁₀ CFU	J reduction		-				
		E. coli	List. innocua	E. coli	List. innocua				
		ATCC 25922	UC8409	ATCC 25922	UC8409				
1M8	L. sakei	1	1	4.16	4.15				
1M24	L. sakei	4	4	3.71	3.71				
1M51	L. sakei	4	3	3.63	3.63				
2M7	L. sakei	3	2	3.94	3.96				
2M9	L. sakei	4	4	3.72	3.68				
IAL8	L. sakei	3	2	4.07	4.10				
IAL18	L. sakei	1	0	4.32	4.08				
IAL38	L. sakei	2	3	3.69	3.65				
SN4	L. sakei	3	1	4.36	4.36				
SN34	L. sakei	4	4	3.72	3.70				
SN58	L. sakei	4	4	3.89	3.85				
SN63	L. sakei	2	1	3.89	3.94				
SN70	L. sakei	2	1	4.03	3.99				
SWO10	L. sakei	4	4	3.65	3.70				
SWO18	L. sakei	2	1	4.11	4.11				
SWO29	L. sakei	3	2	3.75	3.74				
SWO48	L. sakei	3	3	3.70	3.68				
SWO60	L. sakei	2	2	3.91	3.90				
SWO61	L. sakei	3	2	3.84	3.94				
ESA21	L. sakei	4	3	3.85	3.85				
ESA49	L. sakei	3	3	3.79	3.82				
ESB2	L. sakei	4	4	3.83	3.83				
ESB7	L. sakei	2	1	4.03	4.07				
ESB14	L. sakei	4	4	3.69	3.70				
ESB24	L. sakei	3	3	3.82	3.85				
ESB53	L. sakei	1	1	3.98	4.19				
ESB60	L. sakei	3	2	3.97	4.17				
ESB67	L. sakei	4	2	3.95	4.06				
ESE30	L. sakei	3	2	3.87	3.85				
ESE41	L. sakei	2	1	3.97	4.03				
ESE67	L. sakei	2	3	4.05	4.01				
ESO8	L. sakei	2	3	4.04	4.00				
ESO10	L. sakei	2	3	4.04	4.04				
ESO23	L. sakei	2	3	4.01	3.98				
ESO38	L. sakei	1	2	3.90	3.93				
ESO47	L. sakei	3	2	3.93	3.92				
ESO65	L. sakei	3	3	3.86	3.89				
ECE2	L. sakei	3	1	3.87	3.91				
ECO38	L. sakei	4	1	3.64	3.83				
HNS21	L. sakei	6	4	3.86	3.84				
HNS28	L. sakei	5	3	3.83	3.89				
HNS48	L. sakei	7	5	3.77	3.78				
HNS55	L. curvatus	2	3	4.12	4.14				

Table 10 Log reduction of E. coli and List. innocua and final pH in meat model used for the assays.

HZK39	L. sakei	1	3	4.29	4.13
HZK42	L. sakei	4	3	3.91	4.04
HZK50	L. sakei	2	1	4.00	4.10

4.3. Presence of bacteriocin genes

To further characterize the isolated strains, the presence of genes coding for bacteriocins was investigated. Results showed that 25 strains out of 46 possessed almost one bacteriocin-producing gene, and specifically, 14 strains harboring one gene and 11 strains showing the presence of more than one (Table 6). Two strains deriving from a Slovenian smoked salami appeared to be particularly interesting for the presence of 4 different genes coding for bacteriocins, namely HZK39 and HZK42. In detail, HZK39 strain showed the presence of *sppA*, *sppQ*, *sak*T and *sak*X genes, while HZK42 possessed *sapA*, *sppA*, *sak*G and *sak*X, confirming the preliminary results obtained in the agar overlay assay and in the salami-food model. Conversely, among the 46 strains analyzed, 21 strains did not exhibit any genes encoding bacteriocins. Among the LAB strains investigated in this study, *sakX* (present in 20 out of 25 strains) and *sppA* (present in 12 out of 25 strains) were the most observed genes associated with bacteriocin production. The presence of genes to produce different bacteriocins is reported in the literature and is bound to the ability of strains to face competition from bacteria from other genera. Moreover, it is reported that genes coding for bacteriocins are often carried on plasmids, which can be acquired by microorganisms, supporting ability of different genera to produce the same bacteriocins (Lozo et al., 2021).

Strains	Species		Bacter	iocin g	genes			
		curA= <i>sap</i> A	sppA	sppQ	sakG	sakT	sakX	Tot
1M8	L. sakei							
1M24	L. sakei						Х	1
1M51	L. sakei							
2M7	L. sakei				Х		Х	2
2M9	L. sakei							
IAL8	L. sakei							
IAL18	L. sakei							
IAL38	L. sakei							
SN4	L. sakei							
SN34	L. sakei						Х	1
SN58	L. sakei		Х				Х	2
SN63	L. sakei							
SN70	L. sakei							
SWO10	L. sakei							
SWO18	L. sakei							
SWO29	L. sakei						Х	1
SWO48	L. sakei							
SWO60	L. sakei							
SWO61	L. sakei						Х	1

Table 11 Presence of genes detected by PCR and coding for bacteriocins in LAB strains object of the study.

ESA21	L. sakei		Х				Х	2
ESA49	L. sakei							
ESB2	L. sakei		Х				Х	2
ESB7	L. sakei		Х					1
ESB14	L. sakei							
ESB24	L. sakei						Х	1
ESB53	L. sakei							
ESB60	L. sakei						Х	1
ESB67	L. sakei						Х	1
ESE30	L. sakei						Х	1
ESE41	L. sakei							
ESE67	L. sakei						Х	1
ESO8	L. sakei		Х	Х			Х	3
ESO10	L. sakei							
ESO23	L. sakei							
ESO38	L. sakei							
ESO47	L. sakei						Х	1
ESO65	L. sakei			Х			Х	2
ECE2	L. sakei							
ECO38	L. sakei	Х	Х				Х	3
HNS21	L. sakei		Х					1
HNS28	L. sakei		Х					1
HNS48	L. sakei		Х					1
HNS55	L. curvatus	Х					Х	2
HZK39	L. sakei		Х	Х		Х	Х	4
HZK42	L. sakei	Х	Х		Х		Х	4
HZK50	L. sakei		Х	Х				2

4.4. Growth and acidification performances of selected LAB strains under different NaCl conditions

Considering the isolation sources, the inhibitory activity against pathogens and the presence of genes coding for bacteriocins, 20 strains were chosen for further technological characterization (Table 1). In particular, the growth of 19 *L. sakei* and one *L. curratus* strains at different temperatures and NaCl concentrations was determined by monitoring the changes in optical density (OD₆₀₀). For each condition and strain, the experimental data were modelled using the Gompertz equation. The estimated parameters are reported in Table S1, together with the maximum pH decrease. To highlight the variability among strains, Figure 1 reports Box and Whisker plots concerning the distribution of the parameter estimates in relation to NaCl concentration and the pH decrease. The presence of significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) was tested with one-way ANOVA. Concerning the parameter A, a significant diminution of the median (the thick line inside the box) was observed in relation to salt (the predicted OD₆₀₀ was 1.96 at 0%, 1.82 at 2.5% and 1.60 at 5%). Three strains were considered outliers when cultivated in the absence of salt, due to their low A final level (SN34, SWO10 and ESB2). The same strains were characterized by the lowest final A at NaCl 2.5%, while at the higher salt level (5%) the lower value for this parameter were observed in the strains SN34 and SN58. As expected, the values of μ_{max} decreased with the increase of salt concentration (median values 0.161, 0.105, 0.045 h⁻¹ at 0, 2.5 and 5%, respectively). The strain SN34

presented the best performance at 5% of salt concentration and was considered as an outlier, but it was characterized by high μ_{max} also in the other conditions (Table S1). Concerning λ , the increase was particularly relevant when NaCl concentration was 5% (median at 24.35 h, compared with 13.48 h at 0% and 15.89 h at 2.5%). In absence of salt, the strains SWO61, ECE2 and HNS48 presented the shorter λ estimates. The data concerning the pH value after incubation, reflected the growth extent as determined through OD₆₀₀; in other words, the pH decrease with respect to the initial value (approx. 5.9) was inversely proportional to the A value estimated for growth. In particular, ANOVA did not reveal differences among the strains tested at 0 and 2.5% (median values of pH decreases -1.86 and -1.75 units, respectively), while the strains grown at 5% showed a significant lower value (median -1.63).

Concerning the effect of temperature on growth kinetics, the parameters of the Gompertz equation were estimated (Table S1) and their distributions are reported in Figure 2. The value of A was not significantly different at 20 and 30°C (median OD₆₀₀ 1.96 and 1.93, respectively), while at 10°C it was lower (median 1.83). In addition, a *L. sakei* strain (CO38) did not grow at the lower temperature. Noteworthy, the estimates at 10°C were characterized by a greater variability, as demonstrated by the variability coefficient (CV) reported in Table S1. Three strains (SN34, SWO10 and SB2) presented the lower A values, independently on the temperature (the outliers at 20°C).

Temperature had a marked effect on median values of μ_{max} which significantly decreased passing from 30 to 10°C (0.268, 0.161 and 0.034 h⁻¹, respectively).

The length of λ showed an increase from 30 to 20°C, passing from 6.87 h to 13.48 h that, resulted not significant according to ANOVA. At 10°C the median value was 49.38 h with a strain with no growth and strain ESO23 characterized by an extremely long λ (147.28 h), considered as outlier. As already observed for the effect of salt, the final pH decrease obtained at the end of fermentation was related to the values of A. The final pH observed was not significantly different at 20 and 30°C (the median pH decrease was -1.86 and -1.92 respectively), while this value at 10°C was -1.50.

The data indicated positive performances of the strains in terms of growth at low temperature (with the exception of the strain ECO38 that was not able to grow at 10° C) and a good aptitude to multiply at 5% of salt, confirming the data reported for other *L. sakei* strains by Montanari et al. (2018), who tested the strain performances even at 5°C and 8% of salt (Montanari et al., 2018). In addition, Ammor et al. (2005) showed that 97% of *L. sakei* strains, isolated from traditional dry sausages, grew at 4°C, while 55% of them was able to grow in the presence of 6.5% of salt (Ammor et al., 2005). The increases of the variability under the most restrictive conditions, highlights the importance of these screening tests in order to select candidates for their use as potentially new starter cultures.



Figure 9 Box and Whisker plots representing the distribution of parameters estimated by Gompertz equation (A, μ_{max} and λ) of strain growth kinetics at different salt concentrations (0%, 2.5% and 5%). Final pH decrease under different conditions is also reported. In the boxes the thick line represents the median value, the limit of the boxes is 25th and 75th percentile and the two whiskers are the minimum and maximum values, excluding outliers. Outliers are defined as points whose distance from median exceeds at least ± 1.5 times the box height.



Figure 10 Box and Whisker plots that represent the distribution of parameters estimated by Gompertz equation (A, μ_{max} and λ) of strain growth kinetics at different incubation temperatures (10°C, 20°C and 30°C). Final pH decrease in the different conditions is also reported. In the boxes the thick line represents the median value, the limit of the boxes is 25th and 75th percentile and the two whiskers are the minimum and maximum values, excluding outliers. Outliers are defined as points whose distance from median exceeds at least ± 1.5 times the box height.

5. CONCLUSIONS

In this study, a total of 46 LAB strains were subjected to safety assessment to determine their nonamino-biogenic and non-antibiotic-resistant properties. Primarily, these strains belonged to the L. sakei species, with only one strain identified as L. curvatus. The purpose of this investigation was to identify potential autochthonous starter cultures and/or bio-protective food cultures. The first step to evaluate their antimicrobial activity against E. coli ATCC 25922 and List. innocua UC8409 revealed that all tested strains exhibited inhibitory effects on the growth of both target microorganisms, with strain-dependent differences. Generally, E. coli exhibited greater sensitivity to LAB inhibition, while List. innocua was comparatively less affected. Furthermore, the antimicrobial activity of LAB strains against the same target microorganisms was assessed using a fermented meat model, which confirmed the greater sensitivity of E. coli compared to List. innocua. However, the most effective strains demonstrated the ability to inhibit both target pathogens. Subsequently, the presence of bacteriocin encoding genes was investigated, with 24 L. sakei strains and the L. curvatus strain found to possess at least one bacteriocin encoding gene, predominantly sakacin X and sakacin P. These strains exhibited the highest antimicrobial activity against the target microorganisms in vitro and demonstrated an equivalent inhibitory potential in the fermented meat model. Considering the promising antimicrobial performances, the most favorable strains were selected for further technological analyses to assess their performances under varying salt concentrations and incubation temperatures. As anticipated, an observed reduction in the growth potential was noted as salt concentration increased or temperature decreased, resulting in lower growth rates and longer lag phases. The strain behavior exhibited significant variability, highlighting the phenotypic diversity previously reported for LAB species well-adapted to the meat environment. Based on these analyses, a number of LAB strains exhibiting favorable technological characteristics and significant antimicrobial potential were identified. These strains hold promise for potential application as starter or bio-protective cultures in meat-based food systems, including fresh or fermented sausages. Their utilization has the potential to enhance food quality, ensure microbiological safety, and impart distinctive attributes to the final product.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by the PRIMA programme, under BioProMedFood project (Reference Number: 2019-SECTION2-4; CUP: J34I19004820005). The PRIMA programme is supported by the European Union H2020 programme and innovation programme.

7. AUTHORS CONTRIBUTIONS

Giovanni Milani: Methodology, Formal analysis. Giulia Tabanelli: Conceptualization, Writing - original draft, Supervision. Federica Barbieri: Data curation, Methodology, Formal analysis. Chiara Montanari: Data curation, Writing - original draft. Fausto Gardini: Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing. Mireya Viviana Belloso Daza: Formal analysis. Vincenzo Castellone: Writing - original draft. Marianna Bozzetti: Methodology. Pier Sandro Cocconcelli: Writing - review & editing. Daniela Bassi: Conceptualization, Supervision.

8. REFERENCES

- Ammor, S., Dufour, E., Zagorec, M., Chaillou, S., & Chevallier, I. (2005). Characterization and selection of *Lactobacillus sakei* strains isolated from traditional dry sausage for their potential use as starter cultures. *Food Microbiology*, 22(6), 529-538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2004.11.016.
- Baillo, A. A., Cisneros, L., Villena, J., Vignolo, G., & Fadda, S. (2023). Bioprotective lactic acid bacteria and lactic acid as a sustainable strategy to combat *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in meat. *Foods*, 12(2), 231. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods12020231.
- Barbieri, F., Tabanelli, G., Montanari, C., Dall'Osso, N., Simat, V., Smole Možina, S., Baños, A., Özogul, F., Bassi, D., Fontana, C., & Gardini, F. (2021). Mediterranean spontaneously fermented sausages: spotlight on microbiological and quality features to exploit their bacterial biodiversity. *Foods*, 10(11), 2691. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10112691.
- Barbosa, M. S., Todorov, S. D., Belguesmia, Y., Choiset, Y., Rabesona, H., Ivanova, I. V, Chobert, J. M., Haertlé, T., & Franco, B. D. G. M. (2014). Purification and characterization of the bacteriocin produced by *Lactobacillus sakei* MBSa1 isolated from Brazilian salami. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *116*(5), 1195-1208. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12438.
- Barcenilla, C., Ducic, M., López, M., Prieto, M., & Álvarez-Ordóñez, A. (2022). Application of lactic acid bacteria for the biopreservation of meat products: a systematic review. *Meat Science*, 183, 108661. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2021.108661.
- Bassi, D., Milani, G., Belloso Daza, M. V., Barbieri, F., Montanari, C., Lorenzini, S., Šimat, V., Gardini, F., & Tabanelli, G. (2022). Taxonomical identification and safety characterization of *Lactobacillaceae* from mediterranean natural fermented sausages. *Foods*, 11(18), 2776. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11182776.
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1-48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01.
- Belloso Daza, M. V., Milani, G., Cortimiglia, C., Pietta, E., Bassi, D., & Cocconcelli, P. S. (2022). Genomic insights of *Enterococcus faecium* UC7251, a multi-drug resistant strain from ready-to-eat foods, highlight the risk of antimicrobial resistance in the food chain. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *13*, 894241. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.894241.
- Beloti, V., Barros, M. A. F., Freitas, J. C. De, Nero, L. A., & Souza, J. A. De. (1999). Frequency of 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (ttc) non-reducing bacteria in pasteurized milk. *Revista de Microbiologia*, 30(2), 137-140. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0001-37141999000200009.
- Ben Said, L., Gaudreau, H., Dallaire, L., Tessier, M., & Fliss, I. (2019). Bioprotective culture: a new generation of food additives for the preservation of food quality and safety. *Industrial Biotechnology*, 15(3), 138-147. https://doi.org/10.1089/ind.2019.29175.lbs.
- 11. Carballo, J. (2021). Sausages: nutrition, safety, processing and quality improvement. Foods,

10(4), 890. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10040890.

- Castellano, P., Aristoy, M. C., Sentandreu, M. A., Vignolo, G., & Toldrá, F. (2012). Lactobacillus sakei CRL1862 improves safety and protein hydrolysis in meat systems. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 113(6), 1407-1416. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12005.
- Castellano, P., Ibarreche, M. P., Massani, M. B., Fontana, C., & Vignolo, G. M. (2017). Strategies for pathogen biocontrol using lactic acid bacteria and their metabolites: a focus on meat ecosystems and industrial environments. *Microorganisms*, 5(3), 38. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms5030038.
- Chen, O., Hong, Y., Ma, J., Deng, L., Yi, L., & Zeng, K. (2021). Screening lactic acid bacteria from pickle and cured meat as biocontrol agents of *Penicillium digitatum* on citrus fruit. *Biological Control*, 158, 104606. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2021.104606.
- da Costa, R. J., Voloski, F. L. S., Mondadori, R. G., Duval, E. H., & Fiorentini, Â. M. (2019). Preservation of meat products with bacteriocins produced by lactic acid bacteria isolated from meat. *Journal of Food Quality*, 2019, 4726510. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4726510.
- Danielski, G. M., Evangelista, A. G., Luciano, F. B., & de Macedo, R. E. F. (2022). Nonconventional cultures and metabolism-derived compounds for bioprotection of meat and meat products: a review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 62(4), 1105-1118. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2020.1835818.
- de Andrade, M. L., Rodrigues, R. R., Antongiovanni, N., & da Cunha, D. T. (2019). Knowledge and risk perceptions of foodborne disease by consumers and food handlers at restaurants with different food safety profiles. *Food Research International*, *121*, 845-853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2019.01.006.
- Devleesschauwer, B., Pires, S. M., Young, I., Gill, A., & Majowicz, S. E. (2019). Associating sporadic, foodborne illness caused by Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* with specific foods: a systematic review and meta-analysis of case-control studies. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 147, e235. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268819001183.
- Dortu, C., Huch, M., Holzapfel, W. H., Franz, C. M. A. P., & Thonart, P. (2008). Anti-listerial activity of bacteriocin-producing *Lactobacillus curvatus* CWBI-B28 and *Lactobacillus sakei* CWBI-B1365 on raw beef and poultry meat. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 47(6), 581-586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2008.02468.x.
- 20. dos Santos Cruxen, C. E., Funck, G. D., Haubert, L., da Silva Dannenberg, G., de Lima Marques, J., Chaves, F. C., da Silva, W. P., & Fiorentini, Â. M. (2019). Selection of native bacterial starter culture in the production of fermented meat sausages: Application potential, safety aspects, and emerging technologies. *Food Research International*, *122*, 371-382. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2019.04.018.
- 21. Erdoğmuş, S. F., Erişmiş, U. C., & Uğuz, C. (2021). Isolation and identification of lactic acid bacteria from fermented meat products and evaluation of their antimicrobial effect. *Czech*

Journal of Food Sciences, 39(4), 289-296. https://doi.org/10.17221/222/2020-CJFS.

- Falardeau, J., Trmčić, A., & Wang, S. (2021). The occurrence, growth, and biocontrol of Listeria monocytogenes in fresh and surface-ripened soft and semisoft cheeses. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 20(4), 4019-4048. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12768.
- Faour-Klingbeil, D., & Todd, E. C. D. (2020). Prevention and control of foodborne diseases in middle-east north african countries: review of national control systems. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(1), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010070.
- Fegan, N., & Jenson, I. (2018). The role of meat in foodborne disease: is there a coming revolution in risk assessment and management? *Meat Science*, 144, 22-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2018.04.018.
- Fontana, C., Cocconcelli, P. S., Vignolo, G., & Saavedra, L. (2015). Occurrence of antilisterial structural bacteriocins genes in meat borne lactic acid bacteria. *Food Control*, 47, 53-59. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.06.021.
- Gizaw, Z. (2019). Public health risks related to food safety issues in the food market: a systematic literature review. *Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine*, 24(1), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12199-019-0825-5.
- Gressier, M., Sassi, F., & Frost, G. (2020). Healthy foods and healthy diets. how government policies can steer food reformulation. *Nutrients*, *12*(7), 1992. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12071992.
- Huffaker, R., & Hartmann, M. (2021). Reconstructing dynamics of foodborne disease outbreaks in the US cattle market from monitoring data. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245867.
- Hugas, M. (1998). Bacteriocinogenic lactic acid bacteria for the biopreservation of meat and meat products. *Meat Science*, 49, S139-S150. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0309-1740(98)90044-4.
- Janež, N., Škrlj, B., Sterniša, M., Klančnik, A., & Sabotič, J. (2021). The role of the *Listeria* monocytogenes surfactome in biofilm formation. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 14(4), 1269-1281. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13847.
- Jones, R. J., Wiklund, E., Zagorec, M., & Tagg, J. R. (2010). Evaluation of stored lamb biopreserved using a three-strain cocktail of *Lactobacillus sakei*. *Meat Science*, 86(4), 955-959. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.07.023.
- Kim, M., & Kim, Y. S. (2012). Detection of foodborne pathogens and analysis of aflatoxin levels in home-made doenjang samples. *Preventive Nutrition and Food Science*, 17(2), 172-176. https://doi.org/10.3746/pnf.2012.17.2.172.
- 33. Kürşad İncili, G., Akgöl, M., Karatepe, P., Kanmaz, H., Kaya, B., Tekin, A., & Adnan Hayaloğlu, A. (2023). Inhibitory effect of bioactive compounds derived from freeze-dried paraprobiotic of *Pediococcus acidilactici* against food-borne pathogens: *in-vitro* and food model

studies. Food Research International, 170, 113045. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2023.113045.

- 34. Lahiri, D., Nag, M., Sarkar, T., Ray, R. R., Shariati, M. A., Rebezov, M., Bangar, S. P., & Lorenzo, J. M. (2022). Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB): Autochthonous and Probiotic Microbes for Meat Preservation and Fortification. *Microbes for Meat Preservation and Fortification*, 1(18), 2792. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11182792.
- Lee, H., & Yoon, Y. (2021). Etiological agents implicated in foodborne illness world wide. Food Science of Animal Resources, 41(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.5851/kosfa.2020.e75.
- Lenth, R., Singmann, H., Love, J., Buerkner, P., & Herve, M. (2018). Package "Emmeans". R Package Version 4.0-3. http://cran.r-project.org/package=emmeans.
- Li, P., Luo, H., Kong, B., Liu, Q., & Chen, C. (2016). Formation of red myoglobin derivatives and inhibition of spoilage bacteria in raw meat batters by lactic acid bacteria and *Staphylococcus xylosus*. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 68, 251-257. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2015.12.035.
- Lopez-Arvizu, A., Rocha-Mendoza, D., Ponce-Alquicira, E., & García-Cano, I. (2021). Characterization of antibacterial activity of a N-acetylmuramoyl-L-alanine amidase produced by *Latilactobacillus sakei* isolated from salami. *World Journal of Microbiology & Biotechnology*, 37(4), 65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-021-03033-2.
- Lorenzo, J. M., Munekata, P. E. S., & Domínguez, R. (2017). Role of autochthonous starter cultures in the reduction of biogenic amines in traditional meat products. *Current Opinion in Food Science*, 14, 61-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cofs.2017.01.009.
- Lozo, J., Topisirovic, L., & Kojic, M. (2021). Natural bacterial isolates as an inexhaustible source of new bacteriocins. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 105(2), 477-492. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-020-11063-3.
- Macwana, S. J., & Muriana, P. M. (2012a). A 'bacteriocin PCR array' for identification of bacteriocin-related structural genes in lactic acid bacteria. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 88(2), 197-204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2011.11.008.
- Macwana, S. J., & Muriana, P. M. (2012b). Spontaneous bacteriocin resistance in *Listeria* monocytogenes as a susceptibility screen for identifying different mechanisms of resistance and modes of action by bacteriocins of lactic acid bacteria. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 88(1), 7-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2011.09.009.
- Mathur, H., Beresford, T. P., & Cotter, P. D. (2020). Health benefits of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) fermentates. *Nutrients*, 12(6), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12061679.
- 44. Mendling, W. (2017). Probiotische prophylaxe und therapie von vaginalinfektionen. *Gynakologische Praxis*, *41*(4), 687-690. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/636474.
- Montanari, C., Barbieri, F., Magnani, M., Grazia, L., Gardini, F., & Tabanelli, G. (2018). Phenotypic diversity of *Lactobacillus sakei* strains. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*, 2003. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02003.

- 46. Nikodinoska, I., Tabanelli, G., Baffoni, L., Gardini, F., Gaggia, F., Barbieri, F., & Di Gioia, D. (2023). Characterization of lactic acid bacteria isolated from spontaneously fermented sausages: bioprotective, technological and functional properties. *Foods*, 12(4), 727. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods12040727.
- Parlindungan, E., Lugli, G. A., Ventura, M., van Sinderen, D., & Mahony, J. (2021). Lactic acid bacteria diversity and characterization of probiotic candidates in fermented meats. *Foods*, 10(7), 1519. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10071519.
- Pisano, M. B., Fadda, M. E., Viale, S., Deplano, M., Mereu, F., Blažić, M., & Cosentino, S. (2022). Inhibitory effect of *Lactiplantibacillus plantarum* and *Lactococcus lactis* autochtonous strains against *Listeria monocytogenes* in a laboratory cheese model. *Foods (Basel, Switzerland)*, 11(5), 715. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11050715.
- 49. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Wien, Austria, 2020.
- Raman, J., Kim, J. S., Choi, K. R., Eun, H., Yang, D., Ko, Y. J., & Kim, S. J. (2022). Application of lactic acid bacteria (LAB) in sustainable agriculture: advantages and limitations. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(14), 7784. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23147784.
- Remiger, A., Ehrmann, M. A., & Vogel, R. F. (1996). Identification of bacteriocin-encoding genes in lactobacilli by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, *19*(1), 28-34. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0723-2020(96)80005-1.
- 52. Sameli, N., & Samelis, J. (2022). Growth and biocontrol of *Listeria monocytogenes* in greek anthotyros whey cheese without or with a crude Enterocin A-B-P extract: Interactive effects of the native spoilage microbiota during vacuum-packed storage at 4°C. *Foods*, *11*(3), 334. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11030334.
- 53. Segli, F., Melian, C., Muñoz, V., Vignolo, G., & Castellano, P. (2021). Bioprotective extracts from *Lactobacillus acidophilus* CRL641 and *Latilactobacillus curvatus* CRL705 inhibit a spoilage exopolysaccharide producer in a refrigerated meat system. *Food Microbiology*, 97, 103739. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2021.103739.
- 54. Terzić-Vidojević, A., Veljović, K., Tolinački, M., Živković, M., Lukić, J., Lozo, J., Fira, Đ., Jovčić, B., Strahinić, I., Begović, J., Popović, N., Miljković, M., Kojić, M., Topisirović, L., & Golić, N. (2020). Diversity of non-starter lactic acid bacteria in autochthonous dairy products from Western Balkan Countries - technological and probiotic properties. *Food Research International*, *136*, 109494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109494.
- 55. Tirloni, E., Cattaneo, P., Ripamonti, B., Agazzi, A., Bersani, C., & Stella, S. (2014). In vitro evaluation of *Lactobacillus animalis* SB310, *Lactobacillus paracasei* subsp. *paracasei* SB137 and their mixtures as potential bioprotective agents for raw meat. *Food Control*, 41, 63-68. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.01.003.
- 56. Todorov, S. D., Stojanovski, S., Iliev, I., Moncheva, P., Nero, L. A., & Ivanova, I. V. (2017). Technology and safety assessment for lactic acid bacteria isolated from traditional Bulgarian

fermented meat product "lukanka." *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, 48(3), 576-586. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjm.2017.02.005.

- Wang, C., Chang, T., Yang, H., & Cui, M. (2015). Antibacterial mechanism of lactic acid on physiological and morphological properties of *Salmonella* Enteritidis, *Escherichia coli* and *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Food Control*, 47, 231-236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.06.034.
- 58. Xu, M. M., Kaur, M., Pillidge, C. J., & Torley, P. J. (2021). Evaluation of the potential of protective cultures to extend the microbial shelf-life of chilled lamb meat. *Meat Science*, 181, 108613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2021.108613.
- Zwietering, M. H., Jongenburger, I., Rombouts, F. M., & van 't Riet, K. (1990). Modeling of the bacterial growth curve. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56(6), 1875-1881. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.56.6.1875-1881.1990.

1 10. SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

Table S1: Gompertz parameters (A, μ_{max} and λ) of Lat. sakei and Lat. curvatus strains growth at 20°C in presence of different salt concentrations (0, 2.5 and 5%) and at different incubation temperatures (10, 20 and 30°C) in absence
 of salt. Median, mean value, standard deviation (SD) and variability coefficient (CV) are also reported. The pH decrease at the end of incubation is also showed.

	0% NaCl 2.5% NaC				NaCl			5% 1	NaCl			1	0°C			20)°C			30°C				
Strains	A	μ_{max}	λ	pН	A	μ _{max}	λ	pН	A	μ _{max}	λ	pН	A	μ_{max}	λ	pН	A	μ_{max}	λ	pН	A	μ_{max}	λ	pН
1M24	1.98	0.180	13.09	- 1.84	1.81	0.155	16.02	- 1.55	1.69	0.044	20.93	-1.38	1.83	0.039	52.12	-1.53	1.98	0.18	13.09	- 1.84	1.91	0.278	5.30	2.09
2M7	1.89	0.153	11.26	- 1.90	1.83	0.094	14.14	- 1.69	1.53	0.045	26.13	-1.52	1.86	0.031	56.33	-1.36	1.89	0.153	11.26	- 1.90	1.93	0.178	7.41	- 1.83
2M9	1.89	0.221	16.18	- 1.58	1.74	0.141	18.73	- 1.40	1.45	0.059	33.13	-1.23	1.92	0.054	33.81	-0.93	1.89	0.221	16.18	- 1.58	1.90	0.282	7.45	- 1.78
IAL8	1.84	0.161	14.63	- 1.64	1.83	0.130	16.06	- 1.61	1.62	0.055	22.91	-1.64	1.70	0.034	70.42	-1.39	1.84	0.161	14.63	- 1.64	1.83	0.235	7.17	- 1.75
SN34	1.68	0.247	16.81	2.04	1.50	0.137	18.84	- 1.68	1.28	0.091	37.10	-1.06	1.79	0.042	60.10	-1.31	1.68	0.247	16.81	2.04	1.63	0.303	7.78	2.03
SN58	1.91	0.174	12.38	- 1.72	1.69	0.090	14.07	- 1.74	1.16	0.038	21.53	-1.51	1.90	0.037	40.32	-1.70	1.91	0.174	12.38	- 1.72	2.03	0.271	3.58	- 1.86
SWO10	1.65	0.239	16.03	- 1.44	1.57	0.139	17.95	- 1.37	1.52	0.054	26.71	-1.38	1.58	0.070	34.00	-0.75	1.65	0.239	16.03	- 1.44	1.68	0.302	7.98	-
SWO61	1.98	0.114	7.14	2.07	1.96	0.094	10.06	- 1.75	1.72	0.058	20.76	-1.46	1.72	0.025	46.55	-1.35	1.98	0.114	7.14	2.07	1.87	0.313	6.21	- 1.95
ESB2	1.69	0.146	13.40	- 1.71	1.64	0.104	19.09	- 1.78	1.63	0.033	29.01	-1.80	1.50	0.013	64.20	-1.50	1.69	0.146	13.40	- 1.71	1.71	0.262	9.40	- 1.70
ESB14	1.98	0.110	8.73	- 1.93	1.87	0.091	14.02	- 1.68	1.61	0.045	24.67	-1.35	1.99	0.016	41.01	-1.52	1.98	0.11	8.73	- 1.93	1.91	0.157	5.96	2.10
ESE30	1.95	0.217	15.58	- 1.95	1.69	0.135	18.94	- 1.96	1.48	0.047	31.31	-1.76	2.04	0.041	49.38	-1.47	1.95	0.217	15.58	- 1.95	1.99	0.265	7.77	- 1.98
ESO8	1.97	0.227	13.99	- 1.69	1.80	0.142	15.76	- 1.70	1.46	0.043	28.32	-1.62	1.63	0.018	51.10	-1.73	1.97	0.227	13.99	- 1.69	2.00	0.289	6.28	- 1.73

ESO23	1.82	0.174	16.94	- 1.92	1.69	0.096	18.05	- 1.83	1.45	0.043	27.12	-1.71	1.68	0.017	147.28	-1.39	1.82	0.174	16.94	- 1.92	1.79	0.271	8.42	- 1.88
ESO65	1.96	0.160	10.04	- 2.12	1.91	0.111	12.77	- 1.80	1.64	0.060	21.13	-1.62	1.91	0.027	40.46	-1.77	1.96	0.16	10.04	- 2.12	2.01	0.302	3.66	2.03
ECE2	1.96	0.122	8.68	- 1.87	1.88	0.106	13.61	- 1.70	1.59	0.048	19.30	-1.66	1.88	0.008	56.81	-1.47	1.96	0.122	8.68	- 1.87	1.93	0.229	5.66	2.06
ECO38	1.99	0.086	17.82	- 1.96	1.96	0.068	16.88	- 1.97	1.81	0.036	18.49	-1.89	_*	-	-	-	1.99	0.086	17.82	- 1.96	2.05	0.182	9.62	2.10
HNS48	1.99	0.143	10.30	- 1.79	1.86	0.097	12.53	- 1.84	1.61	0.037	17.11	-1.66	1.93	0.055	64.82	-1.73	1.99	0.143	10.30	- 1.79	1.95	0.191	5.62	- 1.98
HZK39	1.99	0.144	17.64	- 1.81	1.91	0.082	17.54	- 1.88	1.96	0.037	24.03	-1.82	1.61	0.013	42.44	-1.66	1.99	0.144	17.64	- 1.81	2.00	0.149	10.16	- 1.89
HZK42	1.95	0.132	12.64	- 1.84	1.79	0.087	15.69	- 1.87	1.53	0.033	21.90	-1.71	1.65	0.039	34.72	-1.58	1.95	0.132	12.64	- 1.84	1.93	0.117	6.57	- 1.81
HNS55	2.06	0.227	13.56	- 2.14	1.98	0.146	15.72	- 1.83	1.64	0.056	25.13	-1.63	1.96	0.037	43.63	-1.77	2.06	0.227	13.56	- 2.14	1.96	0.347	3.18	- 1.99
Median	1.96	0.161	13.48	- 1.86	1.82	0.105	15.89	- 1.75	1.60	0.045	24.35	-1.63	1.83	0.034	49.38	-1.50	1.96	0.161	13.48	- 1.86	1.93	0.268	6.87	- 1.92
Mean value	1.91	0.169	13.34	- 1.85	1.80	0.112	15.82	- 1.73	1.57	0.048	24.84	-1.57	1.79	0.032	54.18	-1.47	1.91	0.169	13.34	- 1.85	1.90	0.246	6.76	- 1.92
SD	0.11	0.047	3.19	0.18	0.13	0.026	2.50	0.16	0.17	0.013	5.14	0.21	0.16	0.016	25.04	0.27	0.11	0.047	3.19	0.18	0.12	0.063	1.95	0.13
CV	6.02	27.87	23.91	9.86	7.37	22.92	15.82	9.24	11.07	27.74	20.68	13.37	8.71	50.56	46.22	18.28	6.02	27.87	23.91	9.86	6.20	25.76	28.89	6.81
: no growt	h was	observ	V										1											

CHAPTER 8

Companilactobacillus alimentarius: an extensive characterization of strains isolated from spontaneous fermented sausages

Companilactobacillus alimentarius: an extensive characterization of strains isolated from spontaneous fermented sausages.

Giulia Tabanelli^{a,b}, Federica Barbieri^{c*}, Alberto Baños^d, Jose Manuel Garcia Madero^d, Mireya Viviana Belloso Daza^e, Claudia Cortimiglia^e, **Giovanni Milani**^e, Daniela Bassi^e, Fausto Gardini^c, Chiara Montanari^c

^a Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, 40127 Bologna, Italy;

^b Interdepartmental Center for Industrial Agri-Food Research, University of Bologna, 47521 Cesena, Italy;

^c Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, 40127 Cesena, Italy;

^d Department of Microbiology, DOMCA S.A.U., 18620 Alhendín, Spain;

e Department for Sustainable Food Process (DISTAS), Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, 26100 Cremona, Italy

Keywords: *Companilactobacillus alimentarius*; spontaneously fermented sausages; antibiotic resistance; biogenic amine production; autochthonous lactic acid bacteria; growth performances.

The paper is publidhes to International Journal of Food Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2023.110489

* Corresponding author: federica.barbieri16@unibo.it

1. ABSTRACT

Companilactobacillus alimentarius is a facultatively heterofermentative lactic acid bacterium (LAB) that is a significant constituent within the microbiota of various traditional fermented foods exerting several functions in fermentative or ripening processes. This species has been isolated from Spanish fermented sausages, where its frequency of isolation was comparable to those of *Latilactobacillus sakei* and *Latilactobacillus curvatus*. Despite to its presence in several niches, ecological information on this species is still scarce and only few publications report information about its safety features (i.e. antibiotic resistance). Since studies on *C. alimentarius* concern the analysis of a few individual traits regarding this species, a more extensive work on a larger number of isolates from the same matrix have been performed to allow a clearer interpretation of their phenotypic and technological characteristics. Specifically, 14 strains of *C. alimentarius* isolated from Mediterranean spontaneously fermented sausages, have been screened for their safety and technological characteristics (such as antibiotic resistance, biogenic amine production, inhibiting potential, growth at different temperatures and NaCl concentrations) and with phenotype microarrays with the aim to elucidate their potential role and contribution to sausage fermentation and ripening.

In general, a wide variability was observed in relation to the parameters considered. Several of the tested strains were able to produce histamine, tyramine and putrescine while the antibiotic resistance greatly varied according to the strains, with the exception of vancomycin. In addition, *C. alimentarius* strains showed a relevant potential to grow in conditions of salt and temperature mimicking those found in fermented foods. In particular, the growth at 10 °C and in the presence of salt can explain the presence of *C. alimentarius* in sausages and its adaptation to fermented meat environment in which low temperature can be applied during ripening. The differentiation of the phenotypic profile reflected the environmental conditions that influenced the isolation source, including those derived by the raw materials.

Given the species frequent association with spontaneous fermentations or the ripening microbiota of various products, despite not being intentionally used as starter cultures, the data presented in this study contribute to a deeper comprehension of their role, both advantageous and detrimental, in numerous significant fermented foods.

2. INTRODUCTION

Companilactobacillus (formerly *Lactobacillus*) *alimentarius* is a Gram are significant constituents within the microbiota of various traditional positive facultatively heterofermentative lactic acid bacterium (LAB) for fermented foods and fulfil crucial functions in fermentative or ripening processes (Bassi et al., 2022; Fujimoto et al., 2019; García Fontan et al., 2007a, 2007b). Their optimal temperature ranges between 25 and 30 °C and they can grow at 15 °C and at 37 °C using pentoses, hexoses and disaccharides as carbon sources; the genome size is 2.34 Mbp and the mol% G + C content of DNA is 35.4. (Zheng et al., 2020). In addition, the species *C. alimentarius* is recognized under the Qualified Presumption of Safety (QPS)

status by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) (EFSA, 2020) and is part of the inventory of microbial food cultures with safety demonstration in fermented food products (Bourdichon et al., 2022).

Despite the relative scarcity of information on its physiological role, the presence of *C. alimentarius* is particularly relevant in fermented foods obtained from vegetable matrices (Guo et al., 2022; Liang et al., 2022). This species has been found in wheat (Randazzo et al., 2005), rye (Corsetti et al., 2001) and whole soft wheat sourdoughs (Taccari et al., 2016), although not as a dominant population. According to Fujimoto et al. (2019), *C. alimentarius* was the second species, after *Levilactobacillus brevis*, isolated from Japanese sourdough. It is also present in some traditional fermented products, such as Tarhana, obtained from wheat flour, yogurt, vegetables, and spices (Ozel et al., 2020[°]). Other spontaneously fermented vegetables are characterized by the presence of this species. For example, during the fermentation of pickled chayote (*Sechium edule*), *C. alimentarius* was the prevalent species, accompanied by other LAB and yeasts (Shang et al., 2022), as well as in other Chinese fermented foods obtained from *Brassica juncea*, *Raphanus sativus* and *Capsicum annuum* (Liu and Tong, 2017).

In addition to vegetable matrices, this species has been often isolated from fermented meats. In their survey on the microbial communities of European fermented sausages, Van Reckem et al. (2019) found only sporadic presence of *C. alimentarius*. Nevertheless, strains belonging to this species were isolated from Spanish fermented sausages, such as Androlla (García Fontan et al., 2007a[']) and Botillo (García Fontan et al., 2007b), where their frequency of isolation was comparable to those of *Latilactobacillus sakei* and *Latilactobacillus curvatus*. The relevant presence of *C. alimentarius* was observed also in Turkish fermented sausages (sucuk) by Gürakan et al. (1995) and Kesmen et al. (2012). A potential probiotic strain of *C. alimentarius* has also been used as starter cultures for the production of fermented Scandinavian sausages by Klingberg et al. (2005).

C. alimentarius has also been associated with dairy products. An interesting work of Cardinali et al. (2017) demonstrated that this bacterium was present in the phyllosphere of *Carlina acanthifolia*, a plant traditionally used for vegetable rennet production, and is able to pass through the rennet, in the goat milk, affecting the early bacterial dynamics during cheesemaking. This species has been also tested as probiotic for promoting goat intestinal health and producing milk with higher concentrations of unsaturated fatty acid (Apas et al., 2015[']).

From a bioprotective perspective, certain strains of *C. alimentarius* have exhibited the capability to produce bacteriocins, which have been subjected to preliminary investigations to assess their efficacy against *Bacillus* spp., the causative agents of bread rope (Mentes, et al., 2007). Hu et al. (2017) demonstrated the production of a bacteriocin (lactocin MM4) with a broad inhibitory range towards several Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria as well as against some fungi. In addition, it was demonstrated that members of this species can produce phenyllactic and 4-hydroxy-phenyllactic acids, metabolites active against spoiling moulds (Valerio et al., 2004). The bioprotective effect of the strain Flora- carn L2 against *Listeria monocytogenes* has been described in meat (Juven et al., 1998). Another study

demonstrated the capacity of this species together with *Staphylococcus xylosus* to act as protective cultures in under vacuum sliced cooked ham (Kotzekidou and Bloukas, 1998). On the other hand, in fishery products *C. alimentarius* wasresponsible for herring spoilage, causing bulging of lids and gas formation (Lyhs et al., 2001).

Concerning safety aspects, few publications report information on the antibiotic resistance profile of this species. According to Gevers et al. (2003), two strains of this species harbour a plasmid-located *tet(M)* gene with transfer capacity to *Enterococcus faecalis*, while in a study of Campedelli et al. (2019) members of this species were found to display *tet*(S) gene and *Isa* gene encoding for resistance to clindamycin. Despite its diffusion in several spontaneous fermented foods, few information is available concerning its ability to produce biogenic amines (BAs). Previous studies reported that one strain isolated from fermented food, was able to produce tyramine (Straub et al., 1995), while another study showed no decarboxylase activity in a strain isolated from Himalayan fermented foods (Dewan and Tamang, 2007), as well as in a strain from table olives (Yalçınkaya and Bas, yigit Kılıç, 2019[°]). Recently, a metagenomics study on the microbial communities present in Mediterranean spontaneously fermented sausages showed that *Companilactobacillus* spp. was among the prevalent genera in salamis, some of them characterized by the presence of relevant amounts of BAs (Barbieri et al., 2021).

To date, studies on *C. alimentarius* concern the analysis of a few individual traits regarding this species, but there is a lack of more extensive works on a larger number of isolates from the same matrix allowing a clearer interpretation of their phenotypic and technological characteristics. The aim of this work was to perform a wider characterization of 14 strains of *C. alimentarius* isolated from Mediterranean fermented sausages. In order to elucidate the potential role and contribution of *C. alimentarius* strains in sausage fermentation and ripening, all strains were firstly screened for phenotype microarrays and then characterized for aspects concerning safety and technological issues (such as antibiotic resistance, BAs production, inhibiting potential, growth at different temperatures and NaCl concentrations).

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Companilactobacillus alimentarius microbial strains

The strains used in this study were isolated from Spanish spontaneously fermented sausages (Andalusia region), in which the presence of *Companilactobacillus* spp. was detected through metagenomic analysis (Barbieri et al., 2021) and strains belonging to the species *C. alimentarius* were isolated from the ripened products (Bassi et al., 2022). The list of the 14 strains considered in this study is reported in Table 1.

Pure cultures were stored at – 20 °C in De Man, Rogosa and Sharpe (MRS) broth (Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK) containing 20 % glycerol (Sigma Aldrich) until further analyses.
Source of isolation	Relative abundance (%) of	% of isolation of <i>C</i> .	C. alimentarius
	Companilactobacillus detected by	<i>alimentarius</i> on all	strains studied
	metagenomic analysis	the isolated strains	
Chorizo Berchules '	45.0	87.5	CB1, CB6, CB8,
			CB16, CB22,
			CB31, CB36,
			CB41, CB43
Chorizo Ecija	34.5	4.5	CE49
Chorizo Olvera	5.3	57.0	CO12, CO24,
			CO50
Salchichon ´ Ecija ´	55.3	12.5	SE14

Table 1. Source of isolation of the 14 strains considered in this study, relative abundance (%) of Companilactobacillus spp. detected by metagenomic analysis and percentage of isolation of C. alimentarius on all the isolated strains (adapted from Barbieri et al. (2021) and Bassi et al. (2022).

3.2. Antimicrobial activity against food-borne pathogens

The antimicrobial activity of the 14 *C. alimentarius* strains was evaluated through an agar spot test against *L. monocytogenes* Scott A and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis 155, belonging to the collection of the Department of Agricultural and Food Science of the University of Bologna.

The foodborne pathogens were grown into Brain Heart Infusion (BHI) medium (Oxoid), while LAB strains into MRS agar (Oxoid). Each culture was incubated overnight at 30 °C. Target pathogens were inoculated in BHI soft agar (0.7 %) plates to obtain a final concentration of 6 log CFU/ml to form a bacterial lawn. Once the plate was dried, 10 µl drop of each *C. alimentarius* strain cultures were spotted onto plates. The samples were observed after 24 h of incubation at 30 °C and the absence/presence of inhibition zones was evaluated. The inhibitory activity was expressed based on the diameter halo around the spot: $+ (\leq 0.5 \text{ cm}), ++ (0.5-2 \text{ cm}), +++ (>2 \text{ cm}), \text{ or } - (\text{no halo})$. Cell free supernatants (CFS) of *C. alimentarius* strains that showed an antimicrobial activity were collected after centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 10 min and filtration with polyethersulfone (PES) membrane (Merck Millipore, Carrigtwohill, Ireland) with a pore size of 0.22 µm. The CFS were collected in sterile microcentrifuge tubes and tested, both unmodified and neutralised at pH 6.5 with NaOH 1 M, through the well technique against the same pathogens. Once the indicator strain has grown, the appearance of inhibition halos around the wells was observed and measured in millimeters to detect the inhibitory activity. Three independent tests were carried out, and each sample was tested in duplicate.

3.3. Phenotype microarray of *C. alimentarius* strains

The screening of *C. alimentarius* strains was performed with a phenotype microarray (OmniLog®, Biolog, Inc., Hayward, USA), using Gen III MicroPlate, according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each

strain, colonies cultured onto MRS agar medium were resuspended into inoculating fluid C (Biolog, Inc.), until reaching a microbial cell concentration from 90 % to 98 % T (the light transmittance measured by OmniLog® turbidimeter). Briefly, 100 µl of each cell suspension were inoculated into the MicroPlate wells and incubated at 30 °C for 96 h in accordance with growth characteristics. Measurement of strain metabolism was assessed by colorimetric redox assay and all MicroPlates were read every 15 min. The data were collected with the OmniLog® and companion computer software.

3.4. Antibiotic-resistance profile

Antibiotic-resistance profile of the strains was assessed considering EFSA indications (EFSA, 2012). A minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) test to evaluate the resistance to ampicillin (Amp), chloramphenicol (Chl), clindamycin (Cli), erythromycin (Ery), gentamicin (Gen), tetracycline (Tet), kanamycin (Kan) and streptomycin (Str) was performed using micro dilution technique in the recommended Lymphocyte Separation Medium (LSM) medium (Iso-SensitestTM broth 90 % and MRS broth 10 %; ThermoFisher Scientific) (ISO, 2010). Results were collected after 48 h of incubation at 30 °C and the presence of resistance for each antibiotic is defined according to the cut off reported by EFSA: Gen = 16, Kan = 64, Str = 64, Tet = 8, Ery = 1, Clin = 1, Chlor = 4, Amp = 4 (EFSA, 2012).

3.5. Biogenic amines production

The amino biogenic potential of *C. alimentarius* strains was tested through the screening in Bover-Cid-Holzapfel medium (BC) (Bover-Cid and Holzapfel, 1999). All strains were pre-cultivated in MRS broth and then inoculated in BC broth, supplemented with the biogenic amine (BA) precursors (histidine, tyrosine, ornithine or lysine) and incubated at 30 °C for 72 h. The supernatants of presumptive positive strains were collected and stored at -20 °C, until the HPLC analysis. After a dansyl- chloride derivatization (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, USA), samples were injected into HPLC Agilent Technologies 1260 Infinity with the automatic injector (G1329B ALS 1260, loop of 20 μ l), equipped with a C18 Waters Spherisorb ODS-2 (150 × 4.6 mm, 3 μ m) column and a UV detector (G1314F VWD 1260) set at 254 nm, to confirm the BA production (histidine, tyramine, putrescine and cadaverine) according to the method reported by Montanari et al. (2023). The BA amount was measured with reference to a calibration curve obtained through the injection of dansyl-chloride-derivatized BA standards. Under the adopted conditions, the detection limit for all compounds was 3 mg/l. All the analyses were performed in triplicate.

3.6. Growth performances in presence of different salt concentrations and at different incubation temperatures

The growth performances of *C. alimentarius* strains were evaluated in relation to different salt concentrations (0%, 2.5 % and 5 % NaCl) at 20 °C and at different incubation temperatures (10 °C, 20

°C and 30 °C). They were pre-cultivated in MRS broth for 24 h at 30 °C and then inoculated at a final concentration of 5 log CFU/ml in the different media chosen for the analyses. Their growth was monitored through the variation of optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) with time (t), measured with an UV-VIS spectrophotometer 6705 UV–Vis (Jenway, Stone, UK). The collected data were elaborated with Gompertz Eq. (1), as modified by Zwietering et al. (1990):

$$OD_{600} = A \cdot e^{-e^{((\frac{\mu_{max} \cdot e}{A}) \cdot (\lambda - t) + 1)}}$$
 (1)

where A represent the maximum OD600 value reached, μmax is the maximum OD600 increase rate (OD600 h-1) and λ is the lag phase (h).

Moreover, pH values were also monitored overtime by pH-meter Basic 20 (Crison Instruments). The data were modelled with the same equation modified as follow (Eq. (2)):

$$pH = k + A_{pH} \cdot e^{-e^{\left(\left(\frac{\mu_{pHmax} \cdot e}{A_{pH}}\right) \cdot \left(\lambda_{pH} - t\right) + 1\right)}}$$
(2)

where *k* is the higher asymptote of the curve (initial pH), ApH is the lower asymptote of the curve (final pH decrease), $\mu pHmax$ is the maximum pH decrease rate (pH h-1) and λpH is the lag phase (h).

3.7. Statistical analysis

The parameters of the OD₆₀₀ and pH curves were estimated using Statistica 8.0 software (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, USA). The distribution of the modelled parameters was tested with ANOVA to define statistically significant differences. Statistical differences were considered significant at a level of $p \le 0.05$ using the Tukey test. ANOVA and Box and Whiskers plots were obtained by using the statistical software R (R Core Team, 2020).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Antimicrobial activity of the *C. alimentarius* strains against *Salmonella* and *Listeria*

The 14 strains of *C. alimentarius* were tested for their capability to counteract the growth of *L. monocytogenes* ScottA and *S.* Enteritidis 155.

The cell suspensions of all 14 strains showed a similar inhibition against the target pathogens, being in general slightly more active against *S*. Eenteritidis 155 rather than *L. monocytogenes* (0.5–2 cm halo diameter versus \leq 0.5 cm). The same observations can be done for CFS (data not shown), but this activity was not present after pH neutralization, indicating that the bioactivity was only due to acidification and no specific bacteriocins against the target pathogens were produced.

4.2. Screening using phenotype microarray

In Table 2, the results of the GenIII MicroPlate test concerning carbon sources and chemical sensitivity are reported. Fifty-nine tests resulted negative for all the strains (data not shown). Concerning the carbon sources, 12 of them were used by at least one strain. In particular, all strains grew on α -D-glucose and the majority was able to use D-mannose (with the exception of CB36, CB41 and CE49), D-fructose (except CB36 and CE49) and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (except CB31 and CE49). D- maltose and α -Dlactose were fermented only by CB6, which metabolised also D-trehalose (with SE14) and showed a weak growth on D-galactose. The strain SE14 was the only able to grow on D-cellobiose, while sucrose was fermented by CB22, CB43, CO12 and, at a lesser extent, by SE14 and CB16. The strains CB43, CB22, CO24, CO50 and SE14 used D-salicin and β -methyl-D-glucoside as carbon sources. According to Randazzo et al. (2005), the four strains of *C. alimentarius* isolated from sourdoughs were all able to ferment glucose, fructose, maltose and sucrose, while according to Hu et al. (2017) the strain FM-MM4 fermented glucose, fructose, galactose, trehalose and lactose. García Fontan et al. (2007b) ´ found that almost all the strains (96 %) of this species isolated from a Spanish fermented sausage (*Botillo*) can ferment sucrose, but none of them fermented lactose.

The growth in the presence of chemical sensitivity showed that all the strains were able to grow at pH 6 and 5 and when NaCl was added at 1 and 4 %, as well as with sodium lactate at 1 %. Only the strain CO50 grew also at 8 % NaCl. Concerning antibiotics, all the strains grew in the presence of vancomycin, nalidixic acid and fusidic acid, while four of the strains could grow with minocycline (CB8, CB16, CB31 and CB36). All the strains gave a positive response in the presence of tetrazolium violet, tetrazolium blue, potassium tellurite and sodium butyrate, but none with lithium chloride.

Strains	s Carbon sources																				Lir	nitin	g con	ditio	ns										
	D-Maltose	D-Trehalose	D-Cellobiose	Sucrose	α-D-Lactose	β-Methyl-D-Glucoside	D-Salicin	N-Acetyl-D-Glucosamine	α-D-Glucose	D-Mannose	D-Fructose	D-Galactose	pH 6	pH 5	1% NaCl	4% NaCl	8% NaCl	1% Sodium Lactate	Fusidic Acid	D-Serine	Troleandomycin	Rifamycin SV	Minocycline	Lincomycin	Guanidine HCI	Niaproof 4	Vancomycin	Tetrazolium Violet	Tetrazolium Blue	Nalidixic Acid	Lithium Chloride	Potassium Tellurite	Aztreonam	Sodium Butyrate	Sodium Bromate
CB1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CB6	+	+	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	±	+	+	+	+	-	+	\pm	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
CB8	-	-	-	-	-	\pm	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	\pm	-	+	+	\pm	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CB16	-	-	-	\pm	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	\pm	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CB22	-	-	-	+	-	\pm	+	+	+	+	\pm	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
CB31	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	±	-	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CB36	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	±	-	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	±	-	+	-	+	\pm
CB41	-	-	-	-	-	\pm	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	±	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CB43	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	±	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CE49	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CO12	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CO24	-	-	-	-	-	+	±	\pm	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
CO50	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
SE14	Ξ	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>±</u>	-	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	Ξ	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>±</u>	Ξ	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	-	Ξ	Ξ	-	Ξ	Ξ	Ξ	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	Ξ	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	<u>+</u>	Ξ

4.3. Antibiotic resistance

The 14 strains of *C. alimentarius* were tested for their antibiotic resistance by considering the 8 antibiotics indicated by EFSA (2012) for facultative heterofermentative lactobacilli. The results are reported in Table 3. The strain CB8 was the only one resistant to Kan, Tet and Ery. The same strain was also resistant to Chl, together with CB43 and CO12. Two strains were resistant to Gen (CO12 and SE14, 14.2 % of the total), three to clindamycin (CB41, CO12 and CO24, 21.3 %) and four to Str (CE49, CO12, CO50 and SE14, 28.4 %), while all the strains were sensitive to Amp. Overall, 6 strains were sensitive to all antibiotics considered and five were resistant to one antibiotic. The strains SE14 was resistant to two antibiotics while the strains CB8 and CO12 were resistant to four of the eight antibiotics tested.

In general, also for LAB species recognized as QPS (including C. alimentarius) and involved in food fermentations, antibiotic resistance should be assessed (Campedelli et al., 2019; Colautti et al., 2022; Klingberg et al., 2005). However, few studies are available concerning this aspect in C. alimentarius (Gevers et al., 2003).

Fermented meats can be a reservoir of antibiotic resistant LAB strains and the genes responsible for resistance can be horizontally transmissible to other species, including pathogens (Belloso Daza et al., 2022). Due to these factors, recent reports from EFSA suggest the need for further investigations on LAB involved in food fermentations (EFSA, 2012, 2021).

The resistance against aminoglycosides like gentamicin, streptomycin and kanamycin has a chromosomal origin in many LAB, even if its transmissibility through mobile genetic elements has been described in lactobacilli and enterococci (Werner, 2012; Zarzecka et al., 2022; Rozman et al., 2023). However, according to the data obtained in the present work, the resistance to this class of antibiotics did not seem to be a species characteristic and could be linked to genetic mobile elements. According to Campedelli et al. (2019), the resistance of type-strains assigned to the genus Companilactibacillus (formerly Lactobacillus alimentarius group) was approx. 20 % for gentamicin, 45 % for streptomycin and 80 % for kanamycin, while in this case, a percentage of 14.3 %, 28.6 % and 7.1 % was observed, respectively, for the same antibiotics. Concerning tetracycline, Gevers et al. (2003) found a plasmid located tetM gene in a strain of C. alimentarius isolated from fermented sausages and demonstrated the possibility to transfer this plasmid to a strain of Ent. faecalis. The same gene was found in several strains belonging to the species Lat. sakei, Lat. curvatus, Lactiplantibacillus paraplantarum, Lcb. paracasei from meat fermentations (Bassi et al., 2022; Fraqueza, 2015; Zonenschain et al., 2009). Also in this case, the incidence of resistant strains (7.1 %) was lower than that observed by Campedelli et al. (2019) for species of the genus Companilactibacillus, which were characterized by approx. 40 % of resistance. Also, for the macrolide erythromycin, plasmid associate genes (erm, msr and mef genes) responsible for acquired resistance has been found in lactobacilli (Leclercq and Courvalin, 1991; Zonenschain et al., 2009; Comunian et al., 2010) and the possibility to

222

transfer this plasmid to other LAB (Ent. faecalis) has been demonstrated (Nawaz et al., 2011). However, no information concerning specifically Companilactobacillus is available in literature. In this study, the percentage of clindamycin resistant strains (21.4 %) confirmed the results reported for Italian sausages by Federici et al. (2014), while the resistance to chloramphenicol (21.4 %) was higher than those reported in other similar studies (Aymerich et al., 2006).

Since this investigation cannot clarify the transmissibility or the type of mechanisms responsible for the resistance observed, further studies are needed to understand if these bacteria, present as component of the ripening microbiome of sausages and many other fermented products, can be responsible for the diffusion of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) genes to other microbial species.

Strains	Gen	Kan	Str	Tet	Ery	Clin	Chlor	Amp
CB1	16	64	64	8	0.125	1	2	4
CB6	2	2	16	1	0.125	0.032	2	0.5
CB8	4	128	16	16	4	0.125	8	2
CB16	8	16	32	4	0.5	0.125	4	1
CB22	4	16	32	2	0.5	0.5	4	1
CB31	8	4	16	4	0.25	0.063	4	1
CB36	8	16	16	2	0.25	0.032	4	1
CB41	4	16	16	2	0.5	4	2	1
CB43	2	16	64	4	1	1	8	2
CE49	16	64	128	1	0.25	1	4	2
CO12	32	64	128	2	1	4	8	4
CO24	4	16	32	2	0.25	4	2	2
CO50	4	16	256	2	0.25	0.125	2	1
SE14	32	64	256	2	1	1	4	2

Table 3. Antibiotic-resistance profile of Companilactobacillus alimentarius strains, assessed following EFSA

indications (Gen = Gentamicin; Kan = Kanamycin; Str = Streptomycin; Tet = Tetracycline; Ery = Erythromycin; Clin = Clindamycin; Chlor = Chloramphenicol; Amp = Ampicillin). The MIC value are reported and the presence of resistance for each antibiotic is highlighted in bold (cut off: Gen = 16, Kan = 64, Str = 64, Tet = 8, Ery = 1, Clin = 1, Chlor = 4, Amp = 4).

4.4. Biogenic amine production

The strains of C. alimentarius were isolated from sausages in which tyramine (from 67 to 202 mg/kg), putrescine (from 79 to 156 mg/kg) and, as far as one sample, histamine (174 mg/kg) were detected (Barbieri et al., 2021; Bassi et al., 2022). For this reason, the strains were tested for their ability to produce

BA in BC medium. The amounts of each BA detected after 72 h of incubation in BC medium is reported in Table 4.

Nine strains out of 14 (64.3 %) produced tyramine, even if at different extent. Four strains (CB1, CB6, CO12 and CO24) produced low amounts of this aromatic BA, ranging from 61.5 to 15.1 mg/l, while the other strains accumulated high level of tyramine. In fact, the strains CB8, CB16 and CB41 produced concentration of tyramine ranging from 386.1 to 489.2 mg/l, while extremely high concentrations were produced by the strains CE49 (745.0 mg/l) and CB36 (1156.6 mg/l).

Histidine decarboxylase activity was found in 4 strains. Two of them were high producers of histamine (>600 mg/l): CB16 and SE14. Minor amounts were detected for the strains CB1 and CE49, both characterized also by the presence of tyrosine decarboxylase. Putrescine was accumulated only by CB6 and CB16. Thus, this last strain was positive for the formation of three BA. Cadaverine was never detected. Finally, 4 strains did not show any decarboxylase activity (CB22, CB31, CB43 and CO50).

Species belonging to LAB are known to be the most important tyramine producer in fermented foods (Barbieri et al., 2019; Latorre-Moratalla et al., 2017). Tyrosine decarboxylase is extremely diffused and active among enterococci (Bargossi et al., 2015; Gatto et al., 2016; Ladero et al., 2012).

Nevertheless, the ability to produce tyramine is a strain characteristic of many species belonging to facultatively heterofermentative lactobacilli, including Latilactobacillus curvatus, Lpl. plantarum, Lcb. casei/paracasei, and obligate heterofermentative lactobacilli, such as Levilactobacillus brevis and Lentilactobacillus buchneri (Barbieri et al., 2019; Marcobal et al., 2012). All these species are common constituents of the ripening microbiota of several fermented foods. Strains of the same species can also decarboxylate histidine, even if this capability is less diffused among LAB (Barbieri et al., 2019; EFSA, 2011; Landete et al., 2008; Moniente et al., 2021). Putrescine derives from the decarboxylation of ornithine, an amino acid produced by the arginine deiminase pathway (ADI). This metabolic route is particularly advantageous because it allows the production of ATP from arginine. For this reason, ADI is advantageous for microorganisms in meat environment, in which fermentable sugar are rapidly depleted (Rimaux et al., 2012). However, in some strains, ornithine can be decarboxylate producing putrescine. This ability is rare in Lat. sakei (Barbieri et al., 2020), but it is more diffused among other species. Few studies concerning the ability of producing BA by C. alimentarius are available. One strain (out of two) belonging to this species was described as a relevant histamine producer by Straub et al. (1995). In addition, a strain of C. alimentarius isolated from meat was able to produce cadaverine, putrescine and tyramine (Min et al., 2004) and a strain from table olives presented a tyrosine decarboxylase activity (Yalçınkaya and Bas yigit Kılıç, 2019). By contrast, no decarboxylase activity was observed in strains isolated from Himalayan fermented foods (Dewan and Tamang, 2006, 2007).

Strains	Tyramine	Histamine	Putrescine	Cadaverine	2-phenylethylamine					
CB1	15.1 ± 2.3	147.0 ± 21.9	ND*	ND	ND					
CB6	61.5 ± 4.4	ND	132.8 ± 26.1	ND	ND					
CB8	386.1 ± 16.5	ND	ND	ND	ND					
CB16	489.2 ± 28.0	647.8 ± 69.1	271.1 ± 34.3	ND	ND					
CB22	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND					
CB31	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND					
CB36	1156.6 ± 94.7	ND	ND	ND	ND					
CB41	395.9 ± 45.2	ND	ND	ND	ND					
CB43	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND					
CE49	745.0 ± 78.5	90.8 ± 22.1	ND	ND	ND					
CO12	30.1 ± 2.0	ND	ND	ND	ND					
CO24	27.0 ± 1.4	ND	ND	ND	ND					
CO50	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND					
SE14	ND	641.0 ± 71.6	ND	ND	ND					

Table 4. Biogenic amines production by Companilactobacillus alimentarius strains. The data are the mean values of three repetitions and are expressed as mg/l with the relative standard deviation.

*ND: not detected (under the detection limit: 3 mg/l).

4.5. Growth kinetics in relation to temperature and NaCl concentration

Growth at different NaCl concentrations (0, 2.5 and 5 %) and temperatures (10, 20 and 30 °C) was monitored through the increase of OD600. The data were fitted with the Gompertz equation as modified by Zwietering et al. (1990) to estimate the parameter A, μ max and λ . The parameter estimated for each strain and condition and goodness-of-fit diagnostic of the regression are reported in Table S1. Fig. 1 shows the Box and Whisker plots describing the distribution of the three parameters in relation to temperature.

The median A value had no significant differences at 30 °C and 20 °C (2.02 and 2.05, respectively), while the μ max and λ medians were strongly affected by temperature. In particular, the value of μ max decreased from 0.331 to 0.186 and 0.042 OD600 h– 1 passing from 30 to 10 °C and the λ median value increased from 8.50 to 14.77 and 47.63 h under the same conditions. At 10 °C one of the strains did not grow (CB31). As it is possible to observe from Fig. 1, the strains presented, at the temperatures considered, a double behaviour. At 30 °C, a first group characterized by higher growth performances, both in terms of μ max and λ , included the strains CB6, CB16, CB36, CE49, CO50 and SE14. The same strains were responsible also for the best growth performances at 20 °C and 10 °C.

Concerning the effects of NaCl, the distribution of the estimated parameters is reported in the Box and Whiskers plots of Fig. 2. Increasing salt concentrations were responsible for the decrease of A (from a median value of 2.05 at 0 % to 1.74 at 5 %) and relevant μ max decreases (0.186 OD600 h- 1 at 0 % and 0.109 and 0.047 OD600 h- 1 at 2.5 and 5 %, respectively). The estimation of the λ median value slightly increased from 0 to 2.5 % (from 14.77 to 17.35 h) and more drastically at 5 % (26.43 h).

As already observed for the distribution of the parameters in relation to temperature, also in the case of the effect of NaCl on A, the performances of the strains can be clustered into two groups, one of which was characterized by lower final A values. This trend was particularly evident in the samples containing the higher salt concentration (CB1, CB8, CB31, CB41, CO12 and CO24). Concerning μ max the grouping effect attributable to NaCl was not evident, while it was found again in the distribution of λ . However, it is important to note that the stains showing lower A values did not coincide with the strains with longer λ estimates (CB6, CB16, CB36, CB43 and CE49).

Regarding pH, in Fig. 3 the Box and Whisker plots describing the parameters distribution in relation to temperature are showed, while all the data are reported in Table S2. No significant difference were observed in the pH median value decrease at 30 °C and 20 °C (approx. -2.10 units in both cases), among which CB43 and CO24 presented the more relevant pH decrease, while at 10 °C the median ApH value was lower (-1.89). Significant differences were observed in µpHmax parameter, whose median value strongly decreased from 30 to 10 °C (-0.193, -0.100 and -0.030 pH h-1), with high variability at 30 °C (CV 34 %). The λ pH estimate parameters are almost completely superimposable with the same parameter obtained measuring OD600, as demonstrated by the linear regression between the results obtained with the two methods (λ pH = $-0.799 + 0.950 \cdot \lambda$ OD600, R = 0.999).

Concerning the effect of NaCl, k value and the estimated parameters were significantly influenced by its concentration (Fig. 4 and Table S2). The more relevant differences were observed in μ pHmax parameter, with the strains CB1, CB22, CB31, CB43, CE49 and CO24 presenting the lower values, especially at 0 and 2.5 % NaCl. Finally, as in the case of temperature effects, also the λ pH estimated for pH were related with those determined with OD600 (λ pH = $-1.037 + 0.953 \cdot \lambda$ OD600, R = 0.959).

C. alimentarius is described as an environmental LAB growing between 15 and 37 °C, but information regarding its behaviour is scarce (Zheng et al., 2020). This study revealed its ability to growth at 10 °C (except for one strain) and a relatively high difference observed in the growth dynamics at the considered temperatures. Noteworthy, the growth at 10 °C can explain its presence in sausages in which low temperature can be applied during ripening. The adaptation to fermented meat environment is confirmed also by the performances showed in the presence of salt concentrations compatible with those characterizing sausages during manufacture and ripening.

5. CONCLUSIONS

C. alimentarius is a LAB species often found in fermented foods. In this paper, 14 strains, previously isolated from Spanish spontaneously fermented sausages, have been characterized for their technological and safety features.

In general, a wide variability was observed in relation to the parameters considered. Among phenotypic characters, glucose was the only carbon source used by all the strains, while the utilization of other carbohydrates is a strain-dependent characteristic. Regarding safety issues, several of the tested strains were able to produce histamine, tyramine and putrescine and only one was able to express all these

decarboxylating activities in relevant amounts. In addition, the antibiotic resistance greatly varied according to the strains, with the exception of vancomycin, to which all were resistant.

Concerning the technological parameters, C. alimentarius strains showed a relevant potential to grow in conditions of salt and temperature mimicking the level of this variables characterizing fermented sausages. Interestingly, the strains seem to show two different growth patterns, one of which characterized by lower growth potential, especially in relation to temperature.

In other words, the variability of the performances of the strains, concerning safety and technological parameters, reflects the differentiation of the phenotypic profile induced by the environmental conditions charactering the isolation source, including those derived by the raw materials.

Ultimately, among the 14 strains tested only 2 (CB22 and CB31) did not shown either decarboxylase activity or antibiotic resistance and could be candidate for a possible use as a starter culture. However, the strain CB31 was the only not able to growth at 10 °C and this could be a limitation for its use in product in which the ripening condition include low temperatures. Further studies are needed to better exploit the potential of these strains including, in particular, their contribution in the accumulation of compounds affecting the aroma profile of sausages.

Given the frequent association of this species with spontaneous fermentations or ripening microbiota of various products the data presented in this study contribute to a deeper comprehension of their role, both advantageous and detrimental, in fermented foods, even in vivo trials are necessary with this purpose.

6. **REFERENCES**

- Apás, A.L., Arena, M.E., Colombo, S., González, S.N., 2015. Probiotic administration modifies the milk fatty acid profile, intestinal morphology, and intestinal fatty acid profile of goats. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 47-54.
- Aymerich, T., Martin, B., Garriga, M., Vidal-Carou, M.C., Bover-Cid, S., Hugas, M., 2006. Safety properties and molecular strain typing of lactic acid bacteria from slightly fermented sausages. J. Appl. Microbiol. 100, 40-49.
- Barbieri, F., Laghi, L., Gardini, F., Montanari, C., Tabanelli, G., 2020. Metabolism of Lactobacillus sakei Chr82 in the presence of different amounts of fermentable sugars. Foods. 9, 720.
- 4. Barbieri, F., Montanari, C., Gardini, F., Tabanelli, G., 2019. Biogenic amine production by lactic acid bacteria: a review. Foods. 8, 17-27.
- Barbieri, F., Tabanelli, G., Montanari, C., Dall'Osso, N., Šimat, V., Smole Možina, S., Baños, A., Özogul, F., Bassi, D., Fontana, C., Gardini, F., 2021. Mediterranean spontaneously fermented sausages: spotlight on microbiological and quality features to exploit their bacterial biodiversity. Foods. 10, 2691.

- Bassi, D., Milani, G., Belloso Daza, M. V., Barbieri, F., Montanari, C., Lorenzini, S., Šimat, V., Gardini, F., Tabanelli, G., 2022. Taxonomical identification and safety characterization of *Lactobacillaceae* from Mediterranean natural fermented sausages. Foods. 11, 2776.
- Belloso Daza, M.V., Milani, G., Cortimiglia, C., Pietta, E., Bassi, D., Cocconcelli, P.S., 2022. Genomic insights of *Enterococcus faecium* UC7251, a multi-drug resistant strain from readyto-eat food, highlight the risk of antimicrobial resistance in the food chain. Front Microbiol. 13, 894241.
- Bourdichon, F., Budde-Niekel, A., Dubois, A., Fritz, D., Hatte, J.L., Laulund, S., McAuliffe, O., Ouwehand, A.C., Yao, S., Zgoda, A., Zuliani, V., Morelli, L., 2022. Inventory of microbial food cultures with safety demonstration in fermented food product. Bulletin of the international dairy federation 514/2022.
- 9. Bover-Cid, S., Holzapfel, W.H., 1999. Improved screening procedure for biogenic amine production by lactic acid bacteria. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 53, 33-41.
- Campedelli, I., Mathur, H., Salvetti, E., Clarke, S., Rea, M.C., Torriani, S., Ross, R. 424 P., Hill, C., O'Toole, P.W., 2019. Genus-wide assessment of antibiotic resistance in *Lactobacillus* spp. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 85, e01738-18.
- 11. Cardinali, F., Osimani, A., Taccari, M., Milanović, V., Garofalo, C., Clementi, F., Polverigiani, S., Zitti, S., Raffaelli, N., Mozzon, M., Foligni, R., Franciosi, E., Tuohy, K., Aquilanti, L., 2017. Impact of thistle rennet from *Carlina acanthifolia* All. subsp. *acanthifolia* on bacterial diversity and dynamics of a specialty Italian raw ewes' milk cheese. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 255, 7-16.
- Cocolin, L., Manzano, M., Cantoni, C., Comi, G., 2000. Development of a rapid method for the identification of *Lactobacillus* spp. isolated from naturally fermented Italian sausages using a polymerase chain reaction - temperature gradient gel electrophoresis. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 30, 126-129.
- Colautti, A., Arnoldi, M., Comi, G., Iacumin, L., 2022. Antibiotic resistance and virulence factors in lactobacilli: something to carefully consider. Food Microbiol. 103, 103934.
- Comunian, R., Daga, E., Dupré, I., Paba, A., Devirgiliis, C., Piccioni, V., Perozzi, G., Zonenschain, D., Rebecchi, A., Morelli, L., Lorentiis, A.D., Giraffa, G., 2010. Susceptibility to tetracycline and erythromycin of *Lactobacillus paracasei* strains isolated from traditional Italian fermented foods. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 138, 151-156.
- 15. Corsetti, A., Lavermicocca, P., Morea, M., Baruzzi, F., Tosti, N., Gobbetti, M., 2001. Phenotypic and molecularidentification and clustering of lactic acid bacteria and yeasts from wheat (species *Triticum durum* and *Triticum aestivum*) sourdoughs of Southern Italy. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 64, 95-104.
- Dewan, S., Tamang, J.P., 2006. Microbial and analytical characterization of Chhu, a traditional fermented milk product of the Sikkim Himalayas. J. Sci. Indus. Res. 65, 747-752.

Dewan, S., Tamang, J.P., 2007. Dominant lactic acid bacteria and their technological properties isolated from the Himalayan ethnic fermented milk products. Anton. Leeuw. 92, 343-352.

- 17. EFSA, 2011. Scientific opinion on risk-based control of biogenic amine formation in fermented foods. EFSA J. 9, 2393-2486.
- 18. EFSA, 2012. Guidance on the assessment of bacterial susceptibility to antimicrobials of human and veterinary importance. EFSA J. 10, 2740.
- EFSA, 2020. Update of the list of QPS-recommended biological agents intentionally added to food or feed as notified to EFSA 12: suitability of taxonomic units notified to EFSA until March 2020. EFSA J. 8, 6174.
- 20. EFSA, 2021. EFSA statement on the requirements for whole genome sequence analysis of microorganisms intentionally used in the food chain. EFSA J. 19, 6506.
- Federici, S., Ciarrocchi, F., Campana, R., Ciandrini, E., Blasi, G., Baffone, W., 455 2014. Identification and functional traits of lactic acid bacteria isolated from Ciauscolo salami produced in Central Italy. Meat Sci. 98, 575-584.
- 22. Fraqueza, M.J., 2015. Antibiotic resistance of lactic acid bacteria isolated from dry-fermented sausages. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 212, 76-88.
- Fujimoto, A., Ito, K., Narushima, N., Miyamoto, T., 2019. Identification of lactic acid bacteria and yeasts, and characterization of food components of sourdoughs used in Japanese bakeries. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 127, 575-581.
- García Fontán, M.C., Lorenzo, J.M., Martínez, S., Franco, I., Carballo, J., 2007b. Microbiological characteristics of Botillo, a Spanish traditional pork sausage. LWT - Food Sci. Technol. 40, 1610-1622.
- García Fontán, M.C., Lorenzo, J.M., Parada, A., Franco, I., Carballo, J., 2007a. Microbiological characteristics of Androlla, a Spanish traditional pork sausage. Food Microbiol. 24, 52-58.
- Gevers, D., Huys, G., Swings, J., 2003. *In vitro* conjugal transfer of tetracycline resistance from *Lactobacillus* isolates to other Gram-positive bacteria. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 225, 125-130.
- Gürakan, G.C., Bozoglu, T.F., Weiss, N., 1995. Identification of *Lactobacillus* strains from Turkish-style dry fermented sausages. LWT - Food Sci. Technol. 28, 139-144.
- 28. Hu, Y., Liu, X., Shan, C., Xia, X., Wang, Y., Dong, M., Zhou, J., 2017. Novel bacteriocin produced by *Lactobacillus alimentarius* FM-MM4 from a traditional Chinese fermented meat Nanx Wudl: purification, identification and antimicrobial characteristics. Food Control. 77, 290-297.
- 29. Juven, B.J., Barefoot, S.F., Pierson, M.D., McCaskilv, L.H., Smith, B., 1998. Growth and survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* in vacuum-packaged ground beef inoculated with *Lactobacillus alimentarius* FloraCarn L-2. J. Food Prot. 61, 551-556.

- Kesmen, Z., Yetiman, A.E., Gulluce, A., Kacmaz, N., Sagdic, O., Cetin, B., Adiguzel, A., Sahin, F., Yetim, H., 2012. Combination of culture-dependent and culture-independent molecular methods for the determination of lactic microbiota in sucuk. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 153, 428-435.
- Klingberg, T.D., Axelsson, L., Naterstad, K., Elsser, D., Bjørn Budde, B., 2005. Identification of potential probiotic starter cultures for Scandinavian-type fermented sausages. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 105, 419-431.
- 32. Kotzekidou, P., Bloukas, J.G., 1998. Microbial and sensory changes in vacuum-packed frankfurter-type sausage by *Lactobacillus alimentarius* and fate of inoculated *Salmonella enteritidis*. Food Microbiol. 15, 101-111.
- 33. Landete, J.M., de las Rivas, B., Marcobal, A., Muñoz, R., 2008. Updated molecular knowledge about histamine biosynthesis by bacteria. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 48, 697-714.
- Leclercq, R., Courvalin, P., 1991. Bacterial resistance to macrolide, lincosamide, 487 and streptogramin antibiotics by target modification. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 35, 1267-1272.
- 35. Liang, T., Xie, X., Wu, L., Li, L., Li, H., Xi, Y., Feng, Y., Xue, L., Chen, M., Chen, X., Zhang, J., Ding, Y., Wu, Q., 2022. Microbial communities and physiochemical properties of four distinctive traditionally fermented vegetables from North China and their influence on quality and safety. Foods 11, 21.
- Liu, D., Tong, C., 2017. Bacterial community diversity of traditional fermented vegetables in China. LWT – Food Sci. Technol. 86, 40-48.
- Lyhs, U., Korkeala, H., Vandamme, P., Björkroth, J., 2001. *Lactobacillus alimentarius*: a specific spoilage organism in marinated herring Int. J. Food Microbiol. 64, 355-360.
- 38. Marcobal, A., de Las Rivas, B., Landete, J.M., Tabera, L., Muñoz, R., 2012. Tyramine and phenylethylamine biosynthesis by food bacteria. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 52, 448-467.
- Menteş, Ö., Ercan, R., Akçelik, M., 2007. Inhibitor activities of two *Lactobacillus* strains, isolated from sourdough, against rope-forming *Bacillus* strains. Food Control. 18, 359-363.
- 40. Min, J.S., Lee, S.O., Jang, A., Lee, M., Kim, Y., 2004. Production of biogenic amines by microflora inoculated in meats. Asian-Australasian J. of Anim. Sci. 17, 1472-1478.
- Moniente, M., García-Gonzalo, D., Ontañón, I., Pagán, R., Botello-Morte, L., 2021. Histamine accumulation in dairy products: microbial causes, techniques for the detection of histamine-producing microbiota, and potential solutions. Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf. 20, 1481-1523.
- 42. Montanari, C., Barbieri, F., Lorenzini, S., Gottardi, D., Šimat, V., Özogul, F., Gardini, F., Tabanelli, G., 2023. Survival, growth, and biogenic amine production of *Enterococcus faecium* FC12 in response to extracts and essential oils of *Rubus fruticosus* and *Juniperus oxycedrus*. Front. Nutr. 9, 1092172.

- Nawaz, M., Wang, J., Zhou, A., Ma, C., Wu, X., Moore, J.E., Millar, B.C., Xu, J., 2011. Characterization and transfer of antibiotic resistance in lactic acid bacteria from fermented food products. Curr. Microbiol. 63, 1081-1089.
- 44. Özela, B., Şimşek, Ö., Settanni, L., Erten, H., 2020. The influence of backslopping on lactic acid bacteria diversity in tarhana fermentation. Int. J., Food. Microbiol. 335, 108886
- 45. R Core Team, 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- 46. Randazzo, C.L., Heilig, H., Restuccia, C., Giudici, P., Caggia C., 2005. Bacterial population in traditional sourdough evaluated by molecular methods. J. Appl. Microbiol. 99, 251-258.
- 47. Rimaux, T., Riviére, A., Illeghems, K., Weckx, S., De Vuyst, L., Leroy, F., 2012. Expression of the arginine deiminase pathway genes in *Lactobacillus sakei* is strain-dependent and is affected by environmental pH. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78, 4874-4883.
- Rozman, V., Mohar Lorbeg, P., Treven, P., Accetto, T., Janežič, S., Rupnik, M., B 520 ogovič Matijašić, B., 2023. Genomic insights into antibiotic resistance and mobilome of lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria. Life Sci. Alliance. 6, e202201637.
- Shang, Z., Ye, Z., Li, M., Ren, H., Cai, S., Hu, X., Yi, J., 2022. Dynamics of microbial communities, flavor, and physicochemical properties of pickled chayote during an industrial-scale natural fermentation: correlation between microorganisms and metabolites. Food Chem. 377, 132004.
- 50. Straub, B.W., Kicherer, M., Schilcher, S.M., Hammes, W.P., 1995. The formation of biogenie amines by fermentation organisms. Z. Lebensm. Unters. Forsch. 201, 79-82.
- 51. Taccari, M., Aquilanti, L., Polverigiani, S., Osimani, A., Garofalo, C., Milanovíc, V., Clementi, F., 2016. Microbial diversity of type I sourdoughs prepared and back-slopped with wholemeal and refined soft (*Triticum aestivum*) wheat flours. J. Food Sci. 81, 2016.
- 52. Torriani, S., Di Bucchianico, R., Pattarini, F., Zabeo, G., Dellaglio, F., 1994. Presence and biotechnological characterization of lactic acid bacteria and *Micrococcaceae* strains in Abruzzo traditional raw dry sausages. Ind. Conserve 69, 3-9.
- 53. Valerio, F., Lavermicocca, P., Pascale, M., Visconti, A., 2004. Production of phenyllactic acid by lactic acid bacteria: an approach to the selection of strains contributing to food quality and preservation. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 233, 289-295.
- 54. Van Reckem, E., Geeraerts, W., Charmpi, C., Van der Veken, D., De Vuyst, L., Leroy, F., 2019. Exploring the link between the geographical origin of European fermented foods and the diversity of their bacterial communities: the case of fermented meats. Front. Microbiol. 10, 2302.
- 55. Werner, G., 2012. Current trends of emergence and spread of vancomycin-resistant enterococci. In: Pana, M. (Ed.), Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria-A Continuous Challenge in the New Millennium. InTech, Rijeka, pp. 306-357.

- Yalçınkaya, S., Başyiğit Kılıç, G., 2019. Isolation, identification and determination of technological properties of the halophilic lactic acid bacteria isolated from table olives. J. Food Sci. Technol. 56, 2027-2037.
- 57. Zarzecka, U., Chajęcka-Wierzchowska, W., Zakrzewski, A., Zadernowska, A., Fraqueza, M.J., 2022. High pressure processing, acidic and osmotic stress increased resistance to aminoglycosides and tetracyclines and the frequency of gene transfer among strains from commercial starter and protective cultures. Food Microbiol. 107, 104090.
- 58. Zheng, J., Wittouck, S., Salvetti, E., Franz, C.M.A.P., Harris. H.M.B., Mattarelli, P., O'Toole, P.W., Pot, B., Vandamme, P., Walter, J., Watanabe, K., Wuyts, S., Felis, G.E., Gänzle, M.G., Lebeer, S., 2020. Ataxonomic note on the genus *Lactobacillus*: description of 23 novel genera, emended description of the genus *Lactobacillus* Beijerinck 1901, and union of *Lactobacillaceae* and *Leuconostocaceae*. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 70, 2782-2858.
- 59. Zonenschain, D., Rebecchi, A., Morelli, L., 2009. Erythromycin- and tetracycline-resistant lactobacilli in Italian fermented dry sausages. J. Appl. Microbiol. 107, 1559-1568.
- 60. Guo, Z., Wang, Y., Xiang, F., Dong, Y., Hou, Q., Zhang, Z., 2022. Evaluating the flavor and divergent bacterial communities in corn-based zha-chili. Food Biosci. 46, 101563.
- Zwietering, M.H., Jongenburger, I., Rombouts, F.M., van't Riet, K., 1990. Modeling of the bacterial growth curve. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 56, 1875-1881.

		0% NaCl		:	2.5% NaC	1		5% NaCl			10°C			20°C			30°C				
Strains	Α	μ_{max}	λ	Α	μ_{max}	λ	Α	μ_{max}	λ	A	μ_{max}	λ	Α	μ_{max}	λ	Α	μ_{max}	λ			
CB1	1.83	0.090	22.43	1.75	0.052	20.11	1.50	0.026	23.40	1.78	0.016	238.45	1.83	0.090	22.43	1.93	0.222	11.57			
CB6	2.08	0.286	15.21	2.07	0.105	15.13	1.83	0.049	37.11	1.83	0.042	46.92	2.08	0.286	15.21	2.06	0.413	9.54			
CB8	2.02	0.221	15.20	1.97	0.171	17.48	1.59	0.054	27.72	1.76	0.031	45.55	2.02	0.221	15.20	2.01	0.306	7.46			
CB16	2.08	0.216	13.79	2.04	0.126	17.23	1.73	0.046	33.74	1.98	0.042	47.63	2.08	0.216	13.79	1.99	0.419	8.59			
CB22	2.00	0.170	14.33	1.81	0.109	20.35	1.78	0.043	21.29	1.70	0.032	54.86	2.00	0.170	14.33	1.97	0.310	7.25			
CB31	1.90	0.087	18.50	1.83	0.091	18.24	1.33	0.042	23.82	-*	-	-	1.90	0.087	18.50	2.02	0.330	8.12			
CB36	2.08	0.209	13.61	2.04	0.115	16.33	1.76	0.043	33.42	1.99	0.042	46.43	2.08	0.209	13.61	2.00	0.398	8.47			
CB41	2.00	0.206	14.20	1.99	0.156	16.28	1.59	0.052	27.44	1.80	0.030	48.56	2.00	0.206	14.20	2.01	0.331	8.07			
CB43	1.88	0.103	28.73	1.78	0.092	28.37	1.81	0.033	38.07	1.88	0.032	363.89	1.88	0.103	28.73	2.07	0.248	12.16			
CE49	2.09	0.193	14.01	2.02	0.108	16.32	1.78	0.042	33.55	2.01	0.045	44.11	2.09	0.193	14.01	1.98	0.407	8.53			
CO12	2.10	0.100	20.12	2.03	0.091	20.94	1.21	0.048	24.05	1.97	0.057	89.87	2.10	0.100	20.12	2.05	0.246	10.82			
CO24	2.02	0.087	19.12	1.97	0.084	19.39	1.59	0.067	25.43	1.75	0.016	157.32	2.02	0.087	19.12	2.17	0.194	9.91			
CO50	2.14	0.209	12.62	2.05	0.157	13.79	1.85	0.087	21.48	2.05	0.052	37.98	2.14	0.209	12.62	2.17	0.384	8.29			
SE14	2.17	0.178	13.99	2.05	0.139	14.01	1.85	0.090	22.24	1.98	0.054	38.73	2.17	0.178	13.99	2.17	0.349	8.17			
Median	2.05	0.186	14.77	2.00	0.109	17.35	1.74	0.047	26.43	1.88	0.042	47.63	2.05	0.186	14.77	2.02	0.331	8.50			
Mean value	2.03	0.168	16.85	1.96	0.114	18.14	1.66	0.052	28.05	1.89	0.038	96.95	2.03	0.168	16.85	2.04	0.326	9.07			
SD	0.10	0.064	4.50	0.11	0.033	3.71	0.20	0.018	5.95	0.12	0.013	99.53	0.10	0.064	4.50	0.08	0.075	1.52			
CV	4.92	37.82	26.73	5.80	28.92	20.47	12.06	35.43	21.19	6.17	34.51	102.67	4.92	37.82	26.73	3.78	23.07	16.72			

Table S1. Gompertz parameters (A, μ max and λ) of C. alimentarius strains growth at 20°C in presence of different salt concentrations (0, 2.5 and 5%) and at different incubation temperatures (10, 20 and 30°C) in absence of salt. Median, mean value, standard deviation (SD) and variability coefficient (CV) are also reported. *: no growth was observed

		0%	NaCl		2.5% NaCl					5% NaCl				1	0°C			2	0°C		30°C				
Strains	k	A _{pH}	μ_{pHmax}	λ_{PH}	k	A _{pH}	μ_{pHmax}	λ_{PH}	k	A _{pH}	μ_{pHmax}	λ_{PH}	k	A _{pH}	μ_{pHmax}	λ_{pH}	k	A _{pH}	μ_{pHmax}	λ_{PH}	k	A _{pH}	μ_{pHmax}	λ_{PH}	
CB1	6.28	-2.13	-0.084	21.20	6.09	-2.10	-0.054	20.55	6.01	-1.99	-0.035	25.38	6.32	-1.93	-0.018	230.54	6.28	-2.13	-0.084	21.20	6.33	-2.11	-0.178	10.75	
CB6	6.22	-2.07	-0.105	10.76	6.04	-1.96	-0.101	16.86	6.03	-1.96	-0.039	30.03	6.01	-1.53	-0.035	54.17	6.22	-2.07	-0.105	10.76	6.25	-2.11	-0.208	8.41	
CB8	6.22	-2.06	-0.110	12.96	6.05	-2.05	-0.091	14.89	6.02	-1.90	-0.050	24.64	6.25	-1.90	-0.030	39.98	6.22	-2.06	-0.110	12.96	6.25	-2.06	-0.203	6.77	
CB16	6.33	-2.15	-0.099	10.62	6.10	-2.01	-0.072	14.74	5.99	-1.87	-0.037	30.80	6.35	-1.91	-0.034	48.73	6.33	-2.15	-0.099	10.62	6.34	-2.08	-0.314	8.34	
CB22	6.22	-2.05	-0.066	10.23	6.03	-2.00	-0.055	13.46	5.96	-2.10	-0.034	21.46	6.22	-1.76	-0.020	48.25	6.22	-2.05	-0.066	10.23	6.25	-2.18	-0.105	7.27	
CB31	6.18	-2.08	-0.074	19.38	6.16	-2.05	-0.049	15.80	5.95	-1.96	-0.042	22.50	-*	-	-	-	6.18	-2.08	-0.074	19.38	6.18	-1.91	-0.120	7.30	
CB36	6.34	-2.15	-0.109	11.18	6.11	-2.00	-0.074	14.36	6.00	-1.83	-0.041	32.76	6.35	-2.04	-0.033	45.56	6.34	-2.15	-0.109	11.18	6.31	-2.04	-0.332	8.51	
CB41	6.23	-2.07	-0.110	12.80	6.06	-2.06	-0.089	14.16	6.01	-1.94	-0.050	25.09	6.24	-1.98	-0.030	43.00	6.23	-2.07	-0.110	12.80	6.26	-2.07	-0.214	7.38	
CB43	6.32	-2.41	-0.065	22.62	6.09	-2.24	-0.058	23.48	5.98	-2.11	-0.038	37.06	6.30	-2.03	-0.023	345.57	6.32	-2.41	-0.065	22.62	6.34	-2.34	-0.183	10.56	
CE49	6.36	-2.18	-0.094	10.63	6.13	-2.07	-0.061	13.31	5.99	-1.86	-0.038	32.04	6.35	-2.05	-0.033	42.86	6.36	-2.18	-0.094	10.63	6.30	-2.04	-0.280	8.15	
CO12	6.18	-2.12	-0.100	19.85	6.14	-2.11	-0.098	19.79	6.04	-1.80	-0.053	23.21	6.21	-1.77	-0.037	85.72	6.18	-2.12	-0.100	19.85	6.29	-2.30	-0.150	8.76	
CO24	6.26	-2.39	-0.072	17.50	6.07	-2.27	-0.066	18.70	6.00	-2.20	-0.049	22.84	6.22	-1.91	-0.015	136.64	6.26	-2.39	-0.072	17.50	6.31	-2.48	-0.133	7.99	
CO50	6.23	-2.14	-0.109	10.68	6.05	-1.99	-0.096	13.43	6.04	-1.83	-0.062	20.36	6.12	-1.75	-0.023	31.49	6.23	-2.14	-0.109	10.68	6.24	-2.17	-0.180	6.27	
SE14	6.19	-2.12	-0.108	11.69	6.03	-1.96	-0.093	12.73	6.03	-1.77	-0.066	20.98	6.19	-1.65	-0.028	40.03	6.19	-2.12	-0.108	11.69	6.22	-2.15	-0.223	7.76	
Median	6.23	-2.13	-0.100	12.25	6.08	-2.05	-0.073	14.81	6.01	-1.92	-0.042	24.86	6.24	-1.91	-0.030	48.25	6.23	-2.13	-0.100	12.25	6.27	-2.11	-0.193	8.07	
Mean value	6.25	-2.15	-0.093	14.43	6.08	-2.06	-0.075	16.16	6.00	-1.94	-0.045	26.37	6.24	-1.86	-0.028	91.73	6.25	-2.15	-0.093	14.43	6.28	-2.15	-0.202	8.16	
SD	0.06	0.11	0.017	4.58	0.04	0.09	0.019	3.27	0.03	0.13	0.010	5.21	0.10	0.16	0.007	94.33	0.06	0.11	0.017	4.58	0.05	0.14	0.069	1.27	
CV	0.98	5.16	18.67	31.75	0.71	4.55	24.72	20.21	0.46	6.53	22.01	19.75	1.61	8.64	25.64	102.83	0.98	5.16	18.67	31.75	0.80	6.75	34.02	15.53	

Table S2. Gompertz parameters (A, μmax and λ) of *C. alimentarius* strains pH decrease at 20°C in presence of different salt concentrations (0, 2.5 and 5%) and at different

incubation temperatures (10, 20 and 30°C) in absence of salt. Median, mean value, standard deviation (SD) and variability coefficient (CV) are also reported.



Figure 1. Box and Whisker plots representing the distribution of parameters estimated by Gompertz equation (A, μ max and λ) of strain growth kinetics at different incubation temperatures (10, 20 and 30°C). In the boxes the thick line represents the median value, the limit of the boxes is 25th and 75th percentile and the two whiskers are the minimum and maximum values, excluding outliers. Outliers are defined as points whose distance from

median exceeds at least \pm 1.5 times the box height. Different letters indicate significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) according to ANOVA.



Figure 2. Box and Whisker plots representing the distribution of parameters estimated by Gompertz equation

(A, μ_{max} and λ) of strain growth kinetics at different salt concentrations (0, 2.5 and 5%). In the boxes the thick line represents the median value, the limit of the boxes is 25th and 75th percentile and the two whiskers are the minimum and maximum values, excluding outliers. Outliers are defined as points whose distance from median exceeds at least ± 1.5 times the box height. Different letters indicate significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) according to ANOVA.



Figure 3. Box and Whisker plots representing the distribution of parameters estimated by Gompertz equation (k, ApH, μ pHmax and λ pH) of pH decrease at different incubation temperatures (10, 20 and 30°C). In the boxes the thick line represents the median value, the limit of the boxes is 25th and 75th percentile and the two whiskers are the minimum and maximum values, excluding outliers. Outliers are defined as points whose distance from median exceeds at least \pm 1.5 times the box height. Different letters indicate significant differences ($p \leq 0.05$) according to ANOVA.



Figure 4. Box and Whisker plots representing the distribution of parameters estimated by Gompertz equation (k, ApH, μ pHmax and λ pH) of pH decrease at different salt concentrations (0, 2.5 and 5%). In the boxes the thick line represents the median value, the limit of the boxes is 25th and 75th percentile and the two whiskers are the minimum and maximum values, excluding outliers. Outliers are defined as points whose distance from median exceeds at least \pm 1.5 times the box height. Different letters indicate significant differences ($p \leq 0.05$) according to ANOVA.

CHAPTER 9 General Conclusions

Ensuring the quality and safety of food is of paramount importance, serving the dual purpose of safeguarding consumer health and bolstering the food industry's integrity. Therefore, it becomes imperative to rapidly and sensitively monitor the presence of harmful microbes that could enter the food supply chain, potentially contaminating raw materials or food products at various processing stages. Technological advancements have provided novel molecular analyses tecniques, greatly enhancing the detection and characterization of microorganisms in food. These modern techniques complement traditional microbiological methods, offering improved efficiency and precision.

However, molecular methods also have limitations, as they usually focus on one or a few characteristics of a microorganism and can be compromised by technical issues such as PCR inhibitors present in the food matrix. In recent years, WGS has expanded the potential of molecular methods by providing the possibility of in-depth analysis of individual micorbes.

WGS provides unparalleled discriminatory power in bacterial identification and characterization, making it superior to any other technique. Consequently, the choice between a rapid molecular method and the exhaustive capabilities of WGS depends on the specific objectives of the study.

This study initially focused on the assessment of AMR and pathogenicity potential of bacteria isolated from food and animal sources, using WGS approach. Subsequently, the transferability of ARG was studied using a combination of *in vitro* assays, food models, *in vivo* models, and environmental models. Following this, specific virulence factors important in the pathogenesis process in *Galleria mellonella* larvae were investigated. Additionally, the ability of *E. coli* STEC to persist and survive the food transformation process was investigated, replicating real-world conditions on a laboratory scale. Finally, our attention turned to the application of LAB, sourced from spontaneously fermented food matrices as potential starter cultures and/or bioprotective agents.

Chapters two and three mainly focused on the critical aspects of surveillance and early detection of foodborne AMR bacteria, including taxonomic identification, pathogenic potential and antimicrobial resistance, which are addressed by the WGS approach combined to traditional microbiological and molecular methods. A concern faced by food sector globally revolves around the prevalence of AMR bacteria. Curtailing the use of antimicrobials is a shared responsibility, spanning both the human and animal sectors, intrinsically intertwined with the environment within the framework of "One Health". The presence of MDR strains in ready-to-eat fermented foods poses a public health risk, contributing to

the dissemination of AMR determinants within the food chain and in the gastrointestinal microbiota of consumers. For example, the application of in silico bioinformatics has proven instrumental in assessing the safety profile of the UC7251 strain of *E. faecium*. Moreover, the spread of AMR across ecosystems has facilitated its entry into the food chain. The widespread nature of AMR underscores the importance of obtaining comprehensive information on the reservoirs of resistance.

From this perspective, the circulation of Es β Ls-producing *E. coli* strains raises notable concerns, given their resistance to second and third generation cephalosporins, thereby limiting the availability of alternative medical treatments. The investigation, underpinned by phenotypic, molecular, and genomic characterization of ES β Ls-producing *E. coli* strains isolated from wild boars, has revealed their dual role as ES β Ls producers and MDR entities. Additionally, genome analysis has played a pivotal role in elucidating the virulence potential and mobilome of ES β Ls-producing *E. coli*, ultimately leading to the identification of two pandemic serotypes. As previously mentioned, the ability to thoroughly characterize AMR strains has substantially enriched our understanding of AMR reservoirs and of the environmental spread of these strains, providing insights into the circulation of problematic *E. coli* clones. In this context, future studies investigating strains circulating in the same environment, such as farm animals or other wildlife, will provide valuable information on the AMR transmission dynamics.

The fourth chapter focused on assessing the capability of MDR *E. facium*, isolated from fermented meat, to transmit tetracycline resistance to two unrelated strains of the foodborne pathogen *L. monocytogenes*. This study on gene transfer covered a range of conditions, starting with traditional *in vitro* analyses and extending to more intricate models. Notably, the transfer of genetic material was examined in sausage and cheese models, effectively simulating the conditions prevalent within these food matrices. Subsequently, *in vivo* gene exchange was investigated through the infection of larvae, providing a representation of scenarios found within the gastrointestinal tract of mammals. Lastly, the study explored gene transfer within a complex marine ecosystem characterized by the presence of *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Mediterranean mussel) and microplastics. The study revealed significant rates of gene transfer across different ecological settings and within food-related scenarios. Models have been designed to evaluate HGT among commensal and foodborne pathogenic bacteria, thereby improving our understanding of these dynamics in the food system. Furthermore, the study underscored the role of environmental pollutants, such as microplastics in marine bivalves, in promoting the spread of transposon-encoded AMR among food-associated bacteria.

The fifth chapter was dedicated to the assessment of the pathogenic potential of *E. coli* STEC strains isolated from a semi-matured raw milk cheese. The plasticity of the *E. coli* genome suggests a high variability between strains, which translates into a high capacity for the exchange of genetic material, including pathogenicity islands and plasmids. Genome analysis provided insights into the pathogenicity of Shiga toxin *E. coli* STEC, which is the fourth leading cause of foodborne illness. The findings highlighted that the strain harbours not only a rich collection of virulence factors, but also a recently

described pathogenicity island discovered in emerging STEC subtypes. Furthermore, this chapter explored the pathogenicity and persistence of *E. coli* STEC mutants. lacking one or both Shiga toxins. Their behaviour was assessed using *Galleria* larvae as a model for *in vivo* pathogenicity, and within a simulated cheesemaking environment. The outcomes demonstrated that *in vivo* pathogenicity cannot be exclusively attributed to Shiga toxins and that the raw milk cheese production process alone is insufficient to prevent the growth and survival of STEC in the final product.

Finally, chapters six, seven and eight focused on isolation and characterisation of potential novel starter and bioprotective LAB strains from naturally fermented sausages. By sampling 15 natural fermented sausages, 151 different LAB biotypes were isolated, including strains belonging to the species *L. sakei*, *L. curvatus* and *C. alimentarius*. After technological and safety characterisation, the strains found to be safe and therefore suitable for use in food were tested *in vitro* and in sausage models to assess their inhibitory action against pathogenic bacteria such as *E. coli*, *L. monocytogebens* and *Salmonella* Enteritidis. Several strains of LAB demonstrated favourable technological attributes and antimicrobial potential. These strains hold significant promise for the use as starter cultures or bio-preservative agents in meat-based food systems, such as fresh products and fermented sausages, to enhance the quality of food products, ensure microbiological safety, and provide distinctive sensory characteristics in the final product.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the individuals who have played a significant role in the completion of this doctoral thesis. Their support, encouragement, and expertise have been invaluable throughout this academic journey.

First and foremost, I extend my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Professor Pier Sandro Cocconcelli, for their unfailing guidance, patience, and insightful feedback. Their mentorship has been instrumental in shaping the direction of my research and fostering my intellectual growth.

I am immensely thankful to the reviewers of my thesis, Professor Saarela Maria and Professor Pablo Fernandez, for their constructive criticism and valuable suggestions. Their expertise has enriched the quality of this work, and I am grateful for the time and effort they dedicated to reviewing and shaping my research.

I am also immensely grateful to Professor Jesús Andrés Picó Marco for hosting me at the Synthetic Biology and Biosystems Control Lab of the Universidad Politécnica de Valencia. The academic and intellectual support provided me by Professor Alejandro Vignoni and Professor Yadira Boada allowed me to greatly expand my knowledge in the field of microbiology. The academic community in Valencia was a stimulating environment conducive to intellectual exploration.

I extend my heartfelt thanks to my colleagues and friends who provided a supportive academic environment. The exchange of ideas and discussions with Doctor Claudia Cortimiglia and Doctor Belloso Daza Mireya Viviana greatly contributed to the development of this thesis.

I am indebted to the Catholic University of the Sacred Heart for providing the necessary resources and facilities for my research. I would like to thank "Fondazione Eugenio e Germana Parizzi" for financially supporting my research project.

My deepest appreciation goes to my family for their unwavering support, understanding, and encouragement throughout this demanding journey. Their love and belief in my abilities have been a constant source of motivation.

Lastly, I want to express my gratitude to all those who, in various ways, contributed to the realization of this thesis. Your support has been crucial, and I am genuinely appreciative of the collective effort that has gone into this achievement.

Thank you all for being a part of this academic endeavor.